

Université d'Ottawa • University of Ottawa

Molecular cloning and characterization of the *ftsEX* genes of *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* CH811 encoding a putative ABC transporter and identification of their flanking genes.

Clonage et caractérisation moléculaire des gènes *ftsEX* chez *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* CH811 codant pour un présumé transporteur ABC et identification des gènes voisins.

by/par

Stéphane Bernatchez, M.Sc.

Thesis submitted to the School of Graduate Studies and Research University of Ottawa in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor in Biology (Ph.D.)

Ottawa-Carleton Institute of Biology

Thèse soumise a l'École des études supérieures et de la recherche Université d'Ottawa

en vue de l'obtention du grade de Docteur ès sciences (Ph.D.)

L'Institut de biologie d'Ottawa-Carleton

© Stéphane Bernatchez, 1997. All rights reserved. Tous droits réservés.



National Library of Canada

Acquisitions and Bibliographic Services

395 Wellington Street Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada Bibliothèque nationale du Canada

Acquisitions et services bibliographiques

395, rue Wellington Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

Your file Votre relérance

Our file Notre rélérence

The author has granted a nonexclusive licence allowing the National Library of Canada to reproduce, loan, distribute or sell copies of this thesis in microform, paper or electronic formats.

The author retains ownership of the copyright in this thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's permission. L'auteur a accordé une licence non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque nationale du Canada de reproduire, prêter, distribuer ou vendre des copies de cette thèse sous la forme de microfiche/film, de reproduction sur papier ou sur format électronique.

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur qui protège cette thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

0-612-32440-0

Canadä

Abstract

ABC (ATP-binding cassette) transporters are involved in import and export processes in all living cells. These transporters couple ATP hydrolysis to the translocation of a specific substrate across the cellular membrane. ABC transporters carry substrates ranging from ions to proteins. They are composed of two core domains, the ATP-binding domain that binds and hydrolyzes ATP, and a membrane domain that serves as a membrane anchor for the ATP-binding domain.

Cell division is an essential process in any living cell. In *Escherichia coli*, the majority of cell division genes are clustered at two loci on the chromosome. The *ftsY*, *ftsE* and *ftsX* genes constitute one of these clusters. FtsY has been shown to be involved in protein transport, but there is no experimental evidence to link FtsE and FtsX in this process. The status of *ftsE* as a cell division gene is controversial as the filamentous phenotype of an *E. coli ftsE* thermosensitive (Ts) mutant was observed only in rich medium at the restrictive temperature, while Ts mutants of other cell division genes filamented both in rich and in minimal media.

The Gram-negative bacterium *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* is the causative agent of the sexually-transmitted disease (STD) gonorrhoea. Most of the research efforts on *N. gonorrhoeae* have been directed at the study its mechanisms of infection and pathogenicity. Other cellular processes such as cell division remain uncharacterized. A project involving the molecular characterization of cell division genes in *N. gonorrhoeae* was initiated in our laboratory. The hypothesis of this Ph.D. research project was that the *ftsY*, *ftsE* and *ftsX* genes are present and clustered in *N. gonorrhoeae*, and that their gene products are involved in an uncharacterized aspect of cell division.

The plasmid pSB19 was isolated while screening a genomic library of *N. gonorrhoeae* strain CH811. The analysis of the DNA sequence of the insert of pSB19 showed a complete open-reading frame (ORF) showing sequence similarity with the *ftsX* gene of *E. coli*. Two other partial ORFs respectively encoding a protein similar to 3-phosphoglycerate kinase and a protein similar *E. coli* FtsE were identified downstream and upstream of *ftsX*. The partial *ftsE* homologue

overlapped fisX by 4 base pairs (bp). To fully characterize the gonococcal fisE and fisX genes, the complete fisE gene was required. A DNA fragment containing the 5'-section of fisE with 2.3 kilobases of sequence upstream of fisE was amplified by inverse PCR, cloned and sequenced.

The gonococcal *ftsE* gene comprised 651 bp and encoded a polypeptide of 216 amino acid (aa) residues. The gonococcal FtsE protein shared 60 to 71% similarity and 32 to 49% identity with other known bacterial FtsE homologues, and shared significant aa sequence similarities with numerous other ATP-binding domains of ABC transporters. The gonococcal *ftsX* gene included 918 bp encoding a protein of 305 aa residues that shared 47 to 55% similarity and 19 to 29% identity with its bacterial homologues, and did not share significant similarity to other protein sequences included in the public databases. Sequence analyses performed on *N. gonorrhoeae* FtsE and FtsX and on the five other known bacterial homologues of FtsE and FtsX predicted that FtsE did not contain transmembrane segments while FtsX was predicted to contain four of them. The size of FtsX varied between bacterial species and this variation appeared attributable to the amino-terminal section of the protein. This section of FtsX could fulfill a species-specific function. *N. gonorrhoeae* FtsX was predicted to adopt a membrane topology that would locate both its amino- and carboxy-terminal ends in the cytoplasm. Identical topologies were predicted for the other known FtsX homologues.

The presence of a *cat* cassette inside the chromosomal copy of *ftsX* did not affect the viability of *N. gonorrhoeae*, indicating that *ftsX* was not an essential gene. The morphology of *N. gonorrhoeae* was not affected by the presence of an insertion in *ftsX*, suggesting that *ftsX* was not a cell division gene. The minimal inhibitory concentrations of the antibiotics tested on the *ftsX* mutant were identical to those of its wild-type parent, suggesting that *FtsX* was not part of a membrane system to extrude antibiotics from gonococci. Viable counts of *N. gonorrhoeae* CS19, the *ftsX* mutant, were 6.5 to 10 times lower than those of the parental strain CH811 on GCMB medium containing 100 mM KCl or 400 mM sucrose. These results suggested that the putative FtsEX transporter may be involved in a process of maintenance of the osmotic balance in balance in the gonococcus.

The presence of ftsE and ftsX was verified in ten other *Neisseria* species by Southern hybridization. ftsE and ftsX probes hybridized restriction fragments in each species, suggesting that ftsE and ftsX were present in each species tested. The presence of ftsE and ftsX in the same ten species was also verified by PCR amplification. ftsE amplicons of 282 bp, the size of the ftsEamplicon in *N. gonorrhoeae*, were generated from five of the ten species. ftsX amplicons were generated in all ten species but their size varied from 894 bp, the size of the ftsX amplicon in *N. gonorrhoeae*, to 1.6 Kb. The five ftsE amplicons hybridized the gonococcal ftsE amplicon, suggesting that these amplicons were indeed ftsE amplicons. The 894 bp ftsX amplicons alone hybridized the gonococcal ftsX amplicon, suggesting that only those were genuine ftsX amplicons. Taken together, these results indicated that the ftsE and ftsX genes were present in various *Neisseria* species but that their nucleotide sequence may diverge from that of *N. gonorrhoeae*.

The 4 bp overlap observed between fisE and fisX suggested that these genes were cotranscribed. The co-transcription of ftsE and ftsX was confirmed by *in vitro* transcription/translation experiments. A polypeptide of the expected molecular weight (Mw) for FtsX was synthesized only if a promoter was provided upstream of ftsX. Proteins of the expected Mw for FtsE and FtsX were synthesized if a promoter was provided upstream of ftsE whether ftsEand ftsX were present on a plasmid or on an amplicon. These results confirmed that ftsE and ftsXwere co-transcribed. These genes would hereafter be referred to as ftsEX.

Overproduction of the gonococcal FtsE, FtsX alone or together had no effect on the morphology of *E. coli* in rich or minimal media. Overexpression of other cell division genes have been shown to cause filamentation in *E. coli*. However, the absence of filamentation could not suffice to dismiss *ftsEX* as cell division genes as overexpression of other cell division genes did not have morphological effects in *E. coli*.

The ftsX gene of N. gonorrhoeae could not complement E. coli JS10, a ftsX Ts mutant. This result could be attributable to the fact that FtsX contained species-specific attributes absent from its homologues from other species. The gonococcal FtsE protein was purified as a fusion protein with six histidinyl residues at its amino-terminal end (6HISFtsE) using the QIAexpressionist system from QIAGEN. The pure 6HISFtsE protein will be used to raise polyclonal anti-6HISFtsE antibodies.

The *tlpA* gene, encoding a thioredoxin-like protein, *arsC*, encoding arsenate reductase, and *gltX*, encoding glutamyl-TRNA synthetase were identified upstream of *ftsE*. The six genes identified in this project displayed an identical genetic organization in *N. gonorrhoeae* strain FA1090. Contrary to what had been observed in *E. coli* and *Haemophilus influenzae*, a homologue of *ftsY* was not present immediately upstream of *ftsE* in *N. gonorrhoeae*.

Together, the results obtained suggest that FtsE and FtsX respectively constitute the ATPbinding and membrane domains of a putative ABC transporter that transports an unidentified substrate from the cell. It cannot be excluded that this transporter participates in the cell division process, but it appears not to be essential since a mutant in which *ftsX* had been disrupted was viable while other cell division genes were shown to be essential.

Résumé

Les transporteurs ABC (ATP-binding cassette) sont impliqués dans des processus d'importation et d'exportation dans toute cellule vivante. Ces transporteurs associent l'hydrolyse d'ATP à la translocation d'un substrat spécifique par-delà la membrane de la cellule. Les transporteurs ABC transportent des substrats variés, allant d'ions jusqu'à des protéines. Ils sont constitués de deux domaines principaux, un domaine qui lie et hydrolyse l'ATP, et un domaine membranaire servant d'ancre membranaire au domaine liant l'ATP.

La division cellulaire est un processus essentiel pour toute cellule. Chez Escherichia coli, la majorité des gènes de division cellulaire sont groupés en deux loci sur le chromosome. Les gènes ftsY, ftsE et ftsX constituent l'un de ces amas. Il a été démontré que FtsY était impliqué dans le transport protéique mais il n'existe aucune preuve expérimentale impliquant FtsE et FtsX dans ce même processus. Le rôle de ftsE en tant que gène de division cellulaire est controversé parce que le phénotype filamenteux d'un mutant thermosensible (Ts) de ftsE chez E. coli n'était observable qu'en milieu riche à température restrictive, contrairement à des mutants Ts d'autres gènes de division cellulaire qui formaient des filaments en milieu riche ou minimal.

La bactérie Gram-négative Neisseria gonorrhoeae est l'agent causal de la gonorrhée, une maladie transmise sexuellement (MTS). La majorité des recherches sur N. gonorrhoeae sont concentrées sur l'étude des mécanismes d'infection et de pathogénicité. D'autres processus cellulaires tels la division cellulaire n'ont pas été caractérisés. Un projet sur l'étude des gènes de division cellulaire de N. gonorrhoeae a été lancé dans notre laboratoire. L'hypothèse de ce projet de doctorat est que les gènes *ftsY*, *ftsE* et *ftsX* sont présents et regroupés chez N. gonorrhoeae, et que les protéines codées par ces gènes sont impliquées dans un aspect non caractérisé de la division cellulaire.

Le plasmide pSB19 fut isolé au cours du criblage d'une banque d'ADN de la souche CH811 de *N. gonorrhoeae*. L'analyse de la séquence d'ADN de l'insert de pSB19 révéla la présence d'un cadre de lecture ouvert (CLO) complet présentant une similarité de séquence avec le gène *ftsX* de *E. coli*. Deux autres CLOs incomplets, codant respectivement pour une protéine similaire à FtsE de *E. coli* et à une protéine similaire à la 3-phosphoglycérate kinase, furent identifiés en amont et en aval de *ftsX*. Il y avait un chevauchement de 4 paires de bases (pb) entre le gène *ftsE* incomplet et le gène *ftsX*. Pour pouvoir caractériser les gènes *ftsE* et *ftsX* du gonocoque, le gène *ftsE* complet devait être disponible. Un fragment d'ADN contenant la partie 5' de *ftsE* et 2.3 Kb en amont de *ftsE* fut amplifié par PCR inverse, cloné, et séquencé.

Le gène *ftsE* de *N. gonorrhoeae* comprend 651 pb codant pour un polypeptide de 216 acides aminés (aa). La protéine FtsE du gonocoque partage 60 à 71% de similarité et 32 à 49% d'identité de séquence avec les autres homologues bactériens connus de FtsE, et partage une similarité significative avec de nombreux domaines liant l'ATP chez les transporteurs ABC. Le gène *ftsX* de *N. gonorrhoeae* comprend 918 pb codant pour une protéine de 305 aa partageant 47 à 55% de similarité significative avec aucune séquence avec ses homologues bactériens sans partager de similarité significative avec aucune séquence protéique présente dans les bases de données publiques. Les analyses des séquences de FtsE et FtsX de *N. gonorrhoeae* et des cinq homologues bactériens connus prédisent que FtsE ne contiendrait pas d'hélices transmembranaires tandis que FtsX en contiendrait quatre. La taille de FtsX varie entre espèces bactériennes et cette variation semble due à la taille de la section amino-terminale de la protéine. Cette partie de FtsX pourrait remplir une fonction spécifique à chaque espèce bactérienne. Il fut prédit que FtsX de *N. gonorrhoeae* adoptait une topologie membranaire telle que ses extrémités amino- et carboxy-terminales étaient situées dans le cytoplasme. Une topologie identique à celle prédite pour le FtsX gonococcal est prédite pour les autres FtsX bactériens.

La présence d'une cassette *cat* à l'intérieur de la copie chromosomale de n'affecte pas la viabilité de *N. gonorrhoeae*, indiquant que ftsX n'était pas un gène essentiel. La morphologie de *N. gonorrhoeae* n'est pas affectée par la présence d'une insertion dans ftsX, suggérant que ftsX n'est pas un gène de division cellulaire. Les concentrations minimales d'inhibition du mutant ftsX étaient identiques à celles de la souche parentale, suggérant que FtsX ne faisait pas partie d'un système d'extrusion d'antibiotiques. Les comptes de cellules viables Des comptes de cellules viables de la souche CS19, le mutant ftsX, étaient 6.5 à 10 fois inférieurs à ceux de la souche

parentale, CH811, en milieu de culture contenant du KCl 100 mM ou du sucrose 400 mM. Ceci indique que le présumé transporteur FtsEX pourrait être impliqué dans un processus de maintien de l'équilibre osmotique dans le gonocoque.

La présence des gènes *fisE* et *fisX* chez dix autres espèces de *Neisseria* fut vérifiée par hybridation moléculaire Southern. Les sondes *fisE* et *fisX* s'apparièrent à des fragments de restriction chez chacune des espèces, suggérant que les gènes *fisE* et *fisX* étaient présents dans chaque espèce étudiée. La présence des gènes *fisE* et *fisX* chez ces mêmes espèces fut également vérifiée par PCR. Des amplicons *fisE* de 282 pb, la taille de l'amplicon *fisE* chez *N. gonorrhoeae*, furent générés chez cinq des dix espèces étudiées. Des amplicons *fisX* furent générés chez les dix espèces testées, mais leur taille variait de 894 pb, la taille de l'amplicon *fisX* chez *N. gonorrhoeae*, à 1.6 Kb. Les cinq amplicons *fisE* hybridèrent l'amplicon *fisE* de *N. gonorrhoeae*, suggérant que ces amplicons sont effectivement des amplicons *fisE*. Seuls les amplicons *fisX* de 894 pb hybridèrent la sonde *fisX* de *N. gonorrhoeae*, suggérant que seuls ces amplicons étaient d'authentiques amplicons *fisX*. Pris ensembles, ces résultats indiquent que les gènes *fisE* et *fisX* sont présents chez diverses espèces de *Neisseria* mais que leur séquence nucléotidique peut diverger de celle de *N. gonorrhoeae*.

Le chevauchement de 4 pb observé entre ftsE et ftsX suggère que ces gènes sont cotranscrits. La co-transcription de ftsE et ftsX fut confirmée par la réalisation d'expériences de transcription/traduction *in vitro*. Un polypeptide ayant le poids moléculaire (Pm) attendu pour FtsX ne fut synthétisé que si un promoteur était présent en amont du gène ftsX. Des protéines ayant les Pm attendus pour FtsE et FtsX furent synthétisées si un promoteur était présent en amont de ftsE, que ftsE et ftsX étaient présents sur un plasmide ou sur un amplicon. Ces résultats confirment donc que ftsE et ftsX sont co-transcrits. Ces deux gènes furent donc désignés ftsEX.

La surproduction de FtsE et\ou de FtsX de *N. gonorrhoeae* n'a aucun effet sur la morphologie cellulaire de *E. coli* en milieu riche et en milieu minimal. La surexpression d'autres de gènes de division cellulaire causait la filamentation chez *E. coli*. Cependant, l'absence de filamentation ne pouvait suffire pour conclure que *ftsEX* n'étaient pas des gènes de division

cellulaire car la surexpression d'autres gènes de division cellulaire était sans effet sur la morphologie cellulaire de *E. coli*.

Le gène *ftsX* de *N. gonorrhoeae* ne put complémenter *E. coli* JS10, un mutant thermosensible de *ftsX*. Ce résultat pourrait être dû au fait que FtsX possède des caractéristiques propres à chaque bactérie, lesquelles seraient absentes chez ses homologues d'autres espèces bactériennes.

La protéine FtsE de *N. gonorrhoeae* fut purifiée sous forme d'une protéine de fusion comprenant six résidues histidinyl à son extrémité amino-terminale (6HISFtsE) en utilisant le système "the QIAexpressionist" de la compagnie QIAGEN. La protéine 6HISFtsE purifiée sera utilisée ultérieurement pour provoquer la formation d'anticorps polyclonaux anti-6HISFtsE.

Les gènes tlpA, codant pour une protéine ressemblant à la thiorédoxine, arsC, codant pour l'arsénate réductase, et gltX, codant pour l'ARN_T-synthétase furent identifiés en amont de ftsE. Les six gènes identifiés dans ce projet présentaient une organisation génétique identique dans la souche FA1090 de *N. gonorrhoeae*. Contrairement à ce qui fut observé chez *E. coli* et *Haemophilus influenzae*, un homologue de ftsY n'est pas présent immédiatement en amont de ftsE.

Pris ensembles, les résultats obtenus suggèrent que FtsE et FtsX seraient respectivement le domaine liant l'ATP et le domaine membranaire d'un transporteur ABC transportant un substrat non-identifié vers l'extérieur de la cellule. Il n'est pas exclus que ce transporteur participe au processus de division cellulaire, mais il ne serait pas essentiel vu qu'un mutant dans lequel *ftsX* a été inactivé est viable alors que les autres gènes de division cellulaire sont essentiels.

Acknowledgments

Je tiens en premier lieu à remercier les membres de ma famille pour l'intérêt qu'ils ont porté à mes études, pour leur appui et pour leurs encouragements continuels. Je remercie spécialement mon père, Jean-Pierre. C'est en grande partie à cause de mon père que j'en suis ici aujourd'hui car il m'a très tôt appris la valeur du travail, de la patience et de la persévérance. Mon père a de plus payé la totalité de mes frais de scolarité et m'a aidé de façon régulière à arrondir mes fins de mois tout au long de mes études doctorales. Merci mille fois pour tout p'pa! Je n'aurais JAMAIS terminé mon doctorat sans ton aide.

Thanks to my thesis supervisor, Dr. Jo-Anne R. Dillon, for taking me as a student, for supporting me financially during my thesis, for guidance, and for never losing faith in me in the darker times of this work when I was wondering what ever came over me to begin a Ph.D. in the first place. I also want to thank Dr. Dillon for always reading all the drafts of my thesis so promptly while I was writing-up as well as during the stressful time when I was desperately trying to finish the corrections after the thesis defense. I also want to thank Dr. Doug Johnson and to Dr. John Vierula for helping to supervise my work as members of my thesis committee. I want to thank Dr. Vierula and Dr. Charlebois for rapidly reading (and approving!) the required modifications for my thesis. Dr. Lai-King Ng gave me lots of advice during the earlier stages of my work.

I must give a special salute to the bunch of graduate students and technicians I worked with during all these years. They all contributed to create a nice and friendly atmosphere that made all our lives in the lab more agreeable. All have been good co-workers, advisors, friends (FRIENDS?!?) and confidants even though most of them have been fanged at here and there. In no particular order, I thank Lady Fiona Brinkman for a cornucopia of experimental and computerial advice, for reminding me to buy milk, orange juice, to do my laundry, and to phone my mum. Abu Tholib Aman, with whom I had good discussions on international politics, Islam and lots of other subjects I will not mention here not to taint his spotless reputation (heehee). Hui Li with whom donkeys are killed every morning, and who let me ask her son Evan (Bing Bing Consulting Services, Inc.) lots of advice on how to solve my cloning problems. Hui transformed N. gonorrhoeae CH811Str^R with pSB193 to create N. gonorrhoeae CS19. Finola Francis, my occasional shuttle bus pal and biking pal, who helps me to make "Stephanenglish" grammatically acceptable and knows who I am thinking about when I say "Mr. Rodriguese". Avni Radia, who made me her brother through the precious gift of a rakri and who once made my day by screaming "Bundy!" during a canoe promenade on a lake in the Renfrew area, I am happy that you did not flee the country last spring! My cousin Jennifer "Jenay" K. Sealy (a.k.a. C.J.), who fangs at boars in Germany and in the "no fang" zones in Austria (these troubling events have actually been photographically documented!); you will continue to read comics after I leave right? (asketh I with large, sad puppy eyes...); Jennifer did several of the MICs in this work. Franco Pagotto, who like me is registered in the 75 years Ph.D. program of the U of O; together we laughed (mainly at ourselves and our sad, grim lives), planned experiments and discussed the results, cried bitterly, discussed science, cried again; we fanged, pointed, heckled (a lot!); we vociferously expressed our insanity in many a microphone; rattled our knuckles on any available flat surface, we laughed our heads off in module P; we went to Baltimore, and barely made it back to Ottawa alive. Franco prepared N. gonorrhoeae samples for electron microscopy and took the pictures. Sandra Maritza Ramirez and Hossein Salimnia, the postdocs who helped me to hang on to the little sanity I had left after my thesis defense. They helped me to find the courage to do the last changes and corrections required for my thesis instead of running from the lab to embrace a promising squeegee career in the Ottawa Market.

Thanks to Dr. Earl G. Brown for advice on protein purification and to Dr. Lionel G. Filion for lots and lots of advice for the preparation of the polyclonal antibodies against the gonococcal FtsE protein (this work will be continued in the lab after I have left). Dr. Barbara Bachmann and to Dr. Mary C. Berlin, curators of the *E. coli* Genetic Stock Center provided *E. coli* strains required for parts of this work. I also want to thank everybody at the National Laboratory for Sexually Transmitted Diseases for the companionship and occasional advice. A special mention to the undergraduate students who have worked under my supervision: Mathieu Gatien, who had the bad luck of working with me during the darkest times of my Ph.D. but worked very hard without complaining during a whole summer; Bruno Nicoletti, who worked hard on the construction of pSB1931 and on the purification of 6HISFtsE, our favorite fusion protein. Whatever you do you two, I wish you all the best, you have been excellent workers and good students.

Finalement, je veux remercier tout spécialement ma "Grande Blonde", Marie-Claude Filion. Marie-Claude a traversé le doctorat avec moi, elle a vécu les bonnes et les mauvaises périodes à mon côté. Elle a toujours été là pour moi, que ce soit pour fêter un résultat expérimental ou pour me remonter le moral lorsque tout allait de travers avec mes expériences. Marie-Claude a accepté durant toutes ces années que, comme je le dis toujours, le laboratoire est un amant très exigeant, parce qu'il veut toujours être avec moi, et qu'il n'a pas envie de me partager avec personne. Je sais qu'avec la fin de mon doctorat, cette relation malsaine avec le laboratoire sera enfin terminée, et que nous allons finalement pouvoir avoir une vie normale (ne pas aller au labo la fin de semaine! Est-ce possible? Ne pas travailler le soir? Wow!). Marie-Claude, tu sais trop bien ce que c'est que de faire un doctorat, et tu en mérites un pour avoir enduré tout ce que tu as enduré pendant toutes ces années à cause de mon doctorat. Je ne peux malheureusement t'octroyer de doctorat honorifique pour avoir survécu à tout ça, mais je peux t'offrir quelque chose d'autre: je t'offre ma thèse, tu connais trop bien sa valeur et ce qu'elle représente. Sans tes encouragements constants, ton amour, tous les sacrifices que tu as faits pour moi et mon maudit doctorat, je ne crois pas que j'aurais pu le terminer.

This research project was made possible through grants obtained from the Canadian Bacterial Diseases Network and the National Sciences and Engineering Council. In closing, I want to thank the Marvel Entertainment Group for giving me the permission to use the art presented on page xv. À Marie-Claude, ma Grande Blonde,

et à p'pa pis m'man (encore!).

Tous les matins, je courais au laboratoire mettre en train mes expériences. Une boulimie. Un délire. Comme un gosse à qui l'on vient de donner un jouet inattendu. Avec les bactéries et les virus, sur lesquels je travaillais, on préparait une expérience le matin. On la réalisait l'après-midi. Le résultat, on l'avait le lendemain matin. Juste à temps pour préparer une nouvelle expérience qu'on éxécutait dans la journée et ainsi de suite. Un rythme d'enfer. Une course sans fin. La pousuite éperdue du lendemain. Plus que les réponses importaient les questions et la manière de les formuler car, dans le meilleur des cas, la réponse obligeait à poser de nouvelles questions. Un système à concocter de l'expectation. Une machine à fabriquer de l'avenir. Pour moi, ce monde de questions et de provisoire, cette chasse à une réponse toujours reportée au lendemain, c'était l'euphorie. Je vivais au futur. J'attendais le résultat du lendemain. Mon anxiété, j'en avais fait mon métier.

François Jacob, La statue intérieure, pp.: 14-15 Folio, 1987.

Every morning I ran to the laboratory to set up my experiments. It was a sort of bulimia; of delirium; like a kid unwrapping an unexpected toy. In the morning, I prepared the bacteria and the viruses I was working on and ran the experiments in the afternoon. The next morning I got the results just in time to put together a further experiment to run later the same day, and so on. A fiendish pace. A race without end. The mad pursuit of the day after this one. What mattered more than the answers were the questions and how they were formulated; for in the best of cases, the answer led to new questions. It was a system for concocting expectation; a machine for making the future. For me, this world of questions and the provisional, this chase after an answer that was always put off to the next day, all that was euphoric. I lived in the future. I always waited for the results of tomorrow. I had turned my anxiety into my profession.

François Jacob, The statue within, pp. 8-9. Basic Books, Inc., Publishers. New York, 1988.

... AND AMONG THE THINGS I HAVE LEARNED IS THAT THOSE WHO HAVE A PURPOSE FEEL... GOOD.

The Uncanny X-Men Vol.1, issue 202 (1986). Artist: John Romita Jr, Writer: Chris Claremont. TM & O Marvel Characters, Inc. All rights reserved.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Abstract	ii
Résumé	vi
Acknowledgments	X
Dedication	xiii
Table of contents	xvi
List of figures	xx
List of tables	xxii
List of abbreviations	xxiii
PART 1. INTRODUCTION	1
1.1. PREAMBLE TO THE INTRODUCTION	2
A. ABC transporters	
1.2. ABC transporters	
1.2.1. Organization of ABC transporters	
1.2.2. The ATP-binding domain	8
1.2.3. The transmembrane domain	11
1.2.4. ABC transporters in Neisseria species	
B. BACTERIAL CELL DIVISION	
1.3. Overview of the current state of knowledge on cell division in Escherichia coli	13
m Lycker Knill COll and an and a second s	
1.4. The <i>fts YEX</i> cluster	
1.5 The FtsE, FtsX and FtsY proteins	
1.5.1. The FtsE protein	
1.5.2. The FtsX protein	
1.5.3. The FtsY protein	
1.6. The <i>dcw</i> cluster	

1.7. E. coli cell division occurs in four stages	
1.7.1. FtsZ-ZipA binding (Stage 1)	
1.7.2. FtsZ and the FtsZ ring (Stage 2)	
1.7.3. Assembly of the cytokinesis machinery (Stage 3)	
1.7.4. Cytokinesis (Stage 4)	
1.7.5. Other events of cell division	
1.8. Cell division in Neisseria gonorrhoeae	
1.8.1. Gonococcal cell division genes	
1.8.2. Electronic microscopy observations	37
C. Neisseria gonorrhoeae	
1.9. A brief history of gonorrhoea	
1.10 N concertance is a nother of world wide importance	30
1.10. 14. gonorrhoede is a pathogen of world-wide importance	•••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••
1.11. Characterization of the chromosome of N. gonorrhoeae	43
D. Hypotheses and goals	44
PART 2. MATERIALS AND METHODS	46
2.1. Bacterial strains, growth conditions, plasmids and DNA	47
2.2. Determination of minimal inhibitory concentrations, auxotype,	
and viable counts of N. gonorrhoeae	
5	
2.3. Microscopy techniques	53
	E Á
2.4. DINA manipulations	
2.4.1. DNA restriction and other manipulations	
2.4.2. Plasmid DNA purification	
2.5. Construction of the library of <i>Neisseria gonorrhoeae</i> CH811	
DNA and isolation of plasmid clones	
-	
2.6. Construction of deletion clones and DNA sequencing procedures	56
2.6.1. Manual sequencing	
2.6.2. Automated sequencing procedures	59
	F 0
2. /. INUCIEOTIDE AND AMINO ACID SEQUENCE ANALYSIS	

2.8. DNA transfers and hybridizations	60
2.8.1. Labeling of DNA fragments and oligonucleotides	60
2.8.2.Southern transfers of DNA to nylon membranes	60
2.8.3.Hybridizations and detection	61
•	
2.9. Polymerase chain reaction procedures and cloning	
of amplicons	61
2.9.1. Amplification procedures to generate amplicons for	
cloning and other procedures	61
2.9.2. Inverse PCR	63
2.9.3. Reverse transcriptase PCR	64
2.10. In vitro transcription/translation	64
2.11. Overexpression of gonococcal genes in E. coli	65
2.12. Filamentation assay and complementation of E. coli JS10	65
2.13. Insertion of a cat gene in the ftsX gene of N. gonorrhoeae CH811	66
2.13.1. Construction of the plasmid pSB193	66
2.13.2. Construction of N. gonorrhoeae strain CS19	66
2.14. Purification of the gonococcal FtsE protein	
2.14.1. Construction of pSB1931 expressing a	
histidine-tagged FtsE (6HISE)	
2 14 2 Small-scale expression of 6HISEtsE	
2.14.3. Large-scale expression and purification of 6HISFtsE	
2.15. Gel electrophoresis of proteins	70
PART 3. RESULTS	
3.1 Isolation of the plasmid pSB19 and cloning of the <i>ftsX</i> gene	
3.2 Cloning of the 5'-section of the gonococcal <i>ftsE</i> gene and	
its upstream region	
3.3. Analysis of the ftsEX genes of N. gonorrhoeae strain CH811	
3.3.1. The ftsE gene	
3.3.2. The ftsX gene	
2.4. GeVie not on enoutiel and	107
3.4. JUX IS HOT AN ESSENTIAL GENE	
3.4.1. Construction of a <i>jisk</i> mutant of N. gonorrhoeae	

3.4.2. Morphology of N. gonorrhoeae strain CS19	
3.4.3. MICs, auxotype and viable counts of N. gonorrhoed	le
strains CH811 and CS19	
3.5. Prevalence of <i>ftsE</i> and <i>ftsX</i> in the <i>Neisseriaceae</i>	
3.5.1. Investigation of the <i>ftsEX</i> genes by hybridization	
3.5.2. Investigation of the <i>ftsEX</i> genes by PCR	
3.6. Transcription of <i>ftsE</i> and <i>ftsX</i>	
3.7. Overexpression of the gonococcal ftsE, ftsX and ftsEX in E.	<i>coli</i> 125
3.8. Functional complementation of an <i>E. coli ftsX</i> mutant	
3.9. Production of a histidine-labelled FtsE protein	
3.9.1. Construction of the plasmid pSB1931	
3.10. Analysis of the genes flanking ftsEX in N. gonorrhoeae CH	[811 139
3.10.1. The <i>tlpA</i> gene	
3.10.2. The <i>arsC</i> gene	
3.10.3. The <i>gltX</i> gene	
3.10.4. The <i>pgk</i> gene	
3.11. Genetic organization of the gltX-pgk region in N. gonorrho	<i>eae</i> strain FA1090 141
PART 4. DISCUSSION	
PART 5. CONCLUSION	
PART 6. REFERENCES	
PART 7. APPENDICES	
Appendix 1. The SRP pathway of protein transport	
Appendix 2. The initial isolation of the plasmid pSB19	
Appendix 3. Other analyses of the <i>tlpA</i> gene	
Appendix 4. Other analyses of the arsC gene	
Appendix 5. Other analyses of the gltX gene	
Appendix 6. Other analyses of the pgk gene	

List of figures

Figure 1: Organization of the domains of selected ABC transporters	6
Figure 2. Alignment of the amino acid sequences of the ATP-binding domains of ABC transporters	10
Figure 3. Genetic organization of ftsY, ftsE and ftsX in selected bacteria	
Figure 4. Genetic organization of the <i>dcw</i> gene cluster in selected bacteria	27
Figure 5. Proposed sequence of events during cell division in <i>E. coli</i>	
Figure 6. (A) Genetic and physical map of the <i>ftsEX</i> region of <i>N. gonorrhoeae</i> CH811. (B) The complete nucleotide sequence of the <i>ftsEX</i> genes and their flanking regions as generated from the plasmids pSB1900 (positions 1-2778) and pSB19 (positions 2779-4526)	
Figure 7. Inverse PCR strategy to clone the 5'-region of the N. gonorrhoeae ftsE gene and the region upstream of ftsE	86
Figure 8. Hybridization of the oligonucleotide probe SA-2 to gonococcal DNA digested with <i>PstI</i> , <i>NruI</i> , and <i>PstI-NruI</i>	89
Figure 9. Hybridization of the insert of the plasmid pSB1900 to digested N. gonorrhoeae DNA	
Figure 10. Alignment of the amino acid sequence of the <i>N. gonorrhoeae</i> FtsE protein with other prokaryotic FtsE proteins	
Figure 11. Alignment of the amino acid sequence of the <i>N. gonorrhoeae</i> FtsX protein with other prokaryotic FtsX proteins	
Figure 12. Schematic representation of the putative ABC transporter formed by FtsE and FtsX	102
Figure 13. PCR amplification of the <i>cat</i> gene inserted in the <i>ftsX</i> gene <i>N. gonorrhoeae</i> CS19	105
Figure 14. Morphological observation of <i>N. gonorrhoeae</i> strains by electron microscopy	107
Figure 15. Identification of the <i>ftsE</i> gene in the <i>Neisseriaceae</i> by Southern blotting at 50°C	113

Figure 16. Identification of the <i>ftsX</i> gene in the <i>Neisseriaceae</i> by Southern blotting at 50°C115
Figure 17. Prevalence of the <i>ftsE</i> gene in the <i>Neisseriaceae</i> as investigated by PCR
Figure 18. Prevalence of the <i>ftsX</i> gene in the <i>Neisseriaceae</i> as investigated by PCR
Figure 19. Identification of the gonococcal FtsE and FtsX proteins in vitro 123
Figure 20. Overexpression of the N. gonorrhoeae ftsE, ftsX and ftsEX genes in E. coli in rich (A-D) or minimal (E) culture media
Figure 21. Morphology of <i>E. coli</i> strains x462 and JS10 following 2.5 hours of growth in liquid culture
Figure 22. Complementation of <i>E. coli</i> JS10 with the <i>ftsX</i> gene of <i>N. gonorrhoeae</i> in LB medium at 30°C
Figure 23. Amplification of the insert of pSB1931 by PCR 136
Figure 24. Purification of the histidine-labeled gonococcal FtsE (6HISFtsE) from <i>E. coli</i>
Figure A2-1. The pathway of arginine biosynthesis in <i>E. coli</i>
Figure A3-1. Alignment of the amino acid sequences of bacterial thioredoxin-like proteins and thioredoxins
Figure A3-2. Reverse transcriptase PCR of the <i>tlpA</i> gene
Figure A4-1. Alignment of the amino acid sequences of bacterial arsenate reductase enzymes
Figure A4-2. Reverse transcriptase PCR of the arsC gene
Figure A5-1. Alignment of the amino acid sequences of bacterial and eukaryotic glutamyl-TRNA synthetases
Figure A6-1. Alignment of the amino acid sequences of bacterial and eukaryotic phosphoglycerate kinases

List of tables

Table 1. Reported sizes in amino acids of the FtsY, FtsE and FtsX proteins in bacteria 2	21
Table 2. Bacterial strains and plasmids used in this work	18
Table 3. Oligonucleotides used in this work 5	57
Table 4. Dimensions of individual gonococci from different strains 10)8
Table 5. Minimal inhibitory concentrations of various antibiotics on N. gonorrhoeae CH811 and CS19)8
Table 6. Colony forming units of N. gonorrhoeae CH811 and CS19 in various environmental conditions 10)9
Table A2-1. Plasmids complementing the arginine requirement of E. coli strain UQ27 on minimal medium M9 lacking arginine 20)6
Table A4-1. Minimal inhibitory concentrations (µg/mL) of arsenic compounds on N. gonorrhoeae CH811 and CS19	20

List of abbreviations

aa	amino acid(s)
aaRS	aminoacyl-tRNA synthetase
ABC	ATP-binding cassette
ADK	adenylate kinase
AF	accessory factor
AIDS	acquired immunodeficiency syndrome
Amp	ampicillin
AP	alkaline phosphatase
ATP	adenosine triphosphate
bp	base pair(s)
BSA	bovine serum albumin
CFTR	cystic fibrosis conductance regulator protein
cfu	colony-forming unit
Clr	chloramphenicol
Da	Dalton(s)
DTT	1, 4-dithio-DL-threitol
EDTA	ethylenediamine tetraacetate
EM	electron microscopy
Ffh	fifty-four homologue protein
FHCS	Fitz-Hugh and Curtis syndrome
fts	filamentation temperature sensitive
GCMB	GC medium base
GDP	guanosine diphosphate
GluRS	glutamyl-tRNA synthetase
GTP	guanosine triphosphate

HIV	human immunodeficiency virus
iPCR	inverse PCR
IPTG	isopropylthiogalactoside
Kan	kanamycin
Kb	kilobase(s) (1000 bp)
KDa	kiloDalton
L	Luria broth
LB	Luria-Bertani broth
LOS	lipooligosaccharide
MBP	maltose-binding protein
MIC	minimal inhibitory concentration
min.	minute(s)
mL	milliliter
Mw	molecular weight
Na(As[III])	sodium arsenite
Na(As[V])	sodium arsenate
Ni-NTA	nickel nitrilo-tri-acetic acid
nm	nanometer(s)
OD	optical density
OMP	outer membrane protein
ORF	open reading frame
PCR	polymerase chain reaction
Pgk	3-phosphoglycerate kinase
pI	isoelectric point
PID	pelvic inflammatory disease
PPNG	Penicillinase-producing N. gonorrhoeae
RBP	ribose-binding protein

.

RBS	ribosome-binding site
RNP	ribonucleoprotein
rpm	rotation per minute
RT-PCR	reverse transcriptase PCR
SDS	sodium dodecyl sulfate
sec.	second(s)
6HISFtsE	histidine-tagged FtsE protein of N. gonorrhoeae
SRa	α -subunit of the mammalian docking protein
SRP	signal recognition particle
SRP54	54 KDa polypeptide part of the SRP
SSC	standard sodium citrate
STD	sexually transmitted disease
Strep.	streptomycin
TBS	tris-buffered saline
TE	tris-EDTA buffer
Tet	tetracycline
Tm(°C)	melting temperature (in degrees Celsius)
Ts	thermosensitive
TTBS	TBS+Tween 20
US	uptake sequence
WHO	World Health Organization
X-gal	5-bromo-4-chloro-3-indolyl-β-D-galactoside

-

.

PART 1. INTRODUCTION

1.1. PREAMBLE TO THE INTRODUCTION

The scope of this research project is the identification and characterization of the *ftsE* and *ftsX* cell division genes in *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* strain CH811 and their flanking genes. In other bacteria, the protein encoded by one of these genes, FtsE, displays features specific to the ATP-binding domain of ABC (ATP-binding cassette) transporters, which is not the case for other cell division proteins. FtsE shares amino acid (aa) sequence similarity with the ATP-binding domain of ABC transporters, while FtsX has been predicted to contain transmembrane segments, suggesting it is an integral membrane protein. Because of these features of FtsE and FtsX, the introduction has been divided into three sections that respectively review ABC transporters, bacterial cell division, and aspects of *N. gonorrhoeae*.

ABC transporters are discussed in the first section (section A). Their biological function, the genetic organization of their genes and the general organization of the domains of ABC transporters are reviewed. The two core domains of ABC transporters, the ATP-binding and membrane domains are also reviewed. This section ends with the description of the two ABC transporters identified to date in the *Neisseriaceae*.

Bacterial cell division, with a focus on the *Escherichia coli* model, is reviewed in the second section (section B). The isolation of *ftsE* and *ftsX* thermosensitive (Ts) mutants in *E. coli* to the characterization of the genes, their overall genetic organization and the features of their gene product is first described. The genetic organization of the main cluster of cell division genes is also briefly reviewed, followed by a description of cell division in *E. coli*. This section is completed with the current understanding of cell division in *N. gonorrhoeae* derived from electron microscopic observations and the putative cell division genes that have been identified.

In the last section of the introduction (section C), a short historical account of gonorrhea is presented, followed by the importance of *N. gonorrhoeae* as a bacterial pathogen world-wide and in Canada. A description of the disease, and a summary of the continual problem caused by its acquisition of novel antibiotic resistance are provided. The current knowledge of the gonococcal

chromosome is also reviewed as the determination of the nucleotide sequence of the chromosome of *N. gonorrhoeae* is almost completed.

A. ABC transporters

1.2. ABC transporters

Members of the ATP-binding cassette (ABC; Hyde *et al.*, 1990) family are present in prokaryotes as well as eukaryotes (Higgins, 1992). From the initial observation that a few bacterial proteins contained the Walker A and B nucleotide-binding motifs (section 1.2.2.; Higgins *et al.*, 1988, 1986; Gill *et al.*, 1986; Higgins, 1985), a number of proteins have now been found to contain these motifs (Boos and Lucht, 1996; Fath and Kolter, 1993; Higgins, 1992). More than 50 members of this family have been identified in prokaryotes (Boos and Lucht, 1996; Fath and Kolter, 1993; Higgins 1992), and at least 25 eukaryotic ABC transporters have been identified (Dean and Allikmets, 1995).

ABC transporters are also designated traffic ATPases (Doige and Ames, 1993; Ames *et al.*, 1992). They couple ATP hydrolysis to the import or export of a specific ion or molecule to or from the cell. The substrates transported by these transporters are varied (Fath and Kolter, 1993; Higgins, 1992). In bacteria, ABC transporters for ions such as Na⁺, Fe³⁺, and Mg²⁺ have been identified (Cheng *et al.*, 1997; Adhikari *et al.*, 1996; Bartsevich and Pakrasi, 1996). They may also transport small molecules: aa (e.g., histidine and arginine), sugars (e.g., maltose), bacteriocins (e.g., colicin V; Wissenbach *et al.*, 1995; Fath *et al.*, 1992; Dassa and Hofnung, 1985a; Froshauer and Beckwith, 1984; Gilson *et al.*, 1982; Higgins *et al.*, 1982). Even macromolecules may be transported by ABC transporters: antibiotics in *Streptomyces* species, α -hemolysin in *E. coli* and other bacteria, capsular polysaccharides in *E. coli* and *Neisseria meningitidis* (Bliss and Silver, 1996; Fernández *et al.*, 1996; Olano *et al.*, 1995; Fath and Kolter,

4

1993; Frosch et al., 1991). ABC transporters may be involved in more complex functions such as plant attachment in Agrobacterium tumefasciens (Matthysse et al., 1996).

The human ABC transporter ABC1 is expressed in macrophages engaged in the engulfment and clearance of dead cells (Luciani and Chimini, 1996). The small number of eukaryotic ABC transporters identified have been associated with clinically relevant phenotypes (Luciani and Chimini, 1996). The P-glycoprotein in humans is amplified and/or overexpressed in cell lines selected for resistance to cytotoxic drugs. They are also overexpressed in certain human tumors, most commonly those that relapse following chemotherapic treatments (Dean and Allikmets, 1995). P-glycoprotein expression is enhanced following infection with the human immunodeficiency virus (HIV), which could contribute to the resistance of HIV-infected cells to antiviral drugs (Gupta and Gollapudi, 1993). P-glycoproteins homologues are overexpressed or their gene is even amplified in certain drug-resistant parasites (Dean and Allikmets, 1995). Pgh1, an ABC transporter of the malarial parasite Plasmodium falciparum, is linked to chloroquine resistance (Higgins, 1995). Mutations in the CFTR gene encoding the cystic fibrosis conductance regulator protein (CFTR) cause cystic fibrosis (Riordan et al., 1989; section 1.2.2.). Other diseases that have been linked to human ABC transporters include adrenoleukodistrophy and Zellweger's syndrome, two diseases linked to the function or the formation of peroxisomes (Dean and Allikmets, 1995). The receptor of sulfonylureas, oral hypoglycemics used to treat noninsulin-dependent diabetes mellitus to stimulate insulin release from pancreatic islet β cells, is an ABC transporter (Aguilar-Bryan et al., 1995).

1.2.1. Organization of ABC transporters

ABC transporters are typically composed of two ATP-binding domains and two hydrophobic membrane domains (Higgins, 1992). The individual domains of ABC transporters are often expressed as separate polypeptides, particularly in prokaryotes, for instance in the oligopeptide permease and in the histidine permease of *Salmonella typhimurium* (Fig. 1A and B; Higgins, 1992). However, all possible organizations of the domains have been observed (Fig. 1):

Figure 1: Organization of the domains of selected ABC transporters. The membrane domains are represented by blue boxes, the ATP-binding domains are represented by red circles. Other components of some ABC transporters such as the periplasmic substrate-binding proteins (in A, B, D and E) are represented by green circles; the accessory factor (in C) is represented by a purple box, and the outer membrane protein (in C) is represented by a black box. The cytoplasmic membrane (CM) and the outer membrane (OM) are represented by double black lines. The ABC transporters appearing in this figure are (A), the oligopeptide permease of *S. typhimurium*; (B), the histidine permease of *S. typhimurium*; (C), the α -hemolysin exporter of *E. coli*; (D), the iron-hydroxamate transporter of *E. coli*; and (E), the ribose transporter of *E. coli*. This figure is based on Fath and Kolter (1993), and Higgins (1992).



WO

Ð









HlyB, a component of the α -hemolysin exporter of *E. coli* has one ATP-binding domain fused to a single transmembrane domain (Fig. 1C); the membrane domains are fused in the ironhydroxamate transporter FhuB of *E. coli* (Fig. 1D); the two ATP-binding domains are expressed as a single polypeptide in the ribose transporter protein RbsA in *E. coli* (Fig. 4E). In other ABC transporters, all four domains are fused such as in the human multidrug resistance P-glycoprotein and in the CFTR protein (Fath and Kolter, 1993; Higgins, 1992; Higgins *et al.*, 1990).

Transporters involved in import processes also include a third component, a periplasmic protein that binds specifically to the ion or molecule to be imported in the cell (Boos and Lucht, 1996; Doige and Ames, 1993; Higgins, 1992). Such periplasmic substrate-binding proteins include OppA from the oligopeptide transporter of *S. typhimurium* (Fig. 1A), HisJ from the histidine importer of *S. typhimurium* (Fig. 1B), FhuD from the iron-hydroxamate importer of *E. coli* (Fig. 1D), and RbsA from the ribose transporter of *E. coli* (Fig. 1E).

Many ABC exporters require an additional protein for proper function, the accessory factor (AF), and the gene encoding the AF is always linked to the genes encoding the domains of the ABC transporter (Fath and Kolter, 1993). For example, HlyD is the AF for HlyA export in *E. coli* (Fig. 1C; Fath and Kolter, 1993). Other Gram negative bacterial ABC exporters, especially those involved in the export of nonprotein substrates, do not include an AF (Fath and Kolter, 1993). In such systems, the ultimate destination of the exported product is the periplasmic space or the outer membrane.

Some ABC transporters require an additional component in the form of an outer membrane protein (OMP) to complete the translocation of the product (Fath and Kolter, 1993). For example, the TolC protein facilitates the passage of HlyA and colicinV through the outer membrane (Figure 1C; Fath and Kolter, 1993; Fath *et al.*, 1992). The gene encoding the OMP can be tightly linked to the other genes encoding the domains of the ABC exporter, as is the case for the *prtF* gene (encoding the OMP) that is linked with *prtD* and *prtE* (encoding the domains of the ABC transporter) in the protease synthesis and export system of *Erwinia chrysanthemi* (Fath and Kolter, 1993). Alternatively, it may not be linked, as is the case with the TolC protein that is

involved in colicinV and α -hemolysin export while *tolC* (encoding the OMP TolC) is unlinked with either *cvaAB* (encoding the domains of the ABC exporter for colicin V, Fath *et al.*, 1992) or the *hlyCABD* genes (encoding the domains and the AF of the ABC exporter for α -hemolysin, Fath and Kolter, 1993).

1.2.2. The ATP-binding domain

The ATP-binding domains of ABC transporters contain two nucleotide-binding motifs known as the Walker motifs A and B (Fig. 2; Walker A consensus: GX_4GKS/T , Walker B consensus: $R/K_{6.8}LHyd_4D$; Walker *et al.*, 1982). These motifs were initially identified in the α and β -subunits of ATP synthase, myosin, phosphofructokinase and adenylate kinase (ADK; Walker *et al.*, 1982). The importance of both Walker motifs for the activity of the ATP-binding domain has been demonstrated by site-directed mutagenesis in several ATP-binding domains such as HisP from *S. typhimurium* (Shyamala *et al.*, 1991), HlyB of *E. coli* (Koronakis *et al.*, 1995), KpsT of *E. coli* (Pavelka *et al.*, 1994), MalK of *E. coli* (Panagiotidis *et al.*, 1993), OleB of *Streptomyces antibioticus* (Aparicio *et al.*, 1996), CFTR (Logan *et al.*, 1994; Anderson and Welsh, 1992; Cheng *et al.*, 1990), and murine MDR1 (Azzaria *et al.*, 1989). The results obtained for these studies indicated that the ABC transporter, regardless of its domain organization or if it was an importer or an exporter, was always disabled when an invariant or highly-conserved aa residue was altered in any of the conserved motifs (Walker motifs A and B or the linker peptide; Koronakis *et al.*, 1995).

A model for the three-dimensional structure of the ATP-binding domain of ABC transporters was developed based on similarities between the predicted secondary structures of ATP-bonding domains and the known three dimensional structure of ADK (Fig. 2; Hyde *et al.*, 1990). The core of the model was a nucleotide-binding fold involving five hydrophobic β -sheets (β A- β E, Fig. 2) and the Walker motif A properly positioned to interact with ATP (Fig. 2). Two loops (loops 2 and 3, Fig. 2) constituted the differences between the predicted structure of the ABC proteins and that of ADK. Loop 2 (Fig. 2) had no equivalent in ADK and was thought to
Figure 2: Alignment of the amino acid sequences of the ATP-binding domains of ABC transporters. The α -helices and β -sheets are identified after Hyde *et al.* (1990) and are predicted to form the nucleotide-binding fold (Hyde *et al.*, 1990). The Walker motifs A (WA) and B (WB) are indicated on the figure, and the linker peptide is indicated as loop 3. OppF and OppD are part of the oligopeptide importer of *S. typhimurium*, HisP is part of the histidine importer of *S. typhimurium*, MalK is part of the maltose importer of *S. typhimurium*, PstB is part of the phosphate importer of *E. coli*, HlyB is part of the hemolysin exporter of *E. coli*, MDR (N) and MDR (C) are the amino- and carboxy-terminal domains of the murine multidrug resistance protein, CFTR (N) and CFTR (C) are the amino- and carboxy-terminal domains of the human CFTR protein, and FtsE is a putative *E. coli* cell division protein (section 1.3.2.). The aa sequence of CFTR is from by Riordan *et al.* (1989), the one of *E. coli* FtsE is from Gill *et al.* (1986). See Higgins (1992) and Hyde *et al.* (1990) for references for the other sequences. This figure was taken from Higgins (1992).

	βΑ	<u> </u>	<u>ß</u> B	Loop 1	<u>ac</u>	Loop 2
OppF	LKAVDGVTLRLYEGETLGVVGESGC	GKSTFARAIIGLVK	ATDGKVAWLG	KDLI	LGMKADEWREVRSD-	IQMIFQDPLASLNPRMTIGEIIAEPLRTYH
OppD	VTAVNDLNFTLRAGETLGIVGESGS	GKSQTAFALMGLLA	TN-GRIGGSA	TFNGREI	LNLPERELNTLRAEQ	ISMIFQDPMTSLNPYMRVGEQLMEVLMLHKGM
HisP	HEVLKGVSLQARAGDVISIIGSSGS	GKSTFLRCINFLEK	PSEGAIIVNGQN	IINLVRDKDGQLI	KVADKNQLRLLRTR-	LTMVFQHFNLWSHMTVLENVMEAPIQV
MalK	VVVSKDINLDIHEGEFVVFVGPSGC	GKSTLLRMIAGLET:	ITŠGDLFI-G		ekrmndtppaerg	VGMVFQSYALYPHLSVAENMSFGLKPAGA
PstB	FHALKNINLDIAKNQVTAFIGPSGC	GKSTLLRTFNKMFE	LYPEQRAE-G	EILLDGDN	ILTNSQDIALLRAK-	VGMVFQKPTPFP-MSIYDNIAFGVRLFEKL
ніув	PVILDNINLSIKQGEVIGIVGRSGS	GKSTLIKLIQRFYI	PENGQVLIDG		HDLĄLADPNWLRRQ-	VGVVLQDNVLLN-RSIIDNISLAPGMSVE
MDR (N)	VQILKGLNLKVKSGQTVALVGNSGC	GKSTTVQLMQRLYDI	PLEGVVSIDG		QDIRTINVRYLREI-	IGVVSQEPVLFA-TTIAENIRYGREDVTMD
MDR (C)	IPVLQGLSLEVKKGQTLALVGSSGC	GKSTVVQLLERFYD	PMAGSVFLDG		KEIKQLNVQWLRAH-	LGIVSQEPILFD-CSIAENIAYGDNSRAVSHE
CFTR (N)	TPVLKDINFKIERGQLLAVAGSTGA	GKTSLLMMIMGELE	PSEGKIKHSG		RR	ISFCSQFSWIMP-GTIKENIIFGVSYDEY
CFTR (C)	NAILENISFSISPGQRVGLLGRTGS	GKSTLLSAFLR-LL	NTEGEIQIDG		VSW	DSITLQQWRKAFGVIPQKVFIFSGTFRKNLDP
FtsE	RQALQGBTPRHQPGEMAFLT <u>GHSGA</u>	<u>GKST</u> LLKLICGIER	PSAGKIWFSG	HDI'	TRLKNREVPFLRRQ-	IGMIFQDHHLLMDRTVYDNVAIPLII
	W	A				

- h				
ົກ	-			

:

	αΕ	βC	Loop	3	βD	Loop	<u>4 αΗ/Ι</u>	ße	
OppF	PKLSRQDVRDRVKAMMLKVGLLP	NLINRYP	IEFSGGQ	CQR	IGIARALILEPK	LIICDDAVS	GALDVSIQAQVVN	LLQQLQREMGLSLIFIAHDLAVVK	37-239
OppD	SKAEAFEESVRML-DAVKMPEAR	KRMKMYPI	IEFSGGM	IRQR	VMIAMALLCRPK	LLIADEPT?	TALDVTVQAQIMT	LLNELKREFNTAIIMITHDLGVVA	34-240
HisP	LGLSKHDARERALKYLAKVGIDE	RAQGKYP	/HLSGGQ	QQR	VSIARALAMEPD	VLLFDEPTS	SALDPELVGEVLR	IMQQLAEE-GKTMVVVTHEMGFAR	19-227
MalK	KKEVINQRVNQ-VA-EVLQLA	HLLDRKP	ALSGGQ	RQR	VAIGRTLVAEPS	VFLLDEPLS	SNLDAALRVQMR I	EISRLHKRLGRTMIYVTHDQVEAM	16-208
PstB	SRADMDERVQWALTKAALWNETK	DKLHQSGY	SLSGGQ	QQR	LCIARGIAIRPE	VLLLDEPCS	SALDPISTGRIEE	LITELKQDYTVVIVTHNMQQAA	23-206
НІУВ	KVIYAAKLAGAHDFISELREGYN	TIVGEQGI	AGLSGGQ	RQR	IAIARALVNNPK	ILIFDEAT:	5ALDYASEHVI	MRNMHKICKGRTVIIIAHRLSTVK	482-677
MDR (N)	Îeiekavkeanaydfimklphqfe	TLVGERG	AQLSGGQ	KQR	IAIARALVRNPK	ILLLDEAT:	SALDTESEAVV	QAALDKAREGRTTIVIAHRLSTVR	407-602
MDR (C)	EIVRAAKEANIHQFIDSLPDKYN	TRVGDKG	rqlsggg	KQR	IAIARALVROPH	ILLLDEATS	SALDTESAKVV	QEALDKAREGRTCIVIAHRLSTIQ	1049-1246
CFTR (N)	RYRSVIKACQLEEDISKFAEKDA	IVLGEGG:	TLSGGQ	RAR	ISLARAVYKDAD	LYLLDSPF	GYLDVLTEKE-IF	ESCVCKLMANKTRILVTSKMEHLK	438-611
CFTR (C)	YEQWSDQEIWKVADEVGLRSVIEQFPGKLE	FVLVDGG	CVLSHGH	IKQL	MCLARSVLSKAK	ILLLDEPS	AHLDPVTYQII	RRTLKQAFADCTVILCEHRIEAML	1224-1408
FtsE	AGASGDDIHRRVSAALDKVGLL	KA-KNFP:	IQLSGGE	:QQR	VGIARAVVNKPA	VLLADEPT	GNLDDALSEGILF	LFEEFNRV-GVTVLMATHDINLIS	15-200

WB

,

assume a role specific to the ABC domain rather than to be involved in ATP binding. Loop 3 (Fig. 2) was also believed to serve an ABC domain-specific function as its sequence was conserved between ABC domains. A well-conserved motif rich in glycine and glutamine, the linker peptide, has been identified in loop 3 (Fig. 2; prokaryotic consensus: LSGGQQQ; Ames *et al.*, 1992). This motif was proposed to serve as a linker to join separate domains within proteins (Doige and Ames, 1993; Ames *et al.*, 1992; Argos, 1990). The ATP-binding domains of ABC transporters were predicted to have a tightly folded core structure that bound and hydrolyzed ATP while their loops 2 and 3 were proposed to couple ATP-dependent conformational changes to the transport process, possibly through an interaction with the membrane domains of the transporter (Higgins, 1992; Hyde *et al.*, 1990).

Amino acid substitutions in the linker peptide of *E. coli* FtsE were responsible for cell filamentation at 42°C (Gibbs *et al.*, 1992). Several of the mutations inside the CFTR protein were identified in the linker peptide (Cheng *et al.*, 1990; Cutting *et al.*, 1990), again suggesting a role for this sequence motif. Other aa residues than those of the linker motif may be involved in the process of joining the two Walker motifs. The aa residues preceding the linker motif in the first nucleotide-binding domain of the murine Mdr3 protein were proposed to serve a transporter-specific structural role, perhaps with the linker domain (Beaudet and Gros, 1995).

The distinguishing feature of the ATP-binding domains of ABC transporters over ATPbinding proteins is that the sequence similarity between the ATP-binding domains of ABC transporters extended over the whole length of the domain (about 200 aa residues; Higgins, 1992), whereas ATP-binding proteins shared sequence similarities around the nucleotide-binding motifs only, namely around the Walker motifs A and B (Higgins, 1992).

1.2.3. The transmembrane domain

The transmembrane domain of ABC transporters typically contains six transmembrane segments (for a total of twelve transmembrane segments per transporter). However, transporters in which the transmembrane domain did not conform to the "two-times-six" structure have been identified: the ArtQ and ArtM of the arginine importer of *E. coli* were respectively predicted to contain four and three transmembrane segments; the MalF protein of the maltose transporter in *E. coli* contains eight transmembrane segments; the HisQ and HisM proteins from the histidine transporter of *S. typhimurium* were each predicted to contain five transmembrane segments (Wissenbach *et al.*, 1995; Froshauer *et al.*, 1988; Higgins *et al.*, 1982).

Whereas the ATP-binding proteins contained highly conserved aa motifs (section 1.2.1.), little or no as sequence similarities were found among the transmembrane domains of the transporters, suggesting that many aa combinations could satisfy the constraints required for the proper function of the transmembrane domains (Higgins, 1992). Subsequent analyses revealed the presence of a conserved sequence in the membrane domain. This short sequence, designated the EAA loop (consensus sequence: $EAA(X)_3G(X)_9IXLP$, where X represents any amino acid; Dassa and Hofnung, 1985a), was identified in the last cytoplasmic loop of several membrane domains of ABC importers, between 95 to 114 positions from the carboxy-end of the polypeptide (Boos and Lucht, 1996; Saurin et al., 1994; Dassa and Hofnung, 1985a, 1985b). The EAA loop appeared to be absent from the membrane domains of ABC exporters (Saurin et al., 1994). Based on the sequence similarities between various membrane domains, the proteins could be subdivided in groups (Saurin et al., 1994). Transporters specific for a group of similar substrates such as certain sugars, ions or iron-siderophores shared more sequence similarities in the region of the EAA loop, and consensus sequences were deduced (Saurin et al., 1994). These consensus sequences will be useful to help characterize other membrane proteins and the substrate of ABC transporters. The EAA loop has been proposed to constitute a recognition site for a ligand or a partner common to protein-binding dependent permeases (Dassa and Hofnung, 1985b), which could be the most conserved component in such permeases, namely the ATP-binding proteins (Kerppola and Ames, 1992). Mutations in the EAA loop of the MalG and MalF proteins from the maltose importer of E. coli were shown to affect the formation of the transporter, indicating that the EAA loop of the membrane domain functionally interacted with the nucleotide-binding domain (i.e., MalK; Mourez et al., 1997).

The mechanisms of transport by ABC transporters, their substrate specificity, and all other aspects have been the subject of several reviews (Boos and Lucht, 1996; Dean and Allikmets, 1995; Doige and Ames, 1993; Fath and Kolter, 1993; Ames *et al.*, 1992; Higgins 1992; Higgins *et al.*, 1990) and will not be discussed here.

1.2.4. ABC transporters in Neisseria species

Only two ABC transporters have been identified in the *Neisseria*: an importer of ferric ions in *N. gonorrhoeae* (Adhikari *et al.*, 1996), and an export complex involved in the export of capsular polysaccharides in *N. meningitidis* (Frosch *et al.*, 1991). The ferric ions importer complex is encoded by the *fbpABC* genes that respectively encode a periplasmic ferric-ironbinding protein, a membrane domain containing 11 predicted membrane-spanning segments and an ATP-binding domain (Adhikari *et al.*, 1996). The capsular polysaccharides export complex comprises the *ctrABCD* genes, with *ctrA* encoding a putative lipoprotein involved in export across the outer membrane, *ctrB* and *ctrC* encoding membrane proteins, and *ctrD* encoding the ATP-binding domain (Frosch *et al.*, 1991).

It is to be expected that many other ABC transporters will be identified in *N. gonorrhoeae* and in *N. meningitidis* once their respective genome projects are completed. In the genome of *E. coli*, 80 ABC transporters have been identified (Blattner *et al.*, 1997); in *Mycoplasma pneumoniae*, 34 genes encoding predicted domains of ABC transporters have been identified (Himmelreich *et al.*, 1996).

B. BACTERIAL CELL DIVISION

1.3. Overview of the current state of knowledge on cell division in *Escherichia coli*

The bacterial cell cycle can be divided in two steps (Rothfield and Justice, 1997). The first step includes the replication of the bacterial chromosome and chromosome segregation. The

second step comprises cell division, which culminates in cytokinesis (the separation of the cytoplasm into two compartments bounded by the cytoplasmic membrane (Donachie, 1993), and the separation of the daughter cells. During cell division, the cell must identify the midcell site at which division will later occur, differentiate this site in preparation for cytokinesis, and finally form the division septum by the coordinated growth of the cytoplasmic membrane, the cell wall, the synthesis of septal peptidoglycan and the outer membrane in Gram-negative bacteria (section 1.6.; Lutkenhaus and Addinall, 1997; Lutkenhaus and Mukherjee, 1995).

Cell division genes are considered essential for two reasons: first, cell division is a vital process for any cellular organism; second, cell division genes were identified by the isolation of conditionally lethal temperature sensitive (Ts) mutants in *E. coli* (Bi and Lutkenhaus, 1991a). Such conditional lethal Ts mutants were phenotypically normal at their permissive temperature but presented a different phenotype at their restrictive temperature (Bi and Lutkenhaus, 1991a). Some of these Ts mutants of *E. coli* formed filaments at their restrictive temperature but were not affected in DNA segregation as they contained regularly distributed nucleoids, while other filamentous mutants had defects in DNA replication or DNA partitioning (Lutkenhaus and Mukherjee, 1995; Hirota *et al.*, 1968). Filamentation without any visible noticeable effect on DNA segregation suggested that such mutants were specifically affected in septum formation and the mutated genes in such mutants were designated *fts* (filamentation temperature sensitive; Lutkenhaus and Mukherjee, 1995; Bi and Lutkenhaus, 1991a).

In most of the bacteria examined to date, the cell division genes were found to share a similar overall genetic organization. Most cell division genes were clustered at two loci on the bacterial chromosome: the *ftsYEX* cluster, and the morphogene (or *dcw*, for division-cell wall (Sánchez *et al.*, 1994)) cluster. The genes contained in each cluster and the function of their gene products is reviewed in the following sections.

1.4. The fts YEX cluster

This gene cluster includes three genes: *ftsY*, *ftsE* and *ftsX*. The three gene products, FtsY, FtsE and FtsX are associated with the inner membrane in *E. coli* (Gill and Salmond, 1987), and FtsY is also present in the soluble cell fraction (Luirink *et al.*, 1994). These three proteins are believed to be involved in a transport function that is important for cell division (Gill and Salmond, 1990, 1987; Gill *et al.*, 1986), perhaps as part of the septalsome (a multiprotein complex responsible for cell septation and cell separation; Holland and Jones, 1985). There has been more interest in the biological function of FtsY since it was shown to share sequence similarity with the α -subunit of the mammalian signal recognition particle (SRP, a ribonucleoprotein complex involved in protein transport; Appendix 1) docking protein (SR α , the endoplasmic reticulum membrane receptor of the SRP; Appendix 1). The *E. coli* FtsE shares aa sequence similarity with the ATP-binding domain of ABC transporters while FtsX is predicted to contain four transmembrane segments (sections 1.5.1. and 1.5.2.).

As was the case for other *E. coli fts* genes, *ftsE* and *ftsX* were first identified by the characterization of Ts mutants following ultraviolet mutagenesis of *E. coli* cells (Sturgeon and Ingram, 1978; Ricard and Hirota, 1973a, 1973b). The first *ftsE* Ts mutant to be examined (strain MFT1181) had an immediate block in septation following a shift to the restrictive temperature, and the block was not due to the arrest of DNA or RNA synthesis (Ricard and Hirota, 1973a). The strain MFT1181 showed no increased sensitivity to sodium deoxycholate at the permissive or the restrictive temperatures, and did not exhibit increased resistance to penicillin G when compared to its parental strain (Ricard and Hirota, 1973a). These observations suggested that there was no alteration in the integrity of the cell envelope. The block in cell division was RecA-independent (Ricard and Hirota, 1973a).

The *ftsX* locus of *E. coli* was also identified following ultraviolet mutagenesis of *E. coli* cells, but the cultures were enriched for long cells by repeated cycles of bacterial growth in liquid medium, filtration of the cultures to isolate filamentous cells, and using these filamentous cells to grow a new bacterial culture (Sturgeon and Ingram, 1978). The mutant strain JS10 was cold-

sensitive: the bacteria appeared as short rods at 37°C but formed filaments at 30°C (Sturgeon and Ingram, 1978). The filamentous cells of the strain JS10 did not show constrictions, suggesting that the block in cell division in strain JS10 occurred at a point preceding the assembly of the septum (Sturgeon and Ingram, 1978). The presence of constrictions in the filaments would have indicated that the early events of cell division occurred normally and the defect would have been in a gene involved in the late stages of cell division. Compared to the parental strain χ 462, the mutant strain JS10 showed excessive sensitivity to sodium deoxycholate (as opposed to what had been observed in E. coli MFT1181, a ftsE Ts mutant), displayed increased sensitivity to several antibiotics (including penicillin) that affected cell wall biosynthesis or protein synthesis at its restrictive temperature, and released ribonuclease from the periplasm. All these observations were indicative of alterations of the cell envelope (Sturgeon and Ingram, 1978), which was unaffected in E. coli MFT1181. JS10 did not display any impairment in DNA or RNA synthesis at either temperature (Sturgeon and Ingram, 1978). The locus conferring the temperature sensitive phenotype was mapped between 74 and 79 minutes on the chromosome (Sturgeon and Ingram, 1978). It was considered possible that the mutation in strain JS10 could be allelic to *ftsE*, or that it could be in a new cell division gene (Sturgeon and Ingram, 1978).

Through the use of generalized transduction and transducing lambda phages, the mutation in strain JS10 was subsequently mapped to *ftsE* and the mutation was designated *ftsE2000* (Salmond and Plakidou, 1984). These analyses also identified a new cell division locus that was named *ftsS* (Salmond and Plakidou, 1984). The two genes mapped at approximately 76 minutes on the *E. coli* chromosome (Salmond and Plakidou, 1984).

A 4.5 kilobase (Kb) *Hin*dIII fragment of the wild-type *E. coli* chromosome was able to complement strain MFT1181. The complete nucleotide sequence of this fragment was determined and the analysis of its DNA sequence revealed the presence of four genes in this region: *ftsS*, *ftsY*, *ftsE* and *ftsX*, with *ftsS* being divergently transcribed from *ftsY*, *ftsE* and *ftsX* (Gill *et al.*, 1986). *ftsY* and *ftsE* were separated by two base pairs (bp), *ftsE* and *ftsX* overlapped by seven bp, and *ftsY* and *ftsS* were separated by 150 bp (Fig. 3; Gill *et al.*, 1986).

Figure 3: Genetic organization of ftsY, ftsE and ftsX in selected bacteria. The cluster of H. *influenzae* (Fleischmann et al., 1995), E. coli (Gill et al., 1986), H. pylori (Tomb et al., 1997), M. tuberculosis (Devlin et al., 1997, Tyagi et al., 1996), and M. leprae (Parkhill et al., 1997, 1997b) are represented. Each gene is represented by a colored box with the size (in bp) indicated underneath. The number above the boxes indicates the spacing (in bp) between the genes (negative numbers indicate overlaps, and zero indicates that the genes are contiguous without overlapping).

			9 13	3
H.	influenzae	ftsY	ftsE	ftsX
		1245	657	933

				2	-7	
E.	coli	ft	ftsY	ftsE		ftsX
			1494	6	69	1059

		-10	0		
H.	pylori	ftsE	ftsX	←-11.7 Kb→	ftsY
		669	804	·	879
	tuberculosis	0			
Μ.		ftsE	ftsX		
		690	894		
	leprae	0			
М.		ftsE	ftsX	•	
		690	864		

1 Kb

Insertions of Tn1000 in ftsY or ftsE abolished complementation of strains MFT1181 and JS10 while an insertion inside of ftsX allowed complementation of strain MFT1181 but not of strain JS10 (Gill *et al.*, 1986). These observations indicated that the mutation in strain JS10 was located within the *ftsX* gene. These data also showed that *ftsY*, *ftsE* and *ftsX* likely formed an operon in *E. coli* because of the polar effect of the insertion of Tn1000 on the genes downstream (Gill *et al.*, 1986). Further characterization of *ftsY* showed that one of the Tn1000 insertions initially believed to be in *ftsY* (Gill *et al.*, 1986) was actually in the first codon of *ftsE* (Gill and Salmond, 1990), and it was found that an insertion in *ftsY*, preventing synthesis of FtsY, did not abolish the synthesis of FtsE and FtsX as the strains MFT1181 and JS10 could be complemented (Gill and Salmond, 1990). Thus, an insertion in *ftsE* has a polar effect on *ftsX*, but the polar effect of a mutation in *ftsY* on *ftsE* and *ftsX*. The *ftsY*, *ftsE* and *ftsX* genes were located at 77.6 minutes on the most recent map of the *E. coli* chromosome (Berlyn *et al.*, 1995).

Through genome projects, ftsE, ftsX and ftsY have been identified in several other bacteria and there is variability in their genetic organization (Fig. 3): ftsY, ftsE and ftsX are also clustered in Haemophilus influenzae: ftsY lies 9 bp upstream of ftsE which lies 13 bp upstream from ftsX (Fleischmann et al., 1995). In Helicobacter pylori, ftsE and ftsX overlap by 1 bp but ftsY is located 10 Kb downstream from ftsX (Tomb et al., 1997). A homologue of ftsY has been identified in Mycobacterium leprae but is not within 26.8 Kb upstream of ftsE (Parkhill et al., 1997a, 1997b). A homologue of ftsY remains to be identified in Mycobacterium tuberculosis, and it is not located within 25 Kb upstream of ftsE and ftsX (Devlin et al., 1997). Homologues of ftsE and ftsX have been identified in M. tuberculosis and in M. leprae and they are immediately contiguous in each bacterium (Parkhill et al., 1997a; Tyagi et al., 1996). Only ftsY is present in the genomes of Mycoplasma genitalium, M. pneumoniae, and the cyanobacterium Synechocystis sp. 6083 (Himmelreich et al., 1996; Kaneko et al., 1996; Fraser et al., 1995). ftsY has been identified in Mycoplasma mycoides, in which it is followed by a gene encoding a protein involved in transport (Macao et al., 1997). None of the three genes is present in the methanogenic archaeon Methanococcus jannaschii (Bult et al., 1996). A homologue of FtsY has been identified in the genome of another archaea, Sulfolobus solfataricus (Ramirez and Matheson, 1991). This putative S. solfataricus ftsY gene homologue is flanked by genes encoding proteins that do not share aa sequence similarity with FtsE and FtsX (Ramirez and Matheson, 1991). The presence of ftsE and ftsX has not been verified in this archaea.

There has been little work done on the regulation of the expression of the *ftsY*, *ftsE* and *ftsX* genes. There are differences in the regulation of the expression of these genes between *E*. *coli* and *M. tuberculosis*. Two promoters whose exact location has not been determined have been identified for *ftsY*, *ftsE* and *ftsX* in *E. coli*: a first promoter (P_Y) located upstream of *ftsY* from which all three genes were expressed, and a second promoter located upstream of *ftsE* in the 3'-section of *ftsY* (P_E) from which *ftsE* and *ftsX* were expressed (Gill and Salmond, 1990). A *ftsX*-specific promoter has been identified in *M. tuberculosis* (Tyagi *et al.*, 1996; section 1.5.2.). The regulation of the expression of *ftsY*, *ftsE* and *ftsX* has not been investigated in other bacteria.

1.5. The FtsE, FtsX and FtsY proteins

1.5.1. The FtsE protein

The FtsE protein is associated with the inner membrane in *E. coli* (Gill and Salmond, 1987). Based on the sizes of the known FtsE polypeptides, the average size of FtsE is 224 aa, which is smaller than FtsY and FtsX (Table 1). The first FtsE homologue to be characterized was from *E. coli* (Gill *et al.*, 1986). Sequence similarity searches indicated it shared similarity with other proteins involved in transport processes and that the similarities were the highest around two regions of the polypeptides, which were presumed to be nucleotide-binding motifs (Gill *et al.*, 1986; Higgins *et al.*, 1986). These two motifs, the Walker motifs A and B, have since been recognized to be the signature sequence of the members of the ABC protein family (sections 1.2. and 1.2.1.). Based on these results, FtsE was considered to be an ATP-binding protein involved in an uncharacterized aspect of cell division (Gill *et al.*, 1986.). Studies of *E. coli* FtsE by random

mutagenesis showed the importance of the linker peptide for FtsE function, as mutations of aa residues part of the linker peptide rendered the bacteria Ts (Gill *et al.*, 1992; section 1.2.2.).

Bacterium	FtsY	FtsE	FtsX	Reference
	(aa)	(aa)	(aa)	
E. coli	497	222	352	Gill et al., 1986
H. influenzae	414	218	310	Fleischmann et al., 1995
H. pylori	293	223	268	Tomb et al., 1997
M. genitalium	346	NP ¹	NP ¹	Fraser et al., 1995
M. leprae	430	229	287	Parkhill et al., 1997a, 1997b
M. mycoides	411	ND^2	ND ²	Macao et al., 1997
M. pneumoniae	346	NP ¹	NP ¹	Himmelreich et al., 1996
M. tuberculosis	ND ²	229	297	Devlin et al., 1997; Tyagi et al., 1996
S. solfataricus	369	ND ²	ND ²	Ramirez and Matheson, 1991
Synechocystis	504	NP ¹	NP ¹	Kaneko et al., 1996

Table 1. Reported sizes in amino acids of the FtsY, FtsE and FtsX proteins in bacteria.

¹NP: not present in this organism. In all cases, the complete genome sequence of the organism has been determined through a genome project.

²ND: not determined.

The status of *ftsE* as a cell-division gene is controversial since it has been shown that the filamentous phenotype of *E. coli* strain MFT1181, a *ftsE* Ts mutant, was medium-dependent (Taschner *et al.*, 1988). Indeed, MFT1181 cells could only form filaments in rich medium at their

restrictive temperature; in minimal medium of low osmolarity, they formed small chains of swollen cells. This swelling was suppressed in minimal medium of higher osmolarity but failed to restore the filamentous phenotype. In contrast, Ts mutants of other known cell division genes (*ftsZ*, *ftsQ*, *ftsA* and *fts1*) all formed filaments at their restrictive temperature in either type of culture medium (Taschner *et al.*, 1988). However, two *E. coli* mutants blocked in the earliest stages of cell division were found to be mutated in *ftsE* (Begg *et al.*, 1995). Also, FtsE and FtsX were found to interact with the SRP (Appendix 1) in *E. coli* (Ulbrandt *et al.*, 1997). Since it had been shown that disruption of the SRP pathway by preventing the expression of *ffh* (encoding the fifty-four homologue protein (Ffh), the bacterial homologue of SRP54, Römisch *et al.*, 1989; Appendix 1) led to cell filamentation in *E. coli* (Patel and Austen, 1995; Phillips and Silhavy, 1992), it suggested that both genes encoded cell division proteins.

1.5.2. The FtsX protein

The FtsX protein is also associated with the inner membrane in *E. coli* (Gill and Salmond, 1987). FtsX encodes a protein larger than FtsE but is more heterogeneous in size, the largest consisting of 352 aa residues (*E. coli*) and the shortest comprising 268 aa residues (*H. pylori*), with an average size of 305 aa residues, based on the sizes of the known FtsX polypeptides (Table 1). The biological function of FtsX has not been investigated. From aa sequence analyses, the FtsX proteins from *M. tuberculosis* and *E. coli* were predicted to contain four transmembrane segments, suggesting they were located in the bacterial membrane (Tyagi *et al.*, 1996). These results correlated well with the membrane-associated location for FtsX observed in *E. coli* (Gill and Salmond, 1987). The *ftsE/ftsX* gene products interact with the SRP, like many other integral membrane proteins (Ulbrandt *et al.*, 1997). FtsX homologues do not share significant amino acid sequence similarities with other protein sequences in the databases.

In *M. tuberculosis*, the expression of *ftsX* was found maximized in the log phase of growth in liquid cultures and was negligible in a 20 day stationary culture, correlating well with the division state of the bacteria in each case (Tyagi *et al.*, 1996). The possible correlation of *ftsX*

expression with the growth phase has not been investigated in other bacteria. The filamentous phenotype of *E. coli* JS10, the *ftsX* Ts mutant, has not been investigated in different types of culture media as has been done with *E. coli* MFT1181 (section 1.5.1.).

1.5.3. The FtsY protein

The size of FtsY varies between bacteria, from 293 aa residues in *H. pylori* to 504 aa residues in the *Synechocystis* sp. 6083 (Table 1). The size difference between the bacterial FtsY homologues was attributed to the size of its amino-terminal portion (Macao *et al.*, 1997): the amino-terminal portion of FtsY comprised 197 aa residues in *E. coli*, compared to 100 aa residues in *M. mycoides* and about 40 aa residues in *M. genitalium* and *M. pneumoniae*. The amino-terminal region of FtsY was characterized by an abundance of charged aa residues: they accounted for as much as 50% of the aa residues in *M. mycoides* FtsY (Macao *et al.*, 1997), and 30% of the aa residues in *E. coli* FtsY were acidic (Gill and Salmond, 1990).

A putative nucleotide-binding site was identified in the carboxy-terminal region of *E. coli* FtsY (Gill *et al.*, 1986). *E. coli* FtsY was later found to share aa sequence similarity with SR α , suggesting that FtsY may have a role in protein transport (Bernstein *et al.*, 1989; Römisch *et al.*, 1989). The region of FtsY containing the nucleotide-binding motif was located within the region sharing the highest aa similarity with SR α (Bernstein *et al.*, 1989; Römisch *et al.*, 1989). *E. coli* FtsY shared aa sequence similarity with members of the GTPase superfamily, and was found to be closest in aa sequence to proteins involved in protein transport such as a 54 KiloDalton (Kda;) polypeptide (SRP54, a component of the eukaryotic SRP; Appendix 1) identified in mice, and *E. coli* Fth. Based on aa sequence similarities with other members of the GTPase family, four regions of FtsY were predicted to be important for GTP binding; the first of which corresponded to the nucleotide-binding motif initially identified by Gill *et al.* (1986) (Bourne *et al.*, 1991). The introduction of mutations in the nucleotide-binding motifs of *E. coli* and *M. mycoides* FtsY altered or abrogated GTP binding (Macao *et al.*, 1997; Ulbrandt *et al.*, 1997; Kusters *et al.*, 1995).

FtsY is now considered to be a component of the bacterial SRP receptor (Luirink and Dobberstein, 1994; Wolin, 1994). FtsY was predicted to lack transmembrane segments (Gill and Salmond, 1990) and is therefore associated with the inner membrane through interactions with another protein.

Powers and Walter (1997) proposed that the function of the NH₂-terminal domain of FtsY was to increase the association of FtsY with the cytoplasmic membrane. The amino-terminal domain of FtsY serves to target the nucleotide-binding domain of FtsY to the membrane of the cell (Zelazny *et al.*, 1997); this was shown by the inability of FtsY mutants with deleted amino-terminal domains to support bacterial growth. Similar results were obtained by using TrpE-FtsY fusions, in which the nucleotide-binding domain of FtsY was fused to the amino-terminal domain of the cytoplasmic protein TrpE (Zelazny *et al.*, 1997). In contrast, LacY-FtsY fusions, in which the nucleotide-binding domain of FtsY was fused to the amino-terminal domain of the membrane protein LacY, were able to support bacterial growth (Zelazny *et al.*, 1997). All these data also showed that FtsY was required to be located at the inner membrane to properly perform its biological function.

Evidence for the involvement of FtsY in protein transport was provided when *E. coli* FtsY was shown to bind a complex formed by Ffh and 4.5S RNA, two other components of a protein transport pathway in bacteria (Miller *et al.*, 1994; Appendix 1). This interaction between FtsY, Ffh and 4.5S RNA was shown by affinity chromatography and was dependent on GTP hydrolysis (Miller *et al.*, 1994). The GTP hydrolysis activity of *E. coli* FtsY was shown to be dependent on the formation of a complex between FtsY and Ffh-4.5S RNA (Miller *et al.*, 1994). Similar results were obtained with *M. mycoides* FtsY (Macao *et al.*, 1997). Other studies showed that FtsY had interactions with the SRP in *E. coli*, which fit in well with the role of FtsY in protein transport (Ulbrandt *et al.*, 1997). FtsY from *E. coli* bound GTP, and while FtsY could bind Ffh-4.5S RNA in the presence of a GTP analogue, FtsY mutants with a lowered affinity for GTP could only bind Ffh-4.5S RNA with reduced efficiency or not at all (Kusters *et al.*, 1995). Other studies showed that FtsY and Ffh-4.5S RNA stimulated each other's GTPase activity if both proteins were in a

25

GTP-bound state (Powers and Walter, 1995), and that protein targeting by FtsY and Ffh-4.5S RNA took place only if GTP was available (Powers and Walter, 1997).

Also supporting a role for FtsY in protein transport, FtsY was shown to affect the transport of some proteins in *E. coli* although the evidence was contradictory in some cases: overproduction of FtsY caused an accumulation of pre- β -lactamase but not of pre-OmpA (Luirink *et al.*, 1994). Depletion of FtsY in *E. coli* in a strain where *ftsY* was under the control of an inducible promoter abolished the translocation of the ribose-binding protein (RBP), β -lactamase, and OmpF without affecting the processing of pre-OmpA, pre-OmpC and pre-MBP (maltose-binding protein; Luirink *et al.*, 1994). In contrast, OmpA and RBP export were not affected and export of β -lactamase was only delayed in cells that overproduced a FtsY mutant with a dominant lethal phenotype (Ulbrandt *et al.*, 1997). FtsY was shown to be essential in *E. coli* for the expression of SecY and *lac* permease, two membrane proteins; FtsY affected only weakly the synthesis of β -lactamase and had no effect on β -galactosidase, a cytoplasmic protein (Seluanov and Bibi, 1997). Since *lac* permease and β -galactosidase are encoded by genes part of the same operon, Seluanov and Bibi (1997) deduced that the difference in their expression pattern was a reflection of post-translational, FtsY-related events.

1.6. The *dcw* cluster

The so-called *dcw* cluster contains the majority of the cell growth and cell division genes. This cluster includes sixteen genes located at two minutes on the chromosome of *E. coli* (Fig. 4; Berlyn *et al.*, 1995; Donachie, 1993). A similar cluster was found on the chromosome of *H. influenzae* but the spacing between the genes was different to that in *E. coli* (Fig. 4; Fleischmann *et al.*, 1995). There were more differences in the genetic organization of this cluster in *N. gonorrhoeae* (Fig. 4) as found through analyses of the DNA sequences generated through the Gonococcal Genome Project (Dyer *et al.*, 1996) conducted in our laboratory (section 1.8.1.; Radia *et al.*, unpublished data). This genetic organization was not ubiquitous among microorganisms. **Figure 4:** Genetic organization of the *dcw* gene cluster in selected bacteria. The *dcw* clusters of *N. gonorrhoeae* (Radia *et al.*, unpublished data), *H. influenzae* (Fleischmann *et al.*, 1995), *E. coli* (Blattner *et al.*, 1997), *H. pylori* (Tomb *et al.*, 1997) and *M. genitalium* (Fraser *et al.*, 1995) are represented. Each gene is represented by a box with the size in bp indicated underneath. Genes encoding proteins that have been shown to participate in cell division are in red, and other genes are in black. The number above the boxes indicates the spacing between the genes (negative numbers indicate overlaps, and zero indicates that the genes are contiguous without overlapping). *hyp* indicates hypothetical genes. The size of the gonococcal *murG* and *murC* genes, and the intergenic spaces between *murG* and *murC* and between *murG* and *ddlB* could not be determined with the available data, and are indicated by question marks (?). On this figure, gene sizes of *murG* and *murC* and intergenic spaces between *murG* and *murC* and *murC* and between *murC* and *ddlB* were determined arbitrarily by using the gene size and intergenic spaces from *E. coli* and *H. influenzae* and calculating the average.



For instance *H. pylori* did not contain all the cell division genes identified in *E. coli* and *H. influenzae* and those present were not clustered (Fig. 4; Tomb *et al.*, 1997). Only *ftsA* and *ftsZ* were found clustered in *H. pylori* (Fig. 4), while *ftsI*, *ftsK* and *ftsW* were located elsewhere on the chromosome (Tomb *et al.*, 1997). Only the *ftsZ* gene was present in the genomes of *M. genitalium* (Fig. 4; Fraser *et al.*, 1995) and *M. pneumoniae* (not shown; Himmelreich *et al.*, 1996). The complete *fts-mur* locus has been studied in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*, and its organization appeared very similar to that of *E. coli* and other bacterial species (not shown; Sanschagrin *et al.*, 1997). A cluster of cell division genes in *C. crescentus* appeared similarly organized as their homologues in *E. coli* (not shown; Ohta *et al.*, 1997). Only a few cell division genes have been identified in *S. typhimurium*: *divA*, *divC*, *divD*, *ftsZ*, *lkyD* and *min* (not shown; Sanderson *et al.*, 1995). In *S. typhimurium*, the *divC* gene that is involved in septum initiation and *ftsZ* were located close on the genetic map (not shown; Sanderson *et al.*, 1995). The other cell division genes were found scattered on the chromosome (Sanderson *et al.*, 1995).

A similar genetic organization to that found in *E. coli* and *H. influenzae* was observed in Gram-positive bacteria. In *Bacillus subtilis*, the putative cell division genes *ftsL*, *ftsA*, *ftsZ*, 4 *mur* genes, and *mraY* are clustered between 130 and 135 minutes on the genomic map (not shown; Biaudet *et al.*, 1996). The genes *yllB*, *yllC*, *yllD*, *ftsL*, *pbpC*, *mraY*, *murD*, *murG*, *div1B*, *ftsA* and *ftsZ* were clustered in *Enterococcus faecalis* and in *Staphylococcus aureus* (not shown; Pucci *et al.*, 1997). Preliminary indications suggest that several cell division genes are clustered in *Streptococcus pneumoniae* and *Streptococcus pyogenes* (Pucci *et al.*, 1997).

In Synechocystis sp.6083, ftsZ and other putative cell division genes, minCDE (section 1.7.5.), maf, and one other uncharacterized cell division gene have been identified, but all were scattered over the genome (not shown; Kaneko et al., 1996). In the archaeon M. jannaschii, the cell division gene were not clustered although homologues of ftsZ, ftsJ, and three homologues of minD have been identified (not shown; Bult et al., 1996).

The *zipA* gene that encodes the membrane receptor for FtsZ (see section 1.7.1.) lies outside of the morphogene cluster, at 52 minutes on the *E. coli* chromosome (Hale and de Boer,

1997). Similarly, the *H. influenzae zipA* gene was not located close to the cluster of cell division genes (Hale and de Boer, 1997). A *zipA* homologue was identified in *S. typhimurium*, but none was found in *M. genitalium* or in *M. jannaschii* (Hale and de Boer, 1997). Similarity searches done in our laboratory on the gonococcal genome data base could not identify a *zipA* homologue in *N. gonorrhoeae* strain FA1090 (Victor and Dillon, unpublished data).

1.7. E. coli cell division occurs in four stages

According to the latest models, cell division in *E. coli* may be divided in four stages (Fig. 5, Rothfield and Justice, 1997): binding of FtsZ to its membrane anchor ZipA (Stage 1), formation of the FtsZ ring (Stage 2), assembly of the cytokinesis machinery (Stage 3), and cytokinesis (Stage 4). Each of the four steps are briefly described in this section. The putative cell division proteins FtsE and FtsX proteins are not part of this model, as the exact role of each protein in cell division has not been determined.

1.7.1. FtsZ-ZipA binding (Stage 1)

The early events of cell division (Fig. 5, Stage 1) involve the localization of FtsZ to the inner membrane, where it remains associated with the invaginating septum during cytokinesis (Rothfield and Justice, 1997). ZipA, the probable membrane receptor for FtsZ, was predicted to be a bitopic membrane protein, with its amino-terminal end crossing the inner membrane once with the rest of the protein in the cytoplasm, and was shown essential for septum formation (Hale and de Boer, 1997). *zipA* is an essential gene, and its overexpression caused the formation of unconstricted filaments, suggesting that ZipA acted early in cell division. The filamentous phenotype caused by *zipA* overexpression was relieved by *ftsZ* overexpression, suggesting interactions between ZipA and FtsZ. ZipA was found to be distributed in a ring at the site of cell division; this ring was always located at the site of constriction. It remains unclear as to which protein recruits the other to the future septation site (Hale and de Boer, 1997).

Figure 5: Proposed sequence of events during cell division in *E. coli* (from Rothfield and Justice, 1997). OM: outer membrane, LP: lipoprotein, Mur: murein layer (peptidoglycan, CM: cytoplasmic (inner) membrane.



1.7.2. FtsZ and the FtsZ ring (Stage 2)

The level of FtsZ was found critical for cell division in E. coli, as overproduction by two to seven-fold caused the formation of minicells whereas lowering the levels of FtsZ either by limitation of ftsZ expression using antisense RNA or by growing null mutants of ftsZ in which ftsZ was carried on a plasmid with a Ts replication defect inhibited cell division and caused the formation of filaments (Tétart et al., 1992; Dai and Lutkenhaus, 1991; Ward and Lutkenhaus, 1985). FtsZ proteins from E. coli and from other microorganisms bind GTP and/or possess a GTPase activity (Wang et al., 1997; Wang and Lutkenhaus, 1996a, 1996b; Mukherjee et al., 1993; de Boer et al., 1992; RayChaudhuri and Park, 1992). Associated with the inner membrane through interactions with ZipA (section 1.7.1.), FtsZ molecules form an annular structure, the FtsZ ring (Bi and Lutkenhaus, 1991b), extending around the circumference of the cell (Fig. 5, Stage 2). The FtsZ ring is believed to be formed by polymerization of FtsZ molecules in a GTPdependent fashion, and may consist of one or more polymers extending completely around the cell up to twenty times, or alternatively could be a series of shorter polymers organized to form a continual annulus (Rothfield and Justice, 1997; Erickson et al., 1996; Mukherjee and Lutkenhaus, 1994). FtsZ contains a highly conserved sequence motif (GGGTGTG) that is similar to the tubulin signature motif ((G/A)GGTG(S/A)G; Mukherjee and Lutkenhaus, 1994; Mukherjee et al., 1993; de Boer et al., 1992a; RayChaudhuri and Park, 1992): FtsZ polymers were remarkably similar to tubulin polymers (Erickson et al., 1996), and FtsZ was assembled in filaments and tubules (Lutkenhaus and Addinall, 1997; Erickson, 1995). The constriction of the FtsZ ring plays a central role in triggering cytokinesis events (section 1.7.4.). The FtsZ ring may serve as a cytoskeletal element that provides the energy for the constriction of the cytoplasmic membrane and/or to act as a mooring to recruit other cell division proteins to the division site (Lutkenhaus and Addinall, 1997).

1.7.3. Assembly of the cytokinesis machinery (Stage 3)

The other cell division proteins (PBP3 (FtsI), FtsA, FtsL, FtsN, FtsQ, FtsW, FtsK) are thought to assemble at the future division site following the formation of the FtsZ ring (Fig. 5, stage 3). This is at least true for FtsA, FtsI, FtsQ and FtsN, as the FtsZ ring was shown to form in ftsA(Ts), ftsI(Ts) and ftsQ(Ts) mutants (Addinall and Lutkenhaus, 1996a) and in cells in which the FtsN level was severely reduced (Addinall *et al.*, 1997). These observations indicated that FtsA, FtsI, FtsQ and FtsN were not required for the formation of the FtsZ ring (Addinall *et al.*, 1997; Addinall and Lutkenhaus, 1996a).

The functions of other proteins involved in cytokinesis have been determined: FtsA may act as a link between FtsZ and other cell division proteins or may enhance the dynamics of the FtsZ ring (Addinall and Lutkenhaus, 1996b), or may link the FtsZ ring to septal specific peptidoglycan synthesis (Lutkenhaus and Mukherjee, 1995). PBP3, the product of the *ftsI* gene, is specifically required for the synthesis of septal peptidoglycan (Botta and Park, 1981; Spratt, 1977, 1975). Bitopic membrane proteins such as FtsQ, FtsL and FtsN are potential candidates for signaling molecules that could coordinate periplasmic processes such as peptidoglycan assembly to cytoplasmic events such as DNA synthesis or chromosome segregation (Guzman *et al.*, 1992). FtsW was proposed to be involved in the stabilization of the FtsZ ring (Boyle *et al.*, 1997). FtsK may be directly involved in the completion of the septa and to be a peptidoglycan-modifying enzyme (Begg *et al.*, 1995).

1.7.4. Cytokinesis (Stage 4)

The last stage of cell division involves the invagination of the septum (Fig. 5, Stage 4). This complex process involves the circumferential ingrowth of three layers of the cell envelope and is currently explained by two models (Rothfield and Justice, 1997). In the first model, the so-called PUSH model, the ingrowth of the peptidoglycan layer (perpendicular to the long axis of the bacterium) is triggered by a cell cycle signal transmitted via the division machinery at the midpoint of the cell (Rothfield and Justice, 1997). This ingrowth of the peptidoglycan then

"pushes" the inner membrane inward. In the second model, the PULL model, the constriction of the FtsZ ring "pulls" on the cytoplasmic membrane, thereby initiating the synthesis of septal murein by sending a signal to the septal murein-synthesizing machinery (Rothfield and Justice, 1997). FtsZ is present in bacteria with and without a cell wall (*Mycoplasma* species) and in archaea, in which the cell wall is chemically different that of Gram-negative bacteria (Madigan *et al.*, 1997). If FtsZ plays the same role in cell division apparatus in these organisms as it does in *E. coli*, it would imply that constriction of the FtsZ ring can occur independently of the ingrowth of the peptidoglycan, thus favoring the PULL model (Rothfield and Justice, 1997). The constriction of the FtsZ is likely an important triggering event in septum formation, with ingrowth of septal murein being a secondary or maybe parallel process responding to the same signal that activates the constriction of the FtsZ ring.

1.7.5. Other events of cell division

The selection of the proper site at midcell for the formation of the division septum requires three gene products: MinC, MinD and MinE. MinC and MinD act together to form the MinCD cell division inhibitor. The MinCD division inhibitor is required to prevent septation at the potential division sites at the cell poles, since loss of either MinC or MinD leads to the production of minicells (de Boer *et al.*, 1989). MinE is an anti-MinCD factor that provides topological specificity to the MinCD division inhibitor as it is capable of suppressing the activity of MinCD at midcell but not at the cell poles (Zhao *et al.*, 1995). The selection of the division site through MinCDE has recently been reviewed (Lutkenhaus and Addinall, 1997).

Other events of cell division (DNA segregation, peptidoglycan synthesis, cell separation) have not been reviewed here but have been reviewed elsewhere (van Heijenoort, 1996; Lutkenhaus and Mukherjee, 1995; Donachie, 1993).

1.8. Cell division in Neisseria gonorrhoeae

N. gonorrhoeae is a pathogenic bacterium causing the sexually transmitted disease gonorrhea (section 1.9.). The majority of the research efforts have been directed at elucidating the mechanisms of infection and pathogenicity (e.g., *pil* and *opa* genes, lipooligosaccharide (LOS) biosynthesis genes; Seifert, 1996; van Putten and Robertson, 1995; Koomey, 1994; Meyer *et al.*, 1994; Robertson and Meyer, 1992; Seifert, 1992; Meyer, 1990a, 1990b) and identifying a suitable candidate for the development of a vaccine (section 1.10.). The majority of other cellular and metabolic processes remain largely uncharacterized. Cell division is one major cellular event that has not received much attention.

1.8.1. Gonococcal cell division genes

Three cell division genes from *N. gonorrhoeae*, *ftsZ*, *penA* and *tpc*, have been identified and characterized by conventional cloning methods (see below). The genes flanking *ftsZ* and all the other cell division genes clustered with *ftsZ* in *N. gonorrhoeae* have been identified in our laboratory through the analysis of the *N. gonorrhoeae* sequences generated through the Gonococcal Genome Project (section 1.6.). The analyses done in our laboratory showed that the gene order of the main cell division cluster in *N. gonorrhoeae* was similar to that in *E. coli* and *H. influenzae* (Fig. 4; section 1.6.). The same analyses also showed that in *N. gonorrhoeae*, there were no overlaps between genes, and the spacing between genes was greater than what had been observed in *E. coli* and *H. influenzae* (Fig. 4; section 1.6.). In addition, the *ftsI* homologue was missing in the cluster in *N. gonorrhoeae*, there was a hypothetical gene (*hyp1*) inserted between *murE* and *murF*, and *envA*, the last gene of the cluster in *E. coli* and *H. influenzae*, was replaced by a hypothetical gene (*hyp2*; Fig. 4; Radia *et al.*, unpublished data).

The gonococcal homologue of *ftsZ* has been cloned and characterized in our laboratory (Radia *et al.*, unpublished data; Radia, 1997). The gonococcal *ftsZ* gene comprised 1179 bp encoding a protein of 392 aa with a predicted molecular weight (Mw) of 41 542 Daltons (Da) and contained the conserved motifs important for GTP binding (Radia, 1997). It shared 72%

similarity with the other known prokaryotic FtsZ proteins (Radia, 1997). Overexpression of the gonococcal *ftsZ* caused filamentation in *E. coli* as it had been observed when *ftsZ* from other bacteria was overexpressed in *E. coli* (Radia, 1997). The *ftsZ* gene is probably essential in the gonococcus as it is in other bacteria as all attempts to construct isogenic mutants of *ftsZ* failed (Radia, 1997). However, direct evidence of the participation of the gonococcal FtsZ protein in cell division in this bacterial species remains to be demonstrated.

Another putative gonococcal cell division gene, *penA*, encodes the PBP2 protein (Spratt, 1988). This protein is the gonococcal homologue of *E. coli* PBP3. PBP2 displayed 40% amino acid sequence similarity with PBP3 (Spratt, 1988). The *penA* gene was not located within the large cluster of cell division and cell growth genes identified in our laboratory (see above, and Fig. 4), contrary to *ftsI* that was located in this cluster in *E. coli* and *H. influenzae* (section 1.6.). This gene is likely to be widespread in the *Neisseriaceae* as it has been identified in *Neisseria perflava/sicca* (Perez-Castillo *et al.*, 1994) and in *N. meningitidis* (Spratt *et al.*, 1992, 1989). The *penA* gene has only been investigated as part of projects pertaining to antibiotic resistance and the role of PenA in gonococcal cell division remains to be demonstrated.

The third putative gonococcal cell division gene is the tpc (tetrapac) gene (Fussenegger *et al.*, 1996a). It is an ORF of 1040 bp encoding a protein of 346 aa with a predicted Mw of about 37 KDa (Fussenegger *et al.*, 1996a). The aa sequence of Tpc did not display any similarity to protein sequences available in the public databases (Fussenegger *et al.*, 1996a). Its only notable feature was a leader sequence that showed perfect identity with lipoprotein leader sequences. This leader sequence was shown to be essential for export and function of the Tpc protein although the lipoprotein nature of Tpc was unclear. tpc mutants showed diminished murein hydrolase activity, suggesting that Tpc might be a murein hydrolase, therefore the primary defect of tpc mutants likely relates to disfunction of bacterial cell division and cell separation. tpc mutants also appeared tetracoccal in shape (Fussenegger *et al.*, 1996a; section 1.8.2.). The tpc gene is preceded by the *folC* gene that encodes folylpoly-(γ)-glutamate-dihydrofolate synthetase, an enzyme

involved in the metabolism of one carbon molecules (Fussenegger *et al.*, 1996a, 1996b). It is possible that *folC* and *tpc* form a transcriptional unit (Fussenegger *et al.*, 1996b).

1.8.2. Electronic microscopic observations

Early investigations on gonococcal cell division were conducted by electron microscopy (EM) of dividing gonococci (Westling-Häggström *et al.*, 1977; Reyn *et al.*, 1970; Fitz-James, 1964). The earliest indications of division was a hemispherical constriction deeper on one side than the other (Fitz-James, 1964). These folds were present at the division plane. Observation of gonococci on agar slides indicated that the first expansion occurred perpendicular to the division plane, then ceased, and that subsequent growth occurred parallel to the existing septum to finally produce a tetrad of cells (Westling-Häggström *et al.*, 1977). Expansion of individual gonococci proceeded in only one dimension throughout virtually the entire cell cycle, but expansion in two dimensions was observed in some cells at the end of the division period. Growth in the second dimension began slightly before the distance from one pole to the division plane equaled cell width.

Active growth occurred in the septal region as treatment of growing gonococci with penicillin caused distortions in the septal region (Westling-Häggström *et al.*, 1977). *N. gonorrhoeae* was observed to divide by septation rather than by constriction. Cell division was initiated by an ingrowth of cytoplasmic membrane enclosing a fold of peptidoglycan that gave rise to complete septal structures. Septal peptidoglycan was often visualized as two separate layers (Westling-Häggström *et al.*, 1977). The completion of the cell wall was observed to occur much later in cell development (Fitz-James, 1964). Microscopic observation suggested that the cell wall material between two daughter cells matured slowly as it was not as dense as the cell wall surrounding the cell. Hence, a delay in separation of already divided cells accounted for the high proportion of apparently dividing duplex forms seen in cultures of gonococci (Fitz-James, 1964). This pattern of bidimensional growth was also observed for other *Neisseria* species such as *N. meningitidis* and *Neisseria pharyngitis* (Westling-Häggström *et al.*, 1977).

N. gonorrhoeae strains with an inactivated *tpc* gene, encoding a protein involved in late stages of gonococcal cell division were also observed by EM (Fussenegger *et al.*, 1996a; section 1.8.1.). Gonococci from such strains appeared tetracoccal in shape (i.e., two diplococci connected by a double murein layer at their interface). The inner membrane was separated and the outer membrane was continuous around the whole tetrapac. The outer membrane also appeared to bulge out and form blebs because invagination at the septum was blocked by the double murein layer. Tetrapacs were observed to use a third possible division plane and divided through an octapac intermediate; these octapac intermediates were rarely observed in cultures of *tpc* mutants. The *comL* gene, involved in competence for transformation, is also believed to encode a murein hydrolase (Fussenegger *et al.*, 1996c). Unlike *tpc* mutants, *comL* mutants had a diplococcal morphology but the cells are approximately two times smaller than wild-type gonococci (Fussenegger *et al.*, 1996c).

C. Neisseria gonorrhoeae

1.9. A brief history of gonorrhea

Gonorrhea is a disease that has been long known to man; there are references to gonococcal infection in old Chinese, Japanese, Egyptian and Vedic sources, as well as in the Bible (Kiple, 1993; McGrew, 1985). The first scientific observations on gonorrhea were made by Hippocrates (460-355 B.C.), who associated the infection with "the pleasures of Venus" (Palella *et al.*, 1997). Gonococcal infections were also described by the Greek physician Galen (120-200 A.D.) who coined the term gonorrhea ("flow of seed"), which originates from two greek words, "gonos" (seed), and "rheîn" (flow) (Jephcott, 1990). The term "clap", a colloquialism sometimes used to designate a gonococcal infection, first appeared in 1378 A.D. and probably referred to Les Clappiers or Clappoir, a district of Paris where prostitutes commonly worked at the time (Palella *et al.*, 1997). Following the great syphilis endemic that began in the last decade of the fifteenth

century, gonorrhea and syphilis were regularly confused and gonorrhea was widely considered to be the onset stage of syphilis (Kiple, 1993; McGrew, 1985). In 1767, the Scottish surgeon John Hunter inoculated himself with pustular discharge of a patient believed to have gonorrhea but developed syphilis (Kiple, 1993; McGrew, 1985); this experiment postponed scientific understanding of the two diseases by decades. In 1838, gonorrhea was finally shown to be a separate disease from syphilis by Philippe Ricord in Paris through a series of clinical observations and direct experiments (Kiple, 1993; McGrew, 1985). The bacterium responsible for the sexually transmitted disease gonorrhea was isolated in 1879 by Albert Neisser at the University of Breslau in Germany (Kiple, 1993). Ernst von Bumm, one of Neisser's research associates, later cultivated the bacterium, named *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*, and inoculated human volunteers to prove its pathogenicity in pure culture (Kiple, 1993).

1.10. N. gonorrhoeae is a pathogen of world-wide importance

The World Health Organization (WHO) estimated that there would be 250 million new cases of sexually transmitted diseases (STD) occurring throughout the world in 1995, and that 25 million of these would be cases of gonorrhea (Pan American Health Organization, 1994). Gonorrhea is an STD of world-wide importance and is extremely common in developing areas of the world (Morse, 1991). The incidence in some African countries was estimated to be between 3000 and 10 000 cases per 100 000 population (Kiple, 1993; Morse, 1991). Such rates were much higher than those observed in industrialized countries; for instance there were 21 cases per 100 000 population in Canada in 1994 (Canada Communicable Disease Report, 1996.), 14 cases per 100 000 population in Sweden in 1989 (Danielsson, 1990) and 168 cases per 100 000 population in the United States in 1994 (Division of STD Prevention. Sexually Transmitted Disease Surveillance, 1994). Nonetheless, gonorrhea remains one of the most important bacterial STDs in industrialized countries (Gillespie, 1994).

In Canada in 1994, gonococcal infections ranked sixth among the forty-six reportable infections and were ranked the second-most common bacterial sexually transmitted infection (Canada Communicable Disease Report, 1996). The number of reported cases has been steadily decreasing in Canada: from more than 56 000 reported cases in 1982 to 6167 reported cases in 1994 (Canada Communicable Disease Report, 1996). The incidence has decreased almost eightfold since 1985, from 162.1 cases per 100 000 population in 1985 to 21 cases per 100 000 population in 1994 (Canada Communicable Disease Report, 1996). The incidence of gonorrhea is the highest among females aged between 15 to 24 years old and men aged between 20 to 24 years old (Canada Communicable Disease Report, 1996).

Humans are the only natural host for *N. gonorrhoeae*; gonococcal infections are acquired almost exclusively by sexual contact. It therefore depends entirely on human behavior for successful transmission. This becomes especially important considering that up to 50% of males and females with gonococcal infections may be asymptomatic (Canada Communicable Disease Report, 1992). The consequences of these asymptomatic infections can be a chronic carriage of the bacterium and sexual contacts will also be more likely to be asymptomatic (Canada Communicable Disease Report, 1992).

The incubation time of the disease varies between two to seven days (Canada Communicable Disease Report, 1992; Jephcott, 1990). In men, the most common symptom of uncomplicated gonorrhea is a discharge that may range from scanty, clear or cloudy fluid to one that is copious and purulent and often accompanied by difficulty or pain in urination (Morse, 1991). The infection may spread to the prostate, the seminal vesicles and Cowper's glands; the epididymes may also become infected and in such cases, inflammation may result in sterility (Jephcott, 1990). Endocervical infection is the most common form (i.e., that does not spread beyond the cervix) of gonorrhea in women. Such infections are usually characterized by discharge and sometimes dysuria (Morse, 1991). Gonococci in women may ascend form the endocervical canal through the endometrium to the fallopian tubes and finally to the peritoneum, causing complications such as endometritis, salpingitis or peritonitis (Morse, 1991). These infections can cause pelvic and abdominal pain, fever, chills, and cervical motion tenderness, all which are symptoms of pelvic inflammatory disease (PID; Morse, 1991). More serious complications may

arise from PID such as tubo-ovarian abscesses, pelvic peritonitis, or the Fitz-Hugh and Curtis syndrome (FHCS), an inflammation of Glisson's capsule of the liver (Lopez-Zeno *et al.*, 1985). FHCS is an extrapelvic manifestation of PID. Ultimately, PID may lead to involuntary infertility or ectopic pregnancy (Salyers and Whitt, 1994; Morse, 1991). The importance of bacterial STDs as human pathogens rests in part on their adverse effects on reproductive health (Sparling *et al.*, 1994), and the brunt of these adverse effects is borne by women (Adimora *et al.*, 1994).

Bacterial STDs, including gonorrhea, facilitate the heterosexual transmission of HIV (Wasserheit, 1992; Aral and Holmes, 1991; Cameron *et al.*, 1989). Gonococcal infections are believed to increase HIV transmission by a factor of 3.5 to 8.9 among women and by less than a two-fold factor in homosexual men (Wasserheit, 1992). STDs may increase the heterosexual transmission of HIV by producing genital inflammation in HIV-infected people, thereby increasing the shedding of HIV in genital secretions, or by producing genital inflammation in individuals who are sexually exposed to HIV, thus enhancing susceptibility to HIV acquisition (Holmes, 1994; Sparling *et al.*, 1994). These observations led the WHO to conclude that an effective strategy to control HIV should include the development of effective programs to achieve the control of bacterial STDs (Sparling *et al.*, 1994). Long lasting effective strategies will require the availability of vaccines to prevent bacterial STDs (Sparling *et al.*, 1994).

N. gonorrhoeae isolates constantly develop novel antibiotic resistance. The first drugs used to treat gonococcal infections were sulfonamides, and these were replaced by penicillin when it became widely available, because gonococcal isolates had rapidly developed resistance to sulfonamides (Kiple, 1993). By the early 1970s, strains with low-level chromosomally-mediated penicillin resistance were observed in may parts of the world, especially in Southeast Asia (Palella *et al.*, 1997). Penicillinase-producing isolates of *N. gonorrhoeae* (PPNG) were first reported in 1976 in strains originating from Africa and the Far East (Elwell *et al.*, 1977; Roberts *et al.*, 1977). PPNG isolates were subsequently reported worldwide (Sehgal and Srivatsava, 1987). This penicillin resistance is caused by a family of several structurally related plasmids (Aman, 1994; Dillon and Yeung, 1989). Tetracycline resistance, emerging resistance to

ciprofloxacine, and reduced susceptibility to ceftriaxone have been observed in clinical isolates of *N. gonorrhoeae*.

Gonococcal infections are treatable with several new antibiotics (fluroquinolones such as ciprofloxacin or 3rd generation cephalosporins such as ceftriaxone), but the ever-evolving resistance of N. gonorrhoeae to antibiotics constantly necessitates newer, more expensive antibiotics, which are often unavailable in developing countries (Sparling et al., 1994). The development of vaccines against bacterial STDs has thus been advocated by the WHO as a necessary tool for an effective strategy against HIV since bacterial STDs sometimes play an accessory role in the spread of HIV. The development of a vaccine against N. gonorrhoeae has received the greatest attention over the years because of its importance as a pathogen (Adimora et al., 1994), and the need for this vaccine was first recognized in 1963 (WHO expert committee on gonococcal infections, 1963). However, since the first immunization attempts using autolyzed gonococci (Greenberg et al., 1971) and many efforts in the following years, there is still no vaccine to cure or prevent gonococcal infections (Blake and Wetzler, 1995; Adimora et al., 1994; Sparling et al., 1994). The principal cause of failure to develop a successful vaccine is partly due to the choice of targets for vaccine development. It was discovered that the gonococcal proteins chosen as vaccine targets were subject to intense antigenic variation, pilin proteins being a good example (Seifert, 1996; Koomey, 1994; Meyer et al., 1994; Robertson and Meyer, 1992a; Seifert, 1992; Meyer, 1990a, 1990b). Attempts were made to raise a vaccine against the LOS but it was discovered that the genes encoding components of the LOS were regulated by mechanisms allowing the expression of variants (van Putten and Robertson, 1995), as is the case for pilin proteins. Few attempts have been made to create vaccines raised from Opacity (Opa) proteins, as they are subject to antigenic variation as well (Meyer et al., 1994; Sparling et al., 1994; Robertson and Meyer, 1992a; Seifert, 1992; Meyer, 1990a, 1990b)).

1.11. Characterization of the chromosome of N. gonorrhoeae

The structure and organization of the gonococcal chromosome has been under investigation for several years. The initial work was a literature review of the 75 known loci that had been identified by mutational analysis with phenotypical changes and complementation, and of gene products that had been well characterized by other means than mutagenesis (West and Clark, 1989). Later, macrorestriction maps of *N. gonorrhoeae* strains FA1090 (40 loci) and MS11 (with over 60 loci) were constructed and genes were localized on this map by means of hybridizations (Dempsey and Cannon, 1994, 1991; Bilhmaier *et al.*, 1991). The last genetic map of *N. gonorrhoeae* FA1090 to be published included 68 mapped loci (Dempsey and Cannon, 1994). However, these macrorestriction maps will soon be obsolete for the purpose of mapping genes as the determination of complete nucleotide sequence of the genome of *N. gonorrhoeae* strain FA1090 was undertaken. The complete revised sequence of the gonococcal genome is expected to be completed at the end of 1997 (Dyer *et al.*, 1996).

The gonococcal uptake sequence (US) is a well-known important sequence feature of *N. gonorrhoeae.* The gonococcal US is a 10 bp sequence (5'-GCCGTCTGAA-3') that was proposed to play a significant role in the regulation of gene expression (Goodman and Scocca, 1988). The US are often located downstream of genes in the form of inverted repeats, and may form a stem structure that could act as a transcriptional terminator (Barber *et al.*, 1994; Goodman and Scocca, 1988). The gonococcal US was proposed to be present at one copy per Kb of chromosomal DNA (Goodman and Scocca, 1991). The gonococcal US was also shown to be important for bacterial transformation, as double- and single-stranded DNA, as well as circular or linear plasmid DNA could be transformed in to *N. gonorrhoeae* as long as they contained the gonococcal US (Stein, 1991). Only DNA molecules containing the gonococcal US were specifically internalized by gonococci (Elkins *et al.*, 1991; Goodman and Scocca, 1988).

D. Hypotheses and goals

The molecular biology of gonococcal cell division remains largely uncharacterized and the cell division process in coccal bacteria has not received much attention with the focus being on *E. coli* (section 1.7.). The gonococcal *ftsZ* gene was characterized in our laboratory and we used the data generated by the gonococcal genome project (Dyer *et al.*, 1996) to identify most of the cell division genes in *N. gonorrhoeae* by performing similarity searches using the sequences of known cell division genes from other bacteria (Radia *et al.*, unpublished data; section 1.8.1.). The presence in *N. gonorrhoeae* of the majority of the cell division genes identified in *E. coli* and their similar overall organization suggests that the overall process of cell division in *N. gonorrhoeae* and *E. coli* is similar.

In the initial stages of this project, we sequenced plasmid clones selected from a N. gonorrhoeae genomic bank and one of these contained a complete homologue of the E. coli ftsX gene. Because ftsX had been proposed to be involved in cell division, and a project involving the molecular characterization of gonococcal cell division genes was being initiated in our laboratory, the identification and molecular characterization of the gonococcal homologues of the E. coli ftsYEX genes became the focus of this study.

This project was initiated before the gonococcal genome project was launched, when only *penA* had been identified as a putative cell division gene in *N. gonorrhoeae* (section 1.8.1.). The starting hypothesis is thus that the *fisY*, *ftsE* and *ftsX* genes are present and clustered in *N. gonorrhoeae* as in *E. coli* and *H. influenzae*, and that the gene products of these three genes are involved in an uncharacterized aspect of cell division (section 1.4. and 1.5.). FtsE from *E. coli* was found to share aa sequence similarities with the ATP-binding domains of ABC transporters (section 1.2.1.); based on the existing knowledge on the organization of genes encoding ABC transporters, it is also hypothesized that *ftsY*, *ftsE* and *ftsX* encode the subunits of an ABC transporter. FtsY could be a protein peripherally associated with this putative ABC transporter, as there is considerable evidence for the role of FtsY in protein transport (section 1.5.3.).
The first goal of this project is to identify and characterize the putative *ftsY*, *ftsE* and *ftsX* cell division gene cluster in the gonococcus and to study their expression.

The biological function of FtsE and FtsX has not been determined (section 1.5.). The second goal of this project is to determine the biological function of these proteins, and to confirm their involvement in cell division. Mutations in *ftsE* or *ftsX* in *E. coli* render the bacterium thermosensitive and they form filaments at their restrictive temperature (section 1.4.). The *ftsX* gene will be insertionally inactivated in *N. gonorrhoeae* to verify if it is an essential gene. The mutation in *E. coli* JS10 altered the antibiotic resistance of the strain. The effect of inactivating *ftsX* on the antibiotic resistance profile of *N. gonorrhoeae* will also be verified.

The *ftsE* and *ftsX* genes are not present in all bacterial genera (section 1.4.). The third goal of this project is to investigate the prevalence of the *ftsE* and *ftsX* genes in the *Neisseriaceae*.

As a last objective, the genes flanking ftsY, ftsE and ftsX will be identified and characterized.

PART 2. MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.1. Bacterial strains, growth conditions, plasmids and DNA

The bacterial strains and plasmids used in this work are listed in Table 2, and their construction is described in the appropriate section of the methods. *E. coli* DH5 α was used for the construction of a bank of *N. gonorrhoeae* CH811 DNA. *E. coli* ligATor cells (R&D Systems, Abingdon, United Kingdom) were used as hosts for all constructs made using the pTAg plasmid unless otherwise specified. *E. coli* INV α F' was used as the host strain for all other cloning procedures.

All N. gonorrhoeae isolates were grown on half-strength GC medium base (GCMB; Difco Laboratories, Detroit, Michigan) supplemented with modified Kellogg's Defined Supplement for 18-24 hours at 35°C in a humid environment supplemented with 5% CO₂ (Picard and Dillon, 1989a). GCMB was supplemented as needed with 100 mM KCl, 400 mM sucrose or 300 mM urea. GCMB with varying concentrations of NaCl (0-2%) was prepared from its basic components as described (Difco Manual, 1990) and the required amount of NaCl. The pH of the GCMB was adjusted as needed using 5 N NaOH or 10 M HCl when needed. N. gonorrhoeae strains CH811 and CS19 were grown anaerobically on GCMB with Kellogg's defined supplement onto which a sterile disk (Schleicher & Schuell, Keene, NH) inoculated with 40 µL of 2.4 M NaNO₂ had been centrally placed. Plates were incubated overnight in a humid environment consisting of 5% CO₂, 7% H₂, and 88% N₂ at 35°C in an anaerobic chamber (Forma Scientific, Marietta, OH). The strains were subcultured twice before being used for colony counts, and all subculturing was performed within the anaerobic chamber to ensure that no residual oxygen was present. GCMB and N. gonorrhoeae chemically defined medium (Hendry and Stewart, 1979) plates were pre-reduced for at least 24 h in the anaerobic chamber before use.

Strain or plasmid	Characteristics	Source/Ref.
N. gonorrhoeae CH811	prototrophic strain/serovar IB-2/plasmid free	Garcia-Moreno et al. (1987)
N. gonorrhoeae CH811Str ^R	derivative of N. gonorrhoeae CH811 that is resistant to	Li and Dillon (unpublished
	streptomycin	data)
N. gonorrhoeae CS19	derivative of CH811, its <i>ftsX</i> gene is disrupted by a 2.9	This work
	Kb blunted AccI-Aval fragment containing cat from	
	pACYC184 cloned in the Nrul site	
E. coli AT3141	Hft thr-1 leuB6 proA30 lacZ4 glnV44 LAM ⁻ rpsL8	Taylor, 1970
	argD37 thi-1 Mu+	
<i>E. coli</i> DH5લ	F ⁻ deoR endA1 gyrA96 hsdR17 (r _k - r _m +) recA1 relA1	V.N. Iyer
	supE44 thi-1 lacU169 (\$80lacZM15)	
E. coli GY3428	glnV44? λ ⁻ recA431 cysJ43 relA1? ThyA61 lysA22	M.K. Berlyn; Morand et al.,
	$rpsE2339(Spec^{R}) malT1(\lambda^{R}) xylA7 mtlA2$	1977
<i>E. coli</i> H1230	thr-20 leu-32 fhuA48 proA35 argF58 λ relA1 spoT1	M.K. Berlyn
	<i>arg</i> [60	
E. coli INVxF'	F' endAl recAl hsdR17 (r _k - r _m +) supE44 thi-1 gyrA96	Invitrogen Corp.
	relA1 \$801acZM15	
E. coli ligATor cells	endAl hsdR17 (r ₁₂ - r ₁₂ +) supE44 ihi-1 recA1 gyrA96	R&D Systems
	$relA1 lac[F'proA^+B^+ lacl^qZ_{\Delta}M15::Tn10(Tet^R)]$	
E. coli JS10	ara leu azi tonA proA lacZ rpsL xyl mtl metE thi λ	Sturgeon and Ingram, 1978
	nonlysogen ftsX	•

Table 2. Bacterial strains and plasmids used in this work

Strain or plasmid	Characteristics	Source/Ref.
E. coli K146	ʃhuA2? Lac¥ι or lacZ4 or lac-20 tsx-7 glnV44? gal-6 λ? hisG1 recA1 rpsL8	M.K. Berlyn
	or rpsL9 or rpsL17 ma(T1(λ^{R}) kdgK1 metB1 Δ argH1 thi-1	
E. coli KL723	thr-1 ara-14 leuB6 Δ(gpt-proA)62 lacY1 tsx-33 glnV44 galK2 λ° rac° hisG4	M.K. Berlyn;
	rfbD1 mgl-51 recA13 rpsL31(Str ^R) kdg51 xylA5 mil-1 argE3 thi-1	Low, 1972
E. coli	Hfr lacZ43 LAM ⁻ relA1 argB62 thi-1	Glansdorff, 1965
30SOMA4		
E. coli UQ27	F ⁻ argG75 proS127 lacZ4	Bohmann and
		Isaksson, 1980
E. coli W3421	F ga/T23 LAM argA21 IN(rrnD-rrnE)1	B.J. Bachmann
E. coli W3678	$ga/T23 \lambda^{-} IN(rrnD-rrnE) l argH56$	M.K. Berlyn
<i>E. coli</i> W3679	F ga/T23 LAM ⁻ IN(rrnD-rrnE)1 argC24	B.J. Bachmann
E. coli χ462	ara leu azi tonA proA lacZ rpsL xyl mtl metE thi λ nonlysogen	Sturgeon and
		Ingram, 1978
pACYC184	Tet ^R , Clr ^R	New England
		Biolabs
pAR2	pTAg with a N. gonorrhoeae fisZ amplicon under lac promoter control	Radia, 1997
pBluescript KS+	cloning vector (Amp ^R)	Stratagene
pCRII	cloning vector for amplicons (Amp ^R)	Invitrog en Corp.
pGEM-T	cloning vector for amplicons (Amp ^R)	Promega Corp.
pHL1	pGEM-T containing the amplified <i>fisEX</i> genes from <i>N. gonorrhoeae</i> with their	Li, unpublished
	upstream region	data

Table 2 (continued) Bacterial strains and plasmids used in this work

Strain or plasmid	Characteristics	Source/Ref.
pQE30	cloning vector used to generate histidine-tagged proteins (Amp ^R , Clr ^R)	QIAGEN
pREP4	pACYC184 derivative overexpressing the lac repressor (Kan ^R)	QIAGEN
pSB19	pKS+ containing a 1.8 Kb Sau3AI DNA fragment of N. gonorrhoeae	This work
	containing partial fisE and pgk genes and a complete fisX gene; fisX and the	
	vectorborne lac promoter are in opposite orientations	
pSB190	pKS+ containing the blunted EcoRI-Xbal fragment from pSB19 subcloned in	This work
	the Smal site of pKS+; N. gonorrhoeae flsX is under lac promoter control	
pSB193	derivative of pSB19 in which the <i>fisX</i> gene is disrupted by a 2.9 Kb blunted	This work
	Accl-Aval fragment containing cat from pACYC184 cloned in the unique Nrul	
	site of ftsX	
pSB195	derivative of pSB19 in which the <i>fisX</i> gene is disrupted by a 2.9 Kb blunted	This work
	Accl-Aval fragment containing cat from pACYC184 cloned in the unique Styl	
	site of ftsX	
pSB1900	pCRII containing a 2.8 Kb amplicon of gonococcal DNA including the 5'-	This work
	section of $fisE$ and complete $lipA$, $arsG$ and a partial $gltX$	
pSB1910	pTAg with a N. gonorrhoeae fisE amplicon under lac promoter control	This work
pSB1911	pTAg with a N. gonorrhoeae fisE amplicon and the lac promoter from pTAg in	This work
	opposite orientations	
pSB1931	pQE30 containing a truncated N. gonorrhoeae fisE gene cloned in the BamHI-	This work
	PstI site of the vector	
pTAg	clonign vector for amplicons (Amp ^R , Kan ^R)	R&D Systems

Table 2 (continued) Bacterial strains and plasmids used in this work

E. coli strains were grown in Luria-Bertani (LB) broth (Sambrook *et al.*, 1989), in Luria (L) broth (Miller, 1972) or in minimal medium M9 (Sambrook *et al.*, 1989) with shaking or on tryptic soy agar (TSA; Difco) at 37°C unless otherwise indicated. The arginine defect of arginine mutants of *E. coli* were confirmed by growth on M9 medium containing the product (positive growth control) or the substrate (negative growth control) of the enzymatic reaction catalyzed by each *arg* gene product (Fig. A2-1). While confirming arginine biosynthesis gene defects, all other nutritional requirements for the strains tested were added to the M9 medium. M9 medium was supplemented with thiamine to a final concentration of 50 μ g mL⁻¹, amino acids and intermediates of arginine biosynthesis were added as needed to a final concentration of 100 μ g mL⁻¹.

All *N. gonorrhoeae* strains were verified by Gram staining and by colony morphology on GCMB. *E. coli* strains were verified by the confirmation of their growth requirements on minimal medium M9. All bacterial strains were stored at -70°C in bovine heart infusion (BHI; Difco) with 20% glycerol.

When required, antibiotics were added to LB broth and TSA plates at the following concentrations: 100 μ g milliliter (mL)⁻¹ for ampicillin (Amp), 30 μ g mL⁻¹ for chloramphenicol (Clr), 15 μ g mL⁻¹ for kanamycin (Kan), 100 μ g mL⁻¹ for streptomycin (Strep), and 15 μ g mL⁻¹ for tetracycline (Tet). For the growth of *N. gonorrhoeae* with arsenical compounds, sodium arsenate (Na(As[V]); dibasic heptahydrate, Na₂HAsO₄·7H₂O; Sigma Chemical Co., St-Louis, MO) was used at 512 μ g mL⁻¹ and sodium arsenite (Na(As[III]); NaAsO₂; Sigma Chemical Co.) was used at 2 μ g mL⁻¹. When required, arginine was supplemented at 100 μ g mL⁻¹.

DNA from Neisseria meningitidis 1527, Neisseria flava 1682, Neisseria subflava 1683, Neisseria elongata 1684, Neisseria mucosa 1685, Neisseria lactamica 1688, Neisseria perflava/sicca 1691, Neisseria flavescens 1693, Neisseria polysacchareae 1696 and Neisseria cinerea 1699 was purified as described elsewhere (Lawson et al., 1995). The DNA preparations used throughout this work were stored in water at -20°C.

2.2. Determination of minimal inhibitory concentration, auxotype, and viable counts of N. gonorrhoeae

The minimal inhibitory concentrations (MIC) to penicillin (Wyeth-Ayerst Canada Inc., St-Laurent, Québec), tetracycline (Pfizer Canada, Pointe-Claire, Québec), spectinomycin (Upjohn Co. of Canada, Don Mills, Ontario), ceftriaxone (Hoffman-LaRoche, Mississauga, Ontario), ciprofloxacin (Bayer Leverkusen, Leverkusen, Germany), azithromycin (Pfizer Canada, Pointe-Claire, Québec) of N. gonorrhoeae strains CH811 and CS19 were determined following the agar dilution method using GC medium base (Difco) supplemented with 1% Kellogg's defined supplement and serial twofold dilutions of antibiotic (NCCLS, 1997). Bacterial inocula were prepared in auxotyping minimal medium (Dillon et al., 1987). The same procedures were followed for the determination of the MIC to Na(As[V]) and Na(As[III]). Control strains included WHO III, WHO V, WHO VII (Reyn et al., 1980), ATCC 49226 (NCCLS, 1997) and the PPNG strain GCI-182 from our strain collection. MIC interpretative criteria for each antimicrobial were those recommended by the National Committee for Clinical Laboratory Standards (NCCLS, 1997). The MIC for an antibiotic or an arsenic compound was defined as the lowest concentration of a compound at which there was no bacterial growth. All MICs were done in duplicate.

The auxotype of *N. gonorrhoeae* CH811 and CS19 was determined by a method (Dillon, 1983) based on the procedure of Hendry and Stewart (1979). To determine viable counts, *N.*

gonorrhoeae cells from overnight cultures were resuspended in auxotyping diluent (Hendry and Stewart, 1979) to a McFarland Equivalence Turbidity Standard of 0.5 (Oxoid Inc., Nepean, Ont.). The bacteria were vortexed for 30 seconds (sec.) to remove clumps. Serial tenfold dilutions (10^{-1} to 10^{-7}) were prepared and mixed in auxotyping diluent, and 25 µL from each dilution and from the undiluted bacterial suspension were spotted in duplicate on supplemented GCMB plates. The plates were incubated as described in section 2.1. The number of colony forming units (cfus) was determined after 18-24 hours on GCMB or after 48 hours on minimal (auxotyping) medium. These experiments were repeated twice (four counts).

2.3. Microscopy techniques

For light microscopy to observe bacterial morphology, *E. coli* cells were recovered by centrifugation (5 min./6000 rotations per minute (rpm) using a F28/Micro rotor (Sorvall)/4°C), resuspended and fixed in 2% glutaraldehyde for 30 minutes (min.) at room temperature. The fixed bacteria were then pelleted by centrifugation (5 min./6000 rpm (F28/Micro rotor)/4°C) and resuspended in the same volume of 0.9% NaCl. Aliquots of fixed cells were subsequently observed using a Leitz Laborlux K light microscope (Wild Leitz, Willowdale, Ont.).

For electronic microscopy (EM), *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* cells from a fresh overnight culture were collected (1/4 loopful) and resuspended in sterile PBS to a McFarland Equivalence Turbidity Standard 0.5 (1.5×10^8 bacteria mL⁻¹; Oxoid Inc.). The bacteria were vortexed during resuspension to remove clumps. One drop of the bacteria in solution was placed on a piece of parafilm. Formvar coated grids (M400; for grid preparation, see below) were used to lift the bacteria, followed by staining in uranyl acetate (Marivac Ltd., Halifax, Nova Scotia; 10 µL of 21.2% uranyl acetate in 0.5 M HCl [made in 90% EtOH] to 10 mL 90% EtOH). The grids were

air dried before viewing under the electron microscope. In some instances, the grids were rinsed by dipping in 90% EtOH for 10 sec. before air drying. Alternately, the bacteria were stained in 10% phosphotungstic acid (PTA; Marivac Ltd.) before rinsing and air drying. The grids were viewed using a Philips EM201 microscope. Pictures were taken using a 1 sec. exposure, and the plates (negatives) were developed on Ilford MGX-0.1M (glossy finish) paper.

The copper grids (300 and/or 400 mesh; Marivac Ltd.) were coated using a novel procedure (B. Luck, personal communication). A tissue (Optical Lens Tissue; Marivac Ltd.) cleaned microscope slide (VWR Scientific, Media, PA) was dipped into 30 mL of formvar solution (0.3% in ethylene dichloride; Formvar and Ethylene Dichloride obtained from Marivac Ltd.) and allowed to dry. The edges of the slide were etched using cleaned forceps to cut the formvar layer. The slide was then carefully placed into a Petri dish containing sterile water at a 45° angle to float the formvar layer onto the water phase. The copper grids were placed onto the formvar layer, and the layer was collected using a piece of parafilm (i.e. the lift was done with the side of parafilm which contains the paper). Once dried, the parafilm was placed in a Petri plate.

2.4. DNA manipulations

2.4.1. DNA restriction and other manipulations

Restriction enzymes were purchased from Boehringer Mannheim (Laval, Québec), Promega (Madison, Wisconsin) or Pharmacia Biotech Inc. (Baie d'Urfé, Québec); T4 DNA ligase and T4 DNA polymerase were purchased from Pharmacia Biotech Inc., and all enzymes were used according to the instructions of the manufacturers. DNA was electrophoresed through 1% agarose gels unless otherwise specified and visualized by staining in 0.5 µg ethidium bromide mL⁻¹ followed by exposure to ultraviolet light (Model 3-3000 transilluminator, Fotodyne Inc., New Berlin, Wisconsin), rinced 5-10 min. in double-distilled water and photographed using the GelPrint 2000i digital imaging system (Bio Photonics Corp., Ann Arbor, Michigan). DNA fragments were purified from agarose gels using the GlassMAX DNA isolation matrix system (Gibco BRL). Preparation of competent *E. coli* for transformation was done using the calcium chloride method (Sambrook *et al.*, 1989). When *E. coli* transformants were selected on M9 medium, the cells were pelleted by centrifugation (12 000g/30 sec./4°C in a Sorvall MC12V centrifuge) following the 1 hour growth in rich medium. The cells were carefully resuspended in 1 mL of liquid M9 medium and centrifuged again and resuspended in 200 µL of liquid M9, and were spread on the plates. *N. gonorrhoeae* was transformed as described in section 2.13.2.

2.4.2. Plasmid DNA purification

Plasmid DNA used for cloning, manual sequencing or for *in vitro* transcription/translation studies was purified on cesium chloride gradients (Sambrook *et al.*, 1989). Plasmid DNA used for automated sequencing was purified using QIAGEN-tip 20 columns (QIAGEN, Chatsworth, California), and plasmid DNA used for routine procedures such as restriction digests was purified using Wizard Minipreps columns (Promega).

2.5. Construction of the library of *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* CH811 DNA and isolation of plasmid clones

Genomic DNA from *N. gonorrhoeae* CH811 was purified as previously described (Ng and Dillon, 1993). This DNA was partially digested with *Sau*3AI and fragments up to 6 kilobases in size were fractionated by ultracentrifugation (50 000 rpm/10°C/20 hours in a Vti50.1 rotor) on sucrose gradients (Ausubel *et al.*, 1989; Sambrook *et al.*, 1989). Fragments between 2 and 4

kilobases (Kb) were recovered, dephosphorylated and ligated into the *Bam*Hl site of pBluescript KS+. Ligation mixtures were transformed into *E. coli* DH5 α following a procedure previously described (Chung *et al.*, 1989) and transformants were selected on TSA + Amp. plates containing 75 µg 5-bromo-4-chloro-3-indolyl- β -D-galactoside (X-gal) mL⁻¹. Recombinant clones were restreaked twice on the same type of medium and were then pooled in groups of fifty and stored at -70°C as described in section 2.1. Aliquots from these pools were grown in liquid cultures and the plasmids were purified following a minilysis procedure (Brun *et al.*, 1991). The purified plasmids were transformed in *E. coli* UQ27, a strain containing a mutation in the *argG* gene which encodes argininosuccinate synthetase (Table 2). Transformants capable of growing in the absence of arginine were selected on M9 medium for 2 days at 37°C. As a transformation control, *E. coli* UQ27 was transformed with pYN87, a plasmid containing the wild-type *argG* gene of *E. coli* (Table 2). Transformants were selected on M9 medium; *E. coli* UQ27 was also grown on M9 supplemented with arginine as a viability control.

2.6. Construction of deletion clones and DNA sequencing procedures

Deletion clones of pSB19 were constructed using the Erase-a-Base System (Promega) following the instructions of the manufacturer. The nucleotide sequences of the inserts of pSB19 and pSB1900 were determined in both directions using a combination of manual and automated procedures using dideoxynucleotides (Sanger *et al.*, 1977). T3 and T7 primers were obtained from Promega. Other primers used for primer extension to fill in sequence gaps were selected using the Primer Designer program and were purchased from the University of Ottawa Biotechnology Research Institute. The oligonucleotides used as primers for DNA sequencing are listed in Table 3.

Oligonucleotide	Sequence	Coordinates on Figure 6B
4D1	5'-GGTTGAACATCGGCTGGCGT-3'	3769-3789
6AL1R	5'-CGCGTTCCTTGAGTTCTTGG-3'	4380-4361
9C1	5'-TTCTACGTCGGCGTAACTCG-3'	3793-3812
9C2R	5'-ACAAGCCACGCGCCGAATAC-3'	3863-3844
9C3	5'-AGTAGAAGGCGACGGACACC-3'	4058-4077
9C4R	5'-GTCCGTCGCCTTCTACTTCG-3'	4074-4055
19-1	5'-CGTATCCTGTGCCTCTCGAA-3'	2954-2973
19-2R	5'-GACGACGATGACGGTGGTTC-3'	2917-2898
19-3R	5'-CCAACCGTCTTCCTTGCCGA-3'	3295-3275
19-4	5'-TCGACAACATCCGCTTCATC-3'	3257-3276
19-4R	5'-AGTCGGATGGTGTTGTGTGC-3'	3578-3559
19-5R	5'-CGGATTCGACCATAGGCAGC-3'	3451-3432
19-7	5'-CGACGTGCAGCGAGAAGTAG-3'	3019-3000
19-8	5'-GTCCGTCGCCTTCTACTTCG-3'	4074-4055
1900-5	5'-CGCATCGCTTCCAATTCTTC-3'	82-101
1900-6	5'-AATTGGAAGCGATGCGCGAG-3'	97-78
1900-7	5'-CATGCTCGGCTTGGTGATGC-3'	2506-2487
19 00-9	5'-CTCCTGTAATGGTCTGCCTG-3'	2086-2067
1900-10	5'-AATCCACCGTCCTAAGCTGA-3'	2460-2479
1900-11	5'-GCGGATACAGGCAGACCATT-3'	2060-2079
1900-12	5'-GCTTGAATCTCGCCGCAATC-3'	1670-1689
1900-13	5'-GATTGCGGCGAGATTCAAGC-3'	1689-1670
1900-14	5'-GGCGTTGCGACCACCTTGTT-3'	359-340
1900-15	5'-ACAATCGGACGCTCCAACAG-3'	1247-1266

Table 3. Oligonucleotides used in this work

Table 3 (continued). Oligonucleotides used in this work

Oligonucleotide	Sequence	Coordinates on Figure 6B
1900-16	5'-CCTGTTGGAGCGTCCGATTG-3'	1267-1248
1900-17	5'-CACTTCGCGCAACACTTATG-3'	811-792
1900-18	5'-CATAAGTGTTGCGCGAAGTG-3'	792-811
1900-19	5'-CCTCAATCAGACAGCCATCC-3'	529-548
1900-20	5'-AACGCATCAACCACGCCATC-3'	971-952
1900-21	5'-TTCCACAATCCGCGTTGCAG-3'	1521-1502
1900-28	5'-CTTCCTTACAGGACCTCCTA-3'	2320-2339
fisEA	5'-GGATCGTCCAATTCTCGTCC-3'	2742-2723
ftsEHIS1	5'-[CGGGATCC]ATCCGTTTCGAACAAGTTTC-3'	2342-2361 2, 3
ftsEHIS2	5'-{AACTGCAG]TGCGAGTCGTCCTT TCGAGA-3'	2986-2967 ^{2, 4}
ftsXA	5'-CAGAGCAGGTGTTGTGTGTGGT-3'	3884-3865
ftsXB	5'-GCATCATCCACTACTTCTCG-3'	2990-3009
SA-2	5'-GCGACGGCAAGCATTATGAG-3'	3098-3079
SA-3	5'-CACAGGCGTTGTTGTTCACC-3'	2778-2759
SA-4	5'-TCATCCACTACTTCTCGCTG-3'	3012-2993
Т3	5'-ATTAACCCTCACTAAAG-3'	N/A
<u>T7</u>	5'-AATACGACTCACTATAG-3'	N/A

¹ Primer containing a 5'-extension. In all cases the extension is between brackets.

² Primer coordinates exclude the 5'-extension.

³ Extension contains a *Bam*HI restriction site.

⁴ Extension contains a *PstI* restriction site.

2.6.1. Manual sequencing

For manual sequencing, the sequencing reactions were prepared using $[\alpha^{-35}]$ dATP (1000 Ci/mmol) as described for the Taqtrack Sequencing system (Promega). The reactions were

electrophoresed on denaturing 8% polyacrylamide gels as indicated in the manufacturer's instructions. Polyacrylamide gels were dried in a Model 583 Gel Dryer (BIO-RAD, Hercules, California) following the instructions of the manufacturer. Kodak X-OMATTM AR films were exposed overnight to the dried gel and were developed.

2.6.2. Automated sequencing procedures

For automated sequencing, the Taq Dyedeoxy[™] and ABI Prism[™] Terminator Cycle Sequencing kits (PE Applied Biosystems, Mississauga, Ontario), and Centri-Sep Spin Columns (Princeton Separation, Adelphia, New Jersey) were used as per the manufacturer's instructions. The sequencing reactions were electrophoresed using an Automated DNA Sequencer System Model 373 (ABI).

2.7. Nucleotide and amino acid sequence analysis

Nucleotide and amino acid sequence similarities and features were investigated using the software package (version 7) of the Genetics Computer Group (Madison, Wisconsin) and Blast (Altschul *et al.*, 1989). Predictions of integral membrane protein helices and membrane-associated alpha helices were done using PSORT (Nakai and Kanehisa, 1991) through the Internet (http://psort.nibb.ac.jp) as well as the algorithms available in the PC Gene software package (Intelligenetics, Mountain View, California). The program TopPredII 1.3 (Claros and von Heijne, 1994; von Heijne, 1992) used for predictions of membrane protein topology was downloaded from an anonymous ftp site (ftp.ebi.ac.uk) and used from a Apple McIntosh IIci computer. All multiple aa sequence alignments were done with Clustal W 1.7 (http://dot.imgen.bcm.tmc.edu:9331/multi-align/multi-align.html). All the programs used for

sequence analysis during this work were used at their default settings unless otherwise specified. The DNA sequence of the genome of *N. gonorrhoeae* strain FA1090 was accessed through the site of the University of Oklahoma *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* Genome Blast Server (http://dnal.chem.uoknor.edu/gono_blast.html).

The complete nucleotide sequence of *fisEX* from *N. gonorrhoeae* CH811 and their flanking genes is available in Genbank under the accession number U76418.

2.8. DNA transfers and hybridizations

2.8.1. Labeling of DNA fragments and oligonucleotides

All probes used in this work were labelled with digoxygenin. Gonococcal DNA and any fragment larger than 100 bp were labeled using the Nonradioactive DNA Labeling and Detection Kit (Boehringer Mannheim) and oligonucleotides were labeled with the DNA Tailing Kit (Boehringer Mannheim) according to the instructions of the manufacturer.

2.8.2. Southern transfers of DNA to nylon membranes

DNA was first separated on 1% agarose gels and was subsequently transferred to nylon membranes (Boehringer Mannheim) by Southern transfer (Sambrook *et al.*, 1989). Vacuum transfers were done using a Model 785 Vacuum Blotter (BIO-RAD) following the manufacturer's instructions and overnight alkaline capillary transfers were done following the method of Chomczynski and Qasba (1984), in which NaOH 0.4 N is used as a transfer solution. Following vacuum or capillary transfers, the DNA was crosslinked to the nylon support by exposure to ultraviolet light for 1 min. using a Model 3-3000 transilluminator (Fotodyne Inc.).

2.8.3. Hybridizations and detection

Hybridizations to confirm the gonococcal origin of DNA fragments were done at 68° C. The melting temperature (Tm(°C)) of oligonucleotides was determined according to the formula of Suggs *et al.* (1981; Tm(°C) = 2x(A+T) + 4x(G+C)) and hybridizations using labelled oligonucleotides were done at five degrees below its Tm(°C). Hybridizations to *Neisseria* DNA using *ftsE* and *ftsX* amplicons from *N. gonorrhoeae* as probes were first done at 60°C (Lawson *et al.*, 1995) and at 50°C. Hybridizations using oligonucleotide probes were done for 2 hours at the hybridization temperature while hybridizations using any other types of probes (DNA fragments from plasmids, genomic DNA, amplicons) were performed for 12-16 hours at the hybridization temperature. All hybridizations were done in hybridization solution (5x SSC, 0.02% SDS, 0.1% N-lauroylsarcosine, 1% blocking reagent) at the appropriate temperature. Post-hybridization washes in 0.1x SSC and 0.1% SDS for 15 min. at the hybridization temperature. Non-radioactive detection was done by colorimetry using the Nonradioactive DNA Labeling and Detection Kit (Boehringer Mannheim) as described by the manufacturer.

2.9. Polymerase chain reaction procedures and cloning of amplicons

2.9.1. Amplification procedures to generate amplicons for cloning and other procedures

The polymerase chain reaction (PCR) Core Kit (Boehringer Mannheim) with the following reaction conditions was used for all amplification reactions: 1x PCR buffer containing 1.5 mM MgCl₂, 0.2 mM dNTPs, 1 μ M of each primer and 2.5 U of *Taq* DNA polymerase per 100 μ L reaction. All the oligonucleotide primers used for amplification procedures are listed in

Table 3. All amplifications were done in a Perkin-Elmer 9600 Thermocycler (Perkin-Elmer Corp., Norwalk, Connecticut).

The *ftsEX* amplicon used for *in vitro* transcription/translation was amplified using the primers 1900-11 and 19-8 with the following thermal profile: 3 min. at 94°C, 30 cycles consisting of 15 sec. at 94°C, 15 sec. at 57°C, 2.5 min. at 72°C; 5 min. at 72°C. The resulting amplicon was cleaned using the QIAquick PCR Purification Kit (QIAGEN) and was used directly in *in vitro* transcription/translation experiments (section 2.10.). *ftsEX* without its upstream region was amplified using the primers 1900-28 and 19-8 with the following thermal profile: 3 min. at 94°C, 30 cycles consisting of 15 sec. at 94°C, 15 sec. at 94°C, 15 sec. at 72°C; 5 min. at 72°C; 5 min. at 72°C; 5 min. at 72°C. The amplicon was cleaned as described and was cloned in pTAg and one plasmid containing *ftsEX* in the same orientation as the vectorborne *lac* promoter was designated pSB5696. The amplicon was resequenced to assure sequence integrity.

A promoterless *ftsE* was generated using the primers 1900-28 and 19-7 with the following thermal profile: 30 cycles consisting of 15 sec. at 94°C, 15 sec. at 55°C, 1 min. at 72°C; 5 min. at 72°C. The resulting amplicon was cleaned as described above and was cloned in pTAg. One plasmid containing *ftsE* in the same orientation as the vectorborne *lac* promoter was designated pSB1910, and another plasmid containing *ftsE* and the *lac* promoter in opposite orientations was called pSB1911. To verify the orientation of the insert in each plasmid, the inserts were amplified using primers T7 and 19-7 and T7 and 1900-28 with a thermal profile consisting in 30 cycles of 15 sec. at 94°C, 15 sec. at 44°C, 1 min. at 72°C; 5 min. at 72°C.

ftsE and ftsX amplicons from Neisseria species were generated using the primer pairs ftsEA and 1900-10 for ftsE or ftsXA and ftsXB for ftsX. The thermal profile consisted of 30 cycles of 15 sec. at 94°C, 15 sec. at 55°C, 1 min. at 72°C; 5 min. at 72°C. An amplicon containing a truncated *ftsE* gene from *N. gonorrhoeae* was generated using the primers 6HISFtsE1 and 6HISFtsE2. The thermal profile consisted of 30 cycles of 15 sec. at 94°C, 15 sec. at 51°C, 1 min. at 72°C; 5 min. at 72°C. This amplicon was subsequently processed as described in section 2.13.1. to construct the plasmid pSB1931.

The insertion of the blunted 1.9 Kb *Accl-AvaI* fragment in the chromosome of *N*. *gonorrhoeae* strain CS19 was verified by using the primers *ftsXA* and *ftsXB* in a thermal profile consisted of 35 cycles of 15 sec. at 94°C, 15 sec. at 60°C, 3.5 min. at 72°C; 5 min. at 72°C. In these experiments, cells from an overnight culture *N. gonorrhoeae* CS19 were grown on GCMB with streptomycin and chloramphenicol were resuspended in water and used directly in the amplification reaction.

2.9.2. Inverse PCR

Inverse PCR (iPCR; Hartl and Ochman, 1994; Silver, 1991; Ochman *et al.*, 1990) was used to amplify the DNA upstream of the partial *fisE* cloned in pSB19. DNA from *N. gonorrhoeae* CH811 was digested to completion with *PstI* and *NruI*, the ends of the DNA fragments were blunted with T4 DNA polymerase and ligated o/n at 16°C in a final volume of 500 μ L containing 0.08 U of T4 DNA ligase μ L⁻¹. Ligations were done with 0.2, 0.3 and 0.5 μ g of DNA mL⁻¹ to favor the circularization of monomeric molecules (Hartl and Ochman, 1994; Silver, 1991; Ochman *et al.*, 1990). The religated DNA was subsequently cleaned by organic extractions, precipitated, resuspended in sterile water and used for the PCR. The thermal profile for the PCR using the religated DNA was as follows: 3 min. at 94°C, 30 cycles consisting of 30 sec. at 94°C, 15 sec. at 62°C, 4 min. at 72°C; 3 min. at 72°C using the primers SA-3 and SA-4. This amplicon was purified on low-melting agarose, cleaned using the Glassmax[®] Isolation

Matrix System (Gibco BRL, Bethesda, Maryland) and was cloned in pCRII[™] to generate the plasmid pSB1900.

2.9.3. Reverse transcriptase PCR

For reverse transcriptase PCR (RT-PCR), total RNA was isolated from gonococci using the RNeasy Total RNA kit (QIAGEN). Any residual traces of DNA were removed using RQ1 DNase (Promega). This RNA was reverse transcribed using SuperscriptTM II reverse transcriptase (Gibco BRL) with the primer 1900-9 (*tlpA*) or 1900-15 (*arsC*). The cDNA was then used in subsequent PCR reactions. The thermal profile consisted of 30 cycles of 15 sec. at 94°C, 15 sec. at 57°C, 1 min. at 72°C to generate a *tlpA*-specific amplicon with the primers 1900-9 and 1900-12. To generate the *arsC*-specific amplicon, the thermal profile comprised 30 cycles of 15 sec. at 94°C, 15 sec. at 57°C, 1 min. at 72°C using the primers 1900-15 and 1900-21.

2.10. In vitro transcription/translation

The *E. coli* S30 Extract System for Circular DNA Templates (Promega) was used with undigested plasmid DNA and the *E. coli* S30 Extract System for Linear DNA Templates was used with amplicons according to the manufacturer's instructions. [³⁵S]-methionine (15 mCi mL⁻¹) (Amersham Canada, Oakville, Ontario) and 1 µL of RNAguard (Pharmacia Biotech Inc.) were also added to each reaction. The reaction products were prepared for electrophoresis and were separated on denaturing 10% polyacrylamide-SDS gels (section 2.15.1.). Gels were dried in a Model 583 Gel Dryer (BIO-RAD) and Kodak X-OMATTM AR films were exposed overnight to the dried gel and developed.

2.11. Overexpression of gonococcal genes in E. coli

Overexpression of *fis* genes from *N. gonorrhoeae* in *E. coli* DH5 α was done in two types of culture media: LB broth was used for growth in rich medium and minimal medium M9 (Sambrook *et al.*, 1989) supplemented with 0.2 % casamino acids (Difco) was used for growth in minimal medium. Fresh cultures of *E. coli* INV α F' cells containing pSB19, pSB190 or pSB5696 were inoculated in fresh culture medium from overnight cultures and were grown four hours (six hours in M9) at 37°C with shaking. Each culture was then divided in two, the inducer isopropylthiogalactoside (IPTG) was added to one of the cultures to a final concentration of 1 mM, and were grown for another four hours (six hours in M9) at 37°C with shaking. In each experiment, INV α F' cells containing pAR2, a plasmid containing the *fisZ* gene from *N. gonorrhoeae* under the control of the *lac* promoter (Table 2) was included as a filamentation positive control.

2.12. Filamentation assay and complementation of E. coli JS10

Cultures of *E. coli* JS10 and χ 462 (Table 2) were grown in LB and L broth at 30°C and 37°C and aliquots of cells were taken after 1, 2, 4 and 6 hours of growth. The cells were harvested, fixed and observed using the light microscope as described in section 2.3.

For complementation of JS10, duplicate cultures of *E. coli* JS10, *E. coli* X462 and *E. coli* JS10+pSB190 (Table 3) were grown in LB medium at 30°C and 37°C. After one hour of growth, the cells from one culture were induced with IPTG to a final concentration of 1 mM. Aliquots of cells from the cultures were taken immediately before induction, and 1, 3 and 5 hours after induction. The cells were subsequently harvested, fixed and observed using the light microscope as described in section 2.3.

2.13. Insertion of a cat gene in the ftsX gene of N. gonorrhoeae CH811

2.13.1. Construction of the plasmid pSB193

The plasmid pACYC184 containing a *cat* gene (encoding chloramphenicol acetyltransferase; Table 2) was digested with *AccI* and *AvaI*. The 1919 bp fragment containing the *cat* gene was recovered and purified, blunted with T_4 DNA polymerase, and cloned in the *NruI* site (positions 3095-3100, Fig. 6A and 6B) of pSB19, 111 base pairs (bp) from the 5'-end of the *ftsX* gene. *E. coli* transformants were selected on ampicillin and chloramphenicol. The plasmids were isolated and confirmed by their *Eco*RI, *HincII, ScaI*, and *StyI* digestion patterns. One recombinant plasmid with the *cat* gene inserted in the same orientation as *ftsX* was designated pSB193. The plasmid pSB195 was generated following the same cloning procedure, except that the blunted 1.9 Kb *AccI-AvaI* fragment was inserted in the *StyI* site (positions 3740-3745, Fig. 6A and 6B) of pSB19, 756 bp from the 5'-end of the *ftsX* gene, and the plasmid was verified by its *HincII, ScaI* and *XbaI* restriction profile.

2.13.2. Construction of *N. gonorrhoeae* strain CS19

A streptomycin-resistant derivative of *N. gonorrhoeae* CH811 was first obtained by growing the isolate on GCMB supplemented with streptomycin using the gradient plate technique (Carpenter, 1967). One streptomycin-resistant colony, designated strain CH811Str^R was used for further manipulations.

Pure cultures of T2 colonies of strain CH811Str^R were subsequently obtained by repeated subculture every 18 to 20 hours on GCMB plates supplemented with streptomycin. *N. gonorrhoeae* was transformed using the method of Janik *et al.* (1976): cells from a fresh overnight culture of CH811Str^R were harvested and restreaked on a supplemented GCMB plate.

Thirty micrograms of pSB193 in 35μ L of water were spread on the inoculum and the plate was incubated for six hours at 35° C in a humid environment with 5% CO₂. Following the incubation period, the cells were harvested with a sterile loop and spread on GCMB plate supplemented with streptomycin and Clr and incubated overnight. One transformant was designated CS19. The presence of the *cat* gene within the *fisX* gene on the gonococcal chromosome was confirmed by PCR (section 2.9.1.).

2.14. Purification of the gonococcal FtsE protein

A histidine-tagged gonococcal FtsE protein was generated and purified. This pure protein will be used to generate rabbit polyclonal anti-6HISFtsE antibodies. The strategy of purification involved the construction of a fusion gene that would encode the gonococcal FtsE protein preceded by six consecutive histidines using the QIAexpress type IV kit from QIAGEN (The QIAexpressionist, 1992). The fusion protein, 6HISFtsE, will contain seventeen additional amino acids; eleven will precede the FtsE sequence, and seven more will follow it. The fusion protein is overproduced and purified by affinity chromatography using Ni-NTA resin (The QIAexpressionist, 1992).

2.14.1. Construction of pSB1931 expressing a histidine-tagged FtsE (6HISFtsE)

A truncated *ftsE* gene was generated by PCR using the primers *ftsE*HIS1 and *ftsE*HIS2 that respectively contained a *Bam*HI and a *Pst*I site (section 2.9.1.). This amplicon was subsequently restricted with *Bam*HI and *Pst*I, ligated in the *Bam*HI and *Pst*I sites of the plasmid pQE30 (QIAGEN; see Table 2), and transformed in *E. coli* M15 (pREP4). Transformants were selected using ampicillin and kanamycin.

The plasmids from ampicillin- and kanamycin-resistant colonies were purified and their size was verified by electrophoresis. Positive clones were confirmed by amplification of the truncated *ftsE* gene using the primers 6HISFtsE-1 and 6HISFtsE-2, and also by *Bam*HI and *Pst*I restriction patterns. One plasmid was designated pSB1931 and was used for all subsequent manipulations.

2.14.2. Small-scale expression of 6HISFtsE

This protocol is described in the QIAexpressionist user's manual (The QIAexpressionist, 1992). A 10 mL culture of *E. coli* M15 (pSB1931, pREP4) inoculated with 500 μ L of cells from an overnight culture was grown in LB containing ampicillin and kanamycin at 37°C with shaking until the OD₆₀₀ reached 0.7-0.9, and IPTG was added to a final concentration of 2 mM. The culture was grown for five more hours and 1 mL aliquots of cells were taken at every hour and kept on ice. A 1 mL aliquot was taken just before the addition of the IPTG to serve as an uninduced control. The cells were harvested by centrifugation for 3 min./3000 rpm/4°C using a F-28/MICRO rotor).

The cells were resuspended in 200 ul of buffer B (8M urea, 0.1 M Na-phosphate, 0.01 M Tris-HCl, pH 8.0), and the cells were lysed by gentle vortexing and avoiding frothing. The lysate was then centrifuged (10 min/15 000 rpm/4°C using a F-28/MICRO rotor) to pellet the cellular debris. The supernatant was collected and 50 µL of a 50% slurry of nickel- nitrilo-tri-acetic acid (Ni-NTA) resin which was added to each tube, and incubated for 30 min. at room temperature. The solution was centrifuged (10 sec./15000 rpm/4°C using a F-28/MICRO rotor) and the supernatant was discarded. The resin was then washed three times with 1 mL of buffer C (8M urea, 0.1 M Na-phosphate, 0.01 M Tris-HCl, pH 6.3). The bound proteins were eluted from the

resin by adding 20 µL of buffer C/EDTA 100 mM followed by incubation of 2 min. at room temperature with gentle mixing. The resin was pelleted by centrifugation (10 sec./15000 rpm/4°C using a F-28/MICRO rotor), and the supernatant was collected in a clean tube. The eluate was verified by electrophoresis on sodium dodecyl sulfate (SDS) polyacrylamide gels (see section 2.15.).

2.14.3. Large-scale expression and purification of 6HISFtsE

The procedure described in section 2.14.2. was scaled up to accommodate cultures of 50 mL. Induction was done with 2 mM of IPTG and the cultures were grown for three hours after induction. The cells were collected by centrifugation (10 min/4000rpm/4°C in a SS-34 rotor). Cell pellets were frozen in a mixture of dry ice and ethanol and were stored at -70°C until use. Cell pellets were slowly thawed on ice prior to use.

The 6HISFtsE proteins eluted from the Ni-NTA resin were separated on large SDSpolyacrylamide gels using a PROTEAN[®]II xi Cell apparatus (BIO-RAD). To elute 6HISFtsE from the SDS-polyacrylamide gel, the method of Hager and Burgess (1980) was used: following electrophoresis, the gel was rinsed with water and was stained 5 min. in ice-cold 0.25 M KCl and 1 mM dithiothreitol (DTT), rinsed again with water and destained for 60 min. in water with 1 mM DTT. The gel was cut to separate the band of 6HISFtsE, and the pieces of gel were soaked twice for 15 min. in water with 1 mM DTT. The slice of gel was then cut in small pieces and the pieces were incubated in 1 mL of elution buffer (Tris-HCl 0.05 M pH 7.9, 0.1% SDS, 0.1 mM ethylenediamine tetraacetate (EDTA), 5 mM DTT, 0.1 mg/mL BSA, 0.15 M NaCl) for 12 hours at room temperature. The solution was centrifuged (10 min./10 000 rpm/4°C in a SS-34 rotor) to pellet the gel pieces, and the supernatant was recovered in a clean tube. The eluted 6HISFtsE was precipitated for 30 min. in a dry-ice ethanol bath or overnight at -20°C with four volumes of cold (-20°C) acetone. The 6HISFtsE proteins were pelleted by centrifugation (10 min./10 000 rpm/4°C in a SS-34 rotor). The 6HISFtsE proteins were washed with a solution of 80% ice-cold acetone and 20% elution buffer to remove the last traces of SDS, and were dried at room temperature. The 6HISFtsE pellet was resuspended in 20 ul of 6 M guanidine-HCl in dilution buffer (Tris-HCl 0.05 M pH 7.9, 20% glycerol, 0.1 mg/mL bovine serum albumin (BSA), 0.15 M NaCl, 1 mM DTT, 0.1 mM EDTA). Following resuspension, the 6HISFtsE proteins were left at room temperature for 15 min., and were then diluted 50 times with dilution buffer. The eluted 6HISFtsE was left at room temperature 12 hours to allow renaturation. Purified stocks of 6HISFtsE were always verified on polyacrylamide gels before being used for other manipulations.

2.15. Gel electrophoresis of proteins

Sample buffer (20% glycerol, 2% SDS, 125 mM Tris pH6.8, 0.025% (w/v) bromophenol blue, 715 mM β -mercaptoethanol) was added to the samples and they were heated for 3 min. in boiling water. The samples were then briefly centrifuged and kept on ice until they were loaded on the SDS-polyacrylamide gels Proteins were separated on 10% SDS-polyacrylamide gels using a Mini-PROTEAN[®] II apparatus (BIO-RAD) for 45 min. at 200 V in running buffer (25 mM Tris, 192 mM glycine, 1% SDS, pH8.3) unless otherwise specified. SDS-PAGE standards Broad Range molecular weight (BIO-RAD) were electrophoresed alongside the samples for size estimation of polypeptides.

Separated proteins were visualized by staining with Coomassie blue or SYPROTM ORANGE (BIO-RAD). For visualization using Coomassie Blue, the SDS-polyacrylamide gel was stained in 0.25% (w/v) Coomassie blue R250, 25% isopropanol, 10% glacial acetic acid and stained overnight with gentle agitation. The proteins were subsequently visualized by destaining the gel in the destaining solution (7% acetic acid in water). For visualization using SYPROTM ORANGE, the gel was stained in a 1:5000 dilution of SYPROTM ORANGE in 7.5% (v/v) acetic acid for 30 min. and was examined under ultraviolet light (Model 3-3000 Transilluminator, Fotodyne Inc.).

PART 3. RESULTS

3.1. Isolation of the plasmid pSB19 and cloning of the ftsX gene.

The plasmid pSB19 was isolated while screening a genomic bank of N. gonorrhoeae CH811 and its insert characterized by DNA sequencing (Appendix 2). The complete nucleotide sequence of the insert of pSB19 comprised 1789 bp (positions 2779-4526, Fig. 6B). One complete open reading frame (ORF) and two partial ORFs were identified in the insert of pSB19. The complete ORF (positions 2986-3903, Fig. 6B) shared 55% as sequence similarity with the FtsX protein of E. coli (section 3.3.2.). One of the partial ORFs shared 71% aa sequence similarity to the FtsE protein of E. coli, and was in the same orientation as the putative ftsX gene and overlapped it by 4 bp (positions 2779-2989, Fig. 6B). The other partial ORF (positions 4526-4296, Fig. 6B) shared 83% as sequence similarity 3-phosphoglycerate kinase (Pgk; section 3.10.4) of E. coli. Together, these data suggested that the insert of pSB19 contained a complete gonococcal homologue of the E. coli ftsX gene, and that this ftsX homologue was flanked by partial ftsE and pgk gene homologues (Fig. 6A). It further showed that the ftsE and ftsX genes were overlapping on the gonococcal chromosome as had been found at the time in E. coli (Gill et al., 1986). The 4 bp overlap observed between ftsE and ftsX in N. gonorrhoeae suggested these genes were co-transcribed. These gonococcal homologues of E. coli ftsX and ftsE were further investigated as part of the research project of cell division genes in our laboratory.

3.2. Cloning of the 5'-section of the gonococcal ftsE gene and its upstream region.

The 5'-region of the *ftsE* gene was cloned using an iPCR strategy (Hartl and Ochman, 1994; Silver, 1991; Ochman *et al.*, 1990; Fig. 7). The first step involved the identification of a DNA fragment of a size amenable to ligation preceding the other steps of iPCR. Genomic DNA from *N. gonorrhoeae* CH811 was digested overnight with the restriction enzymes *Accl, Eco*RI, *Hind*III, *PstI, Sal*I and *Sma*I, as the analysis of the nucleotide sequence of the insert of pSB19 showed that it contained no recognition sites for any of these restriction enzymes. The restricted DNA was subsequently hybridized at 55°C with the labeled oligonucleotide 19-4R (positions

Figure 6. (A) Genetic and physical map of the *ftsEX* region of *N. gonorrhoeae* CH811. (B) The complete nucleotide sequence of the *ftsEX* genes and their flanking regions as generated from the plasmids pSB1900 (positions 1-2778) and pSB19 (positions 2779-4526). (A) Each gene is indicated by an arrow whose orientation indicates the direction of transcription. Some restriction enzyme sites are also indicated. Gene names appear in italics. (B) The initiation codon for each gene is boxed in green, with a green arrow extending from the box indicating the direction of transcription, and the stop codon is boxed in red. When identified, ribosome-binding sites (RBS) are circled. Gonococcal uptake sequences (US) and the putative -10 box of promoters (-10) are boxed in black. Mismatches in the US from the consensus sequence are indicated by asterisks. The stems of the predicted transcriptional terminators are indicated by arrows. Relevant restriction enzyme sites are indicated.



А.

		1	0						30							50			
GGA	ATT	TCG	GGC	AGG	GTT	TTG	CCT	GCT	TCC	GGC	:CGC	CAG	CGG	CGC	TCG	TAA	GTC	GCC	GTG
000	TAA	AGO	CCG	TCC	CAA	AAC	GGA	CGA	AGG	cce	GCG	GTC	:GCC	GCC	CAGC	ATT	CAG	CGG	CAC
P	I	Е	₽	L	Т	К	G	A	Ε	P	R	W	R	R	G	Y	Τ	A	Ţ
		7	0						90						1	10			
~~~				~~~		•••			·				•			•			•
201	TCI	TTT	TCG	GCT	TTC	TCG		ATC	IGCT	TCC	TAA	TCI	TCI	TTG	SCIG		TAG	CAG	TAG
ADE C	ron F	MAA K	-996 E	GA_ A	AAG. V	L L L	ತರತ	IAG M	rCGA A	AGG F	711A -	AGA F	AGA F	AAC Z	LAD. C	ندي. م	AIC V		Alic V
G	5		~	ñ	ĸ	Ŀ	K			E	-	E	Ľ.	ñ		-	÷		Ŧ
		13	•						150						-	U •			•
TAG	GCA	TCG	CCT	TTT	GCC.	AAG	AGT	TCG	GCA	ATG	ACT	TCT	TTA	TAA	logg	TCG	AAA	CGG	CGG
ATC	CGT	AGC	GGA	AAA	CGG	TTC	TCA	AGC	CGT:	TAC	TGA	AGA	AAT	ATI	GCC	AGC	TTT	GCC	GCC
Ŷ	A	С	G	К	A	Ŀ	1	E	A	Ξ	V	Ε	К	Ŷ	R	D	Ē	R	R
		19	0						210						2	30			
	TGG	тас	acc	ا م	بالم	-	aca	<u>er</u> c		таа	TCG	101	•	acc			372	<u> </u>	TCA
CAA	ÂCC	ATG	TGG	TGC	AAC	AGC		GAC	AGC	ATT	AGC	TCT	2000		GTA	AAG	TAC	0000 0000	AGT
T	Q	Ÿ	V	V	N	D	Ă	S	Ð	Ŷ		Ľ	G	v	W	X	М	G	D
		25	0						270						2	<del>9</del> 0			
						•									_	•			
AGG.	ATG	ATG	TTG.	ACG	GAT'	TCG	GCG	GTG	GAA	CGT	GCC	AAG	TCG	GIG	TCT	TCG	ATA	CGC	AAI
TCC	TAC	TAC	AAC	TGC	CTA	AGC	CGC	CAC	CTT	GCA	.CGG	TTC	AGC	CAC	AGA	AGC	TAT	GCG	TTA
1	Ξ	÷	Ν	V	S	Ε	Α	T	S	R	A	Ŀ	С	T	С	Ξ	÷	R	-
		31	0						330						3	50			
• • •	3 N T	<b>.</b>	•		TON		~ ~ ~ ~	~~`			~ ~ ~	~	·				~~ `		
TTTT	ጠጠኋ ጠጠኋ	200	SCA	LIA NATI	LGA NOTI			GCA CCT			CAC	GAA	AAC TTC	AAG TTC		616 CXC	CGA AAT	AUG TCC	
	E	Ē	G G	K.	E	H	R	A		A A	SIG W	نين ح	- 10 F		A A	CAC T	2	- GC	300
_		- 	- -	-			•	••	-	••		2	-	-	•••	• •	••	•	0
		<i>ر</i> د							290						-1	÷			
CCG	ATG	TGC	AGG	TAA		GTG	GGG	CTG	GGG	GCG	AAA	CGG	GTT	TTG	ACG		ATA	ATG	GCT
996	IAC.	ACG	1.000	Hi.	ورون ا	LAC	ل (ب) ب	JAC		ريون	111	لولوني	CAA	AAC	1 GC		151	LAC	CGA
																	-		
G	-	E	1	Y	G	7	2	S	2	A	Ē	R	Τ	K	V	Ī	И		
		43	0						450						4	- C			
CCG GGC	AAA ITTI	ICT AGA	TTG/ AAC	AAAC TTTC	GCG1 CGC2	- FTT. AAA'	ATT TAA	TTA AAT	CTG GAC	ITT AAA	TTA AAT	CCG GGC	TGC ACG	TTA AAT	GGC. CCG	AIC TAG	CAA GTT	AAA TTTI	
		10	<u>^</u>						510						E	20			
US	5 *		•			•							•		Э.				-
IGI: GCA	EGGI GGCI	AAC ITG	CCT( GGA(	GCC1 CGG2	rgc( ACG(	GGA' CCT	TAA: ATT:	GTT CAA	TCA/ AGT:		CGG( GCC(	CAT GTA	TTT AAA	CTA GAT	CCG( GGC(	CCT( GGA(	CAA GTTI	ICA( AGT(	GAC CTG
		55	0						570						5	90			
_			•			•			•				•			•			
AGC	CAT	CCC	CAA	AAA	SCGC	GCI	GCC:	CCA	TTTI	[TT]	CAA	ACG	GTA	GAG	GGA:	TAC	CGCI	ATA(	CCC

TCGGTAGGGGTTTTTCGCCGACGGGGTAAAAAAGTTTGCCATCTCCCTATGGCGTATGGG

Β.

610	630	650
GAGAACGTCGTATTT	CTAAAAAAAGAATAAAGGGCGT	AGTTTGGCGCACCAGCCGCACCG
670	690	710
AGACATATAAACGCG TCTGTATATTTGCGC	GACACCCAAATCCTCCGCCATT CTGTGGGTTTAGGAGGCGGTAA	TCCGCCGCCCCCCCCAAATGGTA AGGCGGCGGGCGCGGTTTACCAT
730	750	770
GGGATCGCTGACAAT CCCTAGCGACTGTTA	CACCACGCTGGCAATACCGTTG GTGGTGCGACCGTTATGGCAAC	GCACGCCAAACCGGGCGGATGTT CGTGCGGTTTGGCCCGCCTACAA
790	810	830
GTTCAGGTTTTCATA CAAGTCCAAAAGTAT	AGTETTECGCGAAGTETTTCA TCACAACGCECTTCACAAAAGT	AACAGGATGTTGCGCGCCCGGAAC TTGTCCTACAACGCGCGGCCTTG
850	870	890
CCCCTGTTTGAGCGC GGGGACAAACTCGCG	STACCGCCGCCCGACCTCGGCT CATGGCGGCGGGCTGGAGCCGA	TCGGTCATATAGCCTTTTTTGGT AGCCAGTATATCGGAAAAAACCA
910	930	950
TCGCCCTCCCGTAAA AGCGGGAGGGCATTT:	CACGATTTTGCCTACCCTGCGG GTGCTAAAACGGATGGGACGCC	CTTTGGTAAAGCGCGATGGCGTG GAAACCATTTCGCGCTACCGCAC
970	990	1010
GTTGATGCGTTCCCG. CAACTACGCAAGGGC	AAAAACCGGGGAAGGGCGTTTG TTTTTGGCCCCTTCCCGCAAAC	TTCCACGCGGCTGCGCCCAACAC AAGGTGCGCCGACGCGGGTTGTG
1030	1050	1070
CAGCGCGGCGTACCGC GTCGCGCCGTAGGCG	CCGGACATACGGCGGCAAAACC GGCCTGTATGCCGCCGTTTTGG	TGCCGCCCGTCCGATAAACCGC ACGGCGGCGGCAGGCTATTTGGCG
1090	1110	1130
CCAAACGGATGAGGC/ GGTTTGCCTACTCCG	AAACACCAGCAAAAGCGGAAAAA TTTGTGGTCGTTTTCGCCTTTT	ACACTCAAACAGAAACCGCCCAA IGTGAGTITGTCTITGGCGGGTT
1150	1170	1190
CAGGTAATAGCGCAA GTCCATTATCGCGTT	SCCGTTGCGGCTGCAAAACAGCC CGGCAACGCCGACGTTTTGTCGC	CGTTTGTICACAATACCGCTTCG GCAAACAAGTGTTATGGCGAAGC
1210	1230	1250
ATATTTTCCAACGGTC TATAAAAGGTTGCCA	CTGCCGACAGCAGCC <u>TTA</u> CCGT GACGGCTGTCGTCGCGAATGGCAA * R	TTGCCCAAAACAATCGGACGCTC AACGGGTTTTGTTAGCCTGCGAG K G L V I P R E
1270	1290	1310
CAACAGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGG	ATCSGCGATGGCACGCAGCAGC	GCGTCATIGTCCAAATCGGGGTT
L L A P H	DATARI.I.	A D N D L D P N

	13	30						13	50						137(	5			
<u>cr</u> cc			תייד א	·~~~	р <b>т</b> ~ г		* * *	<b>т</b> с л	• •	TTTC			NTC 7	Т.С.	~~~		~~~	~ ~ 7	•
CAGG	TTTTG	GGT	ידאם מבדי			ACA	የአዋዋ የጥጥ	AGT		AAG	AUGI		H1CP TAGI				300 660	GAI	
D	L	G	L	E	K	Y	L	D	D	K	V	R	M	M	G	R	A	S	E
	13	90						14	10						143(	כ			
CAAG		י ATT מבד	TGT	TGA		- ATA'		TTC.	AAT	TCG	GAC	AAG'	TCGO	GC	GGC	GIA'		222 11 1 1	
L	G	L	K	N	F	I.	D	K	L	E	S	L	D	P	P	I	D	L	Ŷ
	14	50						14	70						149(	כ			
TTTG	ACCG	CTT	CGG	CAG	CA	ATG(	CG	CGT	ICT	TCC	AAT	AGGO	GACA	ACG	GCGC	GCA(	CGC	GAI	TT
AAAC	TGGC	GAA	GCC	GTC	GT1	CACO	GCC	GCA	AGA	AGG	TTA	rcco	CTGI	GC	CGCC	GT	GCG	CTA	AA
ĸ	V.	A	Ε	A	A	I	G	R	Ē	Ξ	L	L	S	V	A	A	2	S	K
	15	10						15	30						1550	)			
GCTG	CAAC	GCG	GAT	TGI	GGA	AAA	ATT	ITG	ATT	TCA	GAC	ATG	ACAT	TT	2001	AC	TC	TCG	AC
CGAC	GTTG	CGC	CTA	ACA	ICC1	.141	CAAI	AAC	raa a	AGT( 183	. nG. 		IGIA	AAX	RBS	21G2 <b>?</b>	AG.	AGC	TG
ç	<u> </u>	R	Þ	N	ដ		Ŧ	ĸ	Ŧ	F	S	м							
E.	15	70_	10			-	-	159	9Ō	-	2			1	1610	)			
AATC		TAT ATA					GCA(	GGG	TTT	TACI		ATAC		GCC			CG		CA
TING	GGGM	n . n	nin		Grue	130			urun.	n I Gr	1611	IAIC	3996			71 I U	5901	510	GŢ
	16	30						165	50					1	1670	)			
		-			-				-			•				-	-	-	•
													м	ĸ	R	<u> </u>	÷		
										RBS			m I	►	R	-	÷	من	
AACG	GTTT	ACA	ATA	ccc	GAA	TCG	ACA	ATAC		RBS	CAP		M [ GAI		R LACG		GA	ITC	TC
AACG	GTTTA CAAA1	ACA. IGT	ATA TAT	CCC GGG	GAA CTT	LTCG AGC	ACA TG1	ATAC FATC	CAA GTT'	RBS	CAP	<b>LAA</b> C	M CAT CTA		ACG	L ICTI IGAA	IGAT	L ITC AAG	TC AG
AACG TTGC	GITTA CAAA: 169	ACA. IGT' 90	ATA TAT	CCC GGG	GAA CTT	ITCG 'AGC	ACA TGI	ATAC FATC 171	CAA GTT' 10	RBS AGGA TCCT	CAA	<b>LAA</b> C	M GAT GCTA		ACG TGC .730	L ICTI IGAA	IGAT	L ITC AAG	TC AG
AACG TTGC	GITTA CAAA 169 I	ACA IGT 90 A	ATA TAT	CCC GGG A	GAA CTT A	LTCG 'AGC T	ACA TGI	ATAC TATC 171 G	CAA GTT' 10 A	RBS AGGA TCCT	CAP IGTI	AAAC TTG A	M CAT CTA		ACG TIGC .730	L ICTI IGAA	IGAT	L ITC AAG A	TC AG
AACG TTGC A A GCCG CGGC	GTTT/ CAAA 169 I CAATO GTTAO	ACA IGT 90 A CGC	ATA TAT L CCT GGA	CCC GGG A IGC ACG	GAA CTT A CGC GCG	TCG T T CAC	F ACI F ATT	ATAC TATC 171 G TTGC	CAA GTT 10 A GCG( CGC(	RBS AGGA TCCT H CACA GTGT	CAP IGTI T TAC	AAAC TTG A CGCG	M GAT SCTA SCTC SGAG		ACG TIGC .730 .730 .730 .730 .730 .730		IGAT ICTA L IACT	ITC AG A IGG	TC AG CC GG
AACG TTGC A A GCCG CGGC	GTTT/ CAAA 169 I CAATC GTTAC 175	ACA IGT 90 A CGC 50	ATA TAT CCT GGA	CCC GGG A IGC ACG	GAA CTT A CGC GCG	TCG T CAC	F F TAT	ATAC TATC 171 G TGC ACC	CAA GTT 10 - A GCG CGC	RBS AGGA TCCT H CACA GTGT	CAP IGTI T TATAC	AAAC TIG A GGCG	M CAT SCTA SCTA SCTC GAG	G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G	ACG TGC 730 2 AGA TCT 790	L IGTI IGAA E ICGA IGCI	IGAT ICTA L IACTA	L TTC AAG A IGG	TC AG - CC GG
AACG TTGC A A GCCG CGGC	GTTTA CAAA 169 I CAATO GTTAO 175	ACA IGT 90 A CGC 50 50	ATA TAT CCT GGA	CCC GGG A IGC ACG	GAA CTT A CGC GCG	TCG T CAC	F TGT TATT	ATAC TATC 171 G TGC VACC 177	CAA GTT A GCGC CGCC	RBS AGGA TCCT H CACA GTGT	T T T T T T T T T T T	AAAC TTG A CGCG GGCG	M GAT GCTA SCTC GGAG		AACG TIGC 730 2 SAGA TCT .790	E GAA CGA GCI	L ACT L ACT	TTC AAG AG IGG	TC AG CC GG
AACG( TTGC) A A GCCG( CGGC) G W	GTTT/ CAAAC 169 I CAATC GTTAC 175 K	ACA IGT 90 A CGC 50 50	ATA TAT CCT GGA	CCC GGG A IGC ACG	GAA CTT A CGC GCG 22		ACA TGT F ATT TAA	ATAC TATC 171 G TTGC ACC 177 L	CAA GTT A GCG0 CGC0 70	RBS AGGA TCCT H CACA GTGT	T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T	AAC TTG A CGCG	M GAT SCTA SCTA SCTC GAG		ACG TIGC .730 .730 .730 .790 .790	E GAA CGAA GCI R	igan Igan Igan Igan I	L ITC AAG A IGG ACC	TC AG CC GG
AACG( TTGC) A A GCCG( CGGC) G W GGAT( CCTA(	GTTT/ CAAAC 169 I CAATC GTTAC 175 K SGAAA CCTT	ACA IGT 90 A CGC( 50 D AGA( ICT(	ATA TAT COT GGA N CAA' STTI	CCC GGG A TGC ACG TACG	GAA CTT A CSC GCG GCG GGG	T CAGC GTG Q GCA CGT	GACH TGI F ATT TAP TTT	ATAC IATC ITIC ITIC ITIC ITIC ICII ICII	CAA GTT 10 A GCGC CGCC 10 CGCI	RBS AGGA TCCT H CACA GTGT S AATO TTAG	CAP IGTI I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I	AAAC TIC A CGCC GGCC K CCAA	M SCAT SCTA SCTC GAG GAG	A GAA CIII G GGG CCC L CCC L CCC GGG	AACG TIGC .730 SAGA .790 .790 .790 .790 .790 .790 .790 .790	E GAA CGA GGI R CGG GGC	IGAN IGT/ IACT IGF/ IGT/ IGT/	L TTC AAG A TGG A CC A CC A CC A	TC AG CC GG
AACG( TTGC) A A GCCG( CGGC) G W GGAT( CCTA)	GTTT/ CAAAC I 69 I CAATC GTTAC 175 K SGAAA ICTTI 181	ACA IGT 90 A SGC 50 D AGA ICT 10	ATA IAT CCT GGA N CAA'	CCC GGG TSC ACG TACG	GAA CTT A CGCC GCC GCC GCC	TCG AGC TCAC GTG CGT CGT	EACA TGI E EATI TAA N AAAA TTT	ATAC ITIC G TIGC ACCI ACCI ACCI ACCI ACCI ACCI ACCI A		RBS	CAA IGTI I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I	AAAC TTTG A CCGC GCCG K CCAA	M GAT SCTA SCTC GGAG A AGC TCG	A GAAA CTT G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G	AACG TIGC .730 SAGA STCT .790 .790 .CGTA .GCA	E GAA CGA GCI R CCG GCI GGC	IGAN ACT/ LACT/ ITG/ II SCAT	L ITC AAG IGG ACC A ICG A AGC	TC AG CC GG
AACG( TTGC) A A GCCG( CGGC) G W GGAT( CCTA(	GTTTA CAAA 169 I CAATO GTTAO 179 K SGAAA SGAAA 181 W	ACA IGT 90 A CGC 50 D AGA ( ICT) 10	ATA TAT COT GGA N CAA'	CCC GGG A TGC ACG TACG TACG	GAA CTT A CGC GCG GCG GCG	TCG 'AGC T CAC GTG CGTG CGT	F F ATT TAP N AAP	ATAC TATC ITIC ACCI L ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC	CAA GTT 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10	RBS AGGJ TCCT H CACA STGT S S AATC TTAG	CAA IGTI I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I	AAAC TTTG A CCGC GCG CCAA CCAA CCAA	M CGAT CCTA S CCTA S CCTC GAG A A AGC TCG		AACG TIGC .730 SAGA TICT .790 .790 .790 .790 .790 .790 .790 .790	E GAA E CGA GCI R CCG GGC	IGAN ACT/ LACT IGAN IGT/		TC AG CC GG
AACG TTGC A A GCCG CGGC GGAT CCTA	GTTT/ CAAAT 169 I CAATC GTTAC 175 K GGAAZ ICTTT 181 W FATGC	ACA IGT 90 A CGC 50 50 50 CGC 10 A A GGC	ATA IAT COT GGA U CAA GTTI T GAC	CCC GGG A TSCC ACG TACG ATG W	GAA CTT A CSCC GCCG CCC GGCG CCC CCCC CCCC CCCC	TCG AGC TCAC GCA GCA GCA CGT GCA CGT	F F ATT TAP TTT P TCC	ATAC IAIC I7I G ITGC I77 L L CCII GGA 193 C CGTG	CAA GTT 10 A GCG CCG CCG CCG CCG CCG CCG CCG TCC	RBS	CAP GTI T T TATAC TATAC TATAC TATAC TATAC	AAAC TTTG A CCGC GCCG K CCAA GTT M .GAT	M CAT CAT CTA CTA CTA CAC CAC CAC CAC CAC		AACG TIGC .730 SAGA TICT .790 7 .CGT .CGT .GCA	E GAA E CGA GCI R CCG GCI S GTC	I GAC I L ACC I GTA GTA K CAA		TC AG CC GG CC GG
AACG( TTGO) A A GCCG( CGGC( CGGC( CGGAT( CCTA( N L AACCT TTGG/	GTTTA CAAA 169 I CAATC GTTAC 175 K SGAAA 175 I SGAAA 181 W TATGC	ACA IGT 90 A 50 50 50 CCC 10 A A CCC CCC	ATA TAT COT GGA N CAA GTTI T GAA T	CCC GGG A TGCACG TACG W TTGC W	GAA CTT A CGC GCG GCG GGG GGG GGG GTG CAC	TCG AGC T CAC GTG Q CGTG CGTG GCA CGTG GCC	F F ATT TAP N AAP TTT P TCC AGG	ATAC TATC 171 G TTGC AACC 177 L ACC1 3GGA 183 C CGTG	CAA GTT 10 A GCGC CGC CGC CGC CGC CGC CGC CGC CGC	RBS AGG2 TCCT H CACP GTGT S GTGT S AATC TTAG	CAAA TGTI T ATAC CATG L CGCI CGA E AGA TCT	AAAC TTTG A CCGCC GCCC K CCAA GTT M GGTT CTA	M CGAT CCTA CCTA S CCTC CGAG A A AGC TCG P CCCG		AACG TIGC .730 .730 SAGA CGT SGCA M CGTA	E IGA/ E ICGA GCI R CCGA GCC GGC S GCC CAG	L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L	TTC AG A IGG ACC A CC A CC A CC A CC A CC	TC AG CC GG CC GG
AACG TTGO A A GCCG CGGC CGGC CGGAT CCTA H L AACC TTGG	GTTTA CAAA 169 I CAATC GTTAC 175 K SGAAA 181 W FATGC 187	ACA IGT A CCC CCC A CCC CCC A CCC A CCC A CCC A CCC A CCC A CCC A CCC A CCC A CCC A CCC A CCC A CCC A CCC A CCC A CCC A CCC A CCC A CCC A CCC A CCC A CCC A CCC A CCC A CCC A CCC A CCC A CCC A CCC A CCC A CCC A CCC A CCC A CCC A CCC A CCC A CCC A CCC A CCC A CCC A CCC A CCC A CCC A CCC A CCC A CCC A CCC A CCC A CCC A CCC A CCC A CCC A CCC A CCC A CCC A CCC A CCC A CCC A CCC A CCC A CCC A CCC A CCC A CCC A CCC A CCC A CCC A CCC A CCC A CCC A CCC A CCC A CCC A CCC A CCC A CCC A CCC A CCC A CCC A CCC A CCC A CCC A CCC A CCC A CCC A CCC A CCC A CCC A CCC A CCC A CCC A CCC A CCC A CCC A CCC A CCC A CCC A CCC A CCC A CCC A CCC A CCC A CCC A CCC A CCC A CCC A CCC A CCC A CCC A CCC A CCC A CCC A CCC A CCC A CCC A CCC A CCC A CCC A CCC A CCC A CCC A CCC A CCC A CCC A CCC A CCCC A CCCC A CCCC A CCCC A CCCC A CCCC A CCCC A CCCC A CCCC A CCCC A CCCC A CCCC A CCCC A CCCC A CCCCC A CCCC A CCCC A CCCC A CCCC CCCC A CCCC CCCC A CCCC CCCC A CCCCCC	ATA TAT COT GGA N CAA GTT T GAC CTG/	CCC GGG A TGCA ACG TACG W TTG AAC	GAA CTT A CGC GCG GCG GCG GCG GCG CAC	TCG AGC T CAC GTG GCA GCA GCA GCA CGTG GCC	F F ATT TAP N AAP TTT TCC AGG	ATAC TATC ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ACCI ITIC ITIC	CAA GTT 10 A GCGC 70 QCGC A CGC A CGC A CGC A CGC A CGC A CGC A CGC A CGC A CGC A CGC A CGC A CGC A CGC A C CGC A A C CGC A A A C CGC A A A C CGC A A A C CGC A A C CGC A C C C C	RBS AGG2 TCCT H CACP GTGT S GTGT S AATC TTAG	CAAA TGTI T ATAC TATAC TATAC L CGA L CGA E AGAA TCT	AAAC TTTG A CCGCC GCCC K CCAA GTT M GGTT CTA	M CGAT CCTA S CCTA S CCTC GAG CCGA P CCCG		AACG TIGC .730 SAGA CICT .790 .790 .790 .790 .790 .790 .790 .790	E IGA/ E ICGA GCI R CCGA GCC S GCC S GCC CAG	IGAN IL ACT I ACT I GTA GTA GTA	TTC AAG AGG ACC ACC ACC ACC ACC ACC ACC AC	TC AG CC GG GG GG GG GG
AACG TTGC A A GCCG CGGC CGGC CCTA U L AACC TTGG/ Y K	GTTT/ CAAA 169 I CAATC GTTAC 175 K GGAAA CCTT 181 W FATGC ATACC 187 A	ACA IGT 90 A CGC 50 50 CGC 50 AGA CCT C A CGC 20 A CCT C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C	ATA IAT COT GGA N CAA STTI SAC CTG/	CCC GGG A TGC ACG TACG W TTG AAC	GAA CTT A CSCC GCG GCG CCC CCC CCC CCC CCC CCC CC	TCG AGC TCAC GCA GCA GCA GCA CGT GCA GCA GCA GCA GCC	ACA TGI F ATTITAA N AAA TTT P TCC AGG	ATAC IAIC ITIC ITIC IACCI IACCI IACCI IACCI IACCI IACCI IACCI IACCI IACCI IACCI IACCI IACCI IACCI IACCI IACCI IACCI IACCI IACCI ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC ICIC	CAA GTT 10 A GCG CCG CCG CCG CCG CCG CCG CCG CCG TCC CCG TCC CCG TCC CCG TCC CCG CCG	RBS AGGA TCCT H CACA STGT STGT TTAG K SAAAA CTTT	CAP GTI T T ATAC CATO L CGA E AGA TCT	AAAC TTTG A CCGC GCG GCG K CCAA GGTT M GGTT CTA	M CAT CAT CTA CTA CTA CA CTA CA CTA CA CA CA CA CA CA CA CA CA CA CA CA CA	A CCTT CCTT CCCC CCCC CCCC CCCC CCCC CC	AACG TIGC .730 D SAGA .790 .790 .790 .790 .790 .790 .790 .790	E GAA E CGA GCI R CCG GGC S GGC S GGC CAG	I GAC L L ACC TGH I GTH GTH K CAP		TC AG GG GG GG GG GG GG CC GG
AACG TTGC A A GCCG CGGC G W GGAT CCTA H L AACC TTGG Y K TACA	GTTT/ CAAAC I 69 I CAATC GTTAC 175 K SGAAA ICTTS 181 W FATGC ATACC 187 A	ACA IGT A CCC CCC CCC ICT A CCC CCC CCC CCC CCC CCC CCC CCC CCC	ATA IAT COT GGA N CAA GTT GAA GTT GAA K GAA	CCC GGG TSCC TSCC ATG TACG W ITG AAC K AAA	GAA CTT A CSCC GCC GCC CCC CCCC GCCC CCCC GCCC CCCC GCCC CCCCC GCCC CCCCCC	TCG TCAC GCAC GCA GCA CGT GCA GCA GCC	ACA TGI F ATT TAA N AAAA TTT P TCC AGG	ATAC IAIC ITIC ACCI ICII IGGA CCII IGGA IB9 D CCGA	CAA GTT 10 A GCC CCC 10 CCC 10 CCC 10 CCC 10 CCC 10 CCC 10 CCC 10 CCC 10 CCC 10 CCC 10 CCC 10 CCC 10 CCC 10 CCC 10 CCC 10 CCC 10 CCC 10 CCC 10 CCC 10 CCC 10 CCC 10 CCC 10 CCC 10 CCC 10 CCC 10 CCC 10 CCC 10 CCC 10 CCC 10 CCC 10 CCC 10 CCC 10 CCC 10 CCC 10 CCC 10 CCC 10 CCC 10 CCC 10 CCC 10 CCC 10 CCC 10 CCC 10 CCC 10 CCC 10 CCC 10 CCC 10 CCC 10 CCC 10 CCC 10 CCC 10 CCC 10 CCC 10 CCC 10 CCC 10 CCC 10 CCC 10 CCC 10 CCC 10 CCC 10 CCC 10 CCC 10 CCC 10 CCC 10 CCC 10 CCC 10 CCC 10 CCC 10 CCC 10 CCC 10 CCC 10 CCCC 10 CCC 10 CCC 10 CCC 10 CCC 10 CCC 10 CCC 10 CCC 10 CCC 10 CCC 10 CCC 10 CCC 10 CCC 10 CCC 10 CCC 10 CCC 10 CCC 10 CCC 10 CCC 10 CCC 10 CCC 10 CCC 10 CCC 10 CCC 10 CCC 10 CCC 10 CCC 10 CCC 10 CCC 10 CCC 10 CCC 10 CCC 10 CCC 10 CCC 10 CCC 10 CCC 10 CCCC 10 CCCC 10 CCCC 10 CCCC 10 CCCC 10 CCCC 10 CCCC 10 CCCC 10 CCCC 10 CCCC 10 CCCC 10 CCCC 10 CCCCC 10 CCCCC 10 CCCCCC 10 CCCCCCCC	RBS	CAA GTI T TACC IATAC IATAC IATAC IATAC IATAC IATAC IATAC IATAC IATAC	AAAC TTTG A CCGC GGCG K CCAA GGTT M GGTT CCTA	M CAI COAI COAI COAI COAI COAI COAI COAI	A GGG GGG GGG A CGCG CGCG L GGCI L GGCI	AACG TIGC .730 .730 .730 .730 .730 .730 .730 .730	E GAA E CCGA GCI R CCGG GGU S GGC CAG	L ACT LACT TGH I ACT SCAT GTF K CAP GTT S AFC	A AG IGGG ACCI ACCI ACCI ACCI ACCI ACCI	TC AG GG GG GG GG GG AC

1930	1950	1970	
N I G N F L K	Q T P V S Y	 PIWRYIG	•
AATATCGGCAACTTTCTCAA TTATAGCCGTTGAAAGAGTT	GCAGACCCCGGTCAGCTA CGTCTGGGGCCAGTCGAT	CCGATITGGCGTTACACCGG GGGCTAAACCGCAATGTGGCC	G C
1990	2010	2030	
1 M S <b>B</b> S F M	K S V G N N	У с у т Р F Т	•
GCGAACAGCCGAAGCTTTAT CGCTTGTCGGCTTCGAAATA	GAAATCCTACGGAAACAA CTTTAGGATGCCTTTGTT	IGTOGGOGTACTGCCCTTTAC ACAGCCGCATGACGGGAAATG	C G
2050	2070	2090	
V V E À P K C	GYRQTI	TGELNEK	•
STOSTOSAAGOOOCGAAATG CAGCAGOTTOGGGGCTTTAC	CGGATACAGGCAGACCAT GCCTATGTCCGTCTGGTA	FACAGGAGAGITGAACGAGAA ATGTCCICTCAACITGCTCIT	A I
2110	2130	2150	
S L T È A V K	LAHSKC		• <del>-</del>
AGCCTGACCGAAGCCGTCAA TCGGACTGGCTTCGGCAGTT	ACTEGEECATTEAAAAIG IGAGEGGGTAAGITTIAC	ICGT <u>TAA</u> ACGCCGGAT <u>GCCGT(</u> IGCAATTTGCGGCCTACGGCA(	G
* 2170 <b>US</b>	2190	2210	
			· ;
2020			
223U · ·	<b>-10</b> .	. <u>US</u>	•
TATCTAAAAACAGGCGGAAT( ATAGATTTTTGTCCGCCTTA(	OTT <u>TATAAT</u> OGGTACTGTO GAAATATTAGOCATGACAO	ITTACCTATIC <u>EICAGACGGC</u> BAATGGATAACAAGTCIGCCG	A. I
2290	2310	2330	
· ·	•	· · ·	•
		RBS _	→ ftsE
TATCCCTGCGGACGCAACCGC ATAGGGACGCCTGCGTTGGCC	CCCGAAACGATATGCCGCC GGCTTTGCTATACGGCGC	CTTCCTTACAGGACCTCCTA GAAGGAATGTCCTGGAGGAT	L A
2350	2370	2390	
ATCCGTTTCGAACAAGTTTC	K I Y P G G CCAAAACCTATCCCGGCGG	FEALKNV JTTIGAAGCCCIGAAAAACGI	5
CTAGGCAAAGCTTGTTCAAAC	GGTTTTGGATAGGGCCGCC	AAAACTTCGGGACTTTTTGCA	ŕ
2410	2430	2450	
SFQINKG	EMIFIA	GHSGSGK	•
UAGETTECAAATEAACAAAGO GTEGAAGGTTTAGTTGTTTEC	SCGAGATGATTTTTATCGC SGCTCTACTAAAAATAGCG	;GGGACACTCCGGTTCGGGCA# ;CCCTGTGAGGCCAAGCCCGT1	A :
2470	2490	2510	
STVLKLI	SGITKP	 SMAKVLF	
ATCCACCGTCCTCAAGCTGAT TAGGTGGCAGGAGTTCGACT#	TTCGGGCATCACCAAGCC AAGCCCGTAGTGGTTCGG	GAGCATGGCCAAAGTCCTGTT CTCGTACCGGTTTCAGGACA#	A

		253	80					2	550						25	-0				
N TAA	G CGC			L ICCI	G		L CATT	S GTC		N CAA	Q CCA	I AAI	G CGG	I CAI	M TAI	R R GCC	Q GCCA	H	I ICAI	
Ai.	تعرز	ل جات ہ		GGA	لعلال	,eit	<b>SIAA</b>	- AG		( <b>9</b> 1 1	1961	i i P	التاليات	GIA	ALA	لأسارك	الافاقا	i Gi	GTA	
		259	0			_		2	610						26	30				
G CGG GCC	I CAI GTZ	V ECGI AGCA	F IGTT ICAA	Q CCA .GGT	D LAGA ITCI	H ICCA IGGT	F ICAA IGTT	I AAT TTA	L CCT GGA	N CAA GTT	D CGA GCT	R .CCG GGC	N CAA GTT	V TGT ACA	L CCT .GGA	Q GCA CGI	N AAAA ITTI	V ICGT IGCA	I CAT GTA	
		265	C					2	670						26	90				
L CCT GGA	2 GCC CGC	L CCT GGA	R GCG CGC	I GAT CTA	I TAT ATA	с ссса .ссс	y ICTA IGAT	P TCC AGG	200 900 900	R GCG CGC	K CAA GTT	A AGC TCG	E CGA GCT	E AGA TCT	R ACG TGC		R CCCG GGCC	I CAT GTA	A CGC GCG	
		271	0					2	-30						27	50				
I CAT GTA	E CG <i>F</i> GC1	K AAA TTTT	V AGT TCA	G CGG GCC	L CTT GAA	K GAA CTT	G AGG TCC	R ACG TGC	E AGA TCT	L ATT TAA	D GGA CCI	D CG <b>A</b> GCT	P .TCC AGG	V CGI GCA	T AAC ITG	L CCI GGA	S ICTC IGAG	G GGG CCC	е ссс ссс	
		<b>P</b> 277	<b>SB1</b> : 0	900	◀	Sau	► pSI 13AI	<b>B19</b>	90						28	10				
E	Q ACA	Q ACA	R	L	W		A	R	A COC	V CGT	V	E	Q	P	G	:	L	I Clim	A TCC	
ACT	TGI	TGI	IGC	GGA	ÇAC	CTA	GC G	GGC	GCG	GCA	GCA	GGT	GGT	CGG	SCC	GGA		CTA	ACG	
ACT	IGI	TGT <b>P</b> 283	TGC SB1	900		CTA	GCG <b>PSI</b>	GGC 319 2	600 600	GCA	GCA	GGT	GGT	CGG	6000 600	GGA	ICGA	CTA	ACG	
D D D D D D D D D D D D D D D D D D D	E GGA GCI	P ACC	TGC SB1 0 S CTC GAG	A CCC A CCC CCC	N CAA GTT	CTA L CCTA CCTA	D CGA GCT	2 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3	GCG 850 A IGC ACG	GCA GCA Y CTA GAT	A GCG GCG	GGT L GCT CGA	GGT( GGT) CGA GCT	I IAI ATA	GCC 28 M TATA	GGA TO E GGA CCT	L ATT	CTA CTA F GTT CAA	ACG K CAA GTT	
D D D D D C G A C T	E GGA GCI	283 P ACC TGG 289	TGC SBI S S C TC GAG C	A GCC GCC	N CAA GTT	CTA L CCT GGA	GCG P <b>SI</b> CGA GCT	2 3 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9	650 850 A IGC ACG	GCA GCA TA GAT	A GCG GCG	GGT L GCT CGA	GGT( GGT) CGA GCT	I IAT ATA	28 GCC M TAT ATA 29	GGA F E GGA CCT 30	L ATT TAA	GTT GTT CAA	ACG K CAA GTT	
D CGA: GCT: T AAC: TTG:	E CGA GCI F CTT GAA	283 P ACC TGG 289 H CCA	TEC SB1 0 S CTC GAG C C E CGA GCT	A GCG A AGC TCG	SIG CAC CAA GTT G GGG CCC		D CGA GCT T CAC GTG	R CCG GGC CCG GGC 2 V CGT GCA	GCG 850 A TGC ACG 910 I CAT GTA	GCA GCA GTA GAT GAT GGT GCA		GGT GGT GGT CGA A CGC GCG	GGT GGT CGA GCT H ACA TGT	I IATA D IGA( ACT(	GGG GCC 28 M TATA ATA 29 E CGA GCT	GGA GGA GGA GGA GGA T GGA T T T T T T T	L L CGA ATT TAA L CCT GGA	F GTT CAA M GAT CTA	ACG K CAA GTT A GGC CCG	
D CGA: GCT: T AAC: TTG:	E CGA GCI F CTI GAA	283 P ACC TGG 289 H CCA GGT 295	CCC SBI CCCC CCCC CCCC CCCC CCCC CCCC CC	A GGC GCG A AGC TCG	SIG CAA CAA GTI GGG CCC	CTA CTA CTA CTA CTA CTA CTA TTG	D CGA GCT T CAC GTG	2 R CCGG GGC, 2 V CGT GCA 2 2	GCG 850 A TGC 910 2 CAT( GTA( 970	GCA GCA GTA GAT GCA GCA	A GCA CGCC GCGC A CGCC GCGC	L GGT CGA A CGC GCG	GGT GGT GGA GCT H ACA IGT	I IAT D IGA( ACI(	GGG GGCC 29 M TATA 29 E CGA GGCT 29	GGA GGA GGA CCT 30 T AAC TTG 90	L L CGA ATT TAA L CCT GGA	F GTT CAA M GAT CTA	ACG K CAA GTT A GGC CCG	
D CGA: GCT: T AAC: TTG: D	E CGA GCI F CTI GAA	P 283 P ACCC TGG 289 H CCA GGT 295 G	TGC SBI: 0 SCC GAG C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C	A GGC GCG A AGC TCG	SIG <u>CAC</u> GTT G GGG CCC	CTA CTA CCTA CCTA CCTA GGA T T CCTA CCTA	GCG GCGA GCT T CAC GTG R	R CCG CGC 2 R CCG CGC CGC CGC CGC C CCC C CCC C C C	GCG GCG A TGC ACG 910 2 CAT GTA 970 S	Y GCA OTA GAT CGT GGT GCA K	A GCA A CGC GCG GCG G	GGT L GGT CGA A CGCG GCG R	GGT( DCGA GCT) H ACA IGT) - L	I I I A TATA D I G A C I G A C I G A	GCC 29 M TATTATA 29 E CGA GCT 29 29	GGA GGA GGA CCT 30 T T AACC TTG 90	L L ATT TAA L CCT GGA	F GTT CAA M GAT CTA	ACG K CAA GTT A GGC CCG	
D CGA: GCT: AAC: TTG: D GGA: CCT:	TGI E CGA GCI F CTT GAA Y CTA GAT	283 P ACCC TGG 289 H CCAA GGT 295 G CGGG	TGC SBI: 0 STC GAG C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C	A CGCG GCG A AGC TCG R	SIG CAA GTT G GGG CCC I CAT GTA	CTA COTA COTA COTA COTA COTA COTA COTA C	GCG GCG GCG CGAC GCG R GCG CGCC	R CCGG GGC 2 R CCGG GGC 2 V CCGT CCGT CCT CCT CCT CCT CCT CCT CCT C	GCG GCG 850 TGC TGC 910 2 CATC GTAC 970 S S CTCC GAGC	Y GCA GTA GAT GGT GCA K SAA SAA	A GGCA A GGCG GGCG G G G G G G G G G G G	L GGT CGA A CGC GCG R R CGC IGC	GGA GGT D CGA GCT H ACA IGT I GT ACTC TGAC	I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I	GCC 29 M TATA 29 E CGA GCT 29 4 CGA GCT 29	GGA - D - E - GGA - C - T - GGA - C - C - C - C - C - C - C - C	L CGA L TAA L CCTT GGA I sX ATC. TAG	F GTT CAA M GAT CTA I I I ATCC TAGC	ACG K CAA GTT A GGC CCG H CAC	
D CGA: GCT T AAC: TTG: D GGA: CCT	TGI EGA GCI F CTT GAA Y CTA	CGG. CGG. CGG. CGG. CGG. CGG. CGG. CGG.	TGC SBI: 0 STC GAG C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C	A CGCG GCG A AGCC TCG R	SIGG CAA GTT GGG CCC I CAT GTA	CTA CCTA CCT GGA TTG CCT GGA	GCG GCG CGA GCT CAC GTG R GCG CGCC	R CCGG GGC 2 R CCGG GGC 2 V CCGT GCCA CCCT CCCT CCCT CCCT CCCT CCCT	GCG GCG 850 TGC TGC 910 2 CATC GTAC 970 5 S CTCC GTAC 030	Y GCA GTA GAT CGT GCA K SGAA	A CGCC CGCC CGCC CGCC CGCC CGCC CGCC CG	L GGT CGA A CGC GCG R R CGC IGC	GGT( GGT( DGGA GGT) H ACA: IGT) ACT( TGA(	D CGG TATA D CGA ACTO A CGG	GCC 29 M TATA 29 E CGA GCT 29 4 CGA GCT 29 4 CGA 305	GGA EGA GGA CCT 30 T T GGA CCT 30 S F f t: AGC 50	L ATTITAA L CCTI GGA I SX ATC. TAG	F GTT CAA GAT CTA I I I TAG	ACG K CAA GTT A GGC CCG H CAC GTG	
		30	70						309	90						3110	)			
------------	-------------	---------------	-------------	--------------	---------------	-----------------	-------------	----------------	-------------	------------------------	-------------	------------	------------	-------------	------------	-------------	------------------	-------------	--------------	---
-	~	Ŧ	:	-	<b>*</b>		-			• ,	.,	Nr	uI.	-				-		•
TT	u CGG	CAC	AČI	GCT			CAT	יאםי יאמי	L TGC		ccf		M	T GAC	 	ד רהכר	<u>ב</u> הסכי	יד דיגדי	М 77ат/	-
AA	GCC	GTG	TGA	CGA	ATG	GGA	GTA	TT	ACG	AC	GGCI	AGCO	GCTA	CTO	GGGI	ACGO	GCG/	ACA	LATA(	2
		31	30						315	50						3170	}			
v	т	~	-	0	c	~.	~	c	•,	•	~	7	÷	NT	=			2	- ·	•
TA	COT	GGG	CAT	'CČA	AAG	u CGG	GČA	3	G	L IGT'	G EGG	GCAR	ACT		e Reov	с AGTO	יםם: יחם:	Q IGCI	-	•
AT	AGA	ccc	GTA	GGT	TIC	GCC	CGI	TIC	GCZ	ACA	ACCO	GII	TGA	GTI	GCI	CAG	CG	GCG1	TTAC	3
		31	90						321	.0					-	3230	1			
T	77	v	M	F	Ŧ	۔ د	د	د	C	•	-	c	÷		•7	2.	c	-		
ÂC	CGT	CTA	TAT	GGA	AAC	cgc	cGC	CGC	CAČA		GCGA	ACÃO	SCGA	.TAC	:cgi	TACG		- SCCT	GCTC	;
ΤG	GCA	GAT	ATA	CCT	TTG	GCG	GCG	GCC	ITGT	TTC	GCI	GIC	GCT	ATG	GCP	AIGO	GIC	IGGA	CGAC	
		32	50						327	0						1290	1			
_	_	-	•	-	_	•		_	_	•_	_		-			•				
	R	СС Л	K TNA	R	 		11 ~ > >	I C M	R	Ξ • <del></del> - •		G	K K	E	Ð	G	L	A	Ξ	
TG		GCT	LAA ATT	ACG TGC	CGA	CGA! CCTI	SAR Ttt	CAL						GGA	AGA		111 144		GGAA	1
			••••					Ψ							10.		n-r			
		333	10						333	0			_		3	350				
Ī.	Q	S	11	ī	С	ູ	Μ	<u>.</u>	Ξ	S	М	L	Ē	G	Ν	2	L	P	Ъ.	
TT.	ACA	GTC	CAA	CCT	CGA	CCA	AAA	ICI	GAT	TIC	CAT:	GCI	TGA	CGG	CAA	.ccc	CCI	:GCC	GGAT	
AA	TGT	CAG	377	GGA	GCT	GGT	ETT.	AGA	CTA	AAG	GTA	CGA	ACT	GCC	GII	GGG	GGA	'CCC	ICCTA	L
		331	70						339	0					3	410				
			•			-				•			•			-			-	
V CT	E	I T N T C	V	T	2	Ð	P	A	T	T	2	A	Q	M	Q	.A.	_ I_	Y	R	
- 1- D- 1-		IAIC ATAK	IGI ICA	LAU Atroi		CGAU				CAC		CGC	CCA	AA1 TTN	GCA	GGC	AA'I TTN	CTA CTA		
				n +	333	3011	900			Gro		600	-00	A	1001	5.00		.GA1	3966	
		343	30						345	0					3	4°C				
_	_	_	•			•				•			-			-				
9 28/	- 		ד. ערר	,		<u>М</u> т २	· · ,	E Tota	S	A CCC	S	M	D	T	E CCN	W	') 	0		
CT	GTA	ATGO	TTC:	CGA	220			C G M G C M	MIC MAIC	CGC GCG	CAG	ATA	GGA CCT		CGA GAT	ALG TAC	- 98 - 72	CGUR	AAUG TTGC	
											5.10	•••••				••••				
		349	0						351	0					3	530				
Ŧ		~	÷		<b>~</b>	_•	-			• _			·	_	-	_ •	_	-	•	
L	I TATE	Q n⊂nana	ב. מידבו	וי] זמב∽	Е х -	2 ~~~~	⊥ תובי	К	K CAA	i nnt	L	W	E	Ľ. Tom	S TTC	1 	T CNC	L	G	
GAC	CATC	GTI	TA	STT	J GRU GCT(	1790	TAC	G 760	GTT	<u>π</u> πa	GAA	AIG TAC				CCI) GCA	JAU CTG			
												****						0.011	0.0011	
		355	0						357	0					3	590				
		_	•	-		•			-	• _	-		•	-		•				
ካ ልግና	- A 2007	ב הידידירי	V GTC	┶ ╴──┬न	V FGTC	A	H Car	א מבר	L CAC	⊥ ~ ⊿ т	ссс СССС	L	Q GCN	⊥ • • т(	ь ~~т.	S	ಗೆ	א. ז ג ר	E	
TAC	CCGA	AAG	CAC	GAZ	ACAC	CGI	GTO	GTT	GTG	GTA	GGC	TGA	CGTI	TA(	GGA	GTC(	JUG GGC	GTT	ICTI	
												2					~	•		
		361	0						363	0					3	650				
E	ī	Е	Ī	Т	K	Ŀ.	L	G	A	P	A	s	F	Ī	R	R.	Ρ	F	Ŀ.	
GAA	ATC	GAA	ATC	CACO	CAAA	CTC	CIC	GGG	TGC	GCC	CGC	GTC	GTTI	TAT	CCG	CCGG	202	CITO	CCTT	
CTT	TAG	CTT	TAC	GTGO	STTI	GAG	GAC	CCC.	ACG	CGG	GCG	CAG	CAAA	ATA	GGC	GGC	GGG	GAA	GGAA	

	3690	3710			
Y Q A M W TATCAGGCTATGT ATAGTCCGATACA	Q S I F S A A GGCAGAGCATCTTCTCCGCCGC CCGTCTCGTAGAAGAGGCGGCG	V S L G L C G W CGTCAGCTTAGGGCTTTGCGGTTG GCAGTCGAATCCCGAAACGCCAAC			
3730	3750	3770			
L L S A V CTGCTCTCTGCCG GACGAGAGACGGC	. <b>Styi</b> . R P <u>L</u> V D A I TGCGCO <mark>CCTTGG</mark> TCGATGCCAT ACGCGGGGGAACCAGCTACGGTA	F K P Y G L N I CITCAAACCCTACGGCTTGAACATC GAAGTTTGGGATGCCGAACTTGTAC			
3790	3810	3830			
G W R F F GGCTGGCGTTTCT CCGACCGCAAAGAA	Y V G E L G L TCTACGTCGGCGAACTCGGGCT AGATGCAGCCGCTTGAGCCCGA	Y F G F Y I A L GGTGTTCGGCTTCGTCATCGCGTTC CCACAAGCCGAAGCAGTAGCGCAAC			
3850	3870	3890			
G V F G A GGCGTATTCGGCGC CCGCATAAGCCGCC	W L A T T Q H CGTGGCTTGCCACCACAACA GCACCGAACGGTGGTGTGTGT	L L C F K A K K CCTGCTCTGCTTCAAAGCCAAAAAA GGACGAGACGAAGTIICGGTTTTT			
3910	3930	3950			
ATTTTGTGGCAGT	ITTTAAGGCAGACTTCGGCAAA	AGTCTGCCTTAAAGCTAAACGGTCA 4010			
3970 ATAATGGCGCATTT	ICCCCAATAAGGACTCCCCACT	ATGCTGACACCCGAACAAGTCAAGG			
3970 ATAATGGCGCATTT TATTACCGCGTAAA	ICCCCAATAAGGACTCCCCACTA AGGGGTTATTCCTGAGGGGTGAT	ATGCTGACACCCGAACAAGTCAAGG IACGACTGTGGGGCTTGTTCAGTTCC			
3970 ATAATGGCGCATTT TATTACCGCGTAAA 4030	S990 FCCCCAATAAGGACTCCCCACTA AGGGGTTATTCCTGAGGGGTGA 4050	ATGCTGACACCCGAACAAGTCAAGG IACGACTGTGGGCTTGTTCAGTTCC 4070			
3970 ATAATGGCGCATTT TATTACCGCGTAAA 4030 CCCTGATTGCAGGC GGGACTAACGTCCG	STATAAGGACTCCCCACT AGGGGTTATTCCTGAGGGGTGA 4050 STGGCAAAATGCGAACACATCC CACCGTTTTACGCTTGTGTAGC	ATGCTGACACCCGAACAAGTCAAGG TACGACTGTGGGCTTGTTCAGTTCC 4070 BAAGTAGAAGGCGACGGACACCATT TTCATCTTCCGCTGCCTGTGGTAA			
3970 ATAATGGCGCATTT TATTACCGCGTAAA 4030 CCCTGATTGCAGGC GGGACTAACGTCCG 4090	FCCCCAATAAGGACTCCCCACT/ AGGGGTTATTCCTGAGGGGTGA 4050 CGTGGCAAAATGCGAACACATCC FCACCGTTTTACGCTTGTGTAGC 4110	ATGCTGACACCCGAACAAGTCAAGG TACGACTGTGGGCTTGTTCAGTTCC 4070 BAAGTAGAAGGCGACGGACACCATT ITCATCTTCCGCTGCCTGTGGTAA 4130			
3970 ATAATGGCGCATTT TATTACCGCGTAAA 4030 CCCTGATTGCAGGC GGGACTAACGTCCG 4090 TTTTCGCCGTCATC AAAAGCGGCAGTAG	FCCCCAATAAGSACTCCCCACT/ AGGGGTTATTCCTGAGGGGTGA: 4050 CGTGGCAAAATGCGAACACATCC FCACCGTTTTACGCTTGTGTAGC 4110 CGTTTCATCAGAATTTGAAGGCA FCAAAGTAGTCTTAAACTTCCGT	ATGCTGACACCCGAACAAGTCAAGG ACGACTGTGGGCTGTTCAGTTCC 4070 GAAGTAGAAGGCGACGGACACCATT ITTCATCTTCCGCTGCCTGTGGTAA 4130 AGGCACGCCTCGCGCGCGCCACCGCC ITCCGTGCGGAGCGCGCGGTGGCGG			
3970 ATAATGGCGCATTT TATTACCGCGTAAA 4030 CCCTGATTGCAGGC GGGACTAACGTCCG 4090 TTTTCGCCGTCATC AAAAGCGGCAGTAG 4150	FCCCCAATAAGSACTCCCCACT AGGGGTTATTCCTGAGGGGTGA 4050 CGTGGCAAAATGCGAACACATCC GCACCGTTTTACGCTTGTGTAGC 4110 CGTTTCATCAGAATTTGAAGGCA CAAAGTAGTCTTAAACTTCCGT 4170	ATGCTGACACCCGAACAAGTCAAGG ACGACTGTGGGCTGTTCAGTTCC 4070 GAAGTAGAAGGCGACGGACACCATT ITTCATCTTCCGCTGCCTGTGGTAA 4130 AGGCACGCCTCGCGCGCGCCACCGCC ITCCGTGCGGAGCGCGCGGTGGCGG 4190			
3970 ATAATGGCGCATTT TATTACCGCGTAAA 4030 CCCTGATTGCAGGC GGGACTAACGTCCG 4090 TTTTCGCCGTCATC AAAAGCGGCAGTAG 4150 TGATTAAAGACGGA	4050 CGTGGCAAAATGCGAACACATCO CGTGGCAAAATGCGAACACATCO CACCGTTTTACGCTTGTGTAGG 4110 CGTTTCATCAGAATTTGAAGGCA CAAAGTAGTCTTAAACTTCCGT 4170 CTCAAAGCCCAACTGGAAAGCA CGAGTTTCGGGTTGACCTTTCGT	ATGCTGACACCCGAACAAGTCAAGG ACGACTGTGGGCTGTTCAGTTCC 4070 GAAGTAGAAGGCGACGGACACCATT CTTCATCTTCCGCTGCCTGTGGTAA 4130 AGGCACGCCTCGCGCGCGCGCGCGCG TCCGTGCGGGAGCGCGCGGTGGCGG 4190 ACGAACTGCACGCACTTTCCATTT TGCTTGACGTGCGTGCAAAGGTAAA			
3970 ATAATGGCGCATTT TATTACCGCGTAAA 4030 CCCTGATTGCAGGC GGGACTAACGTCCG 4090 TTTTCGCCGTCATC AAAAGCGGCAGTAG 4150 IGATTAAAGACGGA ACTAATTCTGCCT 4210	AGGGGTTATTCCTGAGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGG	ATGCTGACACCCGAACAAGTCAAGG ACGACTGTGGGCTGTTCAGTTCC 4070 GAAGTAGAAGGCGACGGACACCATT ITTCATCTTCCGCTGCCTGTGGTAA 4130 AGGCACGCCTCGCGCGCGCGCGCGCG 4190 ACGAACTGCACGCACTTTCCATTT TGCTTGACGTGCGCGCGCGAAAGGTAAA			

	US	427	0				U	<b>s</b> 4	290						43	10			
								200				· · · · · ·				•			
- <u>111</u> -			ALL.	6_1 788:		11.1	CAC	<u>ALia</u> TCC		1 1 1	3.6		ALC	.AA2 			ACI		
تعق	AG	10 - 1	- 66	1 mm	400.	nnn	9-0	1 GC	. L D P	ana	A A C	ملمت +	.: A.3	: 1 7	. 360 C		ಟ ವಾಗ *7	1.303 2	ಾರ್.
													-	-	12	.,	1	A	1
		433	Q					4	350						43	70			
									-										
GTT	TTI	TCC.	AAA(	GCG	GCT.	ACG	GCA	GGC	AGC.	ICT	TTG	CCT	тсс	AAG	AAC	TCA	AGG	AAC	GCG
CAA	AAF	AGG	TTT	CGC	IGA'	TGC	CGT	CCG	TCGI	AGA	AAC	GGA	AGG	TTC	TTG	AGT	TCC	TTG	CGC
-	K	Ξ	5	4	A	V	A	5	L	Ξ	к	G	Ξ	L	F	E	L	Ē	A
			~													~ ~			
		439	U					4	4_0						44	30			
~~~	001		6797	2422		- 		2		TCC		200		34-			3	200	
660	GGA	GGC			TAC			TAA	166	AGC	CAT	7.00 7.07	200	ጥግ ኋ	220	CGT	TAG	222	
G	G	G	~	S	-	Y	G	-	0	D	_	~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~	G	F	X	À	Ĩ	A	A
									-										
		445	0					4	470						44	90			
			•			•			•				-			•			•
AGC	GTG	TCG	CCCC	2090	2000	GCA	ATC'	GAG.	AAC	GCT	IIG	CTT	TGG	GCG	ATG	GCT	TCG	GCA	AGG
TCG	CAC	CDA:	GGC	GCC	GGG	JGT	TAG	ege	TIG	IGA.	AAC	GAA	ACC	cec	TAC	CGA	AGC	CGI	TCC
مذ	-	D	9	Э	9	A	-	3	F	A	X	Ξ	Q	A	-	A	Ξ	A	مد
		4510	h																
		7																	
GCT	TTC	GTC			ice.	AT	FGA	то											
CGA.	AAG	CAC	GCC	GGAC	CGC	TA	ACT	AG											
A	X.	7	3	G	A	F	Q	D											

Figure 7. Inverse PCR strategy to clone the 5'-region of the *N. gonorrhoeae ftsE* gene and the region upstream of *ftsE*. The thin black line represents the gonococcal chromosome, the thick black line represents the 1.8 Kb *Sau*3AI fragment cloned into pSB19, and the thick green line symbolizes the region to be amplified by iPCR. The blue arrow represents the *ftsX* gene; the red arrow represents the partial *ftsE* gene cloned in pSB19 and the dotted red line represents the section of *ftsE* to be amplified by iPCR. The *Pst*I and *Nru*I restriction sites used for the iPCR are indicated by red arrows, and other *Pst*I and *Nru*I restriction sites are indicated by black arrows with asterisks. The primers SA-3 and SA-4 used for the amplification are indicated by yellow arrows. The drawing is not to scale.



Amplicon is cloned in pCRII to generate pSB1900

3578-3559, Table 3), one of the oligonucleotides used as a primer for the sequencing of the gonococcal ftsX gene (Table 3).

Restriction fragments of sizes from 6.9 Kb to 8.5 Kb hybridized the probe 19-4R (data not shown), the 6.9 Kb restriction fragment being obtained from the *PstI* digestion. As a control, the insert of pSB19 also hybridized the probe (data not shown). Because the 6.9 Kb *PstI* fragment was the smallest of those identified, this *PstI* fragment was used for the next step of the strategy to clone the gonococcal *ftsE* gene.

Restriction enzyme analyses of pSB19 and computer analyses of its nucleotide sequence showed that *Pst*I did not restrict the 1789 bp insert (Fig. 6A). It was inferred that the 6.9 Kb *Pst*I fragment that hybridized the 19-4R oligonucleotide probe (data not shown) contained the 1.8 Kb insert of pSB19 together with 5.1 Kb of flanking sequences. Since only the sequence containing the 5'-section of the *ftsE* gene was needed, the cloning strategy was optimized to amplify only the region upstream of the partial *ftsE* gene already cloned in pSB19.

Based on the analysis of its DNA sequence, a unique *Nru*I site is present in the insert of pSB19 in the 5' region of *ftsX* (positions 3095-3100, Fig. 6A, B). It was reasoned that the 6.9 Kb *Pst*I fragment would be smaller if it was also restricted with *Nru*I. A shorter fragment would facilitate the circularization step that precedes the amplification step of iPCR. To test this, gonococcal DNA was digested with *Nru*I and *Pst*I and was probed with the oligonucleotide SA-2 (positions 3098-3079, Table 3; Fig. 8), designed from the sequence immediately 5' to the *Nru*I restriction site. In the *Pst*I digest, the 6.9 Kb *Pst*I chromosomal fragment hybridized the probe as had been observed in the first hybridization using the probe 19-4R (Fig. 8B, lane 3). Two large *Nru*I fragments also hybridized the probe (Fig. 8B, lane 5). Since one restriction fragment per digest was not complete. Similar to what had been obtained with the *Nru*I digest, two *Nru*I-*Pst*I fragments of 2.8 and 3.0 Kb hybridized the probe (Fig. 8B, lane 4). The presence of two signals from both the *Pst*I-*Nru*I and the *Nru*I digests, but not from the *Pst*I digest, suggested again that the *Nru*I digest was incomplete. As for the hybridization to pSB19 (Fig. 8B, lane 2),

Figure 8. Hybridization of the oligonucleotide probe SA-2 to gonococcal DNA digested with *PstI, NruI, and PstI-NruI.* (A) Restriction enzyme digestions of the chromosomal DNA, (B) hybridization of the DNA from (A) with the oligonucleotide SA-2. Lane 1, 1 Kb ladder; lane 2, pSB19 digested with *BssHII*; lane 3, *N. gonorrhoeae* DNA digested with *PstI*; lane 4, *N. gonorrhoeae* DNA digested with *PstI* and *NruI*; lane 5, *N. gonorrhoeae* DNA digested with *NruI*. The sizes (in bp) of the size markers and the size of the fragments having hybridized the probe are indicated are indicated to the left and to the right of the figure, respectively.



two fragments of 0.5 Kb and 1.1 Kb were expected to hybridize the probe as both contained insert sequences. The other hybridization signals present above the 1 Kb hybridization signal could also be due to an incomplete digestion of pSB19.

The 2.8 Kb *PstI-NruI* fragment was used as a template for iPCR. Gonococcal DNA was digested with *PstI-NruI* and the digested DNA was used in the steps of iPCR (Fig. 7; section 2.9.2.). The amplification generated a 2.8 Kb amplicon that was ligated with the plasmid pCRIITM, a vector designed to efficiently clone amplicons generated with *Taq* DNA polymerase, to generate the plasmid pSB1900 (Fig. 7; section 2.9.2.).

The gonococcal origin of the amplicon cloned in pSB1900 was confirmed by hybridization at 68°C to *N. gonorrhoeae* CH811 DNA restricted with *Eco*RI, *Hin*dIII, *Pst*I, and *NruI-PstI* (Fig. 9). Two *NruI-PstI* fragments hybridized the insert of pSB1900 (Fig. 9B, lane 6) the expected 2.8 Kb *NruI-PstI* fragment and a 7 Kb fragment that was likely the *PstI* fragment that had not been restricted with *NruI*. This was likely due to the small amount of *NruI* that had been used in the restriction digest. There was also hybridization with a 6.9 Kb *PstI* fragment (Fig. 9B, lane 5), the same size as the larger fragment from the *NruI-PstI* digest (Fig. 9B, lane 7), confirming that this fragment had probably not been digested by *NruI* in the double digest. The 6.9 Kb *NruI-PstI* fragment (Fig. 9B, lane 5) was of identical size to the *PstI* fragment initially identified in the first set of hybridizations using the probe 19-4R. In addition, an *Eco*RI restriction fragment of 8.0 Kb (Fig. 9B, lane 3), and a *Hin*dIII restriction fragment of 8.2 Kb (Fig. 9B, lane 4) also hybridized the insert of pSB1900. The size of these *Eco*RI and *Hin*dIII fragments were the same as those that had hybridized the oligonucleotide probe 19-4R in the initial hybridization (data not shown). The insert of pSB1900 hybridized the probe (Fig. 10B, lane 2), but there was also a signal with the vector part of pSB1900.

The nucleotide sequence of the insert of pSB1900 was determined in both directions. The analysis of the DNA sequence of the insert of pSB1900 indicated that the amplicon was 2778 bp in size (positions 1-2778, Fig. 6B), and that it contained the nucleotide sequence of the 5'-end of *ftsE* (positions 2339-2778, Fig. 6B) as well as 2338 bp of sequence upstream of *ftsE*. This

Figure 9. Hybridization of the insert of the plasmid pSB1900 to digested N. gonorrhoeae DNA. (A) Restriction enzyme digestions of the chromosomal DNA, (B) hybridization of the DNA from (A) with the amplicon cloned in pSB1900. Lane 1, λ /HindIII; lane 2, pSB1900 digested with *Eco*RI; lane 3, N. gonorrhoeae DNA digested with *Eco*RI; lane 4, N. gonorrhoeae DNA digested with *Hind*III; lane 5, N. gonorrhoeae DNA digested with *Pst*I; lane 6, N. gonorrhoeae DNA digested with *Pst*I.



analysis indicated that no ftsY gene was located close upstream of ftsE in N. gonorrhoeae (Fig. 6A). Instead, complete tlpA and arsC gene homologues as well as a partial gltX gene homologue were identified upstream upstream of ftsE (Fig. 6A; sections 3.10.1. to 3.10.3.). The complete 4526 bp nucleotide sequence of pSB1900 and pSB19 including the ftsE and ftsX genes and their flanking regions was submitted to Genbank and is available under the accession number U76418.

3.3. Analysis of the ftsEX genes of N. gonorrhoeae strain CH811

3.3.1. The ftsE gene

The complete gonococcal *ftsE* gene comprised 651 bp (positions 2339-2989, Fig. 6B). It was preceded by a putative consensus RBS (AGGA, positions 2329 to 3232, Fig. 6B) located 7 bp upstream from the ATG initiation codon. A perfectly conserved -10 box (TATAAT, positions 2244 to 2249, Fig. 6B) was identified at positions -95 to -90 from ftsE and could be part of a promoter controlling the expression of *ftsE*. The stem-loop of a putative transcriptional terminator could not be located immediately downstream from fisE. The nucleotide sequence of fisE encoded a protein of 216 aa with a predicted Mw of 23 885 Da. Alignments using BESTFIT showed that the gonococcal FtsE displayed varying degrees of sequence similarity to other prokaryotic FtsE proteins available in Genbank (Fig. 10). The gonococcal FtsE was more similar to its homologues from other Gram negative bacteria than those from Gram-positive bacteria. It shared 71% similarity and 49% identity with FtsE from E. coli (Gill et al., 1986), 66% similarity and 45% identity with FtsE from H. influenzae (Fleischmann et al., 1995), 54% similarity and 32% identity with FtsE from H. pylori (Tomb et al., 1997), 62% similarity and 41% identity with FtsE from M. leprae (Parkhill et al., 1997a), and 60% similarity and 39% identity with the FtsE from M. tuberculosis (Devlin et al., 1997). The important motifs in ABC transporters, namely the Walker motifs A and B involved in ATP binding and the linker peptide (section 1.2.2.), were well-conserved in the gonococcal FtsE (Fig. 10). Other predicted structural features of the ATPbinding domain were also well conserved between the gonococcal FtsE and the other FtsE homologues (Fig. 10). It also shared high similarity (over 60% from Blast similarity searches)

Figure 10. Alignment of the amino acid sequence of the *N. gonorrhoeae* FtsE with other prokaryotic FtsE proteins. Positions perfectly conserved in all six proteins are boxed. The sequences of the Walker A and B motifs and of the linker motif are boxed in gray, other positions identical between the sequences shown are boxed. The α -helices, the β -sheets and the loops are identified as in Fig. 2 based on Higgins (1992).

				Loop 1	
		<u>BA</u>	αB	<u>β</u> B	aC
MIRFEQVSKTYP	GGFE-ALKNVSFQIN	KGEMIFIAGHSGSGR	STVLKLISGITKKPS	MAKVLFNGQDLGTLS	DNQIGIMROHIGIVE
MIRFEHVSKAML	GGRQ-ALQGVTFHMQ	PGEMAFLTGHSGAGK	STILLKLICGIER-PS	AGKIWFSGHDITRLK	NREVPFLERQIGMIF
VIKFSNCSKATH	GATOPALOGLNFHLP	VGSMTYLVGHSGNGK	STILLKLIMGMEK-AN	AGQIWFNGHDITRLS	KYEIPFLARQIGMVH
MSVIIIAANNICLOYO	QNEP-VIKHANLRIK	RKDFVFISGPSGSGK	STILLRSFYGDLK-LF	SGKLEVCNINMNNAS	KATILDLRKNIGVVF
MUTLDHVTKOYK	SSARPALDDINVKID	KGEFVFLIGPSGSGK	STIFMRLLLAAET-PT	SGDVRVSKFHVNKLR	GRHVPKLROVIGCVF
MUTLDHVSKKYK	SLARPALDNVNVKID	KGEFVFLIGP <u>SG</u> SGK	STIFMRLLLGAET-PT	SGDVRVSKFHVNKLP	GRHIPRIROVIGCVF
Teen O		Walker	A		T
Toob 5	α	E	βC Loop 3	βD	LOOP 4 aH/I
ODHKLINDRNVLONV	ILPLRI IGYPPRKAE	ERARIAIEKVGLKGR	ELDDEVTLSGGEQOR	LWIARAVVHOPGLEI	ADEPSANLDRAYALD
QDHHLLMDRTVYDNV	AIPLIIAGAS-GDIR	RRVSAALDKVGLLDK	AKNEPIQLSGGEOOR	VGIARAVVNKPAVLL	ADEPTCNLDDALSEG
QDYRLLTDRTVVENV	ALPLIIAGMHPKDAN	TRAMASLDRVGLRNK	AHYLPPQISGEQOR	VDIARAIVHKPOLLL	ADEPTGNLDDELSLG
ODARTIODALIEONI	KLPMVICGIKKEECH	LOLEKLLGHIDLRHK	ANRYPKELSGGEOOR	VAMARAMANCPELIL	ADEPTGNLDDYSSDK
QDFRLLQQKTVYDNV	AFALEVIGERTDAIN	RVVPEVLETVGLSGK	ANRLPDELSGGEOOR	VATARAFVNRPLVLL	ADEPTGNLDPETSRD
ODFRULQOKTVYENV	AFALEVIGRRSDAIN	QVVPDVLETVGLSGK	ANRLHDELSGGEOOR	VATARAFVNRELVLL	ADEPTGNLDPDTSKD
			Linker	Walk	er B
αH/I	βE				
IMELEKTEH-EAGTH	VIVAAHDETLMADYG	HRILRLSKGRLA	Na	oFteE (215)	
ILRIFEEFN-RVGVT	VLMATHOINLISERS	YRMLTLSDGHLHGGV	GRE Ec	OFTAE (221)	
TENT FFFFM_DT CMT	VT TATUDTHT TOORD	ROCT VI POCVI P	HO		

1	FN	FEEF	N-RLGMT	VLIATHDINLIQQKP	KPCLVLEQCYLR		HinFtsE	(217)
1	WSI	LRGM	ntqlnat	IVVVTHKFPKNFSAY	HRKFYIEDGEVYEYS		HpyFtsE	(223)
I	MDI	LERI	N-RTGTT	VLMATHDHHIVDSMR	QRVVELSLGRLVRDE	QRGVYGMDR	MtuFtsE	(229)
J	MD	LERI	N-RTGTI	VLMATHDHHIVDSMR	ORVVELSIGRLVRDE	WCGIYGMDR	MleFtsE	(229)

with other members of the ABC protein family, with the sequence similarities centered around the ATP-binding domains and the linker peptide (data not shown).

Computer predictions of the amino acid sequence of *N. gonorrhoeae* FtsE showed that it did not contain membrane-spanning helices, and identical results were obtained for FtsE from the other five bacterial FtsE proteins (data not shown). These results suggested that if FtsE was located to the inner membrane as is the case in *E. coli* (section 1.2.), it would require an association with another protein.

3.3.2. The ftsX gene

There was a 4 base pair overlap between *ftsE* and *ftsX*, the ORF located immediately downstream of *ftsE* (section 3.1.). The *ftsX* ORF contained 918 bp (positions 2986-3903 in Fig. 6B) and was preceded by a consensus putative RBS (AGGA, positions 2974 to 2977, Fig. 6B) located 8 bp upstream of the ATG initiation codon. Two inverted copies of the gonococcal US (positions 3919-3928 and 3935-3944, Fig. 6B) were identified downstream of the *ftsX* ORF. They were predicted to be part of the stem of a predicted transcriptional terminator (positions 3919-3944, Fig. 6B) located downstream of *ftsX*. Both copies of the US contain one mismatch with the consensus sequence: in the first US, a guanosine was replaced by a thymidine (position 3919, Fig. 6B), and in the second US, a guanosine was replaced by an adenosine (position 3944, Fig. 6B). The gonococcal US had been shown to be essential for efficient uptake of DNA by gonococci and had been identified as a transcriptional terminator for gonococcal genes (section 1.11.).

The nucleotide sequence of *ftsX* translated into a polypeptide of 305 aa with a predicted Mw of 34 213 Da. Alignments using BLAST and BESTFIT showed the gonococcal FtsX displayed similar degrees of sequence similarity with only the five known prokaryotic FtsX proteins (Fig. 11). Similarly to what had been observed for the gonococcal FtsE, the gonococcal FtsX shared a lower degree of similarity with FtsX from *M. tuberculosis* and *M. leprae*. The gonococcal FtsX shared 55% similarity and 29% identity with FtsX from *E. coli* (Gill *et al.*, 1986), 55% similarity and 26% identity with FtsX from *H. influenzae* (Fleischmann *et al.*, 1995),

47% similarity and 23% identity with FtsX from *H. pylori* (Tomb *et al.*, 1997), and 52% similarity and 20% identity with FtsX from *M. tuberculosis* (Devlin *et al.*, 1997; Tyagi *et al.*, 1996), 49% similarity and 19% identity with FtsX from *M. leprae* (Devlin *et al.*, 1997a). No significant similarity was detected with other protein sequences in the databases.

There were only six perfectly conserved positions in the six FtsX sequences (Fig. 11): Pro 124, Leu191, Leu212, Gly214, Ala215 and Leu225 (positions in *N. gonorrhoeae* FtsX). Five of the six conserved positions were located closer to one another (Leu191, Leu212, Gly214, Ala215 and Leu225, Fig. 11), between the end of the second transmembrane segment and the beginning of the third transmembrane segment. This is the first report on the identification of conserved positions in FtsX homologues as alignments of multiple FtsX sequences had not been possible until recently. Several other positions were also conserved in three or four proteins. The alignment of the six FtsX proteins presented in Fig. 11 shows the diversity in size of this protein. With 305 aa residues, the *N. gonorrhoeae* FtsX was 47 and 2 aa residues shorter than FtsX from *E. coli* and *H. influenzae*, respectively. It was also 8 aa residues longer than *M. tuberculosis* FtsX (297 aa), 18 residues longer than *M. leprae* FtsX (287 aa) and 37 aa residues longer than *H. pylori* FtsX (268 aa).

Analyses of the aa sequence of the gonococcal FtsX using the algorithms available in PCGene, PSORT and TopPredII predicted it contained four transmembrane segments (Fig. 11). Each FtsX homologue was also predicted to contain four transmembrane segments, and these segments were identified at similar locations on the alignment of the six FtsX aa sequences (Fig. 11). This suggested that FtsX was an integral membrane protein with four transmembrane segments, and that despite the size differences between species, there were structural similarities between the bacterial FtsX proteins. Tyagi *et al.* (1996) performed similar computer-based predictions on *M. tuberculosis* and *E. coli* FtsX, but this report constitutes the first analysis of multiple FtsX homologues. The present predictions and those of Tyagi *et al.* (1996) corroborate well with the results of Gill *et al.* (1987) that showed that FtsX was an integral membrane protein in *E. coli*.

Figure 11. Alignment of the amino acid sequence of the *N. gonorrhoeae* FtsX with other prokaryotic FtsX proteins. Positions perfectly conserved in all six proteins are boxed. The aa residues predicted to be part of a transmembrane segments are indicated in bold type, and each of the four transmembrane segments is identified.

Transmb. segment 1

MSIIHYFSLHVESAR SALKOLLR-OPFGTL LTLINLAVAMTLPLF

MNKRDAINHIROFGG RLDRFRKSVGGSGDG GRNAPKRAKSSPKPV NRKTNVFNEOVRYAF HGALODLKSKPFATF LTVMVTAISLTLPSV

MS RSTDASVFVOTAYTL RAVWADLWORKFGTL LTILVIAVSLTIPTV

MNTLKKHLAFIIPLV

MRFGFLLNEVL TGFRRNVT-MTIAMI LTTAISVGLFGGGML

M TGLRRNVT-MTIAMI LTTAISIGLFOGGLL

MYLGIQSGQSVLGKL	NESPOITVYMETAAA	QSDSDTVRSLLTRDK	RLDNIRFIGK	EDGLAELQSNLDQN-	LISMLDGNPLPDVFI
CYMVYKNVNQAATQY	YPSPQITVYLQKTLD	DDAAAGVVAQLQAEQ	GVEKVNYLSR	EDALGEFRNWSGFGG	ALDMLEENPLPAVAV
SYLMWKNLHLATTOF	YPESELTIYLHKNLS	EENANLVVEKIRQQK	GVESLNYVSR	QESLKEFKSWSGFGE	BLEILDONPLPAVVI
ALLFELECVLFINQA	IEQKEKKLIEDYSVV	LASTOKLINLELLRON	FSEIIALKEIDP	NYSLEPLOKTLGIDG	LKELRKNLPFFYS
VVRLADSSRAIYLDR	VES-QVFLTEDVSAN	DSSCDTTACKALREK	IETRSDVKAVRFLNR	QQAYDDAIRKFPQFK	DVAGKDSFPASFI
VVRLADNSRSIYLDR	VET-QVFLTDDISAN	DLTCNTNLCKALRGK	IEARDDVKSLRFLNR	QDAYDDAIRKFPQYR	DVAGKDSFPASFI

Transmb. segment 2

VTPDPATTPAQMQAI YRD-ITKLPMVESAS MDTEWVQTLTQINEF IRK**ILMFLSLTIGMA FVLVA**HNTIRLQILS RKEEIEITKLIGAPA VIPKLDFQGTESINT LRDRITQINGIDEVR MDDSWFARLAALTGL VGR**VSAMIGVIMVAA VTLVI**GNSVRLSIFA RRDSINVORLIGATD VKPTSEFNVSEKRDE LRTNLNKIKGVQEVR LDNDWMEKLTALSWL IAH**VAIFCTVIMTIA VTLVI**GNSIRSDVYS SRSSIDVMRLIGATD LQLS-TFPTQERLEN IKEKLLKIPGVQKVE VFAKTYMQVYDLLSF IKTA**VYIFALVVFVL SVILMF**KQVRIWIYQ YHERLEIMDILGASV VKLE---NPEQHKDF DTA-MKGQPGVLDVL NQKELIDRLFAVLDG LSN**AAFAVALVQAIG AILLIA**NMVQVAAYT RRTEIGIMRLVGASR IKLA---NPVQHKEF DAA-TQGQPGVLSVL NQKELIDRLFAVLDG LSD**VAFVIALVQAIG A**ILLIANMVQVAAYT RRTEIGIMRLVGASR

Transmb. segment 3

Transmb. segment 4

SFIRRPF	YQAMNQS	IYSAAVSLGLCONLL	SAVRPLVDAIFKPYG	LNIGWRFFYVGELGL	VIGIVIALGVIGANI	ATTOHLLCFKARK	305	NgoFtsX	(305)
GFILRPF	ACCALLC	FSGALLSLILSEILV	LRLSSAVAEVAQVFG	TKFDINGLSFDECLL	LLLVCSHIGWVAANL	ATVOHLRHFTPE	352	EcoFtsX	(352)
QFILRPY	TGMIYA	lloglvaaif88fii	B YFTSAVKYVTDIFA	VQFSLNGLGVGE	LLVCCLINGYVGANI	AATRHIAMMERKE	310	HinFtsX	(310)
SFKN-GE	YKIALMO	SVIASPLAP-MIMLY	TTSQKGFEKTMDTLG	I-IGGAFVLN-HFLW	GLLFSLVVSFVSVLL	VANR-TRHV	268	HpyFtsX	(268)
WYTQLPF	VEAMLAA	INGVGIAVAGLMV	VRALFLENALNQFYQ	ANLIAKVDYA-DILT	ITPULLLLGVAMS GL	TAYLTLRLYVRR	297	MtuFtsX	(297)
WYTQLPF	LEANVAA	TVGAVIAIVGLLV	ARAMFLNNALNQFYQ	ANLIARVDYA-DVLY	VSPWLLLLGVALAAL	TGYATLRIYVRR	287	MleFtsX	(287)

The alignment shown on Fig. 11 also suggested that the length of the amino-terminal domain of FtsX varied considerably. *E. coli* FtsX had the longest amino-terminal domain (71 aa residues) compared to the other FtsX sequences. Any possible structural and/or functional implications for this difference are unknown at this time. The linker between the first and second transmembrane segments in all four bacterial FtsX was much larger than the other linkers and could be a functional domain. Five of the six perfectly conserved positions are located at the end of the second transmembrane segment and in the second linker between the second and third predicted transmembrane domains. These regions, especially the second linker domain, may have structural or functional importance.

ABC transporters typically comprise two ATP-binding domains and two hydrophobic domains containing membrane-spanning helices that can be encoded by different genes (section 1.2.1.). The present analysis suggested that FtsE was an ATP-binding protein and that FtsX was the transmembrane protein of a putative ABC transporter. Since the linker between the first and second transmembrane domains was predicted to be larger, this domain could be the site of interactions between FtsE and FtsX.

To test this hypothesis, the membrane topology of the FtsX protein from *N. gonorrhoeae* was predicted by using TopPredII 1.3 (section 2.7.). *N. gonorrhoeae* FtsX was predicted to contain four transmembrane segments by TopPredII, which correlated perfectly with our previous analyses of FtsX. It was predicted to have its amino- and carboxy-terminal termini on the cytoplasmic side of the membrane. This implicated that the large linker domain between the first two transmembrane segments was periplasmic, and could not serve as the site of FtsE-FtsX interactions. For comparison, the membrane topologies of the other five known FtsX homologues were also predicted with TopPredII. All five FtsX homologues were predicted to present a membrane topology identical to that predicted for *N. gonorrhoeae* FtsX.

A schematic representation of the putative ABC transporter formed by FtsE and FtsX is shown in Fig. 12, with its two ATP-binding domains and two hydrophobic domains each containing 4 transmembrane segments. Figure 12. Schematic representation of the putative ABC transporter formed by FtsE and FtsX. The membrane domain (FtsX) is represented in blue with the four predicted transmembrane segments as boxes. The amino- and carboxy-terminal ends as well as the LLGA conserved motif are shown. The ATP-binding domain that binds and hydrolyses ATP (FtsE) is represented in red. The putative FtsEX transporter is proposed to export an unidentified substrate out of the bacterial cytosol, as indicated.



3.4. ftsX is not an essential gene

3.4.1. Construction of a ftsX mutant of N. gonorrhoeae

A strain of *N. gonorrhoeae* in which the *ftsX* gene was insertionally inactivated was constructed to verify if *ftsX* was an essential gene. The strategy consisted in inserting a *cat* cassette within the coding sequence of *ftsX*, which would disrupt the coding sequence of *ftsX*. The construction of *N. gonorrhoeae* strain CS19 is described in section 2.13.2. If no Clr^R colonies were obtained following transformation, it would indicate that *ftsX* was an essential gene.

Following the transformation of *N. gonorrhoeae* CH811Str^R with pSB193, Clr^R colonies were obtained. The presence of the *cat* gene within *ftsX* in the strain CS19 were confirmed by PCR (section 2.9.1.). The expected amplicon of 894 bp was generated from the strain CH811, showing that the *ftsX* gene was intact (Fig. 13, lane 2). In *N. gonorrhoeae* CS19, an amplicon of 2.8 Kb was generated from 2 colonies of *N. gonorrhoeae* CS19 (Fig. 13, lanes 3 and 4). This corresponded to the size of *ftsX* containing an insertion of 2.9 Kb, the size of the blunted *AccI-AvaI* fragment containing the *cat* gene. The viability of the strain CS19 and the confirmation of an insertion within *ftsX* strain indicated that *ftsX* was not an essential gene.

3.4.2. Morphology of N. gonorrhoeae strain CS19

Cell division mutants of *E. coli* may exhibit aberrant morphologies (section 1.3.). *N. gonorrhoeae tpc* mutants have also been shown to present abnormal morphologies (section 1.8.2.). Cells from *N. gonorrhoeae* strain CS19 were observed by electron microscopy and their morphology was compared to that of *N. gonorrhoeae* strain CH811, its wild-type parent.

The cells shown in Fig. 14 are representative of each of the three strains observed (strains CH811, CH811Str^R, and CS19). Cells from *N. gonorrhoeae* strains CH811 and CH811Str^R appeared as round, non piliated diplococci (Fig. 14A and B). *N. gonorrhoeae* CS19 cells also appeared as round, non piliated diplococci (Fig. 14C and D). The cells presumably lost their pili during the vortexing step of sample processing prior to the microscopic observation (section 2.3.); free pili are visible on the pictures presented in Fig. 14. The dimensions of the individual

Figure 13. PCR amplification of the *cat* gene inserted in the *ftsX* gene in *N. gonorrhoeae* CS19. Lanes 1 and 6, 1 Kb ladder; lane 2, *N. gonorrhoeae* CH811; lanes 3 and 4, *N. gonorrhoeae* CS19; lane 5, negative control. The sizes of the Mw marker and of the *ftsX* amplicons are indicated to the left and right of the figure, respectively.



Figure 14. Morphological observation of *N. gonorrhoeae* strains by electron microscopy. (A), *N. gonorrhoeae* CH811; (B), *N. gonorrhoeae* CH811Str^R; (C and D), *N. gonorrhoeae* CS19. All observations were done at a magnification factor of 22 550X. The scale (in nanometers (nm)) is indicated to the lower right corner of the figure.





cocci from the three strains were then measured (Table 4).

N. gonorrhoeae strain ¹	Length (nm)	Width (nm)					
CH811 (8)	750±150	940±80	•				
CH811Str ^R (10)	750±55	950±90					
CS19 (4)	820±60	1150±75					

Table 4. Dimensions of individual gonococci from different strains

¹ The number in parentheses following each strain indicates the number of gonococci whose dimensions were measured.

When the dimensions of individual gonococci were measured, no differences were found between *N. gonorrhoeae* CH811, CH811Str^R and the *ftsX* mutant CS19. The dimensions measured in Table 4 correspond with the published dimensions of *N. gonorrhoeae* cells (600 to 1000 nm in diameter; Gillespie, 1994; Wilfert *et al.*, 1992)

3.4.3. MICs, auxotype and viable counts of N. gonorrhoeae strains CH811 and CS19

In *E. coli* JS10, the Ts mutant of ftsX, the sensitivity to several antibiotics including penicillin was increased at the restrictive temperature when compared to its parent strain (section 1.4.). To verify if this was also the case between *N. gonorrhoeae* strains CS19 and CH811, the MIC of both strains for penicillin and other antibiotics were determined (Table 5).

Table 5. Minimal inhibitory concentrations of various antibiotics on

v. gonornoede C		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
	MIC (µg/mL)	of
Antibiotic	N. gonorrhoeae CH811	N. gonorrhoeae CS19
penicillin	0.063	0.063
tetracyclin	0.5	0.5
spectinomycin	16.0	16.0
ceftriaxone	0.004	0.004
ciprofloxacine	0.004	0.004
azithromycin	0.5	0.5

N. gonorrhoeae CH811 and CS19

The data shown in Table 5 indicated there was no difference between the MIC profiles of N. gonorrhoeae strains CS19 and CH811 for the six antibiotics tested.

N. gonorrhoeae CS19 was found to be a non-requiring strain, as had been shown to be the case with *N. gonorrhoeae* CH811 (Lawson *et al.*, 1995). To verify if the presence of the *cat* insertion within *ftsX* affected the growth of *N. gonorrhoeae* CS19 compared to CH811, the two were grown on GCMB plates containing various supplements and the cfus were determined (Table 6).

Table 6. Colony forming units of *N. gonorrhoeae* CH811 and CS19 in various environmental conditions

		N. gonorrhoeae CH811	N. gonorrhoeae CS19
NaCl	0%	$2.04 \times 10^8 \pm 0.91 \times 10^8$	$6.65 \times 10^7 \pm 6.35 \times 10^7$
	0.25%	$5.40 \ge 10^8 \pm 3.88 \ge 10^8$	$1.46 \ge 10^8 \pm 1.32 \ge 10^8$
	0.50%	$4.15 \ge 10^8 \pm 2.39 \ge 10^8$	$2.23 \times 10^8 \pm 0.90 \times 10^8$
	1.0%	$5.2 \times 10^7 \pm 4.4 \times 10^7$	$1.1 \times 10^{7} \pm 0.27 \times 10^{7}$
	1.5%	0	0
	2.0%	0	0
рН	8.0	$2.85 \times 10^8 \pm 2.85 \times 10^8$	$8.4 \times 10^7 \pm 6.7 \times 10^7$
	10.0	$5.3 \times 10^7 \pm 1.2 \times 10^7$	$1.31 \times 10^{7} \pm 1.35 \times 10^{7}$
KCl ¹	100 mM	$6.2 \times 10^7 \pm 1.4 \times 10^7$	5.4 x 10 ⁶ ±1.98 x 10 ⁶
Sucrose	400 mM	$2.39 \times 10^7 \pm 1.4 \times 10^7$	$2.1 \times 10^{6} \pm 1.1 \times 10^{6}$
Anaerobiosis ²	GCMB	$1.7 \times 10^8 \pm 0.76 \times 10^8$	$1.2 \times 10^8 \pm 0.31 \times 10^8$
	minimal medium	0	0

¹ Based on two readings.

 2 The bacterial suspensions used to prepare the dilutions under anaerobiosis are different from those used to prepare the dilutions under aerobiosis, but both suspensions were adjusted to a McFarland Equivalence Turbidity Standard of 0.5 (section 2.2.).

Both strains grow up to a NaCl concentration of 1%. There were no significant differences observed between CH811 and CS19 when grown with varying concentrations of NaCl or at pH 8.0 or pH 10.0, suggesting that the insertion in *ftsX* did not affect the growth of strain CS19 in these conditions (Table 6). More important differences were noted on GCMB with 100 mM KCl (6.5-fold) or with 400 mM sucrose (10-fold) between the two strains in these conditions (Table 6). Under anaerobiosis the two strains had similar viable counts on GCMB, but neither strain grew on minimal medium (Table 6). These results suggested that the *ftsX* gene product was not important under anaerobiosis.

3.5. Prevalence of *ftsE* and *ftsX* in the Neisseriaceae.

3.5.1. Investigation of the *ftsEX* genes by hybridization

The presence of *ftsE* and *ftsX* in ten *Neisseria* species (and in *N. gonorrhoeae* as a positive control) was investigated by Southern blotting. Labeled *ftsE* and *ftsX* amplicons from *N. gonorrhoeae* were hybridized to *PstI*-digested genomic DNA from *Neisseria* species at 60°C (data not shown). Under these conditions, the *ftsE* and *ftsX* probes hybridized to restriction fragments in *N. meningitidis*, *N. lactamica* and *N. cinerea*. The *ftsX* probe hybridized to a restriction fragment in *N. subflava* and *N. flavescens*, while the *ftsE* probe did not hybridize any *PstI* restriction fragment in the same species (data not shown). Both probes hybridized a 7 Kb fragment of *N. gonorrhoeae* DNA as expected (data not shown). These results suggested sequence divergence among the *ftsE* and *ftsX* genes between *Neisseria* species. The hybridization was then repeated at lower stringency (50°C), and in these conditions *PstI* fragments from all species hybridized both probes (Fig. 15 and 16).

In N. gonorrhoege, a 7 Kb PstI restriction fragment hybridized the fisE probe (Fig. 15B, lane 2), which was the same size as the *Pst* [fragment identified following the hybridizations done prior to the cloning of the 5'-section of the gonococcal ftsE gene and its upstream region (section 3.2). The ftsE probe hybridized DNA fragments of high Mw (higher than 16 Kb) in N. meningitidis, (Fig. 15B, lane 3), N. elongata (Fig. 15B, lane 6), N. lactamica (Fig. 15B, lane 8), N. perflava/sicca (Fig. 15B, lane 9) and N. polysaccharea (Fig. 15B, lane 11). In N. flava and in N. mucosa, the ftsE probe hybridized restriction fragments of 6 Kb, (Fig. 15B, lanes 4 and 7). In N. subflava the ftsE probe hybridized a restriction fragment of 2.6 Kb (Fig. 15B, lane 5); and it hybridized a restriction fragment of 9 Kb in N. flavescens (Fig. 15B, lane 10). Finally, the ftsE probe hybridized a restriction fragment of 7 Kb in N. cinerea (Fig. 15B, lane 12). In seven of the eleven species tested, the *ftsX* probe hybridized a fragment of the same size as that hybridized by the ftsE probe (Fig. 16B, lanes 2, 3, 6, 8, 9, 11, 12). In N. gonorrhoeae and N. cinerea, the ftsX probe hybridized to a 7 Kb restriction fragment (Fig. 16B, lanes 2 and 12). The fisX probe hybridized DNA fragments of high Mw (higher than 16 Kb) in N. meningitidis, (Fig. 16B, lane 3), N. elongata (Fig. 16B, lane 6), N. lactamica (Fig. 16B, lane 8), N. perflava/sicca (Fig. 16B, lane 9) and N. polysaccharea (Fig. 16B, lane 11). The ftsX probe hybridized a restriction fragment of a different size in the remaining Neisseria species: in N. flava and N. mucosa, the flsX probe hybridized a restriction fragment of 5 Kb (Fig. 16B, lanes 4 and 7). In N. subflava, it hybridized a restriction fragment of 10 Kb (Fig. 16B, lane 5). Finally, the ftsX probe hybridized a restriction fragment of 6 Kb in N. flavescens (Fig. 16B, lane 10).

For N. flava and in N. mucosa, the observed size difference between the fragments that hybridized each probe were minor, and are probably in fact of the same size. Taken together, these data suggested that the fisE and fisX genes were present in all nine Neisseria species investigated. However, no conclusion could be drawn regarding the genetic organization of these genes.

Figure 15. Identification of the *ftsE* gene in the *Neisseriaceae* by Southern blotting at 50°C. (A), *PstI* restriction enzyme digests of chromosomal DNA from all species. (B), hybridization of the *ftsE* probe to the restricted DNA from (A). All lanes are identified above the lane number. The sizes of the molecular weight marker are indicated to the left of the figure.



Figure 16. Identification of the *ftsX* gene in the *Neisseriaceae* by Southern blotting at 50°C. (A), *Pst*I restriction enzyme digests of chromosomal DNA from all species. (B), hybridization of the *ftsX* probe to the restricted DNA from (A). All lanes are identified above the lane number. The sizes of the molecular weight marker are indicated to the left of the figure.





3.5.2. Investigation of the *ftsEX* genes by PCR

In addition to the investigation by Southern blotting of *Neisseria* DNA, the presence of *ftsE* and *ftsX* was investigated in the same ten *Neisseria* species (and in *N. gonorrhoeae* as a positive control) by PCR as described (section 2.9.1.).

ftsE amplicons were detected in six of ten Neisseria species tested (Fig. 17A). The ftsE amplicons were generated from N. gonorrhoeae, N. meningitidis, N. lactamica, N. perflava/sicca, N. polysaccharea, and N. cinerea (Fig. 17A, lanes 3, 8, 9, 11 and 12). The amplicons were of the same size (282 bp; Fig. 17A). The absence of ftsE amplicons in N. flava, N. subflava, N. elongata, N. mucosa and N. flavescens was attributed to sequence divergence and not to the absence of ftsE because the results from the preceding experiment suggested ftsE was present in each of these Neisseria species (section 3.5.1.).

The *ftsX* amplicons were obtained in all eleven species tested but were heterogeneous in size: the amplicons from *N. gonorrhoeae*, *N. meningitidis*, *N. lactamica*, *N. perflava/sicca*, *N. polysaccharea*, and *N. cinerea* were of the same size (894 bp; Fig. 18A, lanes 2, 3, 8, 9, 11 and 12); *N. subflava* and *N. flavescens* generated amplicons of 1.4 Kb (Fig. 18A, lanes 5 and 10); *N. flava* and *N. mucosa* generated amplicons of 1.5 Kb (Fig. 18A, lanes 4 and 7), and *N. elongata* produced a 1.6 Kb amplicon (Fig. 18A, lane 6). These results suggested that the *ftsX* gene varied in size between *Neisseria* species. The five *Neisseria* species from which *ftsX* amplicons 894 bp were obtained were the same that generated *ftsE* amplicons. These results suggested that the *ftsE* and *ftsX* genes from these five species had nucleotide sequences more similar to those from *N. gonorrhoeae*. However, further investigation was necessary as the absence of *ftsE* amplicon and/or the variability in size of the *ftsX* amplicon in some species could be attributable to the conditions of the PCR assay.

The *ftsE* and *ftsX* amplicons from the *Neisseria* species were further investigated by hybridization with the same *ftsE*-and *ftsX*-specific probes used for the hybridizations described in section 3.5.1. The five *ftsE* amplicons hybridized the *ftsE* probe at 60°C (Fig. 17B), which provided additional evidence that these amplicons were *ftsE*-specific. In the case of the *ftsX*
Figure 17. Prevalence of the *ftsE* gene in the *Neisseriaceae* as investigated by PCR. (A) *ftsE* amplicons generated from *Neisseria* species. (B), hybridization of the *ftsE* amplicon from *n*. *gonorrhoeae* to the *ftsE* amplicons from (A). All lanes are identified above the lane number, and the hybridization signal corresponding to the *ftsE* amplicon is indicated on the right side of (B). The sizes of the molecular weight marker are indicated to the left of the figure.





Figure 18. Prevalence of the *ftsX* gene in the *Neisseriaceae* as investigated by PCR. (A) *ftsX* amplicons generated from *Neisseria* species. (B), hybridization of the *ftsX* amplicon from *n.* gonorrhoeae to the *ftsX* amplicons from (A). All lanes are identified above the lane number, and the hybridization signal corresponding to the *ftsX* amplicon is indicated on the right side of (B). The sizes of the molecular weight marker are indicated to the left of the figure.





amplicons, only the six amplicons of 894 bp hybridized the *ftsX* probe at 60°C (Fig. 18B). Similar results were obtained when the hybridizations were performed at 50°C (data not shown). These results suggested that the amplicons obtained in *N. meningitidis*, *N. lactamica*, *N. perflava/sicca*, *N. polysaccharea* and *N. cinerea* were more likely *ftsX*-specific. The other amplicons might be *ftsX*-specific, but their nucleotide sequences would be more divergent to that of *N. gonorrhoeae*.

3.6. Transcription of *ftsE* and *ftsX*.

The 4 bp overlap between fisE and fisX and the presence of a putative transcriptional terminator downstream of fisX but not downstream of fisE suggested that the two genes were cotranscribed (sections 3.3.1. and 3.3.2.). If this was the case, the promoter regulating the expression of fisE and fisX would be located within the 194 bp intergenic region between fisE and tlpA, since the presence of a putative transcriptional terminator downstream of tlpA (section 3.10.1.) suggested that tlpA and fisE were independently transcribed.

Experimental evidence for co-transcription of ftsE and ftsX was obtained by conducting *in vitro* transcription/translation experiments using the plasmids pSB19 and pSB190. The plasmid pSB19 contains the complete ftsX gene with partial ftsE and pgk genes (section 3.1. and Table 2) while pSB190 contained the insert of pSB19 cloned in the opposite orientation to that in pSB19 so that ftsX was under the control of the vectorborne *lac* promoter (Table 2). It was hypothesized that if ftsE and ftsX were co-transcribed, a promoter would be located upstream of ftsE and not upstream of ftsX; in these conditions, the FtsX protein would not be synthesized from pSB19. On the other hand, if ftsE and ftsX were separately transcribed, there would be a promoter located upstream of ftsX and this promoter could be present in the 3'-section of the ftsE gene.

When the synthesis of FtsX was monitored from pSB19 and pSB190, a polypeptide of the expected Mw for FtsX (34 KDa) was synthesized from pSB190 in the *in vitro* transcription/translation system (Fig. 19A, lane 3). In comparison, this 34 KDa protein was not synthesized from pSB19, suggesting that FtsX could not be synthesized from pSB19 (Fig. 19A,

Figure 19. Identification of the gonococcal FtsE and FtsX proteins *in vitro*. (A) Identification of FtsX *in vitro*. Lane 1, pBluescript KS+; lane 2, pSB19; lane 3, pSB190. (B) Identification of FtsE and FtsX from pSB5696. Lane 1, molecular weight marker; lane 2, pSB5696. The sizes of the Mw markers are indicated on the left side of each figure, and the protein bands are identified to the right of each figure.



lane 2). As expected, this 34 KDa protein was not synthesized from pKS+ (Fig. 19A, lane 1). A polypeptide with a Mw of 31 KDa corresponding to the vectorborne β -lactamase was synthesized from all three plasmids (Fig. 19A, lanes 1-3). Collectively, these results indicated that, as expected, *fisX* did not possess its own promoter.

To verify if *ftsE* and *ftsX* could be co-transcribed from a promoter located upstream of *ftsE*, a second *in vitro* transcription/translation experiment was performed using the plasmid pSB5696. This plasmid contains the gonococcal *ftsE* and *ftsX* genes under the control of the vectorborne *lac* promoter (Table 2). Proteins of the expected Mw for FtsE and FtsX, 23 and 34 KDa respectively, were synthesized from pSB5696 (Fig. 19B, lane 2). Vector-encoded proteins of 31 and 28 KDa corresponding to β -lactamase and kanamycin nucleotidyltransferase, respectively, were also synthesized (Fig. 19B). These results indicated that *ftsE* and *ftsX* were co-transcribed if a promoter was provided upstream of *ftsE*. This result provided more evidence favoring the co-transcription of *ftsE* and *ftsX*.

Finally, to verify if FtsE and FtsX were synthesized when ftsE and ftsX were transcribed from a promoter located in the intergenic region between ftsE and tlpA, another *in vitro* transcription/translation experiment was accomplished using a 2014 bp amplicon that contained complete ftsE and ftsX genes, the 194 bp intergenic space between ftsE and tlpA and the last 85 nucleotides of tlpA (positions 2060-4074, Fig. 6B; section 2.9.1.). As expected, polypeptides of the expected Mw for FtsE and FtsX were synthesized (data not shown). These results also supported the co-transcription of ftsE and ftsX.

Taken together, all these data indicated that ftsE and ftsX were co-transcribed because ftsX did not possess its own promoter, and that both genes could be transcribed together if a promoter was provided upstream of ftsE. The results further indicated that a promoter controlling the expression of ftsE and ftsX lies within 279 bp upstream of ftsE, more likely within the 194 bp tlpA-ftsE intergenic region. A possible promoter for these genes could be the TATAAT box located within the ftsE-tlpA intergenic region (section 3.3.1.). These experiments also indicated that at least one type of gonococcal promoter was recognized by the *E. coli* transcriptional

apparatus. These two genes therefore constitute an operon in the gonococcus and will be hereafter be designated *ftsEX*.

3.7. Overexpression of the gonococcal ftsE, ftsX and ftsEX genes in E. coli.

The gonococcal *fisEX* genes were overexpressed in *E. coli* to investigate if they could cause morphological changes such as filamentation, as it has been observed following overexpression of other bacterial cell division genes in an *E. coli* background (Margolin and Long, 1994; Quardokus *et al.*, 1996). INV α F' cells overexpressing *ftsX* from the plasmid pSB190 in which *ftsX* was under the control of a *lac* promoter, overexpressing *ftsE* from the plasmid pSB1910 in which *ftsE* was under the control of a *lac* promoter, or overexpressing *ftsEX* from the plasmid pSB5696 in which *ftsEX* were under the control of a *lac* promoter (Table 2) were grown in rich medium. In all cases, the cells presented a typical, short rod-like morphology in the absence or presence of IPTG (Fig. 20A-C). In contrast, INV α F' containing pAR2, a plasmid in which the *N. gonorrhoeae ftsZ* gene is under *lac* promoter control (Table 2), formed filaments following induction with IPTG (Fig. 20D). In minimal medium, INV α F' cells overexpressing *ftsE, ftsX* or *ftsEX* from the plasmids pSB1911, pSB190 or pSB5696 had again a typical, short rod-like morphology (Fig. 20E). Collectively, these data suggested that overexpression of the *N. gonorrhoeae ftsE, ftsX* or *ftsEX* genes did not cause morphological aberrations in *E. coli*.

3.8. Functional complementation of an E. coli ftsX mutant

The ability of the gonococcal ftsX gene to complement the ftsX defect in *E. coli* strain JS10 was verified. *E. coli* JS10 is a derivative of χ 462 that contains an uncharacterized mutation in its ftsX gene; JS10 cells present a normal morphology at 37°C but form filaments at 30°C (section 1.4.). If JS10 cells containing the gonococcal ftsX gene on a plasmid presented a normal morphology at 30°C, this would indicate that the gonococcal ftsX was capable of complementing the ftsX defect of the host strain.

Figure 20. Overexpression of the N. gonorrhoeae ftsE, ftsX and ftsEX genes in E. coli in rich (A-D) or minimal (E) culture media. (A), E. coli DH5 α +pSB190 (overexpressing N. gonorrhoeae ftsX); (B), E. coli DH5 α +pSB1910 (overexpressing N. gonorrhoeae ftsE); (C and E), E. coli DH5 α +pSB5696 (overexpressing N. gonorrhoeae ftsEX); (D), E. coli DH5 α +pAR2 (overexpressing N. gonorrhoeae ftsZ).



First, proper culture conditions in which JS10 cells formed filaments needed to be established. *E. coli* strains JS10 and χ 462 were grown in L and LB broths, harvested, fixed and observed as indicated (section 2.12.). As expected, *E. coli* χ 462 did not form filaments in either type of culture medium at either temperature (Fig. 21, A-D). *E. coli* JS10 produced a few filaments in L broth but generated more filaments in LB broth (Fig. 21, E-H). *E. coli* JS10 produced filaments at both temperatures, but there were more filaments at 30°C than at 37°C (Fig. 21, F and H). An important observation noted during this work was that the filamentous phenotype of *E. coli* JS10 was lost over time so that bacteria presented a normal, short rod-like morphology after six hours of growth. Therefore, to verify if the gonococcal *fisX* gene would be capable of complementing the *fisX* defect of *E. coli* JS10, the bacteria were to be grown at 30°C in LB broth and the morphology of the cells would be verified after two hours of growth, or one hour after induction.

The *E. coli* strains χ 462, JS10 and JS10+pSB190 were then grown in LB broth with or without induction at 30°C and 37°C as indicated in the section 2.12. χ 462 cells, serving as a control, presented a normal morphology and were likewise unaffected by the presence of IPTG in the culture medium (data not shown). JS10 cells formed filaments as previously observed, regardless of the presence of inducer (data not shown). As expected, uninduced JS10 cells containing pSB190 presented a filamentous morphology (Fig. 22A), and induced JS10 cells containing pSB190 exhibited a similar morphology (Fig. 22B). These results suggested that the induction of the expression of the gonococcal *fisX* could not complement the mutation in the *fisX* gene of *E. coli* JS10 despite the induction of the gonococcal *fisX* gene from the plasmid.

Figure 21. Morphology of *E. coli* strains χ 462 and JS10 following 2.5 hours of growth in liquid culture. (A) *E. coli* χ 462 in L broth at 37°C; (B), *E. coli* χ 462 in LB broth at 37°C; (C), *E. coli* χ 462 in L broth at 30°C; (D), *E. coli* χ 462 in LB broth at 30°C; (E), *E. coli* JS10 in L broth at 37°C; (G) *E. coli* JS10 in L broth at 30°C; (H), *E. coli* JS10 in L broth at 37°C; (G) *E. coli* JS10 in L broth at 30°C; (H), *E. coli* JS10 in L broth at 37°C; (G) *E. coli* JS10 in L broth at 30°C; (H), *E. coli* JS10 in L broth at 37°C; (G) *E. coli* JS10 in L broth at 30°C; (H), *E. coli* JS10 in L broth at 37°C; (G) *E. coli* JS10 in L broth at 30°C; (H), *E. coli* JS10 in L broth at 30°C; (H), *E. coli* JS10 in L broth at 30°C; (H), *E. coli* JS10 in L broth at 30°C; (H), *E. coli* JS10 in L broth at 30°C; (H), *E. coli* JS10 in L broth at 30°C; (H), *E. coli* JS10 in L broth at 30°C; (H), *E. coli* JS10 in L broth at 30°C; (H), *E. coli* JS10 in L broth at 30°C; (H), *E. coli* JS10 in L broth at 30°C; (H), *E. coli* JS10 in L broth at 30°C; (H), *E. coli* JS10 in L broth at 30°C; (H), *E. coli* JS10 in L broth at 30°C; (H), *E. coli* JS10 in L broth at 30°C; (H), *E. coli* JS10 in L broth at 30°C; (H), *E. coli* JS10 in L broth at 30°C; (H), *E. coli* JS10 in L broth at 30°C.

A.



в.

Ε.

G.

H.

F.

Figure 22. Complementation of *E. coli* JS10 with the *ftsX* gene of *N. gonorrhoeae* in LB medium at 30°C. The cells were observed after 2.5 hours of growth, (A), 1.5 hour following the addition of inducer and (B), without addition of inducer.



3.9. Production of a histidine-labelled FtsE protein.

There currently is no available anti-FtsE antibody. The availability of such antibodies would be useful for subcellular studies of FtsE.

3.9.1. Contruction of the plasmid pSB1931

The *ftsE* gene from *N. gonorrhoeae* lacking its initiation and termination codons was amplified by PCR and cloned in pQE30 to generate the plasmid pSB1931 as described in section 2.14.1. In pSB1931, the *ftsE* gene is under the control of a vectorborne *lac* promoter (Table 2) and was therefore inducible by IPTG. The *ftsE* gene on pSB1931 encoded a protein with predicted Mw of 26 040 Da comprising 233 aa, 214 aa from the original *N. gonorrhoeae* FtsE (positions 2-214), preceded by an amino-terminal extension of 12 aa including six consecutive histidinyl residues, and followed by a carboxy-terminal extension of 7 aa. The plasmid pSB1931 was confirmed by PCR (Fig. 23), and by its *Pst*I and *Bam*HI restriction patterns (data not shown). The primers *ftsE*HIS1 and *ftsE*HIS2 amplified a DNA fragment of the expected size from the plasmid purified from one of the bacterial clones (Fig. 23, lane 3), and this amplicon was of the same size as the fragment amplified from *N. gonorrhoeae* DNA using the same primer pair (Fig. 23, lane 4) the expression of the histidine-tagged FtsE protein (6HISFtsE) was verified through a small-scale expression procedure (section 2.14.2.). The purification strategy was based on the selective binding of proteins containing six consecutive histidinyl residues to Ni-NTA resin. Following the binding to the Ni-NTA resin, the bound proteins were eluted by washing the resin.

A protein of the expected Mw for 6HISFtsE (26 Kda) was purified through this procedure (Fig. 24). A small amount of protein purified from cells harvested one hour following induction was visible on the gel (Fig. 24, lane 4), and greater amounts of this protein were present in cells harvested two to four hours after induction (Fig. 24, lanes 5-7). Less protein was purified from cells harvested five hours following induction (Fig. 24, lane 8). No protein with a Mw of 26 KDa was purified from uninduced cells harvested after one or six hours of growth (Fig. 24, lanes 2-3), confirming that the purified protein had been produced from an induced gene. Together, these

Figure 23: Amplification of the insert of pSB1931 by PCR. Lanes 1 and 6, 100 bp Mw marker; lane 2, plasmid purified from another colony; lanes 3, pSB1931; lane 4, *N. gonorrhoeae* CH811 DNA; lane 5, negative control. The sizes of the Mw marker and of the truncated *fisE* amplicon are indicated to the left and right of the figure, respectively.





▲—661 bp

Figure 24. Purification of the histidine-labeled gonococcal FtsE (6HISFtsE) from *E. coli*. The bacterial cultures were grown and 6HISFtsE was purified by affinity binding to the Ni-NTA resin as described, and the protein fractions were examined on a 10% polyacrylamide-SDS gel colored with SYPROTM ORANGE. Lanes 1 and 9, broad range Mw marker; lane 2, uninduced cells after 1 hour of growth; lane 3, uninduced cells after 6 hours of growth; lane 4, induced cells, 1 hour after induction; lane 5, 2 hours after induction; lane 6, 3 hours after induction; lane 7, 4 hours after induction; lane 8, 5 hours after induction. The sizes of the Mw markers are indicated to the left side of the figure, and position of 6HISFtsE is indicated to the right side of the figure.

-6HISFtsE



data indicated that the synthesis of a protein of 26 KDa, the expected Mw for 6HISFtsE, could be induced from the plasmid pSB1931, and that maximal amounts of protein were synthesized two to four hours after induction. From these results, it was decided that for all subsequent manipulations, the cells would be harvested after three hours of induction.

To purify larger amounts of 6HISFtsE that will be used later to raise polyclonal anti-6HISFtsE rabbit antibodies, the purification procedure was scaled up as described in section 2.13.3. No other proteins were present with the purified 6HISFtsE protein (data not shown).

3.10. Analysis of the genes flanking ftsEX in N. gonorrhoeae CH811

3.10.1. The *tlpA* gene

The first gene identified in the region upstream of fisE lay 193 bp upstream and in the same orientation as fisE (Fig. 6A and 6B). This gene contained 483 nucleotides (positions 1665-2145, Fig. 6B) encoding a protein of 160 aa with a predicted Mw of 17.5 KDa that shared significant as sequence similarity with the thioredoxin-like protein (TlpA) of Bradyrhizobium japonicum (Loferer et al., 1993). The gene was accordingly named tlpA. This gonococcal tlpA gene homologue was preceded by a putative RBS (positions 1652-1655, Fig. 6B). Also located 89 bp upstream of the start codon of *tlpA* was a putative -10 box that could be part of the promoter of tlpA (TATTAAT, positions 1569-1574, Fig. 6B). The gene was followed by a sequence capable of forming a stem-loop structure (positions 2155-2179, Fig. 6B) containing inverted repeats of the gonococcal US (positions 2155-2164 and 2170-2179, Fig. 6B). The first US contained one mismatch from the consensus sequence: a guanosine was replaced by a thymidine (position 2161, Fig. 6B). This stem-loop could be part of the transcriptional terminator of the *llpA* gene. The presence of a putative transcriptional terminator downstream of tlpA suggested that it was transcribed separately from *ftsE*. A third, perfectly conserved, copy of the gonococcal US (positions 2270-2279, Fig. 6B) was located in the intergenic region between tlpA and ftsE. No ORF was identified in the region between *tlpA* and *ftsEX*.

The polypeptide encoded by *N. gonorrhoeae tlpA* shared 53% as sequence similarity and 31% as sequence identity with TlpA from *B. japonicum* but it was 61 as shorter than the *B. japonicum* TlpA (predicted Mw of 23.2 KDa). Other similarity analyses with *B. japonicum* TlpA, with bacterial thioredoxins and other thioredoxin-like proteins (He!X, CycY) as well as experimental evidence for the transcription of *tlpA* are presented in Appendix 3.

3.10.2. The arsC gene

arsC, the second gene located in the region upstream of ftsEX, was located 123 bp upstream and in the opposite orientation to that of tlpA (Fig. 6A and 6B). The gonococcal arsC gene contained 309 bp (positions 1539-1231, Fig. 6B) encoding a putative polypeptide of 102 aa. No consensus RBS was identified upstream of the initiation codon but a purine-rich region (positions 1547-1552, Fig. 6B) located 8-10 bp upstream of the initiation codon may contain the RBS. No sequences capable of forming the stem-loop structure of a transcriptional terminator, and no gonococcal US were identified downstream of arsC. A partial gltX gene was located 817 bp downstream and in the opposite orientation to that of arsC (section 3.10.3.). No ORF was identified in the 817 bp intergenic region between arsC and gltX. The only distinctive feature of the 817 bp spacer is the presence of a copy of the gonococcal US (positions 479-488, Fig. 6B) containing one mismatch from the consensus sequence, a substitution of a thymidine by a cytosine (position 485, Fig. 6B). These results indicated that N. gonorrhoeae arsC was not located within an ars operon, similar to what was found in H. influenzae Rd and Synechocystis PCC6083 (Fleischmann et al., 1995; Kaneko et al., 1996).

The gonococcal ArsC was closest in size and in aa sequence similarity to ArsC from *H. influenzae* (116 aa); the two polypeptides shared 66% similarity and 50% identity. The gonococcal ArsC also shared between 45% and 64% similarity and between 18% and 39% identity with other bacterial arsenate reductases (Neyt *et al.*, 1997; Bruhn *et al.*, 1996; Kaneko *et al.*, 1996; Diorio *et al.*, 1995; Fleischmann *et al.*, 1995; Ji and Silver, 1992; Rosenstein *et al.*, 1992; Chen *et al.*, 1986). Data on the sequence similarities between the gonococcal ArsC and its bacterial homologues, the expression of the *arsC* gene and the MIC of *N. gonorrhoeae* for Na(As[V]) and Na(As[III]) are presented in Appendix 4.

3.10.3. The *gltX* gene

A partial *gltX* gene was identified 817 bp and in the opposite orientation to *arsC* (Fig. 6A; positions 413-1, Fig. 6B). A consensus RBS could not be identified upstream of *gltX*. This partial ORF comprised 413 nucleotides (positions 413-1, Fig. 6B) encoding the amino-terminal 138 aa of a protein sharing significant similarity with glutamyl-_TRNA synthetase (GluRS). A brief analysis of the partial *N. gonorrhoeae* GluRS sequence and an alignment with other GluRSs is presented in Appendix 5.

3.10.4. The pgk gene

A partial homologue of pgk was located 391 bp and in the opposite orientation to ftsEX (Fig. 6A; positions 4526-4296, Fig. 6B). The 321 bp of the pgk gene encoded the carboxyterminal 76 aa of a protein that shared similarity to Pgk. Inverted copies of gonococcal US were identified downstream of the pgk gene (positions 4260-4269 and 4280-4289, Fig. 6B). The Pgk enzyme catalyzes the reversible conversion of 1,3-diphosphoglycerate to 3-phosphoglycerate with production of one molecule of ATP (Mayes, 1985). The partial sequence of the gonococcal Pgk shares high aa sequence similarity with other Pgk enzymes from all kingdoms. The analysis of the partial aa sequence of *N. gonorrhoeae* Pgk and an alignment of the partial gonococcal Pgk enzyme with other Pgk enzymes are presented in Appendix 6.

3.11. Genetic organization of the gltX-pgk region in N. gonorrhoeae strain FA1090

The determination of the complete sequence of the genome of *N. gonorrhoeae* strain FA1090 is currently in its last stages but is not yet completed (section 1.11.; Dyer *et al.*, 1996). The most recent release of the genome of *N. gonorrhoeae* strain FA1090 was investigated to verify if the genetic organization of the *gltX-arsC-tlpA-ftsE-ftsX-pgk* genes would be similar to

what had been determined in *N. gonorrhoeae* strain CH811. The gene order *gltX-arsC-tlpA-ftsEftsX-pgk* was also found in the strain FA1090 (data not shown).

When the aa sequences of the proteins encoded by these genes were compared, the FtsX proteins were found to share 96% identity and 97% similarity; the TlpA proteins shared 96% identity and 98% similarity; the ArsC proteins shared 100% identity. The partial GluRSs shared 99% identity and 100% similarity, the partial Pgks shared 98% identity and 100% similarity. The sequence of the *ftsE* gene from the strain FA1090 is not completed, but partial aa sequence comparisons indicated that the first 32 aa residues were identical between FtsE in the two strains, and that there was 98% identity and 99% similarity over the positions 81-216. The two FtsE proteins can be expected to be highly similar, as was the case for the other polypeptides identified during this work.

The presence of a gonococcal *fisY* gene in the vicinity of *fisE* and *fisX* was investigated by identifying the genes located downstream of *gltX* and upstream of *pgk*. In *N. gonorrhoeae* FA1090, a gene encoding a hypothetical protein was located downstream of *gltX* (data not shown). A homologue of the *murZ* gene was located upstream of *pgk* (data not shown). In *E. coli*, the *murZ* gene encodes UDP-N-acetylglucosamine enolpyruvyltransferase, a protein involved in murein biosynthesis (Marquardt *et al.*, 1992). The polypeptide showing the closest similarity to FtsY was PilA (data not shown), a GTP-binding protein part of a putative two component transducer system (Taha *et al.*, 1991, 1988). The similarity between FtsY and PilA was the strongest in the region of the nucleotide-binding site, and little amino acid similarity was found between the amino-terminal domains of the polypeptides (data not shown; Taha *et al.*, 1991). The presence of a gonococcal *ftsY* gene remains to be verified, as the nucleotide sequence of the genome is not completed. However, PilA has already been proposed to be the gonococcal homologue of FtsY (Fyfe and Davies, 1996).

PART 4. DISCUSSION

.

This work is among the first devoted to the identification and characterization of cell division genes in *N. gonorrhoeae*. This important cell process remains largely uncharacterized in the gonococcus as most research has focused on its pathogenicity and virulence processes. Recently, the cloning and initial characterization of the *fisZ* gene of *N. gonorrhoeae* has been reported in our laboratory along with the identification of the other genes of the *dcw* cluster (section 1.8.1.; Radia, 1997). The determination of the complete sequence of the genome of *N. gonorrhoeae* (Dyer *et al.*, 1996) has already greatly facilitated the initial identification of cell division homologues in the gonococcus (section 1.8.1.), but the regulation of the expression of these genes as well as the characterization of the biological function of the cell division proteins will still be required. Once their function in the cell division process is understood, the potential of each protein to become a potential therapeutic target will be considered. The present work reports the identification and biological characterization of two genes, *fisE* and *fisX*, that were initially believed to participate in cell division (Gill *et al.*, 1986). These genes are now proposed to encode the domains of an ABC transporter, and they are not involved in cell division.

From the analysis of the aa sequences, the gonococcal FtsE was found to contain the Walker A and B motifs and the linker peptide, three aa motifs characteristic of the ATP-binding domain of ABC transporters. Besides its sequence similarities to other known FtsE homologues and other ATP-binding domains of ABC transporters, other polypeptides have been reported to share sequence similarity with FtsE. A protein designated ORF-C containing the two conserved Walker motifs and that shared 36% identity with FtsE from *E. coli* was identified in *Buchnera aphidicola*, a prokaryotic endosymbiont of the aphid *Schizaphis graminum*. The *orfC* gene of *B. aphidicola* was not followed by a gene encoding a FtsX homologue (Kolibachuk and Baumann, 1995). ORF-C shared 59% aa sequence similarity and 35% aa sequence identity with *N*.

gonorrhoeae FtsE, and between 57-61% as sequence and between 34-37% as sequence identity with the other bacterial FtsE homologues (data not shown). The absence of a *ftsX* homologue downstream of *orf-C* argued against *orf-C* encoding a FtsE homologue, since *ftsE* and *ftsX* have been found clustered in other bacteria. A putative homologue of FtsE (designated B65F) was likewise identified in *B. subtilis* (Yoshida *et al.*, 1994), but the poor as sequence similarity shared between the ORF following that of B65F and FtsX sheds doubt on the status of B65F as a legitimate FtsE homologue (see below).

The linker peptide of the ATP-binding domains of ABC transporters has been proposed to serve as a hinge bringing the two Walker motifs together to form the ATP-binding pocket (section 1.2.2.). The aa residues preceding those of the linker domain are not conserved among the ATPbinding domains of ABC transporters (Fig. 2), and those positions are not perfectly conserved between the known FtsE sequences with the exception of a prolyl residue (Pro136 in N. gonorrhoeae FtsE; Fig. 10). Prolyl residues are often breakers of regular secondary structures (ahelices and β -sheets), and occur in turns, in non-repetitive structures and at the end of strands and helices (Richardson and Richardson, 1989). Considering these properties of proline, the conserved prolyl residue in FtsE could also contribute to the function of the linker domain. Other evidence supporting the potential importance of this prolyl residue is that its substitution by a seryl residue in E. coli FtsE rendered the bacteria Ts (Gibbs et al., 1992). FtsE was shown to be associated with the inner membrane in E. coli (Gill and Salmond, 1987), but the analyses of N. gonorrhoeae FtsE and the other known bacterial FtsE sequences suggested that they did not contain transmembrane segments. Therefore, for FtsE to be associated with the membrane as in E. coli, it necessarily required an interaction with a membrane protein. Further investigation is required to determine the nature of the association of FtsE with the inner membrane.

Other polypeptides were reported to share sequence similarity with FtsX from *E. coli*. The gene located immediately downstream of the gene encoding B65F, the putative FtsE in *B. subtilis* (see above), encoded a protein designated B65G that shared sequence similarity with FtsX (Yoshida *et al.*, 1994). However, our analyses indicated B65G is predicted to contain at least 7 predicted transmembrane helices and that it showed no significant similarity to *N. gonorrhoeae* FtsX (data not shown). The genetic organization of the genes encoding B65F and B65G was suggestive of an ABC transporter although they may not constitute FtsE and FtsX homologues, mainly because B65G did not share the predicted organization of the six known bacterial FtsX polypeptides. The NS3-2 gene of the plasmid pOAD2 of *Flavobacterium* sp. was reported to encode a polypeptide of 293 aa residues that shared 22% similarity with *E. coli* FtsX (Kato *et al.*, 1995). Further investigation would be required to confirm that the NS3-2 protein is a genuine FtsX homologue, as it is less similar to *E. coli* FtsX than other bacterial FtsX homologues, and also because the NS3-2 gene is not flanked by a gene encoding a FtsE homologue.

The results from this work suggest that FtsX protein is an obvious candidate to anchor FtsE to the cytoplasmic membrane. FtsE from *N. gonorrhoeae* and other bacteria shared aa sequence similarity with the ATP-binding domain of ABC transporters (section 3.3.1.), and FtsX from *N. gonorrhoeae* and other bacteria were to be predicted to be integral membrane proteins (section 3.3.2.; Tyagi *et al.*, 1996). The involvement of the FtsE and FtsX polypeptides in the same cellular process was also suggested by the co-transcription of their genes in *N. gonorrhoeae* (section 3.6.). Our model in which FtsE and FtsX are the domains of a putative ABC transporter correlated well with the experimental results of Gill and Salmond (1987) showing that FtsE and FtsX were associated with the inner membrane in *E. coli*.

The binding site for FtsE on the FtsX polypeptide remains to be identified. The linker domain between the first two transmembrane segments of FtsX could have been a good candidate to be the FtsE binding site because of its larger size compared to the other linkers. However, the topological predictions of FtsX done using the TopPredII program predicted that the amino- and carboxy-terminal ends of the FtsX polypeptide were cytoplasmic. Consequently, the linker domain between the first two transmembrane segments of FtsX is periplasmically located and cannot be involved in binding FtsE. Since the correct membrane topology of 23 out of 24 (96%) prokaryotic membrane proteins were correctly predicted using TopPredII (von Heijne, 1992), the predicted topology of FtsX could well be what occurs *in vivo*. If this prediction is true, FtsE could not bind FtsX through interactions with this linker, as FtsE is cytoplasmically located.

A possibly important site for FtsE-FtsX interactions is the LLGA sequence identified in this work. This sequence was found extremely conserved among the six FtsX protein sequences examined (section 3.3.2.). According to the topological model for FtsX predicted by the TopPredII algorithm, this conserved sequence would be cytoplasmically located, inside the linker between the second and third transmembrane domains, at an average 87 positions from the carboxy-terminal end of the polypeptide. Thus, like the EAA loop, the LLGA sequence is cytoplasmically located and lies approximately 100 positions from the carboxy-terminal end of the polypeptide. The LLGA motif could fill a function analogous to that of the EAA loop in the FtsX protein, and could be important for FtsE-FtsX interactions.

The *ftsX* gene was found non-essential in *N. gonorrhoeae*, as gonococci with a disrupted *ftsX* gene were viable (section 3.4.1). Preliminary observations of *N. gonorrhoeae* CH811, CH811Str^R and CS19 by electronic microscopy showed that CS19 did not exhibit a different morphology from that of its parental strain. The dimensions of the individual gonococci from

each strain indicated that there were no differences between the strains (Table 4). The bacteria from the strains CH811 and CH811Str^R appear symmetrical (Fig. 14 (A) and (B)), which is not the case with *N. gonorrhoeae* CS19 (Fig. 14 (C) and (D)). The possible significance of this difference cannot be assessed with certainty with the available data because of the small number of bacteria observed for the strain CS19. More cells from each strain will need to be observed and their dimensions measured to verify the observations reported here, i.e., the similar sizes of gonococci from the strains CS19 and CH811, and also to verify if the asymmetry of the diplococci of the strain CS19 is a characteristic of this strain.

The filamentous phenotype of some E. coli ftsE and ftsA Ts mutants was found reversible by altering the concentration of sodium chloride in the culture medium (Ricard and Hirota, 1973a, 1973b, 1969). The variation in the concentration of sodium chloride was proposed to help the mutated protein to maintain its three-dimensional structure (Ricard and Hirota, 1973b). This indicated that the mutation in ftsE or ftsA in these strains (MFT99 and MFT123 for ftsE; MFT1, MFT96, MFT1182, PAT84 for *ftsA*; Ricard and Hirota, 1973a, 1973b) in such strains was likely a point mutation. The mutation in ftsX in E. coli JS10 is likely a point mutation as well, as the bacteria were initially irradiated with ultraviolet light before the isolation of long cells (section 1.4.; Sturgeon and Ingram, 1978). The finding from the present work that the concentration of sodium chloride affected the filamentous phenotype of E. coli JS10 as it formed more filaments in LB medium (0.5% NaCl) than in L medium (0.05% NaCl) also suggested that the mutation affecting ftsX in E. coli was a point mutation (section 3.8.). It would be interesting to identify the mutation in ftsX of E. coli JS10 to see if its location and nature could be correlated with the analyses and speculations on the structure of the FtsX protein developed in this discussion. For instance, if the mutation caused a change in one of the six conserved positions, or more

specifically in the LLGA motif, this would indicate that it was indeed important for the proper structure-function of FtsX. Compared to the culture conditions of *E. coli* JS10, *N. gonorrhoeae* CS19 was grown on half strength GC medium base (section 2.1.) which contained 0.25% NaCl (Difco Manual, 1990). To verify the effect of the salt concentration on the bacterial morphology of the *ftsX* insertional mutant of *N. gonorrhoeae*, the strain CS19 could be verified in cells grown with various concentrations of sodium chloride in the culture medium, starting at 0.5% NaCl, the concentration at which more filaments were observed in *E. coli* JS10. However, it can be predicted that the salt concentration should not affect the morphology of *N. gonorrhoeae* CS19 cells as the *ftsX* was inactivated by an insertion, effectively disrupting the reading frame of *ftsX*.

The MICs of *N. gonorrhoeae* CS19 were identical to those of *N. gonorrhoeae* CH811 for six antibiotics tested (Table 5). This indicated that FtsX, and by extension the ABC transporter formed by FtsE and FtsX, was not involved in a transport process of antibiotics from the cytosol, contrary to the case with the Mdr or P-glycoproteins. Sturgeon and Ingram (1978) found that *E. coli* JS10 displayed increased sensitivities to antibiotics interfering with synthesis of the cell wall (bacitracin, penicillin), protein synthesis (kanamycin, neomycin) or with DNA gyrase (nalidixic acid). The antibiotics tested in this study had similar modes of action to those used by Sturgeon and Ingram (1978): penicillin and ceftriaxome both interfere with cell wall biosynthesis; tetracycline, spectinomycin and azithromycin interfere with protein synthesis, and ciprofloxacine inhibits subunit A of DNA gyrase.

The non-requiring auxotype of strain CS19 indicated that FtsX was not essential for the synthesis of precursors during gonococcal growth. When the viable counts of the strain CS19 were compared to those of strain CH811 in various environmental conditions, no significant differences were observed when the strains were grown on GCMB with various concentrations of

NaCl, at alkaline pH (8.0 and 10.0), or on GCMB under anaerobiosis (Table 6). However, the 10fold difference observed on GCMB with 400 mM sucrose and the 6.5-fold difference on GCMB

The growth of *N. gonorrhoeae* under various environmental conditions has not been much investigated. Other investigators have reported that high osmolarity (300 mM NaCl (1.75%), 300 mM KCl, or 600 mM sucrose), iron depletion, 400 mM urea, increased temperature from 37°C to 41°C, and pH 6.0 reduced the growth of *N. gonorrhoeae* MS11 and derivatives by approximately 90% while anaerobic growth or temperatures between 30°C and 37°C reduced growth by 50% (Larribe *et al.*, 1997). In this work, it was found that acidic pH (pH 6.0), 150 mM KCl, 1.5% NaCl and 500 mM sucrose inhibited growth of both strains (data not shown). In addition, growth trials indicated that 350 mM urea reduced growth significantly. The results presented in this work are different from the findings reported by Larribe *et al.* (1997). *N. gonorrhoeae* strains might possess varying degrees of tolerance to any of these substances, which could explain the discrepancies noted here.

with 100 mM KCl indicated that the strain CS19 was affected under these conditions (Table 6).

The differences in the viable counts between the two strains on GCMB containing KCl and sucrose suggest that FtsX, and by extension the FtsEX transporter might be involved in processes related to osmotic equilibrium. The putative transporter could be involved in the transport of a solute to the outside of the cell.

The effect of prevailing environmental conditions on the expression level of *fisEX* could be examined, which may help to understand the biological function of FtsE and FtsX. For example, the level of transcription of *fisEX* could be measured in *N. gonorrhoeae* grown on 100 mM KCl or 400 mM sucrose, the conditions found to affect the viable counts the most. If FtsX (and by extension the FtsEX transporter) is required for growth in these conditions, it is possible that the level of transcription of *ftsEX* will be higher. Primer extension analyses done using RNA purified from anaerobically grown *N. gonorrhoeae* CH811 indicated that *ftsEX* were expressed under anaerobiosis (Francis, 1998), but possible differences in expression levels were not investigated.

The genomes of other Neisseria species were investigated for the presence of the ftsE and ftsX genes (section 3.5.). Hybridizations done on the whole genome of Neisseria species suggested that ftsE and ftsX genes were present in all the species tested (section 3.5.1.). There were variations as to the sizes of the restriction fragments that hybridized each probe (section 3.5.1.). When fisE and fisX were investigated by PCR, the six fisE amplicons obtained were of the same size, while there was more variation in ftsX amplicon size (section 3.5.2.). The ftsX amplicon obtained from five Neisseria species were larger than that obtained from N. gonorrhoeae (section 3.5.2.). However, only the *ftsX* amplicons that were of the same size as the N. gonorrhoeae ftsX amplicon hybridized the ftsX probe (section 3.5.2.), suggesting that the larger amplicons were not *ftsX* amplicons. The determination of the nucleotide sequence of these larger amplicons would confirm whether or not they were partial *ftsX* homologues. Other primer pairs could also be used to verify if amplicons would be generated in all these species, and also if those amplicons would also have various sizes as was observed in the present work. In this study, the species in which the *ftsE* and *ftsX* probes hybridized restriction fragments of similar sizes in the hybridization with chromosomal DNA were the same as those in which the fisE and fisXamplicons were of the same size as that from N. gonorrhoeae.

No conclusions can be drawn regarding the genetic organization of ftsE and ftsX based on these data, but since ftsE and ftsX are overlapping in *N. gonorrhoeae*, they can reasonably be expected to be overlapping in other *Neisseria* as well. The ftsE and ftsX probes hybridized restriction fragments at higher stringency (60°C) in *N. meningitidis*, *N. lactamica* and *N. cinerea*, and the amplicons produced for each gene in these three species were the same size as those from *N. gonorrhoeae*. The result was not surprising in the case of *N. meningitidis*, since *N. meningitidis* and *N. gonorrhoeae* are closely related as shown by the very high (over 98%) similarity between their housekeeping genes (Zhou and Spratt, 1992). The results obtained in these studies suggest that *N. lactamica* and *N. cinerea* are also more closely related to *N. gonorrhoeae*.

The fisE and fisX genes were shown to be co-transcribed in N. gonorrhoeae, as both gene products were synthesized when a promoter (the lac promoter or the native ftsEX promoter) was provided upstream of *ftsE* (section 3.6.). FtsX was synthesized only if a promoter was provided upstream of ftsX, indicating that ftsX did not possess its own promoter (section 3.6.). The cotranscription of *ftsEX* has also been demonstrated by RT-PCR (Francis, 1998). The cotranscription of ftsX with ftsE in N. gonorrhoeae implied that ftsX did not have its own promoter. This differed from the observations in *M. tuberculosis*, in which a weak promoter for fisX was identified (Tyagi et al., 1996). The TATAAT sequence identified as a possible promoter for ftsEX in N. gonorrhoeae (section 3.3.1.) was recently shown to be part of the first (P_E1) of two promoters for ftsEX (Francis, 1998). The second promoter (P_F2) for ftsEX appeared weaker than $P_{\rm F}$ and was located inside the *tlpA* gene. The current hypothesis to explain the difference in promoter strength is that the sequences of the -10 box of P_E2 was more divergent from the consensus promoter sequences than that of $P_{\rm F1}$ (Francis, 1998). In addition, a putative -35 box was identified in P_E1 while none could be identified for P_E2 (Francis, 1998). The mechanisms that regulate the expression of *fisEX* from P_E1 and P_E2 are currently under investigation (Francis, 1998).
The overexpression in rich or minimal medium of *N. gonorrhoeae ftsX, ftsE* or *ftsEX* in *E. coli* did not cause cell filamentation (section 3.7.). In comparison, overexpression of *N. gonorrhoeae ftsZ* caused cell filamentation in similar conditions (this work; Radia, 1997; Radia *et al.*, unpublished data). Although overproduction of FtsE and/or FtsX was not confirmed by examining the protein profiles of cell lysates on polyacrylamide gels, the *in vitro* transcription/translation data indicated that the proteins were synthesized from pSB190 and pSB5696 (Fig. 19). In addition, the vector pBluescript KS+ has a high copy number, implying that there is a much higher number of copies of *ftsE, ftsX* or *ftsEX* from *N. gonorrhoeae* in the cells, compared to the chromosomal copy of the host cell.

The absence of filamentation following overexpression of the gonococcal *ftsE* and *ftsX* in *E. coli* does not exclude them as cell division genes. When overexpressed in *E. coli*, cell division genes may have different effects on the cellular morphology. Overexpression of *E. coli ftsQ* or *ftsL* had no effect in rich medium and caused filamentation in minimal medium (Dai *et al.*, 1996, 1993; Guzman *et al.*, 1992; Carson *et al.*, 1991; Storts *et al.*, 1989). Overexpression of *ftsZ* from *E. coli* and other species in rich medium caused filamentation (sections 1.6.2.; Quardokus *et al.*, 1996; Margolin and Long, 1994; Margolin *et al.*, 1991; Ward and Lutkenhaus, 1985) and overexpression of *E. coli ftsN* caused short filamentation and cell lysis (Dai *et al.*, 1993). Filamentation can be induced by blocking the expression of genes such as *ffh* (encoding Ffh; Appendix 1) or *ffs* (encoding 4.5S RNA; Appendix 1) in *E. coli* (Phillips and Silhavy, 1992; Ribes *et al.*, 1990). Expression of a negative-dominant mutant of *kpsT*, which encodes the ATP-binding domain of the ABC exporter for capsular polysaccharide in *E. coli* K1 also caused cell filamentation (Bliss *et al.*, 1996). Neither *ffh*, *ffs* or *kpsT* are cell division genes, but interestingly enough, each gene encodes a protein involved in a transport process.

E. coli JS10 produced more filamentous cells in LB than in L medium (LB contains 0.5% NaCl while L medium contains 0.05% NaCl; Sambrook *et al.*, 1989; Miller, 1972). This observation has not been previously documented, as the cells were only grown in L medium in the previous study on this mutant strain (Sturgeon and Ingram, 1978). In addition, the phenotype of JS10 was not observed beyond two hours of growth in L broth. The disappearance of the filamentous phenotype of *E. coli* JS10 over time also constitutes a novel observation.

The ftsX gene from N. gonorrhoeae could not complement the unknown ftsX defect in E. coli JS10 (section 3.8.). The failure of the complementation could not be attributed to the absence of expression of the gonococcal *ftsX* gene under the experimental conditions since the gonococcal ftsX was expressed from the plasmid pSB190 as shown by in vitro transcription/translation (section 3.6.), but the production of the gonococcal FtsX could have been verified in cell extracts fractionated on polyacrylamide gels. Interestingly, attempts to complement E. coli JS10 with ftsX from M. tuberculosis have likewise been unsuccessful (Tyagi et al., 1996). So far, E. coli JS10 has only been successfully complemented with the wild-type E. coli ftsX (Gill et al., 1986). Together, these data suggested that FtsX possessed species-specific characteristics; this was hypothesized as a possible explanation for the failed complementation of E. coli JS10 with ftsX gene from *M. tuberculosis* (Tyagi et al., 1996). The comparison of the aa sequences of the six known FtsX polypeptides has shown considerable size variation between the FtsX homologues, and the analyses done in this thesis suggest that this size variability was attributable to the size of the amino-terminal region of the protein. The M. tuberculosis FtsX comprises 268 aa residues (Tyagi et al., 1996) compared to 352 in E. coli (Gill et al., 1986) and 305 in N. gonorrhoeae (section 3.3.2.). Based on the analyses presented in the section 3.3.2., the size of the aminoterminal domain of M. tuberculosis FtsX is 17 aa, compared to 74 in E. coli, and 28 in N.

gonorrhoeae. It can be speculated that the size of this region varies between homologues to serve a species-specific function. The importance of the amino-terminal region of FtsX could be verified by constructing a series of deletions in the 5'-region of the *E. coli ftsX* gene and to use these deletions to attempt relieving the filamentous phenotype of *E. coli* JS10 at its restrictive temperature. The carboxy-terminal region of FtsX also appears important for proper function of FtsX, as *E. coli* FtsX truncated by its 38 carboxy-terminal aa residues (starting at Ile315 of *E. coli* FtsX; Fig. 11), effectively removing 9 aa residues from the linker between the third and fourth predicted transmembrane segments, the fourth transmembrane segment and the carboxy-terminal domain, was incapable of complementing the defect in *E. coli* JS10 (Gill *et al.*, 1986).

The purified 6HISFtsE protein will be used to generate anti-6HIFtsE polyclonal antibodies. These antibodies will then be used for subcellular localization studies of FtsE in *N. gonorrhoeae* by immunoelectron microscopy as has been done for FtsZ in *E. coli* (Bi and Lutkenhaus, 1991b). These antibodies could also be used to confirm any interaction between FtsE and FtsX: in a wild-type *N. gonorrhoeae* strain, FtsE is predicted to be located to the inner side of the cytoplasmic membrane by binding FtsX; therefore anti-6HISFtsE polyclonal antibodies would also be located to the inner side of the cytoplasmic membrane. If the same experiment was done using *N. gonorrhoeae* CS19, in which *ftsX* has been disrupted, the hypothesized consequence would be that FtsE could not be located close to the membrane and the polyclonal antibodies would be located in the cytopol. If FtsE was found to be localized to the inner membrane despite the absence of FtsX, this would be indicative of the existence of at least another possible membrane anchor for FtsE.

The absence of ftsY immediately upstream of ftsE and ftsX was unexpected (sections 3.2. and 3.11.). At the time the genetic organization of ftsE and ftsX was being determined in N. gonorrhoeae, these genes had only been identified and characterized in *E. coli* and *H. influenzae* and *ftsY, ftsE* and *ftsX* were clustered in both bacteria (section 1.4.; Fleischmann *et al.*, 1995; Gill *et al.*, 1986). *N. gonorrhoeae* became the first bacterium in which *ftsY, ftsE* and *ftsX* were found not to be clustered (Bernatchez *et al.*, 1996). The genetic organization of *ftsEX* in *N. gonorrhoeae*, combined with the information available on the genetic organization of *ftsY, ftsE* and *ftsY, ftsE* and *ftsX* from *M. tuberculosis* (Devlin *et al.*, 1997), *M. leprae* (Parkhill *et al.*, 1997a, 1997b), *H. pylori* (Tomb *et al.*, 1997), *M. pneumoniae* (Himmelreich *et al.*, 1996), *H. influenzae* (Fleischmann *et al.*, 1995), *M. genitalium* (Fraser *et al.*, 1995), and *E. coli* (Gill *et al.*, 1986) has now indicated that the genetic organization of these genes varies between bacterial species (this work; section 1.4.).

The presence of *ftsY* and the absence of *ftsE* and *ftsX* in *M. genitalium* and *M. pneumoniae* (Himmelreich *et al.*, 1996; Fraser *et al.*, 1995) suggested that *ftsY* was essential in bacteria while *ftsE* and *ftsX* were not. This hypothesis was supported by the observation that *ftsY* was found essential in *E. coli*, while *ftsE* or *ftsX* mutants of *E. coli* were viable (Luirink *et al.*, 1994; Gibbs *et al.*, 1992; Gill and Salmond, 1990; Sturgeon and Ingram, 1978).

The *pilA* gene has been proposed to be the gonococcal homologue of ftsY (Fyfe and Davies, 1996). This hypothesis was based on significant amino acid sequence similarity between PilA and FtsY in their carboxy-terminal sections and on the fact that both *pilA* and *ftsY* are essential genes (Fyfe and Davies, 1996; Taha *et al.*, 1991, 1988). The similarity between PilA and FtsY started at position 121 in the PilA aa sequence; its amino-terminal domain (positions 1-120) contains 32% of charged aa residues (including 21% of acidic aa residues, data not shown), which was less than the ratio of charged aa residues observed in the amino-terminal domains of *E. coli* FtsY (section 1.5.3.). PilA was shown to hydrolyze GTP (Arvidson and So, 1995a), as does FtsY

(section 1.5.3.). The amino-terminal domain of PilA was predicted to contain an α -helix-turn- α helix motif characteristic of a DNA-binding site (Taha et al., 1988). PilA was shown to bind DNA containing the promoter region of the *pilE* gene and to be involved in the regulation of the pilE gene in N. gonorrhoeae (Arvidson and So, 1995b; Taha et al., 1995). Although FtsY was shown to be involved in protein transport in E. coli (section 1.5.3.), the available experimental evidence for PilA argued against its involvement in protein transport in N. gonorrhoeae: while FtsY of E. coli was shown to interact with 4.5S RNA (section 1.5.3.), no interaction between PilA and the gonococcal homologue of the 4.5S RNA could be detected (Taha et al., 1992). PilA has been proposed to be a pleiotropic regulator involved in the modulation of growth rate in response to various environmental stimuli (Larribe et al., 1997; Taha et al., 1992). More investigation on the biological function of PilA is required to resolve the controversy concerning its role. In this work, the similarity searches in the N. gonorrhoeae FA1090 genome database using FtsY from E. coli only detected PilA sequences (section 3.11.). From these analyses, it appeared that no fisYgene was present in the genome of N. gonorrhoeae. The question concerning the presence of a gonococcal homologue of the ftsY gene in the chromosome of N. gonorrhoeae will be resolved on further investigation of the entire sequence of the genome and of PilA function.

The effect of inactivating ftsE in N. gonorrhoeae remains to be assessed. Point mutations in ftsE that rendered E. coli Ts have been characterized (section 1.2.2.; Gibbs et al., 1992). It would be interesting to selectively inactivate ftsE without affecting ftsX expression, and also to inactivate ftsEX to verify the effect of disabling the putative transporter formed by FtsE and FtsX on the viability and morphology of N. gonorrhoeae. Since ftsX is not an essential gene (section 3.4.), it can be supposed that ftsE is not essential, and that the putative FtsEX transporter itself may not essential. The MIC profile of the ftsE mutant should also be determined for comparison to that of *N. gonorrhoeae* CS19. The MIC for ampicillin of both mutant strains when they contain a plasmid containing a *bla* gene (encoding β -lactamase) should be verified. These results would then be compared with the observations of Luirink *et al.* (1994) who found that β -lactamase translocation was not affected in an *E. coli ftsE* Ts mutant, suggesting that FtsE was not involved in the translocation process. This observation on the non-involvement of FtsE in β -lactamase translocation can be predicted to be also valid for FtsX and for the putative FtsEX transporter.

The classification of ftsE as a cell division gene has been previously questioned since filamentation of a ftsE mutant of *E. coli* was medium-dependent (section 1.5.1.; Taschner *et al.*, 1988). However, two mutants of *E. coli* blocked at the earliest stage of cell division were found to be mutated in ftsE (section 1.5.1.; Begg and Donachie, 1995). This suggested that FtsE, and by inference the ABC transporter formed by FtsE and FtsX, could be involved in early stages of cell division, perhaps in the translocation of cell division proteins. Further characterization of the function of FtsE will be required to determine its role. FtsX was believed to be involved in cell division in *M. tuberculosis* based on the observation that ftsX expression was correlated with the division status in this bacterium (section 1.5.2.; Tyagi *et al.*, 1996). As with FtsE, further characterization of FtsX is needed to determine its biological function.

The only ABC transporters identified so far in the *Neisseriaceae* have been a transporter involved in iron uptake in *N. gonorrhoeae* and a transporter involved in export of the capsule polysaccharide in *N. meningitidis* (section 1.2.4.). The membrane proteins of each of these ABC transporters were also predicted to differ from the standard structure: FbpB from the gonococcal iron importer was predicted to have 11 transmembrane segments (Adhikari *et al.*, 1996), while CtrB and CtrC from the meningococcal liposaccharide exporter were predicted to be hydrophobic proteins (Frosch *et al.*, 1991) containing 2 and 5 transmembrane segments, respectively (data not

shown). As was determined in this work for fisEX, the fbpABC and the *ctrABCD* genes encoding the domains of these two other transporters are organized in operons (Adhikari *et al.*, 1996; Frosch *et al.*, 1991). No additional protein is expected to be part of the putative ABC transporter identified in the present work as only *ftsE* and *ftsX* were found to be part of the same transcriptional unit.

ABC transporters are involved in import or export processes (section 1.2.). Based on the data gathered from this work, the putative ABC transporter formed by FtsE and FtsX is predicted to participate in an export process. This prediction is based on two observations. First, ABC importers always comprise a third protein (the periplasmic substrate-binding protein; section 1.2.1.), encoded by a gene clustered with the genes encoding the domains of the ABC transporter (Fath and Kolter, 1993). By contrast, some ABC exporters require an AF, but the gene encoding that third protein may be linked or not linked with those encoding the domains of the ABC transporter (section 1.2.1.). No other gene appears to be transcribed with *ftsEX*, but the putative FtsEX transporter may require a third protein encoded by an unlinked gene. Second, the EAA loop is absent from the aa sequence of the FtsX protein. This sequence is present in a cytoplasmic loop of the membrane domain of ABC importers (section 1.2.3.). In addition, earlier sequence comparisons showed that FtsE belonged to a group comprising ABC exporters and importers in which the ATP-binding and membrane domains were found on separate polypeptides (Fath and Kolter, 1993; Fath *et al.*, 1992).

A plethora of questions need to be answered to confirm the existence of the ABC transporter formed by FtsE and FtsX. Experimental evidence will be required to show that FtsE binds ATP. This constitutes a vital question, as binding and hydrolysis of ATP by the ATP-binding domain is intimately linked to the mechanism of substrate transport by the transporter.

FtsE and FtsX will need to be shown to interact. This interaction could be verified by using polyclonal anti-FtsE antibodies as described once they are available (see above), or by using the yeast two-hybrid system which has already been used to show interactions between FtsA and FtsZ (Wang *et al.*, 1997) and also between MinC and MinD (Huang *et al.*, 1996). An experimental approach similar to that followed by Hale and de Boer (1997) to identify ZipA, the membrane receptor for FtsZ (section 1.7.1.) could also be used to identify FtsX. In this experiment, FtsE (or 6HISFtsE) would be labeled with a radioactive isotope and used to probe the proteins of a membrane fraction of *N. gonorrhoeae*.

The topological predictions of *N. gonorrhoeae* FtsX need to be experimentally verified. There are several systems to determine the membrane topology of a membrane protein by means of fusions with alkaline phosphatase (AP), β -galactosidase or β -lactamase (Froshauer *et al.*, 1988; Broome-Smith and Spratt, 1986; Manoil and Beckwith, 1985). Fusions between FtsX and AP would be preferred in the present case as there is a system allowing the determination of the AP activity of the fusion in *N. gonorrhoeae* (Boyle-Vavra and Seifert, 1995). The importance of the LLGA motif for FtsX-FtsE interactions could be assessed by mutating the aa residues and verifying if FtsE and FtsX are still able to form a complex using a yeast two-hybrid system. In addition, an extensive search of the aa sequence of the membrane domains of other ABC exporters will be required to verify if the LLGA motif is present and conserved.

One of the main unanswered questions is the nature of the ion or molecule transported by FtsE/FtsX. An interesting possibility would be that one of the murein biosynthesis proteins that need to be periplasmically located as a substrate for FtsE and FtsX. This possibility is especially interesting considering the absence of *ftsE* and *ftsX* in *M. pneumoniae* and *M. genitalium*, two bacteria that do not have cell walls, and that are consequently devoid of the *mur* genes

(Himmelreich *et al.*, 1996; Fraser *et al.*, 1995). However, the *mur* genes are present in *Synechocystis* PCC6803 notwithstanding the absence of *ftsE* and *ftsX* in this cyanobacterium (Kaneko *et al.*, 1996). Gill *et al.* (1986) suggested Ca²⁺ or Mg²⁺ cations as potential candidates for the FtsEX transporter. The results of the viable counts under various environmental conditions (section 3.4.3.) suggest that the FtsEX transporter could be involved in osmotic equilibrium so that more investigation in that direction could be worthwhile. The participation of a possible third protein (like TolC for colicinV or α -hemolysin export; section 1.2.1.) in the process in which the FtsE/FtsX transporter is involved will also need to be verified.

FtsY has been shown to be involved in protein transport in *E. coli* (section 1.5.3.). Based on the clustering of their genes with *ftsY*, FtsE and FtsX were proposed to be part of the same cellular process with FtsY; however, in contrast to what had been observed following FtsY depletion in *E. coli*, there was no accumulation of β -lactamase in an *E. coli ftsE* (Ts) strain (Luirink *et al.*, 1994; section 1.5.3.). Results from the present work argue against a role for FtsE and FtsX in the SRP pathway: other known components of the SRP pathway (FtsY, Ffh, 4.5S RNA; Appendix 1) have been shown to be essential for cell viability (Luirink *et al.*, 1994; Phillips and Silhavy, 1992; Brown and Fournier, 1984); in contrast the viability of the *ftsX* mutant *N. gonorrhoeae* CS19 indicated that *ftsX* was not an essential gene. Morphological aberrations were caused by overexpression of *ftsY* in *E. coli* (Luirink *et al.*, 1994; while the overexpression of the gonococcal *ftsE*, *ftsX* or *ftsEX* in *E. coli* had no observable effect (section 3.7.).

The genetic organization of the other gene homologues identified in this study varied between bacterial species. In *E. coli*, *arsC* was located at 78.6 minutes (Berlyn *et al.*, 1995) and is the closest to *ftsYEX* among the other gene homologues identified in this work; *pgk* and *gltX* are located elsewhere on the chromosome while no *tlpA* gene has been identified (Berlyn *et al.*,

1995). In *H. influenzae, arsC, gltX* and *pgk* were not linked between themselves or with *ftsYEX* (Fleischmann *et al.*, 1995). It is however noteworthy that *arsC* is alone on the chromosome of *H. influenzae*, as is the case in *N. gonorrhoeae*. The *arsC* gene is part of the *ars* operon that comprises genes involved in arsenic resistance in *E. coli*, and plasmids of diverse bacteria such as *E. coli*, *Yersinia*, and *Staphylococci* species (Berlyn *et al.*, 1995; Fleischmann *et al.*, 1995). In *H. pylori*, there was no *arsC* gene, and *gltX* and *pgk* were unlinked between themselves and were not linked with *ftsE* and *ftsX* (Tomb *et al.*, 1997). In *M. genitalium*, *pgk* and *ftsY* were separated by 4.1 Kb (Fraser *et al.*, 1995); *gltX* was located elsewhere on the chromosome while *arsC* and *tlpA* were not present (Fraser *et al.*, 1995). In *M. jannaschii*, only *gltX* and *pgk* were present and they were not linked (Bult *et al.*, 1996).

PART 5. CONCLUSIONS

The *ftsE* and *ftsX* genes of *N. gonorrhoeae* and their flanking genes have been cloned and characterized. The gonococcal FtsE contained the Walker A and B domains characteristic of the ATP-binding protein domains of ABC transporters. The gonococcal FtsX only shared significant as sequence similarity with its known bacterial homologues. Analyses of the as sequence of the six known bacterial FtsX showed that the size of the amino-terminal region varied between FtsX homologues and that it contained four putative transmembrane helices. These results suggested that FtsE and FtsX were the ATP-binding and transmembrane domains of an uncharacterized ABC transporter. The putative FtsEX transporter was predicted to be involved in an export process; first because no other gene was part of the *ftsEX* transcription unit, and also because the EAA loop was not present in FtsX.

The *ftsX* gene was shown to be non-essential for bacterial viability since *N. gonorrhoeae* was viable following the disruption of the *ftsX* reading frame. The size of gonococci from the mutant strain did not differ from that of the wild-type parental strain, and no morphological aberrations were observed. Since the absence of other known cell division genes in *E. coli* has been shown to be lethal, this suggested that *ftsX*, and by inference the FtsEX transporter, was not involved in cell division.

The *ftsE* and *ftsX* genes were identified in ten other *Neisseria* species by Southern blotting and PCR, suggesting that they were ubiquitous in the Neisseriaceae. The *ftsE* and *ftsX* genes overlapped by 4 bp suggesting co-transcription. *ftsE* and *ftsX* were shown to be co-transcribed, as synthesis of the FtsE and FtsX proteins occurred when a promoter was present upstream of *ftsEX*, but FtsX was not synthesized from *ftsX* alone if no promoter was provided. A putative -10 sequence identified upstream of *ftsE* could be part of the *ftsEX* promoter.

While overexpression of some cell division genes caused morphological aberrations in E. coli, overexpression of ftsE, ftsX or ftsEX had no observable effect. Complementation attempts of the E. coli JS10 ftsX Ts mutant were not successful. This may be due to species-specific features of the FtsX protein, particularly in its amino-terminal region. However, the absence of morphological aberrations upon overexpression of ftsEX does not constitute sufficient experimental evidence to dismiss *ftsEX* as cell division genes, as other genes caused morphological aberrations if their regular pattern of expression was altered.

Contrary to the case in *E. coli* and *H. influenzae*, a homologue of the *ftsY* was not present immediately upstream of *ftsEX*. Gonococcal genes encoding a putative thioredoxin-like protein, arsenate reductase and glutamyl-TRNA synthetase were identified upstream of *ftsEX*, and a gene encoding 3-phosphoglycerate kinase was identified downstream of *ftsEX*. Similarity searches in the genome database of *N gonorrhoeae* FA1090 using FtsY from *E. coli* failed to identify a gonococcal FtsY homologue.

The putative FtsEX transporter, or any ABC transporters, are not included in the current model of bacterial cell division. The viability of the *ftsX* mutant of *N. gonorrhoeae* suggested that *ftsX*, and by extension *ftsE*, were not cell division genes. A role for the FtsEX transporter in the SRP pathway is also unlikely, again based on the viability of the *ftsX* insertion mutant while the depletion of other known components of the SRP pathway (Ffh, 4.5S RNA, FtsY) in *E. coli* were ultimately lethal. The biological function of the FtsEX transporter remains to be determined, but may be linked to osmotic equilibrium since the *ftsX* mutant had colony counts 6.5 and i0 times lower than those of the wild-type parental strain on media containing 100 mM KCl or 400 mM sucrose.

Additional investigation of FtsE and FtsX will necessitate the characterization of the FtsEX transporter, starting with the identification of the substrate of the transporter. The identification of the substrate would confirm the role of FtsE and FtsX in transport and would also allow to understand the biological function of the FtsEX transporter. However, since the inactivation of *ftsX* did not affect cell viability, suggesting *ftsX* and the FtsEX transporter were not essential, the identification of the substrate could be difficult. Based on the results from the viable counts, the first series of possible substrates to investigate would be molecules involved in the maintenance of osmotic equilibrium. The nature of the substrate may also help to determine if there is an additional component to the transporter, such as an OMP.

PART 6. REFERENCES

- Addinall, S.G., C. Cao, and J. Lutkenhaus. 1997. FtsN, a late recruit to the septum in *Escherichia coli*. Mol. Microbiol. 25: 303-309.
- Addinall, S.G., and J. Lutkenhaus. 1996a. FtsZ ring formation in *ftsZ* mutants. J. Bacteriol. 178: 3877-3884.
- Addinall, S.G., and J. Lutkenhaus. 1996b. FtsA is localized to the septum in an FtsZ-dependent manner. J. Bacteriol. 178: 7167-7172.
- Adhikari, P., S.A. Berish, A.J. Nowalk, K.L. Veraldi, S.A. Morse, and T.A. Mietzner. 1996. The *fbpABC* locus of *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* functions in the periplasm-to-cytosol transport of iron. J. Bacteriol. **178**: 2145-2149.
- Adimora, A.A., P.F. Sparling, and M.S. Cohen. 1994. Vaccines for classic sexually transmitted diseases. Inf. Dis. Clin. North Am. 8: 859-876.
- Aguilar-Bryan, L., C.G. Nicols, S.W. Wechsler, J.P. Clement IV, A.E. Boyd III, G. González, H. Herrera-Sosa, K. Nguy, J. Bryan, and D.A. Nelson. 1995. Cloning of the β cell high affinity sulfonylurea receptor: a regulator of insulin secretion. Science 268: 423-426.
- Altschul, S.F., W. Gish, W. Miller, E.W. Myers, and D.J. Lipman. 1990. Basic local alignment search tool. J. Mol. Biol. 215: 403-410.
- Aman, A.T. 1994. Structural studies of the β-lactamase producing plasmids of Neisseria gonorrhoeae. M.Sc. thesis, University of Ottawa.
- Ames, G.F.-L., C.S. Mimura, S.R. Holbrook, and V. Shyamala. 1992. Traffic ATPases: a superfamily of transport proteins operating from *Escherichia coli* to humans. Adv. Enzymol. 65: 1-47.

- Anderson, M.A., and M.J. Welsh. 1992. Regulation by ATP and ADP of CFTR chloride channels that contain mutant nucleotide-binding domains. Science 257: 1701-1704.
- Aparicio, G., A. Buche, C. Méndez, and J.A. Salas. 1996. Characterization of the ATPase activity of the N-terminal nucleotide binding domain of an ABC transporter involved in oleandomycin secretion by *Streptomyces antibioticus*. FEMS Microbiol. Lett. 141: 157-162.
- Aral, S.O., and K.K. Holmes. 1991. Sexually transmitted diseases in the AIDS era. Sci. Am. 264: 62-69.
- Arvidson, C.G., and M. So. 1995a. The Neisseria transcriptional regulator PilA has a GTPase activity. J. Biol. Chem. 270: 26045-26048.
- Arvidson, C.G., and M. So. 1995b. Interaction of the *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* PilA protein with the *pilE* promoter involves multiple sites on the DNA. J. Bacteriol. 177: 2497-2504.
- Argos, P. 1990. An investigation of oligopeptides linking domains in protein tertiary structures and possible candidates for general gene fusion. J. Mol. Biol. 211: 943-958.
- Arkowitz, R.A., and M. Bassilana. 1994. Protein translocation in *Escherichia coli*. Biocheim. Biophys. Acta 1197: 311-343.
- Ausubel, F.M., R. Brent, R.E. Kingston, D. Moore, J.G. Seidman, J.A. Smith, and K. Struhl. (ed.). 1989. Current Protocols in Molecular Biology. John Wiley & Sons, New York.
- Azzaria, M., E. Schurr, and P. Gros. 1989. Discrete mutations introduced in the predicted nucleotide-binding sites of the *mdr1* gene abolish its ability to confer multidrug resistance. Mol. Cell. Biol. 9: 5289-5297.
- Barber, M., S. Cheng-Chang, D. Friedman, and M. Koomey. 1994. Gonococcal uptake sequences act as transcription terminators in *E. coli*, abstr. D-219, p. 135. In Abstracts of the

94th General Meeting of the American Society for Microbiology 1994. American Society for Microbiology, Washington, D.C.

- **Bartsevich, V.V., and H.B. Pakrasi.** 1995. Molecular identification of an ABC transporter complex for manganese: analysis of a cyanobacterial mutant strain impaired in the photosynthetic oxygen evolution process. EMBO J. 14: 1845-1853.
- Beaudet, L., and P. Gros. 1995. Functional dissection of P-glycoprotein nucleotide-binding domains in chimeric and mutant proteins. Modulation of drug resistance profiles. J. Biol. Chem. 270: 17159-17170.
- Beckman, D.L., and R.G. Kranz. 1993. Cytochrome *c* biogenesis in a photosynthetic bacterium requires a periplasmic thioredoxin-like protein. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 90: 2179-2183.
- Begg, K.J., S.J. Dewar, and W.D. Donachie. 1995. A new Escherichia coli cell division gene, ftsK. J. Bacteriol. 177: 6211-6222.
- Berlyn, M., K.B. Low, and K.E. Rudd. 1995. Linkage map of Escherichia coli K-12, edition 9, p.1715-1902. In F.C. Neidhart, R. Curtiss III, J.L. Ingraham, E.C.C. Lin, K.B. Low, B. Magasanik, W.S. Reznikoff, M. Riley, M. Schaechter, and H.E. Umbarger (ed.), Escherichia coli and Salmonella. Cellular and molecular biology. American Society for Microbiology, Washington, D.C.
- Bernatchez, S., A. Radia, and J.R. Dillon. 1996. Characterization of cell division gene homologues ftsZ, ftsE and ftsX in Neisseria gonorrhoeae CH811, p.397-398. In W.D. Zollinger, C.E. Frasch, and C.D. Deal (ed.), Abstracts of the Tenth International Pathogenic Neisseria Conference, September 8-13, 1996. Baltimore, MD.

- Bernstein, H.D., M.A. Poritz, K. Strub, P.J. Hoben, S. Brenner, and P. Walter. 1989. Model for signal sequence recognition from amino-acid sequence of 54K subunit of signal recognition particle. Nature 340: 482-486.
- Bi, E., and J. Lutkenhaus. 1991a. Genetics of bacterial cell division, p.123-152. In S. Mohan,
 C. Dow, and J.A. Coles (ed.), Prokaryotic structure and function. A new perspective. 47th
 Symposium of the Society for General Microbiology. Cambridge University Press,
 Cambridge, England.
- Bi, E., and J. Lutkenhaus. 1991b. FtsZ ring structure associated with division in *Escherichia coli*. Nature 354: 161-164.
- Biaudet, V., F. Samson, C. Anagnostopoulos, S.D. Ehrlich, and P. Bessières. 1996. Computerized genetic map of *Bacillus subtilis*. Microbiology 142: 2669-2729.
- Bihlmaier, A., U. Römling, T.F. Meyer, B. Tümmler, and C.P. Gibbs. 1991. Physical and genetic map of the Neisseria gonorrhoeae strain MS11-N198 chromosome. Mol. Microbiol.
 5: 2529-2539.
- Blake, M.S., and L.M. Wetzler. 1995. Vaccines for gonorrhoea: where are we on the curve? Trends in Microbiol. 3: 469-474.
- Blattner, F.R., G. Plunkett III, C.A. Bloch, N.T. Perna, V. Burland, M. Riley, J. Collado-Vides, J.D. Glasner, C.K. Rode, G.F. Mayhew, J. Gregor, N.W. Davis, H.A. Kirkpatrick, M.A. Goeden, D.J. Rose, B. Mau, and Y. Shao. 1997. The complete sequence of *Escherichia coli* K-12. Science 277: 1453-1462.
- Bliss, J.M., C.F. Garon, and R.P. Silver. 1996. Polysialic acid export in *Escherichia coli* K1: the role of KpsT, the ATP-binding component of an ABC transporter, in chain translocation. Glycobiology 6: 445-452.

- Bliss, J.M., and R.P. Silver. 1996. Coating the surface: a model for expression of capsular polysialic acid in *Escherichia coli* K1. Mol. Microbiol. 21: 221-231.
- Bohman, K., and L.A. Isaksson. 1980. A temperature-sensitive mutant in prolynyl-TRNA ligase of *Escherichia coli* K-12. Mol. Gen. Genet. 177: 603-605.
- Boos, W., and J. M. Lucht. 1996. Periplasmic binding protein-dependent ABC transporters, p.1175-1209. In F.C. Neidhart, R. Curtiss III, J.L. Ingraham, E.C.C. Lin, K.B. Low, B. Magasanik, W.S. Reznikoff, M. Riley, M. Schaechter, and H.E. Umbarger (ed.), Escherichia coli and Salmonella. Cellular and molecular biology. American Society for Microbiology, Washington, D.C.
- Botta, G.A., and J.T. Park. 1981. Evidence for involvement of penicillin-binding protein 3 in murein synthesis during septation but not during cell elongation. J. Bacteriol. 145: 333-340.
- Bourne, H.R., D.A. Sanders, and F. McCormick. 1991. The GTPase superfamily: conserved structure and molecular mechanism. Nature 349: 117-127.
- Boyle, D.S., M.M. Khattar, S.G. Addinall, J. Lutkenhaus, and W.D. Donachie. 1997. *ftsW* is an essential cell-division gene in *Escherichia coli*. Mol. Microbiol. 24: 1263-1273.
- Boyle-Vavra, S., and H. S. Seifert. 1995. Shuttle mutagenesis: a mini-transposon for producing PhoA fusions with exported proteins in *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*. Gene 155: 101-105.
- Breton, R., D. Watson, M. Yaguchi, and J. Lapointe.1990. Glutamyl-tRNA synthetase of Bacillus subtilis 168T and of Bacillus stearothermophilus. Cloning and sequencing of the gltX genes and comparison with other aminoacyl-tRNA synthetases. J. Biol. Chem. 265: 18248-18255.

- Broome-Smith, J., and B. Spratt. 1986. A vector for the construction of translational fusions to TEM β-lactamase and the analysis of protein export signals and membrane protein topology. Gene 49: 341-349.
- Brown, S., and M.J. Fournier. 1984. The 4.5S RNA gene of *Escherichia coli* is essential for cell growth. J. Cell. Biol. 178: 533-550.
- Bruhn, D.F., J. Li, S. Silver, F. Roberto, and B.P. Rosen. 1996. The arsenical resistance operon of IncN plasmid R46. FEMS Microbiol. Lett. 139: 149-153.
- Brun, Y.V., R. Breton, and J. Lapointe. 1991. Large scale sequencing projects using rapidly prepared double-stranded plasmid DNA. DNA Sequence 1: 285-289.
- Bult, C.J., O. White, G.J. Olsen, L. Zhou, R.D. Fleischmann, G.G. Sutton, J.A. Blake, L.M.
 FitzGerald, R.A. Clayton, J.D. Gocayne, A.R. Kerlavage, B.A. Dougherty, J.-F. Tomb,
 M.D. Adams, C.I. Reich, R. Overbeek, E.F. Kirkness, K.G. Weinstock, J.M. Merrick,
 A. Glodek, J.L. Scott, N.S.M. Geoghagen, J.F. Weidman, J.L. Furhmann, D. Nguyen,
 T.R. Utterback, J.M. Kelley, J.D. Peterson, P.W. Sadow, M.C. Hanna, M.D. Cotton,
 K.M. Roberts, M.A. Hurst, B.P. Kaine, M. Bodorovsky, H.-P. Klenk, C.M. Fraser, H.O.
 Smith, C.R. Woese, and J.C. Venter. 1996. Complete genome sequence of the
 methanogenic archeon, *Methanococcus jannaschii*. Science 273: 1058-1073.
- Cameron, W.D., L.J. D'Costa, G.M. Maitha, M. Cheang, P. Piot, J.N. Simonsen, A.R. Ronald, M.N. Gakinya, J.O. Ndinya-Achola, R.C. Brunham, and F.A. Plummer. 1989. Female to male transmission of human immunodeficiency virus type 1: risk factors for seroconversion in men. Lancet ii, 403-407.
- Canada Communicable Disease Report. 1996. Notifiable diseases annual summary 1994. 22S2.

- Canada Communicable Disease Report. 1992. Canadian Guidelines for the Prevention, Diagnosis, Management and treatment of Sexually Transmitted Diseases in Neonates, Children, Adolescents and Adults. 18S1.
- Carpenter, P.L. 1967. Microbiology, 2nd ed., p. 286-287. W.B. Saunders Company, Philadelphia, PA.
- Carson, M.J., J. Barondess, and J. Beckwith. 1991. The FtsQ protein of *Escherichia coli*: membrane topology, abundance, and cell division phenotypes due to overproduction and insertion mutations. J. Bacteriol. 173: 2187-2195.
- Chen, C.-M., T.K. Misra, S. Silver, and B.P. Rosen. 1986. Nucleotide sequence of the structural genes for an anion pump. The plasmid-encoded arsenical resistance operon. J. Biol. Chem. 261: 15030-15038.
- Cheng, J., A.A. Guffanti, and T.A. Krulwich. 1997. A two gene ABC-type transport system that extrudes Na⁺ in *Bacillus subtilis* is induced by ethanol or protonophore. Mol. Microbiol. 23: 1107-1120.
- Cheng, S.H., R.J. Gregory, J. Marshall, S. Paul, D.W. Souza, G.A. White, C.R. O'Riordan, and A.E. Smith. 1990. Defective intracellular transport and processing of CFTR is the molecular basis of most cystic fibrosis. Cell 63: 827-834.
- Chomczynski, P., and P.K. Qasba. 1984. Alkaline transfer of DNA to plastic membrane. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Comm. 122: 340-344.
- Chung, C.T., S.L. Niemala, and R.H. Miller. 1989. One-step preparation of competent *Escherichia coli*: transformation and storage of bacterial cells in the same solution. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 86: 2172-2175.

- Claros, M.G., and G. von Heijne. 1994. TopPredII: an improved software for memebrane protein structures predictions. CABIOS 10: 685-686.
- Cutting, G.R., L.M. Kasch, B.J. Rosenstein, J. Zielenski, L.-C. Tsui, S.E. Antonarakis, and H.H. Kazazian Jr. 1990. A cluster of cystic fibrosis mutations in the first nucleotide-binding fold of the cystic fibrosis conductance regulator protein. Nature 346: 366-369.
- Dai, K., Y. Xu, and J. Lutkenhaus. 1996. Topological characterization of the essential *Escherichia coli* cell division protein FtsN. J. Bacteriol. 178: 1328-1334.
- Dai, K., Y. Xu, and J. Lutkenhaus. 1993. Cloning and characterization of *ftsN*, an essential gene in *Escherichia coli* isolated as a multicopy suppressor of *ftsA12*(Ts). J. Bacteriol. 175: 3790-3797.
- Dai, K., and J. Lutkenhaus. 1991. FtsZ is an essential cell division gene in Escherichia coli. J. Bacteriol. 173: 3500-3506.
- Danielsson, D. 1990. Gonorrhoea and syphilis in Sweden-past and present. Scand. J. Infect. Dis. Suppl. 69: 69-76
- Dassa, E., and M. Hofnung. 1985a. Sequence of malG gene in E. coli K12: homologies between integral membrane components from binding protein-dependent transport systems. EMBO J.
 4: 2287-2293.
- Dassa, E., and M. Hofnung. 1985b. Homologies entre les protéines intégrales de membrane interne de systèmes de transport à protéine affine chez les entérobactéries. Ann. Inst. Pasteur, Microbiol. 136A: 281-288.
- Dean, M., and R. Allikmets. 1995. Evolution of ATP-binding cassette transporter genes. Curr. Opin. Gen. Dev. 5: 779-785.

- de Boer, P.A.J., R.E. Crossley, and L. Rothfield. 1992. The essential bacterial cell division protein FtsZ is a GTPase. Nature 359: 254-256.
- de Boer, P.A.J., R.E. Crossley, and L.I. Rothfield. 1989. A division inhibitor and a topological specificity factor coded for by the minicell locus determine the proper placement of the division site in *Escherichia coli*. Cell 56: 641-649.
- Dempsey, J.A.F., and J.G. Cannon. 1994. Locations of genetic markers on the physical map of the chromosome of *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* FA1090. J. Bacteriol. 176: 2055-2060.
- Dempsey, J.F., W. Litaker, A. Madhure, T. Snodgrass, and J.G. Cannon. 1991. Physical map of the chromosome of *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* FA1090 with locations of genetic markers, including *opa* and *pil* genes. J. Bacteriol. 173: 5476-5486.
- Devlin, K., C.M. Churcher, B.G. Barrell, and M.A. Ranjandream. 1997. Genbank entry Z95150, Mycobacterium tuberculosis sequencing project.
- **Difco Laboratories.** 1990. Difco manual. Dehydrated culture media and reagents for microbiology, 10th edition. Difco Laboratories Inc., Detroit, MI.
- **Dillon, J.R., and K.-H. Yeung.** 1989. β-lactamase plasmids and chromosomally mediated antibiotic resistance in pathogenic *Neisseria* species. Clin. Microbiol. Rev. **2:** S125-S133.
- Dillon, J.R., S.M. Bygdeman, and E.G. Sanström. 1987. Serological ecology of Neisseria gonorrhoeae (PPNG and non-PPNG) strains: Canadian perspective. Genitourin. Med. 63: 160-168.
- Dillon, J.R. 1983. Laboratory methods for Neisseria gonorrhoeae. Publication H47-58/1983E, Health and Welfare Canada. Ottawa, Ontario, Canada.

- Diorio, C., J. Cai, J. Marmor, R. Shinder, and DuBow, M. 1995. An Escherichia coli chromosomal ars operon homolog is functional in arsenic detoxification and is conserved in Gram-negative bacteria. J. Bacteriol. 177: 2050-2056.
- Division of STD Prevention. Sexually Transmitted Disease Surveillance. 1994. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Public Health Service. Atlanta: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, September 1995.
- Dobberstein, B. 1994. On the beaten pathway. Nature 367: 599-600.
- Doige, C.A., and G. F.-L. Ames. 1993. ATP-dependent transport systems in bacteria and humans: relevance to cystic fibrosis and mutidrug resistance. Annu. Rev. Microbiol. 47: 291-319.
- Donachie, W. D. 1993. The cell cycle of Escherichia coli. Annu. Rev. Microbiol. 47: 199-230.
- Dyer, D.W., E. Gray, B.X. Behrens, L.A. Lewis, S. Clifton, S.-P. Lin, X.-L. Yuan, A. Reece, and B.A. Roe. 1996. The Neisserial genome: importance and where do we stand?, p.333-340. *In* W.D. Zollinger, C.E. Frasch, and C.D. Deal (ed.), Abstracts of the Tenth International Pathogenic Neisseria Conference, September 8-13, 1996. Baltimore, MD.
- Eggertson, G., and E.A. Adelberg. 1965. Map positions and specificaties of suppressor mutations in *Escherichia coli* K-12. Genetics 52: 319-340.
- Elkins, C., C.E. Thomas, H.S. Seifert, and P.F. Sparling. 1991. Species-specific uptake of DNA by gonococci is mediated by a 10-base-pair sequence. J. Bacteriol. 173: 3911-3913.
- Ellis, L.B.M., P. Saurugger, and C. Woodward. 1992. Identification of the three-dimensional thioredoxin motif: related structure in the ORF3 protein of the *Staphylococcus aureus mer* operon. Biochemistry 31: 4882-4891.

- Elwell, L.P., M. Roberts, L.W. Mayer, and S. Falkow. 1977. Plasmid-mediated beta-lactamase production in *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 11: 528-533.
- Erickson, H.P., D.W. Taylor, K.A. Taylor, and D. Bramhill. 1996. Bacterial cell division protein FtsZ assembles into protofilaments sheets and minirings, structural homologs of tubulin polymers. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 93: 519-523.
- Erickson, H.P. 1995. FtsZ, a prokaryotic homolog of tubulin? Cell 80: 367-370.
- Fabianek, R.A., M. Huber-Wunderlich, R. Glockshuber, P. Künzler, H. Hennecke, and L. Thöny-Meyer. 1997. Characterization of the *Bradyrhizobium japonicum* CycY protein, a membrane-anchored periplasmic thioredoxin that may play a role as a reductant in the biogenesis of *c*-type cytochromes. J. Biol. Chem 272: 4467-4473.
- Fath, M.J., and R. Kolter. 1993. ABC transporters: bacterial exporters. Microbiol. Rev. 57: 995-1017.
- Fath, M.J., R. Skvirsky, L. Gilson, H.K. Mahanty, and R. Kolter. 1992. The secretion of colicin V, p.331-348. *In James*, R., C. Lazdunski, and F. Pattus (ed.), Bacteriocins, microcins and lantibiotics. Springer-Verlag, Heidelberg, Germany.
- Fernández, E., F. Lombó, C. Méndez, and J.A. Salas. 1996. An ABC transporter is essential for resistance to the antitumor agent mithramycin in the producer *Streptomyces argillaceus*. Mol. Gen. Genet. 251: 692-698.
- Fitz-James, P. 1964. Thin sections of dividing Neisseria gonorrhoeae. J. Bacteriol. 87: 1477-1482.
- Fleischmann, R.D., M.D. Adams, O. White, R.A. Clayton, E.F. Kirkness, A.R. Kerlavage, C.J. Bult, J.-F. Tomb, B.A. Dougherty, J.M. Merrick, K. McKenney, G. Sutton, W. FitzHugh, C. Fields, J.D. Gocayne, J. Scott, R. Shirley, L.-I. Liu, A. Glodek, J.M.

Kelley, J.F. Weidman, C.A. Phillips, T. Spriggs, E. Hedblom, M.D. Cotton, T.R. Utterback, M.C. Hanna, D.T. Nguyen, D.M. Saudek, R.C. Brandon, L.D. Fine, J.L. Fritchman, J.L. Furhmann, N.S.M. Geoghagen, C.L. Gnehm, L.A. McDonald, K.V. Small, C.M. Fraser, H.O. Smith, and J.C. Venter. 1995. Whole-genome random sequencing and assembly of *Haemophilus influenzae* Rd. Science 269: 496-512.

- Francis, F. 1998. Transcriptional analysis of cell division genes in *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*. M.Sc. thesis, University of Ottawa.
- Fraser, C.M., J.D. Gocayne, O. White, M.D. Adams, R.A. Clayton, R.D. Fleischmann, C.J.
 Bult, A.R. Kerlavage, G. Sutton, J.M. Kelley, J.L. Fritchman, J.F. Weidman, K.V.
 Small, M. Sandusky, J. Fuhrmann, D. Nguyen, T.R. Utterback, D.M. Saudek, C.A.
 Phillips, J.M. Merrick, J.-F. Tomb, B.A. Dougherty, K.F. Bott, P.-C. Hu, T.S. Lucier,
 S.N. Peterson, H.O. Smith, C.A. Hutchison III, and J.C. Venter. 1995. The minimal gene complement of *Mycoplasma genitalium*. Science 270: 397-403.
- Frosch, M., U. Edwards, K. Bousset, B. Krauβe, and C. Weisberger. 1991. Evidence for a common molecular origin of the capsule gene loci in Gram-negative bacteria expressing group II capsular polysaccharides. Mol. Microbiol. 5: 1251-1263.
- Froshauer, S., G.N. Green, D. Boyd, K. McGovern, and J. Beckwith. 1988. Genetic analysis of the membrane insertion and topology of MalF, a cytoplasmic membrane protein of *Escherichia coli*. J. Mol. Biol. 200: 501-511.
- Froshauer, S., and J. Beckwith. 1984. The nucleotide sequence of the gene for malF protein, an inner membrane component of the maltose transport system of *Escherichia coli*. J. Biol. Chem. 259: 10896-10903.

- Fussenegger, M., A.F. Kahrs, D. Facius, and T.F. Meyer. 1996a. Tetrapac (*tpc*), a novel genotype of *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* affecting epithelial cell invasion, natural transformation competence and cell separation. Mol. Microbiol. 19: 1357-1372.
- Fussenegger, M., and T.F. Meyer. 1996b. Cloning and characterization of the Neisseria gonorrhoeae MS11 folC gene. Mol. Gen. Genet. 250: 277-285.
- Fussenegger, M., A.F. Kahrs, D. Facius, and T.F. Meyer. 1996c. A novel peptidoglycan-linked lipoprotein (ComL) that functions in natural transformation competence of *Neisseria* gonorrhoeae. Mol. Microbiol. 19: 1095-1105.
- Fyfe, J.A.M., and J.K. Davies. 1996. PilA is unlikely to be an activator of *pilE* transcription in Neisseria gonorrhoeae, p.364-365. In W.D. Zollinger, C.E. Frasch, and C.D. Deal (ed.), Abstracts of the Tenth International Pathogenic Neisseria Conference, September 8-13, 1996. Baltimore, MD.
- Garcia-Moreno, J., J.R. Dillon, R. Arroyave, A. Maldonado, F. Fich, A. Salvo, D. Villalobos,
 P. Vincent, and M. Pauze. 1987. Identification of penicillinase producing *Neisseria* gonorrhoeae in Chile during clinical and microbiological study of gonococcal susceptibility to antimicrobial agents. Genitourin. Med. 63: 6-12.
- Genco, C.A., S.A. Berish, C.Y. Chen, S. Morse, and D.L. Trees. 1994. Genetic diversity of the iron-binding protein (Fbp) gene of the pathogenic and commensal Neisseria. FEMS Microbiol. Lett. 116:123-129.
- Gibbs, T.W., D.R. Gill, and G.P.C. Salmond. 1992. Localised mutagenesis in the *ftsYEX* operon: conditionally lethal missense substitutions in the FtsE cell division protein of *Escherichia coli* are similar to those found in the cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator protein (CFTR) of human patients. Mol. Gen. Genet. 234: 121-128.

- Gill, D.R., and G.P.C. Salmond. 1990. The identification of the *Escherichia coli ftsY* gene product: an unusual protein. Mol. Microbiol. 4: 575-583.
- Gill, D.R., and G.P.C. Salmond. 1987. The *Escherichia coli* cell division proteins FtsY, FtsE and FtsX are inner membrane-associated. Mol. Gen. Genet. 210:, 504-508.
- Gill, D.R., G.F. Hatfull, and G.P.C. Salmond. 1986. A new cell division operon in *Escherichia* coli. Mol. Gen. Genet. 205: 134-145.
- Gillespie, S.H. 1994. Gram-negative cocci (The Neisseriaceae), p. 58-67. In Medical Microbiology Illustrated. Butterworth-Heimann Ltd, Oxford, England.
- Gilson, E., H. Nikaido, and M. Hofnung. 1982. Sequence of the malK gene of Escherichia coli K-12. Nucleic Acids Res. 10: 7449-7458.
- Glansdorff, N. 1996. Biosynthesis of arginine and polyamines, p.408-433. In F.C. Neidhart, R. Curtiss III, J.L. Ingraham, E.C.C. Lin, K.B. Low, B. Magasanik, W.S. Reznikoff, M. Riley, M. Schaechter, and H.E. Umbarger (ed.), *Escherichia coli* and *Salmonella*. Cellular and molecular biology. American Society for Microbiology, Washington, D.C.
- Glansdorff, N. 1965. Topography of cotransducible arginine mutations in *Escherichia coli* K-12. Genetics 51: 167-179.
- Goodman, S.D., and J.J. Scocca. 1991. Factors influencing the specific interaction of *Neisseria* gonorrhoeae with transforming DNA. J. Bacteriol. 173: 5921-5923.
- Goodman, S.D., and J.J. Scocca. 1988. Identification and arrangement of the DNA sequence recognized in specific transformation of *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 85: 6982-6986.

- Greenberg, L., B.B. Diena, C.P. Kenny, and R. Znamirowski. 1971. Preliminary studies on the development of a gonococcal vaccine. Bulletin of the World Health Organization 45: 531-535.
- Gupta, S., and S. Gollapudi. 1993. P-glycoprotein (*MDR1* gene product) in cells of the immune system: its possible physiologic role and alteration in aging and human immunodeficiency virus-1 (HIV-1) infection. J. Clin. Immunol. 13: 289-301.
- Guzman, L.-M., J.J. Barondess, and J. Beckwith. 1992. FtsL, an essential cytoplasmic membrane protein involved in cell division in *Escherichia coli*. J. Bacteriol. 174: 7717-7728.
- Hager, D.A., and R.R. Burgess. 1980. Elution of proteins from sodium dodecyl sulfatepolyacrylamide gels, removal of sodium dodecyl sulfate, and renaturation of enzymatic activity: results with sigma subunit of *Escherichia coli* RNA polymerase, wheat germ DNA topoisomerase, and other enzymes. Anal. Biochem. 109: 76-86.
- Hale, C.A., and P.A.J. de Boer. 1997. Direct binding of FtsZ to ZipA, an essential component of the septal ring structure that mediates cell division in *E. coli*. Cell 88: 175-185.
- Hartl, D.L., and H. Ochman. 1994. Inverse polymerase chain reaction. Meth. Mol. Biol. 31: 187-196.
- Hendry, A.T., and Stewart, I.O. 1979. Auxanographic grouping and typing of Neisseria gonorrhoeae. Can. J. Microbiol. 25: 512-521.
- Higgins, C.F. 1995. The ABC of channel regulation. Cell 82: 693-696.
- Higgins, C.F. 1992. ABC transporters: from microorganisms to man. Annu. Rev. Cell. Biol. 8: 67-113.
- Higgins, C.F., S.C. Hyde, M.M. Mimmack, U. Gileadi, D.R. Gill, and M.P. Gallagher. 1990. Binding protein-dependent transport systems. J. Bioenerg. Biomembr. 22: 571-592.

- Higgins, C.F., M.P. Gallagher, M.L. Mimmack, and S.R. Pearce. 1988. A family of closely related ATP-binding subunits from prokaryotic and eukaryotic cells. BioEssays 8: 111-116.
- Higgins, C.F., I.D. Hiles, G.P.C. Salmond, D.R. Gill, J.A. Downie, I.J. Evans, I.B. Holland, L. Gray, S.D. Buckel, A.W. Bell, and M.A. Hermodson. 1986. A family of related ATPbinding subunits coupled to many distinct biological processes in bacteria. Nature 323: 448-450.
- Higgins, C.F., I.D. Hiles, K. Whalley, and D.J. Jamieson. 1985. Nucleotide binding by membrane components of bacterial periplasmic binding protein-dependent transport systems. EMBO J. 4:1033-1040.
- Higgins, C.F., P.D. Haag, K. Nikaido, F. Ardeshir, G. Garcia, and G. F.-L. Ames. 1982. Complete nucleotide sequence and identification of membrane components of the histidine transport operon of *S. typhimurium*. Nature 298: 723-727.
- Himmelreich, R., H. Hilbert, H. Plagens, E. Pirkl, B.-C. Li, and R. Hermann. 1996. Complete sequence analysis of the genome of the bacterium Mycoplasma pneumoniae. Nucleic Acids Res. 24: 4420-4449.
- Hirota, Y., A. Ryter, and F. Jacob. 1968. Thermosensitive mutants of *E. coli* affected in the process of DNA synthesis and cell division. Cold Spring Harbor Symp. Quant. Biol. 33: 677-693.
- Holland, I.B., and C. Jones. 1985. The role of the FtsZ protein (SfiB) in UV-induced division inhibition and in the normal *Escherichia coli* cell division cycle. Ann. Inst. Pasteur, Microbiol. 136A: 165-171.
- Holmes, K.K. 1994. Human ecology and behavior and sexually transmitted bacterial infections. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 91: 2448-2455.

- Huang, J., C. Cao, and J. Lutkenhaus. 1996. Interaction between FtsZ and inhibitors of cell division. J. Bacteriol. 178: 5080-5085.
- Hyde, S.C., P. Emsley, M.J. Hartshorn, M.M. Mimmack, U. Gileadi, S.R. Pearce, M.P. Gallagher, D.R. Gill, R.E. Hubbard, and C.F. Higgins. 1990. Structural model of ATP-binding proteins associated with cystic fibrosis, mutidrug resistance and bacterial transport. Nature 346: 362-365.
- Janik, A., E. Juni, and G.A. Heym. 1976. Genetic transformation as a tool for detection of Neisseria gonorrhoeae. J. Clin. Microbiol. 4: 71-81.
- Jephcott, A.E. 1990. Gonorrhoea; chancroid; granuloma venereum, p. 573-586. In M.T. Parker, and L.H. Collier (ed.), Topley's & Wilson's principles of bacteriology, virology and immunity, 8th ed. Vol. 3. Edward Arnold, London, England.
- Ji, G. and S. Silver. 1992. Regulation and expression of the arsenic resistance operon from Staphylococcus aureus plasmid pI258. J. Bacteriol. 174: 3684-3694.
- Kaneko, T., S. Sato, H. Kotani, A. Tanaka, E. Asamizu, Y. Nakamura, N. Miyajima, M. Hirosawa, M. Sugiura, S. Sasamoto, T. Kimura, T. Hosouchi, A. Matsuno, A. Muraki, N. Nakazaki, K. Naruo, S. Okumura, S. Shimpo, C. Takeuchi, T. Wada, A. Watanabe, M. Yamada, M. Yasuda, and S. Tabata. 1996. Sequence analysis of the unicellular cyanobacterium *Synechocystis* sp. strain PCC6803. II. Sequence determination of the entire genome and assignment of potential protein coding regions. DNA Res. 3: 109-136.
- Kato, K., K. Ohtsuki, Y. Koda, T. Maekawa, T. Yomo, S. Negoro, and I. Urabe. 1995. A plasmid encoding enzymes for nylon oligomer degradation: nucleotide sequence and analysis of pOAD2. Microbiology 141: 2585-2590.

- Kerrpola, R.E., and G.F. Ames. 1992. Topology of the hydrophobic membrane-bound components of the histidine periplasmic permease. Comparison with other members of the family. J. Biol. Chem. 267: 2329-2336.
- Khattar, M.M., S.G. Addinall, K.H. Stedul, D.S. Boyle, J. Lutkenhaus, and W.M. Donachie. 1997. Two polypeptide products of the *Escherichia coli* cell division gene *ftsW* and a possible role for FtsW in FtsZ function. J. Bacteriol. **179**: 784-793.
- Kiple, K.F. (ed). 1993. The Cambridge World History of human disease. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, England.
- Kolibachuk, D., and P. Baumann. 1995. Buchnera aphidicola (aphid-endosymbiont) glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase: molecular cloning and sequence analysis. Curr. Microbiol. 30: 133-136.
- Koomey, M. 1994. Mechanisms of pilus antigenic variation in Neisseria gonorrhoeae, p.113-126. In V.L. Miller, J.B. Kaper, D.A. Portnoy, and R.R. Isberg (ed.), Molecular genetics of bacterial pathogenesis. American Society for Microbiology, Washington, D.C.
- Koronakis, E., C. Hughes, I. Milisav, and V. Koronakis. 1995. Protein exporter function an *in vitro* ATPase activity are correlated in ABC-domain mutants of HlyB. Mol. Microbiol. 16: 87-96.
- Kurihara, T., and Y. Nakamura. 1983. Cloning of the *nusA* gene of *E. coli*. Mol. Gen. Genet. 190: 189-195.
- Kusters, R., G. Lentzen, E. Eppens, A. van Geel, C.C. van der Weijden, W. Wintermeyer, and J. Luirink. 1995. The functioning of the SRP receptor FtsY in protein-targeting in *E. coli* is correlated with its ability to bind and hydrolyse GTP. FEBS Lett. **372**: 253-258.

- Larribe, M., M.K. Taha, A. Topilko, and C. Marchal. 1997. Control of Neisseria gonorrhoeae pilin gene expression by environmental factors: involvement of the *pilA/pilB* regulatory genes. Microbiology 143: 1757-1764.
- Lawson, F.S., F.M. Billowes, and J.R. Dillon. 1995. Organization of carbamoyl-phosphate synthase genes in *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* includes a large, variable intergenic sequence which is also present in other *Neisseria* species. Microbiology 141: 1183-1191.
- Liu, J., T. Gladysheva, L. Lee, and B.P. Rosen. 1995. Identification of an essential cysteinyl residue in the arsenate reductase of plasmid R773. Biochemistry 34: 13472-13476.
- Loferer, H., M. Wunderlich, H. Hennecke, and R.A. Glockshuber. 1995. A bacterial thioredoxin-like protein that is exposed to the periplasm has redox properties comparable with those of cytoplasmic thioredoxins. J. Biol. Chem. 270: 26179-26183.
- Loferer, H. and H. Hennecke. 1994. Protein disulphide oxidoreductases in bacteria. Trends Biochem. Sci. 19: 169-171.
- Loferer, H, M. Bott, and H. Hennecke. 1993. Bradyrhizobium japonicum TlpA, a novel membrane-anchored thioredoxin-like protein involved in the biogenesis of cytochrome *aa*₃ and development of symbiosis. EMBO J. 12: 3373-3383.
- Logan, J., D. Hiestand, P. Daram, Z. Huang, D.D. Muccio, J. Hartman, B. Haley, W.J. Cook, and E.J. Sorscher. 1994. Cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator mutations that disrupt nucleotide binding. J. Clin. Inv. 94: 228-236.
- Lopez-Zeno, J.A., L.G. Keith, and G.S. Berger. 1985. The Fitz-Hugh-Curtis syndrome revisited. Changing perspectives after half a century. J. Reprod. Med. 30: 567-582.
- Low, K.B. 1972. Escherichia coli K-12 F-prime factors, old and new. Bacteriol. Rev. 36: 587-607.

- Luciani, M.-F., and G. Chimini. 1996. The ATP binding cassette transporter ABC1, is required for the engulfment of corpses generated by apoptotic cell death. EMBO J. 15: 226-235.
- Luirink, J., and B. Dobberstein. 1994. Mammalian and *Escherichia coli* signal recognition particles. Mol. Microbiol. 11: 9-13.
- Luirink, J., C.M. ten Hagen-Jongman, C.C. van der Weijden, B. Oudega, S. High, B. Dobberstein, and R. Kusters. 1994. An alternative protein targeting pathway in *Escherichia coli*: studies on the role of FtsY. EMBO J. 13: 2289-2296.
- Lütcke, H. 1995. Signal recognition particle (SRP), a ubiquitous initiator of protein translocation. Eur. J. Biochem. 228: 531-550.
- Lutkenhaus, J., and S.G. Addinall. 1997. Bacterial cell division and the FtsZ ring. Annu.. Rev. Biochem. 66: 93-116.
- Lutkenhaus, J., and A. Mukherjee. 1996. Cell division, p.1615-1626. In F.C. Neidhart, R. Curtiss III, J.L. Ingraham, E.C.C. Lin, K.B. Low, B. Magasanik, W.S. Reznikoff, M. Riley, M. Schaechter, and H.E. Umbarger (ed.), *Escherichia coli* and *Salmonella*. Cellular and molecular biology. American Society for Microbiology, Washington, D.C.
- Madigan, M.T., J.M. Martinko, and J. Parker. 1997. Brock Biology of microorganisms, 8th ed., p. 73-74. Prentice Hall, Upper Saddle River, NJ.
- Macao, B., J. Luirink, and T. Samuelsson. 1997. Ffh and FtsY in a *Mycoplasma mycoides* signal-recognition particle pathway: SRP RNA and M domain of Ffh are not required for stimulation of GTPase activity *in vitro*. Mol. Microbiol. 24: 523-534.
- Manoil, C., and J. Beckwith. 1985. TnphoA: a transposon probe for protein export signals. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 82: 8129-8133.

- Margolin, W., and S.R. Long. 1994. *Rhizobium meliloti* contains a novel second homolog of the cell division gene *ftsZ*. J. Bacteriol. 176: 2033-2043.
- Margolin, W., J.C. Corbo, and S.R. Long. 1991. Cloning and characterization of a *Rhizobium* meliloti homolog of the *Escherichia coli* cell division gene *ftsZ*. J. Bacteriol. 173: 5822-5830.
- Marquardt, J.L., D.A. Siegele, R. Kolter, and C.T. Walsh. 1992. Cloning and sequencing of *Escherichia coli murZ* and purification of its product, a UDP-N-acetylglucosamine enolpyruvyl transferase. J. Bacteriol. 174: 5748-5752.
- Matthysse, A.G., H.A. Yarnall, and N. Young. 1996. Requirement for genes with homology to ABC transport systems for attachment and virulence of *Agrobacterium tumefasciens*. J. Bacteriol. 178: 5302-5308.
- Mayes, P.A. 1985. Cycle de l'acide citrique—catabolisme de l'acétyl-CoA, p.173-181. In D.W. Martin, Jr., P.A. Mayes, and Victor W. Rodwell, Précis de biochimie de Harper, 6e édition française. Les Presses de l'Université Laval/Éditions Eska, Québec.
- McGrew, R.E. 1985. Encyclopedia of medical history. McGraw-Hill Book Company, New York, NY.
- Meyer, T.F., J. Pohlner, and J.P.M. van Putten. 1994. Biology of the pathogenic Neisseriae. Curr. Top. Microbiol. Immunol. 192: 283-317.
- Meyer, T.F. 1990a. Variation of pilin and opacity-associated protein in pathogenic Neisseria species, p. 137-153. In B.H. Iglewski and V.L. Clark (ed.), The bacteria, 11, Molecular basis of bacterial pathogenesis. Academic Press, New York, NY.
- Meyer, T.F. 1990b. Variation and control of protein expression in Neisseria. Annu. Rev. Microbiol. 44: 451-477.

- Miller, J.D., H.D. Bernstein, and P. Walter. 1994. Interaction of *E. coli* Ffh/4.5S ribonucleoprotein and FtsY mimics that of mammalian signal recognition particle and its receptor. Nature 367: 657-659.
- Miller, J.H. 1972. Experiments in molecular genetics. Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory, Cold Spring Harbor, NY.
- Morand, P., M. Blanco, and R. Devoret. 1977. Characterization of *lexB* mutations in *Escherichia coli* K-12. J. Bacteriol. 131: 572-582.
- Mori, N., J. Singer-Sam, and A.D. Riggs. 1986. Evolutionary conservation of the substratebinding cleft of phophoglycerate kinases. FEBS Lett. 204: 313-317.
- Morse, S.A. 1991. Neisseria, Branhamella, Moraxella, and Acinetobacter, p. 231-241. In Medical Microbiology, 3rd ed. Samuel Baron Churchill Livingstone, New York, NY.
- Mourez, M., M. Hofnung, and E. Dassa. 1997. Subunit interactions in ABC transporters: a conserved sequence in hydrophobic membrane proteins of periplasmic permeases defines an important site of interaction with the ATPase subunits. EMBO J. 16: 3066-3077.
- Mukherjee, A., and J. Lutkenhaus. 1994. Guanine nucleotide-dependent assembly of FtsZ into filaments. J. Bacteriol 176: 2754-2758.
- Mukherjee, A., K. Dai, and J. Lutkenhaus. 1993. *Escherichia coli* cell division protein FtsZ is a guanine nucleotide binding protein. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 90: 1053-1057.
- Nakai, K., and M. Kanehisa. 1991. Expert system for predicting protein localization in Gramnegative bacteria. Prot. Struc. Funct. Genet. 11: 95-110.
- NCCLS. 1997. Methods for dilution antimicrobial susceptibility tests for bacteria that grow aerobically, 4th ed; Approved standard. NCCLS document M7-A4. Wayne, PA.
- Neyt, C., M. Iriarte, V.H. Thi, and G.P. Cornelis. 1997. Virulence and arsenic resistance in *Yersiniae*. J. Bacteriol. 179: 612-619.
- Ng, L.-K., and J.R. Dillon. 1993. Typing by serovar, antibiogram, plasmid content, riboprobing, and isoenzyme typing to determine whether *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* isolates requiring proline, citrulline, and uracil for growth are clonal. J. Clin. Microbiol. **31**: 1555-1561.
- Ochman, H., M.M. Medhora, D. Garza, and D.L. Hartl. 1990. Amplification of flanking sequences by inverse PCR, p. 219-227. *In* M.A. Innis, D.H. Gelfand, J.J. Sninsky and T.J. White (ed.), PCR protocols. Guide to methods and applications, Academic Press, New York, NY.
- Ohta, N., A.J. Ninfa, A. Allaire, L. Kulick, and A. Newton. 1997. Identification, characterization, and chromosomal organization of cell division cycle genes in *Caulobacter crescentus*. J. Bacteriol. 179: 2169-2180.
- Olano, C., A.M. Rodríguez, C. Méndez, and J.A. Salas. 1995. A second ABC transporter is involved in oleandomycin resistance and its secretion by *Streptomyces antibioticus*. Mol. Microbiol. 16: 333-343.
- Pan American Health Organization. 1994. 1992, AIDS, HIV & STD Annual Surveillance Report for the Region of the Americas. Pan American Health Organization, Pan American Sanitary Bureau, Regional Office of the World Health Organization.
- Palella, F.J. Jr., R.L. Murphy. 1997. Sexually transmitted diseases, p.208-234. In S.T. Shulman, J.P. Phair, L.R. Peterson, J.R. Warren (ed.), The biologic and clinical basis of infectious diseases, 5th ed. W.B. Saunders Company, Philadelphia, PA.
- Panagiotidis, C.H., M. Reyes, A. Sievertsen, W. Boos, and H.A. Shuman. 1993. Characterization of the structural requirements for assembly and nucleotide binding of an

ATP-binding cassette transporter. The maltose transport system of *Escherichia coli*. J. Biol. Chem. 268: 23685-23696.

- Parkhill, J., B.G. Barrell, and M.A. Rajandream. 1997a. Genbank entry Z98271, Mycobacterium leprae sequencing project.
- Parkhill, J., B.G. Barrell, and M.A. Rajandream. 1997b. Genbank entry Z97369, Mycobacterium leprae sequencing project.
- Patel, S., and B.M. Austen. 1996. Substitution of fifty four homologue (Ffh) in *Escherichia coli* with the mammalian 54-kDa protein of the signal-recognition particle. Eur. J. Biochem. 238: 760-768.
- Pavelka, M.S. Jr., S.F. Hayes, and R.P. Silver. 1994. Characterization of KpsT, the ATPbinding component of the ABC-transporter involved with the export of capsular polysialic acid in *Escherichia coli* K1. J. Biol. Chem. 269: 20149-20158.
- Phillips, G.J., and T.J. Silhavy. 1992. The *E. coli ffh* gene is necessary for viability and efficient protein export. Nature 359: 744-746
- Picard, F.J., and J.R. Dillon. 1989a. Cloning and organization of seven arginine biosynthesis genes from *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*. J. Bacteriol. 171: 1644-1651.
- Picard, J.-F., and J.R. Dillon. 1989b. Biochemical and genetic studies with arginine and proline auxotrophs of *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*. Can. J. Microbiol. 35: 1069-1075.
- Poritz, M.A., H.D. Bernstein, K. Strub, D. Zopf, H. Wilhelm and P. Walter. 1990. An E. coli ribonucleoprotein containing 4.5S RNA resembles mammalian signal recognition particle. Science 250: 1111-1117.
- Poritz, M.A., K. Strub, and P. Walter. 1988. Human SRP RNA and E. coli 4.5S RNA contain a highly homologous structural domain. Cell 55: 4-6.

- Powers, T., and P. Walter. 1997. Co-translational protein targeting catalyzed by the *Escherichia* coli signal recognition particle and its receptor. EMBO J. 16: 4880-4886.
- Powers, T., and P. Walter. 1995. Reciprocal stimulation of GTP hydrolysis by two directly interacting GTPases. Science 269: 1422-1424.
- Pucci, M.J., J.A. Thanassi, L.F. Discotto, R.E. Kessler, and T.J. Dougherty. 1997. Identification and characterization of cell wall-cell division gene clusters in pathogenic Gram-positive cocci. J. Bacteriol. 179: 5632-5635.
- Pugsley, A.P. 1993. The complete general secretory pathway in Gram-negative bacteria. Microbiol. Rev. 57: 50-108.
- Quardokus, E., A.J. Kelly, M. Sackett, and Y.V. Brun. 1995. Cell cycle regulation and cell type-specific localization of the FtsZ division initiation protein in *Caulobacter*. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 93: 6314-6319.
- **Radia**, A. 1997. Molecular characterization of the cell division gene *ftsZ* in *Neisseria* gonorrhoeae. M.Sc. thesis, University of Ottawa.
- Ramirez, C., and A.T. Matheson. 1991. A gene in the archaebacterium Sulfolobus solfataricus that codes for a protein equivalent to the alpha subunits of the signal recognition particle in eukaryotes. Mol. Microbiol. 5: 1687-1693.
- Rapoport, T.A., B. Jungnickel, and U. Kutay. 1996. Protein transport across the eukaryotic endoplasmic reticulum and bacterial inner membranes. Annu. Rev. Biochem. 65: 271-303.
- Rapoport, T.A. 1991. A bacterium catches up. Nature 349: 107-108.
- RayChaudhuri, D., and J.T. Park. 1992. Escherichia coli cell-division gene ftsZ encodes a novel GTP-binding protein. Nature 359: 251-254.

- Reyn, A., C. Thornsberry, and A.E. Wilkinson. 1980. Susceptibility testing of *Neisseria* gonorrhoeae to antimicrobial agents: recommended methods and use of reference strains. WHO/VDT/80.423, Geneva, Switzerland.
- Reyn, A., A. Birch-Andersen, and U. Berger. 1970. Fine structure and taxonomic position of Neisseria haemolysans (Thjøtta & Bøe 1938) or Gemella haemolysans (Berger 1960). Acta Path. Microbiol. Scand. Section B 78: 375-389.
- Ribes, V., K. Römisch, A. Giner, B. Dobbserstein, and D. Tollervey. 1990. E. coli 4.5S RNA is part of a ribonucleoprotein particle that has properties related to signal recognition particle. Cell 63: 591-600.
- Ricard, M., and Y. Hirota. 1973a. Process of cellular division in *Escherichia coli*: physiological study on thermosensitive mutants defective in cell division. J. Bacteriol. 116: 314-322.
- Ricard, M., and Y. Hirota. 1973b. Effet des sels et autres composés sur le phénotype de mutants thermosensibles de *Escherichia coli*. Ann. Inst. Pasteur, Microbiol. 124A: 29-43.
- Ricard, M., and Y. Hirota. 1969. Effet des sels sur le processus de division cellulaire d'*E. coli*. C.R. Acad. Sci. 268: 1335-1338.
- Richardson, J.S., and D.C. Richardson. 1989. Principles and patterns of protein conformation, p. 1-98. In G.D. Fasman (ed.), Prediction of protein structure and the principles of protein conformation. Plenum Press, New York, NY.
- Riordan, J.R., J.M. Rommens, B.-S. Kerem, N. Alon, R. Rozmahel, Z. Grzelczak, J. Zielenski, S. Loc, N. Plavsic, J.-L. Chou, M.L. Drumm, M.C. Ianuzzi, F.S. Collins, and L.-C. Tsui. 1989. Identification of the cystic fibrosis gene: cloning and characterization of complementary DNA. Science 245: 1066-1073.

- **Roberts, M., L.P. Elwell, and S. Falkow**. 1977. Molecular characterization of two β-lactamasespecifying plasmids isolated from *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*. J. Bacteriol. **131**: 557-563.
- Robertson, B.D., and T.F. Meyer. 1992. Genetic variation in pathogenic bacteria. Trends Genet. 8: 422-426.
- Römisch, K., J. Webb, J. Herz, S. Prehn, R. Frank, M. Vingron, and B. Dobberstein. 1989. Homology of 54K protein of signal recognition particle, docking protein and two *E. coli* proteins with putative GTP-binding domains. Nature **340**: 478-482.
- Rosenstein, R., A. Peschel, B. Wieland, and F. Götz. 1992. Expression and regulation of antimonite, arsenite, and arsenate resistance operon of *Staphylococcus xylosus* plasmid pSX267. J. Bacteriol. 174: 3676-3683.
- Rothfield, L.I., and S.S. Justice. 1997. Bacterial cell division: the cycle of the ring. Cell 88: 581-584.
- Salmond, G.P.C., and S. Plakidou. 1984. Genetic analysis of essential genes in the *fisE* region of the *Escherichia coli* genetic map and identification of a new cell division gene, *ftsS*. Mol. Gen. Genet. 197: 304-308.
- Salyers, A.A., and D.D. Whitt. 1994. Neisseria gonorrhoeae, p.244-259. In Bacterial pathogenesis. A molecular approach. American Society for Microbiology, Washington, D.C.
- Sambrook J., E.F. Fritsch, and T. Maniatis. 1989. Molecular Cloning, A laboratory manual. 2nd edition. Cold Spring Harbour Press, Cold Spring Harbour, NY.
- Sánchez, M., A. Dopazo, J. Pla, A.C. Robinson, and M. Vicente. 1994. Characterisation of mutant alleles of the cell division protein FtsA, a regulator and structural component of the *Escherichia coli* septator. Biochimie 76: 1071-1074.

- Sanderson, K.E., A. Hessel, S.-L. Liu, and K.E. Rudd. 1995. The genetic map of Salmonella typhimurium, edition VIII, p.1903-1999. In F.C. Neidhart, R. Curtiss III, J.L. Ingraham, E.C.C. Lin, K.B. Low, B. Magasanik, W.S. Reznikoff, M. Riley, M. Schaechter, and H.E. Umbarger (ed.), Escherichia coli and Salmonella. Cellular and molecular biology. American Society for Microbiology, Washington, D.C.
- Sanger, F., N. Sickler, and A.R. Coulson. 1977. DNA sequencing with chain-terminating inhibitors. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 74: 5463-5467.
- Sanschagrin, F., G. Cardinal, L. Sabbagh, and R.C. Levesque. 1997. Bacterial genomics and characterization of the cell division/cell-wall biosynthesis locus isolated from a BAC library of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* strain PAO1, abstr. H-203, p. 318. *In* Abstracts of the 97th General Meeting of the American Society for Microbiology 1997. American Society for Microbiology, Washington, D.C.
- Saurin, W., W. Köster, and E. Dassa. 1994. Bacterial binding protein-dependent permeases: characterization of distinctive signatures for functionally related integral cytoplasmic membrane proteins. Mol. Microbiol. 12: 993-1004.
- Schatz, G., and B. Dobberstein. 1996. Common principles of protein translocation across membranes. Science 271: 1519-1526.
- Schimmel, P. 1987. Aminoacyl-tRNA synthetases: general scheme of structure-function relationships in the polypeptides and recognition of transfer RNAs. Annu. Rev. Biochem.
 56: 125-158.
- Sehgal, V.N., and G. Srivatsava. 1987. Gonorrhoea and the story of resistant Neisseria gonorrhoeae. Int. J. Dermatol. 26: 206-214.

- Seifert, H.S. 1996. Questions about gonococcal pilus phase- and antigenic variation. Mol. Microbiol. 21: 433-440.
- Seluanov, A., and E. Bibi. 1997. FtsY, the prokaryotic signal recognition particle receptor homologue, is essential for biogenesis of membrane proteins. J. Biol. Chem. 272: 2053-2055.
- Shyamala, V., V. Baichwal, E. Beall, and G.F.-L. Ames. 1991. Structure-function analysis of the histidine permease and comparison with cystic fibrosis mutations. J. Biol. Chem. 266: 18714-18719.
- Silver, J. 1991. Inverse polymerase chain reaction, p.137-146. In M.J. McPherson, P. Quirke and R. Taylor (ed.), PCR, a practical approach. IRL Press at Oxford University Press, Oxford, England.
- Silver, S. and L.T. Phung. 1996. Bacterial heavy metal resistance: new surprises. Annu. Rev. Microbiol. 50, 753-789.
- Singleton, P., and D. Sainsbury. 1996. Dictionary of microbiology and molecular biology, 2nd edition, John Wiley & Sons, New York, NY.
- Söll, D., and P. Schimmel. 1974. P. 489-538. In Boyer, P.D. (ed.). The enzymes, Vol. 10. Academic Press, Orlando, Florida.
- Sparling, P.F., C. Elkins, P.B. Wyrick, and M.C. Cohen. 1994. Vaccines for bacterial sexually transmitted infections: a realistic goal? Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 91: 2456-2463.
- Spratt, B.G., L.D. Bowler, Q.-Y. Zhang, J. Zhou, and J.M. Smith. 1992. Role of interspecies transfer of chromosomal genes in the evolution of penicillin resistance in pathogenic and commensal *Neisseria* species. J. Mol. Evol. 34: 115-125.
- Spratt, B.G., Q.-Y. Zhang, D.M. Jones, A. Hutchison, J.A. Brannigan, and C.G. Dodson. 1989. Recruitment of a penicillin-binding protein gene from *Neisseria flavescens* during the

emergence of penicillin resistance in Neisseria meningitidis. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 86: 8988-8992.

- Spratt, B.G. 1988. Hybrid penicillin-binding proteins in penicillin-resistant strains of *Neisseria* gonorrhoeae. Nature 332: 173-176.
- Spratt, B.G. 1977. Temperature-sensitive cell division mutants of *Escherichia coli* with thermolabile penicillin-binding proteins. J. Bacteriol. 131: 293-305.
- Spratt, B.G. 1975. Distinct penicillin binding proteins involved in the division, elongation, and shape of *Escherichia coli* K12. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 72: 2999-3003.
- Stein, D.C. 1991. Transformation of *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*: physical requirements of the transforming DNA. Can. J. Microbiol. 37: 345-349.
- Storts, D.R., O.M. Aparicio, J.M. Shoemaker, and A. Markovitz. 1989. Overproduction and identification of the *ftsQ* gene product, an essential cell division protein in *Escherichia coli* K-12. J. Bacteriol. 171: 4290-4297.
- Sturgeon, J.A., and L.O. Ingram. 1978. Low-temperature conditional cell division mutants of Escherichia coli. J. Bacteriol. 133: 256-264.
- Suggs, S.V., T. Hirose, E.H. Miyake, M.J. Kawashima, K.I. Johnson, and R.B. Wallace. 1981. Use of synthetic oligodeoxyribonucleotides for the isolation of specific cloned DNA sequences, p.683-693. In D.D. Brown (ed.), ICN-UCLA Symposium: Development biology using purified genes. Vol. 23. Academic Press, New York, NY.
- Swanson, J., and J.M. Koomey. 1989. Mechanisms for variation of pili and outer membrane protein II in *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*, p.743-761. *In* D.E. Berg, and M.M. Howe (ed.), Mobile DNA. American Society for Microbiology, Washington, D.C.

- Taha, M.K., and D. Giorgini. 1995. Phosphorylation and functional analysis of PilA, a protein involved in the trancriptional regulation of the pilin gene in *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*. Mol. Microbiol. 15: 667-677.
- Taha, M.-K., M. Larribe, B. Dupuy, D. Giorgini, and C. Marchal. 1992. Role of *pilA*, an essential regulatory gene of *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*, in the stress response. J. Bacteriol. 174: 5978-5981.
- Taha, M.K., B. Dupuy, W. Saurin, M. So, and C. Marchal. 1991. Control of pilus expression in Neisseria gonorrhoeae as an original system in the family of two-component regulators. Mol. Microbiol. 5: 137-148.
- Taha, M.K., M. So, H.S. Seifert, E. Billyard, and C. Marchal. 1988. Pilin expression in Neisseria gonorrhoeae is under both positive and negative transcriptional control. EMBO J.
 7: 4367-4378.
- Taschner, P.E.M., P.G. Huls, E. Pas, and C.L. Woldringh. 1988. Division behavior and shape changes in isogenic *ftsZ*, *ftsQ*, *ftsA*, *pbpB*, and *ftsE* cell division mutants of *Escherichia coli* during temperature shift experiments. J. Bacteriol. **170**: 1533-1540.
- Taylor, A.L. 1970. Current linkage map of Escherichia coli. Bacteriol. Rev. 34: 155-175.
- Tétart, F., R. Albigot, A. Conter, E. Mulder, and J.-P. Bouché. 1992. Involvement of FtsZ in coupling of nucleoid separation with septation. Mol. Microbiol. 6: 621-627.
- The QIAexpressionist. 1992. The high level expression & purification system. QIAGEN, Chatsworth, CA.
- Tomb, J.-F., O. White, A.R. Kerlavage, R.A. Clayton, G.G. Sutton, R.D. Fleichmann, K.A. Ketchum, H.P. Klenk, S. Gill, B.A. Dougherty, K. Nelson, J. Quackenbush, L. Zhou, E.F. Kirkness, S. Peterson, B. Loftus, D. Richardson, R. Dodson, H.G. Khalak, A.

Glodek, K. McKenney, L.M. Fitzgerald, N. Lee, M.D. Adams, E.K. Hickey, D.E. Berg, J.D. Gocayne, T.R. Utterback, J.D. Peterson, J.M. Kelley, M.D. Cotton, J.M. Weidman, C. Fuji, C. Bowman, L. Whattey, E. Wallin, W.S. Hayes, M. Borodovsky, P.D. Karp, H.O. Smith, C.M. Fraser, and J.G. Venter. 1997. The complete genome sequence of the gastric pathogen *Helicobacter pylori*. Nature 388: 539-547.

- Tyagi, J.S., T.K. Das, and A.K. Kinger. 1996. A *M. tuberculosis* DNA fragment contains genes encoding cell division proteins *ftsX* and *ftsE*, a basic protein and homologues PemK and small protein B. Gene 177: 59-67.
- Ulbrandt, N.D., J.A. Newitt, and H.D. Bernstein. 1997. The *E. coli* signal recognition particle is required for the insertion of a subset of inner membrane proteins. Cell 88: 187-196.
- van Heijenoort, J. 1995. Murein synthesis, p.1025-1034. In F.C. Neidhart, R. Curtiss III, J.L. Ingraham, E.C.C. Lin, K.B. Low, B. Magasanik, W.S. Reznikoff, M. Riley, M. Schaechter, and H.E. Umbarger (ed.), Escherichia coli and Salmonella. Cellular and molecular biology. American Society for Microbiology, Washington, D.C.
- van Putten, J.P.M., and B.D. Robertson. 1995. Molecular mechanisms and implications for infection of lipooligosaccharide variation in *Neisseria*. Mol. Microbiol. 16: 847-853.
- Van Vliet, F., M. Crabeel, A. Boyen, C. Tricot, V. Stalon, P. Falmagne, Y. Nakamura, S. Baumberg, and N. Glansdorff. 1990. Sequences of the genes encoding argininosuccinate synthetase in *Escherichia coli* and *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*: comparison with methanogenic archaebacteria and mammals. Gene 95: 99-104.
- Vargas, C., G. Wu, A.E. Davies, and J.A. Downie. 1994. Identification of a gene encoding a thioredoxin-like product necessary for cytochrome c biosynthesis and symbiotic nitrogen fixation in *Rhizobium leguminosarum*. J. Bacteriol. 176: 4117-4123.

- von Heijne, G. 1992. Membrane protein structure prediction. Hydrophobicity analysis and the positive-inside rule. J. Mol. Biol. 225: 487-494.
- Walker, J.E., M. Saraste, M.J. Runswick, and N.J. Gay. 1982. Distantly related sequences in the α and β -subunits of ATP synthase, myosin, kinases and other ATP-requiring enzymes and a common nucleotide binding fold. EMBO J. 1: 945-951.
- Wang, X., J. Huang, A. Mukherjee, C. Cao, and J. Lutkenhaus. 1997. Analysis of the interaction of FtsZ with itself, GTP, and FtsA. J. Bacteriol. 179: 5551-5559.
- Wang, X., and J. Lutkenhaus. 1996a. Characterization of the *ftsZ* gene from *Mycoplasma* pulmonis, an organism lacking a cell wall. J. Bacteriol. 178: 2314-2319.
- Wang, X., and J. Lutkenhaus. 1996b. FtsZ ring: the eubacterial division apparatus conserved in archaebacteria. Mol. Microbiol. 21: 313-319.
- Ward, J.E., and J. Lutkenhaus. 1985. Overproduction of FtsZ induces minicell formation in *E. coli*. Cell 42: 941-949.
- Wasserheit, J.N. 1992. Epidemiological synergy. Interrelationships between human immunodeficiency virus infection and other sexually transmitted diseases. Sex. Trans. Dis. 19: 61-77.
- Watson, H.C., N.P. Walker, P.J. Shaw, T.N. Bryant, P.L. Wendell, L.A. Fothergill, R.E.
 Perkins, S.C. Conroy, M.J. Dobson, M.F. Tuite, A.J. Kingsman, and S.M. Kingsman.
 1982. Sequence and structure of yeast phosphoglycerate kinase. EMBO J. 1:1635-1640.
- West, S.E.H., and V.L. Clark. 1989. Genetic loci and linkage associations in Neisseria gonorrhoeae and Neisseria meningitidis. Clin. Microbiol. Rev. 2: S92-S103.
- Westling-Häggström, B., T. Elmros, S. Normark, and B. Winblad. 1977. Growth pattern and cell division in *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*. J. Bacteriol. 29: 333-342.

- WHO expert committee on gonococcal infections. 1963. Wld Hlth Org. techn. Rep. Serv. No. 262, p. 54.
- Wilfert, C.M., and L.T. Gutman. 1992. Neisseria, p. 443-480. In W.K. Joklik, H.P. Willett, B.A. Amos, and C.M. Wilfert (ed.), Zinsser microbiology, 20th ed. Appleton & Lange. Norwalk, CT.
- Wilson, M.E. 1991. A World Guide To Infections. Diseases, distribution, pathogenesis, p. 518. Oxford University Press.
- Winter, D.B., and S.A. Morse. 1975. Physiology and metabolism of pathogenic Neisseria: partial characterization of the respiratory chain of Neisseria gonorrhoeae. J. Bacteriol. 123: 631-636.
- Wissenbach, U., S. Six, J. Bongaerts, D. Ternes, S. Steinwachs, and G. Unden. 1995. A third periplasmic transport system for L-arginine in *Escherichia coli*: molecular characterization of the *artPIQMJ* genes, arginine binding and transport. Mol. Microbiol. 17: 675-686.
- Wolin, S.L. 1994. From the elephant to *E. coli*: SRP-dependent protein targeting. Cell 77: 787-790.
- Yoshida, K., H. Sano, Y. Miwa, N. Ogasawara, and Y. Fujita. 1994. Cloning and nucleotide sequencing of a 15 kb region of the *Bacillus subtilis* genome containing the *iol* operon. Microbiology 140: 2289-2298.
- Zelazny, A., A. Seluanov, A. Cooper, and E. Bibi. 1997. The NG domain of the prokaryotic signal recognition particle receptor, FtsY, is fully functional when fused to an unrelated integral membrane polypeptide. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 94: 6025-6029.

- Zhao, C.-R., P.A.J. de Boer, and L.I. Rothfield. 1995. Proper placement of the Escherichia coli division site requires two functions that are associated with different domains of the MinE protein. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 92: 4313-4317.
- Zhou, J., and B.G. Spratt. 1992. Sequence diversity within the argF, fbp and recA genes of natural isolates of Neisseria meningitidis: interspecies recombination within the argF gene.
 Mol. Microbiol. 6: 2135-2146.

PART 7. APPENDICES

•

•

•

-

Appendix 1. The SRP pathway of protein transport.

There are two pathways for protein transport across or integration into the membrane of the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) in eukaryotic cells (Rapoport *et al.*, 1996). In the co-translational pathway, the transport takes place while the polypeptide is being synthesized on a ribosome bound to the ER membrane, while in the post-translational pathway, the synthesis of the polypeptide is completed before it is transported (Rapoport *et al.*, 1996).

The co-translational pathway begins as the signal sequence of a nascent polypeptide emerges from the ribosome and is bound by the signal recognition particle (SRP). The SRP is a ribonucleoprotein complex consisting of one RNA molecule, 7S RNA, and six polypeptides with Mws of 9, 14, 19, 54, 68 and 72 KDa (Lütcke, 1995). The nascent polypeptide is bound through one of the domains of the 54 KDa polypeptide of the SRP (SRP 54; Rapoport *et al.*, 1996; Lütcke, 1995). The binding of the SRP to the signal sequence causes a temporary arrest in the elongation of the polypeptide (Lütcke, 1995). The complex formed by the SRP and the ribosome then binds the SRP receptor (SR, also called the docking protein) located on the membrane of the ER. The SR is constituted by two subunits (SR α and SR β , both of which possess a GTPase activity; Lütcke, 1995); the interaction of SR with the SRP occurs through SR α . The SRP is then released from the signal sequence and the ribosome, and the nascent polypeptide is transferred into the lumen of the ER (Rapoport *et al.*, 1996). The release of the SRP from its receptor occurs through hydrolysis of GTP, and once the SRP is free in the cytosol once more, a new cycle can begin.

In bacteria, protein transport is mostly handled through the general secretory pathway (Arkowitz and Bassilana, 1994; Pugsley, 1993). However, several bacterial gene products have been identified as homologues of components of the mammalian SRP, suggesting the existence of a SRP pathway in bacteria. (Lütcke, 1995; Dobberstein, 1994; Luirink and Dobberstein, 1994; Wolin, 1994; Rapoport, 1991). For instance, the product of the *ffs* gene, a 4.5S RNA, was found to possess a structure similar to that of 7S RNA (Poritz *et al.*, 1988); Ffh, a 48 KDa polypeptide encoded by the *ffh* gene shared significant aa sequence similarity with the 54 KDa polypeptide of

the mammalian SRP (Bernstein *et al.*, 1989; Römisch *et al.*, 1989); the FtsY protein was found to share sequence similarity with SRα (Bernstein *et al.*, 1989; Römisch *et al.*, 1989; section 1.5.3.).

Following the identification of these homologues of the constituents of the SRP in *E. coli*, Ffh and 4.5S RNA were shown to form a complex, with indicated that a SRP existed in *E. coli* (Poritz *et al.*, 1990; Ribes *et al.*, 1990). This bacterial SRP would only consist of the Ffh polypeptide and of the 4.5S RNA. The Ffh polypeptide was shown to be essential for bacterial viability and for the efficient export of several proteins in *E. coli* (Phillips and Silhavy, 1992). The evidence involving FtsY in protein transport, more specifically in the SRP pathway, is reviewed in section 1.5.3. Also similar to the eukaryotic SRP, the *E. coli* SRP was shown to act co-translationally (Powers and Walter, 1997).

It is believed that the SRP pathway increases the targeting efficiency of a subset of *E. coli* presecretory proteins in an uncharacterized process (Schatz and Dobberstein, 1996; Wolin, 1994).

Appendix 2. The initial isolation of the plasmid pSB19.

A strategy to clone gonococcal arginine biosynthesis genes consisted of the genetic complementation of E. coli arginine auxotrophs on minimal medium. Lytic complementation of E. coli arginine auxotrophs with genes from N. gonorrhoeae had previously been accomplished using the recombinant λ bacteriophages from a bank of N. gonorrhoeae CH811 DNA (Picard and Dillon, 1989a). For the present work, the strategy involved transforming the plasmid pools from the genomic bank constructed in the plasmid pBluescript KS+ (section 2.5.) into E. coli strain UQ27, which harbors a defective argG gene (Table 2). This gene encodes the enzyme argininosuccinate synthetase, which catalyzes the seventh step of the arginine biosynthetic pathway (Glansdorff, 1996; Fig. A2-1.). The transformants were selected on minimal medium lacking arginine as described in section 2.5. The growth of E. coli UQ27 on minimal medium lacking arginine required the presence of a gonococcal gene able to compensate the function of the defective argG gene of the E. coli host strain. Twenty-five bacterial colonies (bacterial clones SB1 to SB25) were obtained following the genetic complementation experiment, and the ability of each colony to grow in the absence of arginine was confirmed by restreaking on minimal medium lacking arginine.

The plasmids from these 25 clones were purified (plasmid clones pSB1 to pSB25) and divided in eight groups based on their banding pattern and on the size of their insert. The plasmid groups comprised from one to seven plasmids (Table A2-1.). The rationale for the grouping of the plasmids was that all inserts of the same size were expected to be identical since all the plasmids had complemented the arginine defect of *E. coli* UQ27 on minimal medium lacking arginine.

Since the groups 4, 5, 6 and 8 included 20 of the 25 bacterial clones obtained from the complementation experiment, the plasmids from these four groups were the first ones to be investigated. One or several plasmid clones from each of the groups 4, 5, 6 and 8 were randomly selected for further characterization (nine plasmid clones in total; Table A2-1.). The plasmids were restricted with *Pvu*II to free the inserts from the vector and the gonococcal origin of the insert of each of the nine plasmid clones was successfully confirmed by hybridization with gonococcal DNA at 68°C (data not shown).

Table A2-1. Plasmids complementing the arginine requirement of *E. coli* strain UQ27 on minimal medium M9 lacking arginine.

Plasmid group	Number of plasmids in the group	Insert size (Kb)	Plasmid clones ¹	
1	1	1.9	pSB1	
2	1	2.2	pSB2	
3	1	1.6	pSB16	
4	4	1.0	pSB3 , pSB4, pSB13, pSB25	
5	7	1.9	pSB5, pSB14, pSB17, pSB18,	
			pSB22 , pSB23, pSB24	
6	4	1.8	pSB6, pSB11, pSB15, pSB19	
7	2	1.0	pSB7, pSB8	
8	5	1.6	pSB9, pSB10, pSB12, pSB20, pSB21	

¹ The plasmids in **bold** are those that were chosen for further characterization.

The presence of the argG gene in the nine plasmids was then investigated by hybridization using the argG gene from *E. coli* as a probe. The argG gene from *E. coli* was present on a 5.3 Kb SalI-BglII fragment that had been originally cloned in the plasmid pYN87 (Table 2; Kurihara and Nakamura, 1983), and the complete nucleotide sequence of argG had been determined (Van Vliet *et al.*, 1990). The plasmid pYN87 contained a functional argG gene since it could complement *E. coli* UQ27 on minimal

medium lacking arginine. Of the nine plasmids investigated (Table A2-1.), only the insert of pSB19 weakly hybridized the *E. coli argG* gene probe at 60°C (data not shown). This result suggested that only the insert of pSB19 shared nucleotide sequence similarity with the *argG* gene from *E. coli*. The hybridization signal was stronger at 50°C, but was still weak (data not shown). The results of these hybridizations, combined with the fact that the plasmid pSB19 allowed growth of *E. coli* UQ27 on minimal medium lacking arginine, suggested that the insert of the plasmid pSB19 contained the gonococcal *argG* gene. However, the weak hybridization signal was obtained between the two DNA fragments even at relatively low stringency (50°C) suggested that the nucleotide sequence of the putative gonococcal *argG* gene would be divergent from that of *E. coli*. The complementation of *E. coli* UQ27 with pSB19 was successfully repeated once more before proceeding with the determination of the nucleotide sequence of the insert of pSB19. The plasmid pSB19 was digested with *SacI* and *XbaI* to liberate the insert and nested deletions were constructed to facilitate the sequencing step, and the insert of pSB19 was completely sequenced in both orientations.

The analysis of the nucleotide sequence of the insert of pSB19 showed it contained one complete gene sharing sequence similarity to the ftsX gene from *E. coli*. Two other partial genes that respectively shared nucleotide sequence similarity to the ftsE and pgk genes were also identified (section 3.1.). There was no sequence similarity with the argG gene of *E. coli* or of other bacteria.

The possible complementation of any other step of arginine biosynthesis by the gonococcal *fisX* gene was verified by transforming pSB19 into *E. coli* strains with defects in arginine biosynthesis (Fig. A2-1 and Table 2). Before the mutants were transformed with pSB19, the defective step of arginine biosynthesis was confirmed by nutritional requirements as described in section 2.1. The defects in first two steps of arginine biosynthesis (strains W3421 and GY3428 for *argA*, strain 30 SOMA 4 for *argB*) could not be confirmed in the strains used as they did not grow on M9 medium supplemented

with N-acetylglutamate and ornithine, respectively. The defects in arginine biosynthesis were confirmed for strains mutated in each of the other six steps of the biosynthetic pathway (argC, argD, argE, argF, argG and argH; Fig. A2-1.), and the corresponding mutant strains were transformed with pSB19 and pHL1 (a pGEM-T derivative containing amplified *ftsEX* genes from *N. gonorrhoeae* with the upstream region containing the promoter; Table 2). None of the seven arginine mutants tested (Fig. A2-1.) grew on minimal medium supplemented with the substrate of each defective enzyme following transformation with pSB19 or pHL1, including strain UQ27. The fact that the initial complementation of E. coli UQ27 by pSB19 could not be reproduced, combined with the absence of complementation of other arginine auxotrophs of E. coli by pSB19, indicated that ftsX plays no role in arginine biosynthesis and that the initial observation was a spurious result. Together, the results from the complementation attempts indicated that the ftsE and ftsX gene products played no role in the 3rd (argC), 4th (argD), 5th (argE), 6th (argG) and 7th (argH) steps of the arginine biosynthesis pathway. Also, based on these results, it can be predicted that pSB19 and pHL1 would not complement the defects in mutants of the $1^{st}(argA)$ or $2^{nd}(argB)$ steps of arginine biosynthesis. Thus, ftsX (and ftsE) have no role in this pathway.

Figure A2-1.: The pathway of arginine biosynthesis in *E. coli*. The asterisks accompanying some of the intermediates indicate they were used for the confirmation of the defect in arginine biosynthesis in the mutants. For instance, the defect in strain AT3141 was confirmed by growth on M9 medium with ornithine, and the absence of growth of AT3141 was confirmed on M9 containing N-acetylglutamate. The strains used for each gene are indicated in parentheses next to each gene; green characters indicate the strain was tested, red characters indicate the strain was not tested.

209



Appendix 3. Other analyses of the *tlpA* gene.

Besides the aa sequence similarities with *B. japonicum* TlpA (52.6% similarity and 31.2% identity), the gonococcal TlpA had other similar features to *B. japonicum* TlpA. The two polypeptides were predicted to have alkaline isoelectric points (pI): the predicted pI for *N. gonorrhoeae* TlpA was 9.63, compared to a predicted pI of 8.97 for *B. japonicum* TlpA (Loferer *et al.*, 1993). Also, a putative transmembrane segment was identified near the amino-terminal end of the gonococcal polypeptide (positions 2 to 20, Fig. A3-1), as is the case in *B. japonicum* TlpA (Fig. A3-1; (Loferer *et al.*, 1993)). This putative transmembrane segment contained two positively charged amino acid residues at its beginning, suggesting that its amino terminus is located in the cytoplasm and that it contained a large periplasmic domain, as had been reported for *B. japonicum* TlpA.

B. japonicum TlpA was reported to share about 30% identity with various bacterial thioredoxins (Loferer and Hennecke, 1994; Loferer *et al.*, 1993). In comparison, *N. gonorrhoeae* strain CH811 TlpA shared between 46.7% and 52.5% aa similarity and between 23.6% and 27.6% aa identity with the thioredoxins from *E. coli*, *Rhodobacter sphaeroides*, *S. typhimurium*, *M. genitalium*, and *Synechocystis* sp. 6083. An alignment of TlpA from *N. gonorrhoeae* and *B. japonicum* with the thioredoxins from *E. coli*, *S. typhimurium* and *M. genitalium* is shown in Fig. A1-1. The amino acid residues of the active site of bacterial thioredoxins (consensus sequence: WCGPC (Loferer and Hennecke, 1994)) are perfectly conserved in the gonococcal TlpA (positions 52 to 56, Fig. A3-1). As had been observed with *B. japonicum* TlpA (Loferer *et al.*, 1993), the aa residues forming β -sheet 2 and α -helix 2 that precede and follow the cysteinyl residues of the active site in the thioredoxins (Ellis *et al.*, 1992) are well conserved in the gonococcal TlpA. There are eleven identities and three conservative changes between the gonococcal and *B. japonicum* TlpA polypeptides over the nineteen amino acid residues part of β -sheet 2 and α -helix 2 (Fig. A3-1). This suggests there exist some structural similarities between *N. gonorrhoeae* TlpA, *B. japonicum* TlpA and the thioredoxins.

Figure A3-1. Alignment of the amino acid sequences of bacterial thioredoxin-like proteins and thioredoxins. Included in this alignment are the thioredoxin-like proteins of *N. gonorrhoeae* (NgoTlpA; this work) and *B. japonicum* (BjaTlpA; Loferer *et al.*, 1993), the CycY protein from *B. japonicum* (BjaCycY; Fabianek *et al.*, 1997), and the thioredoxins of *R. sphaeroides* (RspTrxA, Genbank accession number M33806), *Synechocystis* PCC6083 (SynTrxA, Genbank accession number X80486), *E. coli* (EcoTrxA; Genbank accession number M10424), and *M. genitalium* (MgeTrxA, Genbank accession number U39691). The active site of thioredoxin enzymes (WCGPC) is boxed in gray. Amino acid residues conserved in all five enzymes are boxed, and those conserved between *N. gonorrhoeae* and *B. japonicum* are in bold. The β_2 strand and α -helix 2 are also indicated based on Ellis *et al.*, 1992. The transmembrane regions of TlpA from *N. gonorrhoeae* and TlpA and CycY from *B. japonicum* are underlined.

36 36 18 18 18 18 18 18 18 18 18 18 18 18 18
GDELAGNICDNTPONL PDLAFEDADGRAFKL QADNVQVPGLDPAAF TDATFDTEVRK8D SDASFREDVLDSE SDASFREDVLDSE TDDSFDTDVLKAD RSLKQLEEIFSAK
AALALAATFGAHTAS GEVAALTWASAPLKL GRPAPQTALPPLEGL NSTVP-V MSDKIIHL MSDKIIHL MVTEI
NERLIL RAAVATAQKIAPLAH RIPBALI
YGLGLSRAPTGDPAC ALLENFRLGSGDP9-
IATVAVGGLAGFAAL RTFLAVLPLIAFIGL
MLDTKPSATRRIPLV MSEQSTSANPOR
NgoTlpA BjaTlpA BjaCycY ReptrxA SyntrxA EcotrxA MgeTrxA

β-2 α-2

123 157 99 99 95
SRSFRESYGRINVGVL VFODLEAI GRALGNP GRASI E-M-GVYGVP VVSNKVGAAPKAALA RVDMVVGAVPKTTLA TFVOALSKGQLKEFL EKKRALGFMPKTKI I
TPVSYPIWR-YTCAN Anlftrlgyfnddrak Ygnpfgrugudan Gipalflfruggvug Siptlaifruggvug Giptllfruggvua Blettuvffngvan
LDTSDNIGNTLED IDTRDPEKPKTTLE YKD-AADNARRTLGR VDE-NPESPAMLGVR TDE-NPNTASQYGIR IDQ-NPGTAPKYGIR VDD-HTDIAAAYNIT
YKAQKKGSVDMPGIA QGKLSGPNFEVVAIN GKDKRPQLVGIN SKEYAGKVKLVKVN SQQYEGKUTVKUN ADEFSDAQFVKVN ADEFSDAQFVKVN
NCGPCRETERMISKY NCVPCRETERILITEL NCVPCRETERILITEL NCGPCROIGPALEEL NCGPCROIGPALEEL NCGPCROIAPUDEI NCGPCROIAPILDEI NCGPCROIAPILDEI NCGPCROIAPILDEI
QSLKAPURIANITATE BDERGKTLLUNITATE KGKUBLUNUTAS KGVBLUNUTAS KGLPULUDENAE GALLUDENAE GALLUDENAE
Ngorlpa Bjarlpa Bjacyor Raptrza Syntrza Bcorrza Mgerrza

160 221 194 106 107 109
VKLAHSIICR IRAATGICAAAL LLPQMEKALK
ITGKLNEKSLTEA IAGPAINASEDALKU VGPITPDNLRSV
PFTVVBAPKGGYRQF TSVLVDPQGCEI-AF ETFVVGREGTIVYKL TWLASAL STLEKYL DANLA DLPNN DLPNN
NgoTlpA BjaTlpA BjaCycY RepTrxA SynTrxA EcoTrxA MgeTrxA

The *N. gonorrhoeae* TlpA also shared 48.3% and 53.1% as sequence similarity and 25.5% and 24.5% as sequence identity with CycY, a protein that has been identified in *B. japonicum* (Fabianek *et al.*, 1997) and in *Rhizobium leguminosarum* (Vargas *et al.*, 1994) and is related to TlpA. There were five identities and 5 conservative changes between *N. gonorrhoeae* TlpA and either CycY protein among the nineteen as residues forming β -sheet 2 and α -helix 2.

The expression of tlpA was verified by reverse transcriptase PCR (RT-PCR; section 2.9.3.). An amplicon of 415 bp was generated from gonococcal RNA (Fig. A3-2, lane 1), and an amplicon of the same size was generated from gonococcal DNA (Fig. A3-2, lane 2). These results indicated that the tlpA gene was transcribed in *N. gonorrhoeae*. The presence of a putative transcription terminator in the form of two inverted copies of the gonococcal US immediately downstream of tlpA suggested that it constituted a single transcription unit.

Figure A3-2. Reverse transcriptase PCR of the *tlpA* gene. The expected amplicon for *tlpA* was 415 bp in size. Lane 1, gonococcal RNA, lane 2, gonococcal DNA (positive control), Lanes 3, 100 bp molecular weight marker (Gibco BRL). The *tlpA*-specific amplicon is indicated on the left of the picture, and sizes of the molecular weight markers are indicated to the right.



tlpA ·

Appendix 4. Other analyses of the arsC gene.

The aa sequence similarity and identity scores between the gonococcal ArsC, which encodes a putative arsenate reductase enzyme and its homologues from other bacteria was variable (Fig. A4-1). Similarity scores varied between 63% and 66% and identity scores varied between 37% and 50% with the enzymes from Gram-negative bacteria. Comparatively, similarity (45% and 47%) and identity (19% and 20%) scores were lower with arsenate reductases of the plasmids pSX267 and pI258 from staphylococcal species. These observations were consistent with the results of other investigators that showed low similarity scores between arsenate reductases from Gram-negative and Gram-positive bacteria (Neyt *et al.*, 1997; Bruhn *et al.*, 1996; Diorio *et al.*, 1995; Ji and Silver, 1992; Rosenstein *et al.*, 1992). Lower similarity (51%) and identity (18%) scores were also observed with ArsC from Synechocystis PCC6083. One of the few positions conserved in all nine enzymes on the alignment presented in Fig. A2-1 is the cysteinyl residue at position 12 that has been shown essential for catalysis (Liu *et al.*, 1995)

N. gonorrhoeae CH811 was shown to have sodium arsenate and sodium arsenite minimal inhibitory concentrations (MIC) of 1024 µg/mL and 4 µg/mL, respectively (Table A4-1). The MIC for arsenate was considerably higher than that measured in *Staphylococcus carnosus* (61 µ g/mL; Rosenstein *et al.*, 1992) and *Yersinia enterolitica* (94 µg/mL; Neyt *et al.*, 1997) and was in the range of the concentrations that inhibited *E. coli* JM109 (pUC19) (936 µg/mL; Ji and Silver, 1992). The MIC for arsenite was in the same range than what was measured in *Y. enterolitica* and *S. carnosus* (9 µg/mL; Neyt *et al.*, 1997; Rosenstein *et al.*, 1992), but was much lower than what had been measured in *E. coli* (400 µg/mL for *E. coli* 40 and 194 µg/mL for *E. coli* JM109 (pUC19) ; Diorio *et al.*, 1995; Ji and Silver, 1992), *Bacillus subtilis* (260 µg/mL) and *Staphylococcus aureus* (104 µg/mL; Ji and Silver, 1992). This large difference between the MICs for the two arsenical compounds could be a reflection of the higher toxicity of arsenite over arsenate. It also suggested that *N. gonorrhoeae* may not possess the arsenite pump (ArsB) to exclude arsenite ions from the cells since it is much more sensitive to arsenite than to arsenate.

Figure A4-1. Alignment of the amino acid sequences of bacterial arsenate reductase enzymes. Included in this alignment are the enzymes from *N. gonorrhoeae* CH811 (NgoArsC), *H. influenzae* (Fleischmann *et al.*, 1995), *E. coli* (EcoArsC; Diorio *et al.*, 1995), plasmid R773 (R773ArsC; Chen *et al.*, 1986), plasmid R46 (R46ArsC; Bruhn *et al.*, 1996), pSX267 of *S. xylosus* (pSX267ArsC; Rosenstein *et al.*, 1992), plasmid pl258 from *S. aureus* (pl258ArsC; Ji and Silver, 1992), plasmid pYV of Yersiniae species (YspArsC; Neyt *et al.*, 1997), and *Synechocystis* PCC6083 (SynArsC; Kaneko *et al.*, 1996). Amino acid residues conserved in all nine enzymes are boxed, those conserved in eight enzymes are indicated by bold asterisks, those conserved in six or seven enzymes are indicated by an asterisk. Amino acid residues in bold are identical in the enzymes of *N. gonorrhoeae* and *H. influenzae*. The conserved cysteinyl residue essential for enzyme activity (Liu *et al.*, 1995) is also identified.



MSEIKIFHNPRCSKSRAAVSLLEERGIAAEAVKYLDTPPDLSELKDIFNK MSVI-IYHNPHCSKSRETLALLENKGIQPIIELYLQKQYSVNELQSIAKK MSNITIYHNPACGTSRNTLEMIRNSGTEPTIIHYLETPPTRDELVKLIAD MSNITIYHNPACGTSRNTLEMIRNSGTEPTIILYLENPPSRDELVKLIAD MSNITIYHNPHCGTSRNTLEMIRNSGIEPTVILYLETPPSRDELLKLIAD MDKKTIYF--ICTGNSCRSQMAEGWGRE-----ILGEDWNVYSA MDKKTIYF--ICTGNSCRSQMAEGWGKE-----ILGEGWNVYSA MSNITIYHNPTCGTSRNTLEMIRNSGNEPTVIYYLETPPTHDELVKLIAD

LCLESARGMMRVKDDLYKELGLDNPDLDNDALLRAIADHPALLERPIV--LGIDDVRQMMRTKDELYKSLNLDNLDLSQAELFKAISEHSALIERPIVIN MGI-SVRALLRKNVEPYEELGLAEDKFTDDRLIDFMLQHPILINRPIVVT MGI-SVRALLRKNVEPYEQLGLAEDKFTDDQLIDFMLQHPILINRPIVVT -GIET-HGVNPKAIEAMKEVDIDISNHTSDLIDNHILKQSDLV---VTLC -GIET-HGVNPKAIEAMKEVDIDISNHTSDLIDNDILKQSDLV---VTLC MGI-TVRALLRKNVEPYEELGLAEGTFSDEQLIGFMLEHPILINRPIVVT

GDKAKIGR--PPET----VLEIL------ NgoArsC GDKAKIGR--PSEV----VLEILPDAQKGAFSKEDGEKVVDEAGKRLK EcoArsC PLGTRLCR--PSEV-----VLDILQDAQKGAFTKEDGEKVVDEAGKRLK R773ArsC PLGTKLCR--PSEV-----VLDILPDAQKAAFTKEDGEKVVDDSGKRLK R46ArsC SDADDNCPILPPNVKKEHWGLEDPAGKEWSEFQRVRDEIKLAIENFKLR pSX267ArsC SDADNNCPILPPNVKKEHWGFDDPAGKEWSEFQRVRDEIKLAIEKFKLR pI258ArsC PLGTRLCR--PSEV-----VLDILPEPQQGAFTKEDGEKITDESGKRLK pYVArsC

Antibacterial compound	MIC (µg/mL) N. gonorrhoeae CH811 ¹	of <i>N. gonorrhoeae</i> CS19 ²
sodium arsenate	1024	1024
sodium arsenite	4.0	4.0

Table A4-1. Minimal inhibitory concentrations ($\mu g/mL$) of arsenic compounds on N. gonorrhoeae CH811 and CS19

¹ Wild-type parent strain

² Strain with an insertion in its *ftsX* gene.

The products of the *ftsEX* genes are predicted to form a membrane complex involved in transport (section 3.3.2.), and the ion or molecule transported by the putative FtsEX transporter has not been identified (section 4.). The *ftsEX* genes were located close to *arsC* on the gonococcal chromosome (sections 3.2. and 3.10.). To verify if *ftsEX* is linked to arsenic extrusion from the *N*. *gonorrhoeae* cytoplasm, the MICs of the wild-type *N. gonorrhoeae* CH811 and *N. gonorrhoeae* strain CS19, which contained an insertion in its *ftsX* gene, for sodium arsenate and sodium arsenite were determined. The MICs of the strain CS19 are identical to those of its wild-type parent, strain CH811, for both arsenic compounds (Table A4-1.). These results indicated that FtsX, and by extension the *ftsEX* genes, are not involved in the transport of arsenite or arsenate from the cells.

With 102 aa, the putative gonococcal ArsC is the smallest of the known arsenate reductases. In comparison, the *H. influenzae* enzyme includes 116 aa (Fleischmann *et al.*, 1995), those from the plasmids pI258 and pSX267 of *Staphylococcus* species and that of *Synechocystis* PCC6083 comprise 131 aa (Kaneko *et al.*, 1996; Rosenstein *et al.*, 1992; Ji and Silver, 1992), and those from *E. coli*, *E. coli* plasmids R46 and R773, and *Yersinia* all contain 141 aa (Neyt *et al.*, 1997; Bruhn *et al.*, 1996; Diorio *et al.*, 1995; Chen *et al.*, 1986). ArsC could be a truncated enzyme or *arsC* could be an inactive gene since the putative ArsC polypeptide is shorter than its known homologues and there are no clear regulatory elements (RBS, transcription terminator)

flanking arsC (section 3.10.2.). To verify if the gonococcal arsC gene was transcribed, its expression was investigated by RT-PCR (section 2.9.3.). An amplicon of 275 bp was generated from RNA isolated from gonococci grown in the absence of sodium arsenate or sodium arsenite (Fig. A4-2, lane 2). This result indicated that the gonococcal arsC gene was expressed. Expression of the arsC gene in the absence of arsenic had been previously observed in *E. coli* (Carlin *et al.*, 1995). When the RT-PCR was repeated using RNA isolated from *N. gonorrhoeae* grown in the presence of sodium arsenate or sodium arsenite, the arsC gene was also expressed (Fig. A4-2, lanes 3 and 4). In *E. coli*, arsenite has been shown to be an inducer of ars gene expression (Cai and DuBow, 1996; Carlin *et al.*, 1995). In the present case, the level of induction was not measured as the amount of RNA used in each RT-PCR reaction was not quantified.

The presence of the other known ars genes in N. gonorrhoeae FA1090 was investigated using the known bacterial ArsR, ArsD, ArsA, ArsB and ArsH protein sequences. No other ars gene was identified in the strain FA1090, suggesting that N. gonorrhoeae contains only an arsC gene, as is the case in H. influenzae and Synechocystis (Kaneko et al., 1996; Fleischmann et al., 1995). When these analyses were made, about ninety percent (88.9%) of the genome sequence was available so the presence of the other ars genes in N. gonorrhoeae cannot be excluded. However, the possible absence of arsB, which encodes the arsenite pump, would explain the low MIC for arsenite in N. gonorrhoeae. Figure A4-2. Reverse transcriptase PCR of the arsC gene. The expected size of the arsC amplicon was 275 bp. Lanes 1 and 5, 100 bp molecular weight marker, lane 2, *N. gonorrhoeae* RNA, lane 3, *N. gonorrhoeae* RNA (isolated from cells grown on sodium arsenate), lane 4, *N. gonorrhoeae* RNA (isolated from cells grown on sodium arsenite), lane 5, *N. gonorrhoeae* DNA (positive control). Sizes of the molecular weight markers are indicated to the left of the picture, the arsC-specific amplicon is indicated on the right.



Appendix 5. Other analyses of the *gltX* gene.

The 5'-end of the *gltX* gene encoding the NH₂-terminal 138 aa residues of GluRS was cloned during the characterization of the region upstream of *ftsEX* in *N. gonorrhoeae* (sections 3.2. and 3.10.3.). The catalytic attachment of an amino acid to its cognate TRNA by the aminoacyl-TRNA synthetase (aaRS) takes place in a two-step reaction (Söll and Schimmel, 1974):

$$aaRS + amino acid + ATP \Leftrightarrow aaRS \bullet aminoacyl-AMP + PPi \qquad (1)$$
$$aaRS \bullet aminoacyl-AMP + TRNA \Leftrightarrow aminoacyl-TRNA + AMP + aaRS \qquad (2)$$

GluRS belongs to the first class of aaRSs due to the presence of the signature sequence of class I aaRS in its primary sequence (consensus His-Ile-Gly-His; Schimmel, 1987). The signature sequence His-Ile-Gly-Gly was identified at positions 16 to 19 in the amino-terminal section of the gonococcal GltX, (Fig. 6B). The partial gonococcal GltX possesses the a and b motifs identified and conserved in several bacterial aminoacyl-TRNA synthetases that have been proposed to participate in glutamate binding (Fig. A5-1; Breton *et al.*, 1990).

An alignment of the 138 aa residues of the gonococcal GluRS with five other GluRSs is presented in Fig. A5-1. The similarity of *N. gonorrhoeae* GluRS with other GluRSs was more important over the first 75 aa residues (that contains the signature sequence and the conserved motif A). Among these sequences included in Fig. A5-1 for the first 75 aa residues, the gonococcal GluRS shared the least identity (52%) with *Bacillus stearothermophilus* GluRS, the highest identity (69%) was shared with the enzyme from *E. coli*. Similarity scores ranged from 75% (*Hordeum vulgare, B. stearothermophilus*) to 86% (*H. pylori*). A second region of similarity covering positions 75 to 120 (containing the conserved motif B) of the gonococcal enzyme; the identity ranged from 41% (*B. stearothermophilus*) to 60% (*E. coli*) and the similarity ranged from 56% (*B. stearothermophilus*) to 82% (*H. pylori*).

Besides the GluRS sequences displayed in Fig. A5-1, the N. gonorrhoeae GluRS also shared aa sequence similarities with other GluRS enzymes. Most of the sequences were of
Figure A5-1. Alignment of the amino acid sequences of bacterial and eukaryotic glutamyl-TRNA synthetases. Included in this alignment are the GluRSs from *N. gonorrhoeae*, *B. stearothermophilus*, *H. vulgare*, *E. coli*, *H. influenzae*, and *H. pylori*. The total number of amino acid residues of each GluRs homologue is indicated in parentheses. The motifs A and B are indicated, and the sequence signature of class I aaRSs is boxed in gray.

Motif A Motif B

1	MTVK	TREAPSPTGMLHIGG VRTALFSWAFARHHK GEFLIRDEDTDLAR	β
1	MAKDVR	VGYAPSPTCHLHIGG ARTALFNYLFNRHHG GKMIVRUZDTDIER	N
1	MAASNFMGSSARLRV GLLPSVTPRLSRRAL ATRASADSGGSGPVR	VREAPSPTCNLHVGG ARTALENYLENRSRG GKEVLENEDTDLER	ß
1	MKIK	TREAPSPTCHLEVGG ARTALYSWLEARNEG GEFVLRDEDTDLER	8
1	M KLDAPFNLDPNVKVR	TREAPSPTCHLHVGG ARTALYSWLYNKHNN GEFVLRUEDTDLER	8
1	MSLIV	TREAPSPTCHLHIGG LRTAIFNYLFARANO CKFFIRIEDTDLSE	N

TAESVNIILDGMKWVGLDYDSAD-----NVVYQTRAFDRYKEVIAELLAKGDAMCYCSKERLAMR-EKAEKEGTA-TYDRRWRPEAGVEGGEQSQLENLQWLGIDYDESVDKDGGYGPYRQTERLDIYRKYVDELLEQGHAMCFCTFERLEREEBORAAGIAAPQYSGKCRR---TKKSBEAVLTDLSWLGLDWDEGPDIGGDFGPYRQSERNALYKEHAOKLMESGAVIRCFCSNERLEMMKETANR--TPEAIEAIMDGMWLSLEWDE-----GPYYQTKRFDRYNAVIDOMLEEGTAIRCYCSREFLEMALREEOMAKGEKP-RYDGRCRHSHETPEATAAIIEGNEWLNLPWEH-----GPYYQTKRFDRYNQVIDEMIEQGLAIRCYCTREFLEREELRHTOEQNKEKP-RYDRHCLHDHNSIEAANAIIEAFKWVGLEYDG-----EILYQSKRFEIYKEYIQKLLDEDKAMMCYMSREFLALREEQKARKETP-RYDNRYRDFKG

KTLPE-----IP- ----- 138 N. gonorrhoeae (138) ----- 138 B. stearothermophilus (489) ----- 138 B. stearothermophilus (489) HRADD-----EPC ----- 138 E. coli (471) HSPDEPHVVRFKNPT EGSVVFD 164 H. influenzae (480) TPPKG-----IE- ----- 138 H. pylori (463) bacterial origin, but significant similarity was also noted with the enzyme from barley (H. vulgare).

Appendix 6. Other analyses of the pgk gene.

The 321 bp from the partial ORF located downstream and in the opposite orientation to that of fisX in pSB19 could be translated into 76 aa residues that shared considerable aa sequence similarity with prokaryotic and eukaryotic 3-phosphoglycerate kinases (section 3.10.4.). Pgk catalyzes the following reaction (Mayes, 1985):

1,3-diphosphoglycerate + ADP \Leftrightarrow 3-phosphoglycerate + ATP

With its important role in the catabolism of glucose, and based on its importance in all living organisms, the structure of Pgk was expected to be very conserved during evolution (Mori *et al.*, 1986). The aa sequence of Pgk is highly conserved, as is indicated by the alignment of the partial gonococcal Pgk with the same region of ten other Pgk sequences (Fig. A6-1). Among the partial Pgk sequences presented in Fig. A6-1, the gonococcal Pgk shared the least identity (49%) with the *M. jannaschii* enzyme; in all other cases the identity was at least 56% (*Gallus gallus*), up to 72% (*E. coli*) and 76% (*Alcaligenes eutrophus*). The similarity scores between the gonococccal enzyme and the other sequences displayed in Fig. A6-1 was at least 69% (*G. gallus*), up to 83% (*E. coli*) and 93% (*A. eutrophus*). The extent of sequence conservation of 3-phophoglycerate spans all kingdoms: prokaryotes (Gram-negative bacteria (*A. eutrophus, E. coli*, *H. influenzae*) and Gram-positive bacteria (*Bacillus stearothermophilus*)), archaeae (*M. jannaschii*); eukaryotes (yeast (*Saccharomyces cerevisiae*), fungi (*Trichoderma viride*), higher plants (wheat, *Triticum aestivum*), mammals (mouse, *Mus musculus*), and birds (chicken, *G. gallus*). Amino acid sequence similarity was observed with a great number of other Pgk sequences for all kingdoms when the similarity search was conducted (data not shown).

The structure of Pgk from several organisms has been resolved, and the structure is found to be very conserved. Pgk is a symmetrical two-domain protein with each domain mainly consisting in six repeats of a α/β structural motif (Mori *et al.*, 1986). Upon combining the primary sequence information with the three-dimensional structure of Pgk from mouse, human, horse, yeast and two trypanosomes, it was observed that most of the conserved positions were part of twelve β -sheets and adjacent peptide regions that formed the inner loops surrounding the ATP and 3-phophoglycerate-binding cleft (Mori *et al.*, 1986). The carboxy-terminal domain, more conserved, serves as the ATP-binding domain, and the 3-phosphoglycerate-binding site is located in α -helix 14 (α 14; Watson *et al.*, 1982). The conserved β -sheets 11 and 12 (β 11 and β 12) and α 13 and α 14 are part of the substrate-binding cleft in the carboxy-terminal end of the enzyme and they are conserved in the partial *N. gonorrhoeae* Pgk sequence (Fig. A6-1).

Figure A6-1. Alignment of the amino acid sequences of bacterial and eukaryotic phosphoglycerate kinases. Included in this alignment are the enzymes from *N. gonorrhoeae* (this work, U76418), *A. eutrophus* (I39554), *E. coli* (X14436), *H. influenzae* (U32734), *S. cerevisiae* (X59720), *T. viride* (S25381), *M. musculus* (M17299), *G. gallus* (L37101), *T. aestivum* (X15233), *B. stearothermophilus* (X58059), and *M. jannaschii* (U67512). The numbers in parentheses are the Genbank accession number of each sequence displayed. The numbers in parentheses on the figure indicate the total number of amino acids of the Pgk homologue. The beta helices 11 and 12 (β 11, β 12), and the α -helices (α 13, α 14) part of the substrate-binding cleft of Pgk are also indicated (Mori *et al.*, 1986).

N.gonorrhoeae (76) A.eutrophus (412) E.coli (387) E.coli (387) H.influenzae (416) S.cerevisiae (416) T.viride (417) M.musculus (417) G.gallus (417) G.gallus (417) G.gallus (417) B.stearothermophilus M.jannaschii (417)
 TGGGAFLEFLEGTEL PAVAALEKTRRVNGL I 76 TGGGAFLEFLEGTEL PAVAALEKTRRVNGL I 76 TGGGAFLEFVEGTEL PAVALLERAAG
A ALAKFGVTDQIG A ALAKYGLADRVG A ALDLFGLADRIB A ALDLFGLADKIB A ALDLFGLADKIB VAKKYGVZDKLSE VAKKYGVZDKLSE VAKKYGVZDKLSE CCAKWNTZDKVSE AVEKFGLADKWDE AVEKFGLADKWDE
QSKAFS IAGGDTL ESKAFS IAGGDTL DSEAFS IAGGDTL DSEAFS IAGGDTL NBDAFS IAGGDTL NBDAFS IAGGDTL NBDAFS IAGGDTL NBDAFS IAGGDTL TII GGGDTA TII GGGDSV MSKGFSVI GGGDSV
DOFAGGTKALAEALA DOFGRGTKVLAQALA FRKGTE I VANALA FRKGTE I SHALA
1 341 341 341 345 345 345 345 345
1069765769721

(394)







IMAGE EVALUATION TEST TARGET (QA-3)







O 1993, Applied Image, Inc., All Rights Reserved

